ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY IN PREGNANCY

EDITED BY: Marie-Pierre Piccinni, Shigeru Saito and Sarah Anne Robertson PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-772-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-772-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY IN PREGNANCY

Topic Editors: Marie-Pierre Piccinni, University of Florence, Italy Shigeru Saito, University of Toyama, Japan Sarah Anne Robertson, University of Adelaide, Australia

Citation: Piccinni, M.-P., Saito, S., Robertson, S. A., eds. (2021). Adaptive Immunity in Pregnancy. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-772-9

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Adaptive Immunity in Pregnancy Marie-Pierre Piccinni, Sarah Anne Robertson and Shigeru Saito
- 07 Altered Immune Response and Implantation Failure in Progesterone-Induced Blocking Factor-Deficient Mice Timea Csabai, Eva Pallinger, Arpad F. Kovacs, Eva Miko, Zoltan Bognar and Julia Szekeres-Bartho
- 16 Vertically Transferred Immunity in Neonates: Mothers, Mechanisms and Mediators

Marie Albrecht and Petra Clara Arck

30 Analysis of TCR Repertoire and PD-1 Expression in Decidual and Peripheral CD8⁺ T Cells Reveals Distinct Immune Mechanisms in Miscarriage and Preeclampsia

Keiko Morita, Sayaka Tsuda, Eiji Kobayashi, Hiroshi Hamana, Kei Tsuda, Tomoko Shima, Akitoshi Nakashima, Akemi Ushijima, Hiroyuki Kishi and Shigeru Saito

- 42 Regulatory T Cells in Pregnancy: It Is Not All About FoxP3 Juliette Krop, Sebastiaan Heidt, Frans H. J. Claas and Michael Eikmans
- 58 Role of Regulatory T Cells in Regulating Fetal-Maternal Immune Tolerance in Healthy Pregnancies and Reproductive Diseases Ning Huang, Hongbin Chi and Jie Qiao
- 74 Upregulated TRAIL and Reduced DcR2 Mediate Apoptosis of Decidual PMN-MDSC in Unexplained Recurrent Pregnancy Loss Congcong Li, Xiaoxin Zhang, Xiaomin Kang, Chao Chen, Feng Guo, Qiaohong Wang and Aimin Zhao
- 86 Altered Glycosylation Contributes to Placental Dysfunction Upon Early Disruption of the NK Cell-DC Dynamics

Sophia Borowski, Irene Tirado-Gonzalez, Nancy Freitag, Mariana G. Garcia, Gabriela Barrientos and Sandra M. Blois

- 96 Decidualization Process Induces Maternal Monocytes to Tolerogenic IL-10-Producing Dendritic Cells (DC-10)
 Soledad Gori, Elizabeth Soczewski, Laura Fernández, Esteban Grasso, Lucila Gallino, Fatima Merech, Ana Colado, Mercedes Borge, Claudia Pérez Leirós, Gabriela Salamone and Rosanna Ramhorst
- 109 Visualizing Dynamic Changes at the Maternal-Fetal Interface Throughout Human Pregnancy by Mass Cytometry

Anita van der Zwan, Vincent van Unen, Guillaume Beyrend, Sandra Laban, Carin van der Keur, Hanneke J. M. Kapsenberg, Thomas Höllt, Susana M. Chuva de Sousa Lopes, Marie-Louise P. van der Hoorn, Frits Koning, Frans H. J. Claas, Michael Eikmans and Sebastiaan Heidt

126 Molecules and Prostaglandins Related to Embryo Tolerance Gabriel Mayoral Andrade, Gabriela Vásquez Martínez, Laura Pérez-Campos Mayoral, María Teresa Hernández-Huerta, Edgar Zenteno, Eduardo Pérez-Campos Mayoral, Margarito Martínez Cruz, Ruth Martínez Cruz, Carlos Alberto Matias-Cervantes, Noemi Meraz Cruz, Carlos Romero Díaz, Eli Cruz-Parada and Eduardo Pérez-Campos





Editorial: Adaptive Immunity in Pregnancy

Marie-Pierre Piccinni^{1*}, Sarah Anne Robertson² and Shigeru Saito³

¹ Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine- University of Florence, Florence, Italy, ² Adelaide Medical School and The Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ³ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan

Keywords: T helper cells, T reg cells, placenta, spontaneous abortion, pregnancy, maternal-fetal immune tolerance

Editorial on the Research Topic

Adaptive Immunity in Pregnancy

One of the most remarkable features of reproductive biology is the fact that a healthy woman can successfully carry her genetically disparate conceptus to full term, without immune rejection.

The juxtaposition of the placenta and decidua creates what is referred to as the 'fetal-maternal interface', where placental trophoblasts of fetal origin and maternal uterine lymphocytes come into close contact. Due to the presence of paternal class I HLA-C molecules on trophoblasts, the conceptus can be considered to resemble a semi-allograft. Conceptus-derived and placental-derived antigens act to both prime maternal T cells and render the conceptus potentially susceptible to inflammatory effector activity or T cell-mediated attack. After presentation of paternal alloantigens by maternal antigen presenting cells (APCs), the maternal alloantigen-specific T cells proliferate and secrete cytokines, responsible for the activation of allograft rejection or tolerance mechanisms, respectively promoting pregnancy failure or fetal survival.

Therefore, the quality and strength of the adaptive immune response is critical to healthy pregnancy. There is accumulating information that imbalance in the numbers, phenotypes and functional activity of T cell subsets can adversely impact fertility and pregnancy health. Predominant Th1, Th17 and Th17/Th1 immunity and decreased Th2, Th17/Th2 and Treg cells are associated with recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL) of fetuses with normal fetal chromosomal content. Various subsets of T cells are essential for pregnancy tolerance and interact in networks with innate immune cells to counteract inflammation and promote robust placental development. In fact, immune cells that populate the decidua are specialized not only to minimize events that might evoke conceptus attack, but also to foster placental development and function and to combat infections during pregnancy.

In addition, T cells are commonly perturbed in late gestation disorders including preeclampsia, fetal growth restriction and spontaneous preterm birth. There is some evidence that T cell disturbances precede the onset of symptoms and contribute to disease pathophysiology through events around the time of implantation and early placental development.

In this Research Topic we welcomed six original articles and four review articles, which discuss the role of novel immunosuppressive cells and molecules regulating fetal tolerance and development.

During pregnancy, sex steroid hormones like estrogen, progesterone, hCG but also a progesterone-induced mediator, the progesterone-induced blocking factor (PIBF), which conveys some of the immunological effects of progesterone, suppress effector immune activation resulting in successful pregnancy. Csabai et al. reports that the implantation rate is decreased in mice treated with anti-PIBF antibody. In these anti-PIBF-treated mice, NK activity, IL-12A mRNA expression in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Herman Waldmann, University of Oxford, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Marie-Pierre Piccinni mppiccinni@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 03 September 2021 Accepted: 20 September 2021 Published: 04 October 2021

Citation:

Piccinni M-P, Robertson SA and Saito S (2021) Editorial: Adaptive Immunity in Pregnancy. Front. Immunol. 12:770242. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.770242

4

CD8⁺ T cells and Th1 differentiation are increased, whereas the expression of mRNA for IL-4 (a Th2-type cytokine) is decreased in CD4⁺ T cells (**Figure 1**). Thus, PIBF plays an important role in implantation by upregulating a Th2-type and downregulating Th1-type immune responses.

As well as hormones, other molecules including the prostaglandins (PG) can also regulate immune cells in pregnancy. In particular Andrade et al. show that PGE_2 also contributes to immune tolerance, by inhibiting platelet aggregation and IL-5 and IL-13 production by innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), and by suppressing neutrophil, NK cell and monocyte effector functions (**Figure 1**).

The role of Treg cells in pregnancy is extensively developed in the Research Topic. Huang et al. reviewed the role of Treg in normal pregnancy, in implantation failure, miscarriage, endometriosis and preeclampsia. Krop et al. described not only the role of well-known Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in pregnancy, and also importantly the role of the lesser-known Foxp3⁻ Treg cells, which include HLA-G Treg cells, Tr1 cells that secrete IL-10 and TGF- β , Th3 cells that secrete TGF- β , IL-10, and IL-4, CD8⁺ Treg cells, NO-Treg cells, TIGIT⁺ Treg cells, and V δ 1⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (**Figure 1**). However, the relationship between these Foxp3⁻ Treg cells and pregnancy disorders remains to be clarified.

Morita et al. examine CD8⁺ T cells that are less well studied in pregnancy, in particular clonally expanded CD8⁺ T cells, using single cell analysis of T cell receptor β (TCR β) sequences. Clonally expanded CD8⁺ T cells may be a surrogate marker for fetal/paternal antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells. The authors show that clonal CD8⁺ T cells are more abundant in effector memory CD8⁺ T cells (CD8⁺EM) and that there are more CD8⁺ EM cells in the decidua than in the peripheral blood. The clonal CD8⁺ T cells increase from early to late pregnancy, and PD-1 expression, which suppresses cytotoxic activity, is low on clonal CD8⁺ T cells in early pregnancy but high in late pregnancy. The clonal PD1⁻ CD8⁺ T cells increase in miscarriages with normal fetal



programmed death 1; PIBF, pregnancy-induced blocking factor; PMN-MDSC, polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cell; PGE, prostaglandin E2; PGI, prostaglandin I: Tr1, T regulatory 1; Th, T helper; TIGIT, T cell immunoglobulin and ITIM domain; Treg, regulatory T cell; uNK, uterine natural killer cell.

karyotype (**Figure 1**). The percentage of clonal CD8⁺ T cells is not different in preeclampsia compared to normal pregnancy, but PD-1 expression is significantly decreased, suggesting an increased cytotoxic activity against fetal antigens in preeclampsia.

Immune cells can not only act by inducing trophoblast tolerance but can also affect the structure of trophoblast by altering the glycan chains of trophoblast. Dendritic cell activity is particularly important, and may be amplified if NK cells are removed as demonstrated by Borowski et al. Thus, immune cells can influence the placental glycade and could impact placental and fetal development (**Figure 1**). The relationship between the alteration of trophoblast glycan chains and immune cells in miscarriage and preeclampsia is an interesting topic for future clarification.

Non-immune cells can also regulate immune cells responsible for immune tolerance in pregnancy. Gori et al. showed that endometrial decidualization increases tolerogenic dendritic cells named DC-10 cells, which secrete IL-10 and induce different regulatory T cells (Treg cells), including HLA-G⁺ Treg cells, Tr1 cells and Th3 cells (**Figure 1**).

Recently, polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells (PMN-MDSCs) have been found to increase in the pregnant uterus and play an important role in maintaining pregnancy. Li et al. show that the number of decidual PMN-MDSCs decrease in patients with unexplained recurrent pregnancy loss. PMN-MDSC apoptosis, increased by elevated TRAIL and decreased by DcR2, could explain the decreased number of PMN-MDSCs in unexplained recurrent pregnancy loss (**Figure 1**). The interaction between PMN-MDSCs and immune cells such as Treg cells, need to be investigated.

Van der Zwan et al. used mass cytometry to analyze lymphocyte subpopulations in the decidua and peripheral blood. Such analysis could be helpful for the classification of immunocompetent cells and to clarify the role of each of these cells in the decidua. This promising technology, which may serve as a foundation for further identification of immune subsets in healthy and complicated pregnancy, is set to offer further advances in the future.

Finally, it is important to recognize that the maternal adaptive immune response to pregnancy has consequences not only for pregnancy outcome, but also for the health of the child after birth. Albrecht et al. review emerging studies showing that cellular immunity is transferred from mother to child not only through IgG transfer during pregnancy, but also by maternal cellular immunity transmitted to the child through lactation after birth. This article introduces the interesting possibility of transferring immunity to the fetus by vaccination during pregnancy.

In summary, this collection of papers provide a snapshot of the state of this field and provide new insight on the mechanisms and significance of the adaptive immune response to maternal and infant health. Collectively the work highlights the imperative to further delineate the underlying mechanisms by which maternal tolerance is generated and mediated, so that interventions to protect against immune-based pregnancy disorders arising from compromise maternal tolerance can be advanced.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the authors of the 10 publications of the Research Topic for their high-quality work. We thank the Frontiers in Immunology Editorial Office and the Editor for their support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Piccinni, Robertson and Saito. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Altered Immune Response and Implantation Failure in Progesterone-Induced Blocking Factor-Deficient Mice

Timea Csabai^{1,2,3,4}, Eva Pallinger⁵, Arpad F. Kovacs⁵, Eva Miko⁶, Zoltan Bognar^{1,2,3,4} and Julia Szekeres-Bartho^{1,2,3,4*}

¹ Department of Medical Biology and Central Electron Microscope Laboratory, Medical School, Pecs University, Pecs, Hungary, ² János Szentágothai Research Centre, Pecs University, Pecs, Hungary, ³ Endocrine Studies, Centre of Excellence, Pecs University, Pecs, Hungary, ⁴ MTA-PTE Human Reproduction Research Group, Pecs, Hungary, ⁵ Department of Genetics, Cell, and Immunobiology, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary, ⁶ Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Medical School, Pecs University, Pecs, Hungary

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marie-Pierre Piccinni, University of Florence, Italy

Reviewed by:

Gerard Chaouat, INSERM U976 Immunologie, Dermatologie, Oncologie, France Surendra Sharma, Women & Infants Hospital of Rhode Island, United States

> *Correspondence: Julia Szekeres-Bartho Szekeres.julia@pte.hu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 October 2019 Accepted: 13 February 2020 Published: 11 March 2020

Citation:

Csabai T, Pallinger E, Kovacs AF, Miko E, Bognar Z and Szekeres-Bartho J (2020) Altered Immune Response and Implantation Failure in Progesterone-Induced Blocking Factor-Deficient Mice. Front. Immunol. 11:349. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00349

Earlier data suggest that progesterone-induced blocking factor (PIBF) is involved in implantation. The present study therefore aims to investigate the consequences of functional PIBF deficiency during the peri-implantation period. CD1 female mice were injected intraperitoneally with 2 µg anti-PIBF monoclonal antibody on days 1.5 and 4.5 of pregnancy. The number of implantation sites and resorption rates were recorded on day 10.5. PIBF+ decidual NK cells and B cells were detected by immunohistochemistry or immunofluorescence. Decidual and peripheral NK activity was assessed by flow cytometry. A prime PCR array was used for determining the differential expression of genes involved in lymphocyte activation and Th1 or Th2 differentiation in CD4+ and CD8+ spleen cells from pregnant anti-PIBF-treated and control mice. Anti-PIBF treatment in the peri-implantation period resulted in impaired implantation and increased resorption rates in later pregnancy. The number of PIBF+ decidual NK cells decreased, while both decidual and peripheral NK activity increased in the anti-PIBF-treated mice. B cells were absent from the resorbed deciduas of anti-PIBF-treated mice. The genes implicated in T cell activation were significantly downregulated in CD4+ and increased in CD8+ of the anti-PIBF-treated animals. The gene for IL-4 was significantly downregulated in CD4+ cells while that of IL-12A was upregulated in CD8+ cells of anti-PIBF-treated animals. These data suggest that the lack of PIBF results in an impaired T cell activation, together with Th1 differentiation and increased NK activity, resulting in implantation failure.

Keywords: PIBF, decidual NK cells, T cell activation, B cells, implantation

INTRODUCTION

The success of embryo implantation depends on embryo quality as well as on the receptivity of the maternal endometrium. The process starts with the attachment of the embryo to the endometrial epithelium (1–6), followed by invasion to the decidua. Progesterone plays a central role in this process (4, 6) via the nuclear progesterone receptor (PR) isoforms, PRA and PRB (7, 8). Studies on PR knockout mice revealed that PRA is required for endometrial receptivity and decidualization (9), and consequently, PRA-deficient mice are infertile (10, 11).

The progesterone-induced blocking factor (PIBF) is a progesterone-induced mediator which conveys some of the immunological effects of progesterone. The *Pibf1* gene contains a progesterone response element (12), which is activated following the engagement of PRA in the mouse uterus (13).

Earlier data suggest that PIBF is required for the establishment and maintenance of pregnancy, both in humans and mice. In the sera of pregnant women, PIBF concentrations increase throughout gestation and drop before labor (14). During spontaneous miscarriage or preterm delivery, serum PIBF concentrations fall below the normal levels (15). Anti-PIBF treatment or anti-progesterone treatment of pregnant mice results in increased resorption rates, together with an inversion of the Th1/Th2 cytokine balance (16). The latter is due to the fact that PIBF induces an increased synthesis of Th2 cytokines both *in vitro* (17) and *in vivo* (18). Recent data show that PIBF plays a role in implantation in mice (13).

The decidual transformation of endometrial stromal cells is a prerequisite for a successful implantation. Ablation of PRA but not PRB expression in mice results in a uterine phenotype similar to PRKO, indicating that PRA is the major isoform involved in the regulation of uterine receptivity and decidualization in the mouse (19). It is important to point out that, in humans, PRB is also involved in decidualization (20).

In our hands, during a 6-day culture, PIBF induced the decidual transformation of mouse endometrial stromal cells (13). Furthermore, in the mouse endometrium, PIBF expression significantly increased during the implantation window (13).

The immunological effects of PIBF play an important role in establishing a favorable immunological milieu for the developing fetus.

In spite of the presence of perforin and granzyme in their cytoplasmic granules, the decidual NK cells are weakly cytotoxic. High decidual NK activity might damage the fetus and result in a failed pregnancy. PIBF inhibits the degranulation of NK cells (21). Recently we demonstrated a high number of mouse decidual NK cells that contained PIBF in their cytoplasmic granules, suggesting that the local presence of PIBF might be a factor in the low decidual NK activity (22).

In the present study, we aimed to investigate the consequences of anti-PIBF treatment of pregnant mice during the periimplantation period on reproductive performance as well as the underlying mechanisms.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Treatment of Mice

Eight- to 12-week-old CD1 female mice (Charles River, Germany) were caged overnight with CD1 males in an environment controlled for temperature, humidity, and light. Sighting of the vaginal plug was considered as 0.5 day of pregnancy.

Females were injected intraperitoneally with $2 \mu g$ of anti-PIBF monoclonal antibody (14) on days 1.5 and 4.5 of pregnancy. The control mice were injected with 100 μ l of PBS, among the same conditions. On day 10.5 of pregnancy, the mice were sacrificed, the number of implantation sites as well as resorption

rates was recorded, and spleens and deciduas were removed for lymphocyte isolation.

All procedures were approved by the Animal Care Committee of the University of Pecs.

Isolation of Decidual and Spleen Lymphocytes

Isolated mouse deciduas were minced with scissors and incubated for 30 min with 10 ml (1 mg/ml) of collagenase (collagenase from *Clostridium histolyticum*, type IV, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). The fragments were then passed through a 70- μ m mesh and washed with RPMI1640 (Gibco, Life technologies, Scotland).

The pellet was resuspended in 10 ml of fetal calf serum (FCS)free RPMI and filtered on a 40 μ m filter. The cell count was adjusted to 1 × 10⁶/ml in RPMI1640 (Gibco, Life technologies, Scotland) +10% FCS (Gibco, Life Technologies, Scotland) + 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, Life Technologies, Scotland).

Spleen cells were isolated by passing the spleen through a 100- μ m stainless steel mesh and centrifuging for 10 min at 1,000 rpm. The pellet was resuspended in 10 ml RPMI1640, filtered on a 70- μ m mesh and further on a 40- μ m mesh, washed, and resuspended in RPMI1640. The lymphocytes were isolated on Ficoll-Paque gradient, washed, and resuspended in RPMI1640 + 10% FCS + 1% penicillin/streptomycin.

Immunohistochemistry

The implantation sites were isolated on day 10.5 of pregnancy, fixed in 6% of buffered formalin, and then embedded in paraffin. Five-micrometer paraffin sections were deparaffinized, rehydrated, and revealed with DAKO Target Retrieval Solution (S1699, Dako, Denmark) at pH 6.0 in a microwave oven. Endogenous peroxidase activity was inhibited with 3% H₂O₂, and non-specific antibody binding was blocked with 3% BSA.

The slides were than reacted with 1:25 diluted biotinylated monoclonal anti-PIBF antibody produced in our laboratory (14) or biotinylated mouse IgG2a either for 1 h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. After incubation, the slides were washed for 3–5 min and reacted with 1:100 diluted streptavidin-horseradish-peroxidase (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, United Kingdom) for 30 min in a humidified chamber. The reaction was developed with diamino-benzidine (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark). The nuclei were counterstained with hematoxylin (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark) for 3 min, and the slides were mounted.

Fluorescent Staining

For visualizing of the B cells, the sections were reacted overnight at 4° C with 1:30 diluted rat anti-mouse B220 IgG conjugated with Alexa Fluor 647. The antibody was produced at the Department of Immunology and Biotechnology, University of Pécs, and was provided by Dr. Peter Balogh. The anti-B220 IgG was purified from the supernatant of rat hybridoma RA3-6B2 (obtained from ATCC) using Protein G affinity chromatography. The purified antibody was dialyzed into 0.1 M NaHCO₃ buffer and conjugated with Alexa Fluor 647 NHS dye (ThermoFisher Scientific) as recommended by the vendor. The conjugated immunoglobulin was separated using Sephadex-G25 size exclusion chromatography.

For identifying of PIBF-positive decidual B cells, the sections were reacted overnight at 4°C with 1:25 diluted FITC-conjugated anti-mouse PIBF antibody, together with the 1:30 diluted Alexa647-conjugated anti-mouse B220. The nuclei were stained with Hoechst33342 (Calbiochem, San Diego, CA, USA) for 5 min, washed, and then mounted with Vectashield mounting medium (Vector Laboratories, Peterborough, United Kingdom) and examined with an Olympus FV-1000 laser scanning confocal system.

NK Cytotoxicity Test

A flow cytometric assay was used for the determination of the cytotoxic activity of peripheral and decidual natural killer cells from the control and the anti-PIBF-treated pregnant mice. The assay is based on the quantitative and the qualitative flow cytometric analysis of cell damage on a single-cell level. The mouse lymphoma cell line YAC-1 was used as the target cell population. The target cells were pre-stained with PKH-67 (PKH67 Green Fluorescent Cell Linker Midi Kit for General Cell Membrane Labeling, Sigma- Aldrich, USA), a lipophilic dye that stably integrates into the cell membrane without disturbing its surface marker expression. It, thus, permits the distinction between target and effector cells. Freshly isolated peripheral and decidual lymphocytes from pregnant mice served as the effector cells. The target cells and the lymphocytes, at a ratio of 1:12.5, were centrifuged and incubated in RPMI1640 containing 10% FCS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin medium for 4h at 37°C and in 5% CO2. After incubation, the cell mixture was centrifuged and stained with propidium iodide [PI, 50 µg/ml (Sigma-Aldrich, USA)]. PI staining allows the discrimination between death and living target cells. Data analysis is performed first by gating on PKH-67-positive target cells, followed by the analysis of the PI-positive subpopulation killed (gating strategy is shown in Figure 1). The percentage of cytotoxicity in the PKH-67-gated cell population was calculated by subtracting unspecific PI+ positive target cells (spontaneous cell death), measured in appropriate controls without effector cells from the experimental samples. Flow cytometric analysis was performed on a FACS Calibur flow cytometer (BD Immunocytometry Systems, Erembodegen, Belgium) equipped with the CellQuest software program (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA) for data acquisition and analysis.

Lymphocyte Activation and Th1 and Th2 Cell Differentiation

A prime PCR array from Bio-Rad was used for determining the markers for T cell activation and Th1 or Th2 differentiation in separated CD4+ and CD8+ spleen cells from anti-PIBFtreated and control pregnant mice. The mice were sacrificed on day 10.5 of pregnancy. The spleens were minced with scissors and passed through a 70-µm cell strainer. The CD4+ and CD8+ T cells were separated from splenic single-cell suspension by magnetic separation with the Mini-MACS system (Miltenyi Biotec Biotechnology Company, USA). Mouse Naive CD8a+ T Cell Isolation Kit (130-096-543) and mouse CD4+ T Cell Isolation Kit (130-104-454) were applied for negative selection, according to the manufacturer's instructions. The collected cells were washed, and the cell count was adjusted to 5×10^6 . One hundred thousand separated cells were fluorescently stained with the anti-mouse CD4 or anti-mouse CD8 monoclonal antibodies for checking of the separation efficiency. Cell debris and dead cells were excluded from the analysis based on scatter signals and propidium iodide fluorescence. For the stabilization of RNA, separated CD4+ or CD8+ splenocytes were stored frozen in RNAlater[®]-ICE solution. Total RNA was extracted from the cells with the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit (Cat. No. 74104) according to the supplier's protocol. The RNA content of samples was measured with Qubit 4 Fluorometer using the Qubit RNA HS Assay Kit. The expression of 41 genes was determined using a Bio-Rad prime PCR array (Immune response-Th1 and Th2 cell differentiation M384; Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., California, USA). Quantitative PCR reactions were carried out on an ABI 7900 real-time PCR instrument according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed by the Mann–Whitney U test and Student's t test. $P \le 0.05$ was considered as significant.





FIGURE 2 | Anti-PIBF treatment of pregnant mice in the peri-implantation period results in decreased implantation and increased resorption rates. CD1 mice were injected with anti-PIBF monoclonal antibody at days 1.5 and 4.5 of pregnancy. The controls were treated with PBS, among the same conditions. The number of implantation sites (1st panel) and resorption rates (2nd panel) were recorded on day 10.5. The implantation sites were significantly lower, while the resorption rates significantly increased in the anti-PIBF-treated mice. The columns represent the mean \pm SEM of the results from 10 (anti-PIBF-treated) and 15 (control) mice. **P* < 0.05.

RESULTS

Anti-PIBF Treatment in the Peri-Implantation Period Results in Impaired Implantation and Increased Resorption Rates in Later Pregnancy

The mice were treated with anti-PIBF antibody at days 1.5 and 4.5 of pregnancy to render them functionally PIBF deficient during the implantation window. The mice were sacrificed at day 10.5. This enabled us to record not only the implantation sites but also the resorption rate among the implanted embryos. While the average number of implanted embryos was 6.5 in the controls, in females treated with anti-PIBF antibody in the periimplantation period, the mean implantation sites decreased to four (**Figure 2**). The unusually low 2% resorption rate in the control group increased to 40% in the functionally PIBF-deficient mice (**Figure 2**).

PIBF+ Large Granulated Cells Are Depleted From the Deciduas of Anti-PIBF-Treated Mice

In an earlier study, we demonstrated a high number of large granulated cells—with a strong PIBF reactivity in the cytoplasmic granules—in the deciduae of day 12.5 pregnant mice. These cells were identified as members of the PAS+ DBA+ uterine NK cell population. PIBF co-localized with perform in the cytoplasmic granules of the cells (22).

In the present study, we found a significantly decreased number of PIBF+ NK cells in the day 10.5 deciduae of resorbed embryos from anti-PIBF-treated mice compared to normal



FIGURE 3 | Immunohistochemical analysis of PIBF+ NK cells in normal and resorbed deciduae from anti-PIBF-treated and control mice on day 10.5 of pregnancy (×400).



FIGURE 4 The number of PIBF+ NK cells in deciduas from anti-PIBF-treated and control mice on day 10.5 of pregnancy. Compared to the normal deciduae from the untreated controls, the number of PIBF+ NK cells is significantly lower not only in the deciduae from both the normal and the resorbed fetuses from anti-PIBF-treated animals but also in those of spontaneously resorbed fetuses from control mice. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of 10 independent determinations. **P* < 0.05.

deciduae from untreated mice (**Figures 3**, **4**). The number of PIBF+ granulated cells was also significantly lower in the deciduae of normal embryos from the anti-PIBF-treated mice and in those of spontaneously resorbed embryos from untreated control mice (**Figures 3**, **4**) than in the normal decidua of the untreated mice. These data suggest that the decreased number of PIBF+ decidual lymphocytes was associated with resorption rather than with the lack of functional PIBF.

Cytotoxic Activity of Decidual and Peripheral NK Cells From Anti-PIBF-Treated and Control Mice

We determined the cytotoxic activity of decidual lymphocytes and of spleen cells from anti-PIBF-treated and control mice using a flow cytometric method. Both the decidual and the



peripheral NK activity of the anti-PIBF-treated mice were significantly (P < 0.05) increased compared to those of the controls (**Figure 5**).

FIGURE 5 | Cytotoxic activity of decidual and peripheral lymphocytes from anti-PIBF-treated and control mice on day 10.5 of pregnancy. The cytotoxic activity of peripheral and decidual NK cells from control and anti-PIBF-treated mice was determined by flow cytometric analysis of target cell damage on a single-cell level. The target cells were labeled with PKH-67 and stained with propidium iodide after 4 h of incubation with the lymphocytes to distinguish apoptotic from non-apoptotic target cells. The bars represent the mean \pm SEM of at least six experiments. *P < 0.05.

B Cells Are Depleted From the Deciduas of Anti-PIBF-Treated Embryos

The endometria of the control animals (**Figure 6A**) contained decidual NK cells (**Figure 6A**—a,c) and a discrete layer of B cells (**Figure 6A**—b,c) at the coriodecidual interface. While the NK cells were still present (**Figure 6B**—a,c), the B cells disappeared from the deciduas of the resorbed embryos from the anti-PIBF-treated mice (**Figure 6B**—b,c).

Functional PIBF Deficiency in the Peri-Implantation Period Results in Impaired CD4+ T Cell Activation and Th1 Type Differentiation

Peripheral Th cell subsets from anti-PIBF-treated and control mice were tested for the differential expression of 48 genes using a prime PCR array. Twelve of these showed a significantly higher or lower expression in the lymphocytes of anti-PIBF-treated mice compared to the controls. When analyzing the results, the differentially expressed genes were assigned to the following groups: (1) genes involved in T cell activation, (2) those involved in Th1 differentiation, and (3) those involved in Th2 differentiation.

The genes implicated in T cell activation, e.g., members of the CD3 complex (CD 247, CS3D, CS3E, CS3G, and IL2RG), were significantly downregulated in the CD4+ spleen cells of anti-PIBF-treated mice but significantly increased in the CD8+ cells of the same animals (**Figure 7**). In the anti-PIBF-treated mice, the beta chain of the IL2R was downregulated in the



FIGURE 6 | Decidual B cells in control (A) and anti-PIBF-treated (B) mice. B cells were reacted with rat anti-mouse B220 IgG conjugated with Alexa Fluor 647 (red fluorescence), and NK cells were reacted with fluorescein-conjugated DBA lectin (green fluorescence). (A) Decidua of an untreated mouse. NK cells (a,c) are present in the decidua and B cells (b,c) are located at the choriodecidual interface. (B) Decidua of anti-PIBF-treated mouse. NK cells (a,c) are present, while B cells (b,c) are absent. (a) NK cells, (b) B cells, and (c) merged (×200).



FIGURE 7 | Differential expression of genes implicated in T cell activation in splenic CD4+ and CD8+ T spleen cells of anti-PIBF-treated mice and controls. Heatmap of the T cell activation-related mRNA expression of genes in CD4+ and CD8+ splenocytes of anti-PIBF-treated and control mice. Clear separations are seen between the anti-PIBF-treated and control animals and also between the CD4+ and CD8+ cell types. Members of the CD3 complex and co-stimulatory molecules were downregulated in CD4+ cells and upregulated in CD8+ cells of anti-PIBF-treated mice. All of the results shown were significantly (P < 0.05) different from the values of the controls. The expression intensities were scaled on rows (genes) to Z scores to make them weigh equally in the clustering. The colors of the heatmap are mapped linearly to the Z scores (low expression in green and high expression in red).

CD4+ population, while in the CD8 population the alpha and the gamma chain of the IL2R and the IL2 increased. The genes of the co-stimulatory molecules were altered in a similar fashion. Upon anti-PIBF treatment, the genes for CD4, CD28, CD40L, and CD86 were downregulated in the CD4 and upregulated in the CD8 population (**Figure 7**). These data suggest that the absence of PIBF inhibits the activation of CD4+ cells and facilitates that of CD8+ T cells.

Among genes involved in the Th1/Th2 pathway, IL-4 was significantly downregulated in CD4+ cells of the anti-PIBF-treated mice. At the same time, IL-12 was upregulated in CD8+ cells of the anti-PIBF-treated animals (**Figure 8**).

DISCUSSION

Earlier we showed that PIBF induces the decidual transformation of mouse endometrial stromal cells. Furthermore, PIBF expression in the mouse endometrium is markedly increased during the implantation window (13). These data suggest that PIBF might play an active role in implantation. To confirm this hypothesis, we neutralized the biological activity of PIBF during the peri-implantation period in mice and investigated the consequences of functional PIBF deficiency at several levels.

The anti-PIBF treatment of pregnant mice at days 1.5 and 4.5 of pregnancy resulted in a significantly reduced number of the implantation sites, and the implantations that took place nevertheless must have been compromised as shown by the high resorption rates. In an earlier study, anti-PIBF treatment on day 8.5 of pregnancy increased the resorption rate to 40% (23). The present data show that when administered in the peri-implantation period, the anti-PIBF antibody also interferes with implantation.

Several cell types, e.g., the peripheral pregnancy lymphocytes (24), the embryo itself (25), the trophoblast (26), and the endometrial cells (13), produce PIBF. In confirmed clinical pregnancies, PIBF is detectable in the serum of IVF patients 14 days after embryo transfer (Hudic et al., manuscript in preparation). A single embryo cannot produce such a high amount of PIBF. It is more likely that the bulk of the PIBF is produced by the maternal side in response to the presence of the embryo.

We further investigated the underlying mechanisms of implantation failure and pregnancy loss in functionally PIBF-deficient mice.

Failed pregnancies are characterized by high peripheral NK activity, both in humans and in mice (27–35).

Progesterone decreases the NK activity of peripheral pregnancy lymphocytes in a concentration-dependent fashion (36), and RU 486 (a progesterone receptor antagonist) significantly augments the NK cell cytolytic activity *in vitro* (37).

Decidual NK cells constitute 60% of decidual lymphocytes (38). Is spite of the availability of perforin and granzyme in their cytotoxic granules (38), these cells have a very moderate cytotoxic potential (39, 40) but secrete angiogenic factors and cytokines (38). The dynamics of the appearance of uterine NK cells suggests that one of their functions might be the control of placentation.

The low cytotoxic activity of decidual NK cells might be due to the presence of PIBF in their cytoplasmic granules (22). PIBF blocks the upregulation of perforin expression in activated decidual lymphocytes and inhibits NK cell cytotoxicity by blocking granule exocytosis (21, 41). Bogdan et al. (22) demonstrated a high number of PIBF+ NK cells in the day 12.5 decidua of pregnant mice.

Here we show that anti-PIBF treatment during the periimplantation period results in the reduced presence of PIBF+ NK cells in the day 10.5 decidua, together with significantly increased decidual and peripheral NK activity, compared to the controls.

Anti-PIBF treatment of mid-pregnant mice has been shown to boost both the peripheral NK activity and the resorption rates. Increased resorption rates in anti-PIBF-treated mice were corrected by simultaneous treatment of the mice with anti-NK antibodies (23), suggesting that PIBF prevents pregnancy loss in mice—at least partly—by blocking NK activity. Increased decidual NK activity owing to the loss of PIBF+ decidual NK cells



could be one of the reasons for the increased resorption rates in the anti-PIBF treated mice.

B cells constitute a minor population among decidual lymphocytes, yet they might be important for the immunological balance of the decidua. A recent study showed that the IL-33-induced expression of PIBF1 by decidual B cells protects against preterm labor both in humans and in mice (42).

In the present study, we detected a distinct layer of B cells at the choriodecidual interface of control pregnant mice on day 10.5 of pregnancy. These cells were completely absent from the deciduae of mice that had been treated with anti-PIBF during the peri-implantation period. We could not detect PIBF in the B cells on day 10.5 of pregnancy; however, PIBF+ B cells were present in the late pregnancy deciduae of the control mice (data not shown).

Taken together, it is conceivable that anti-PIBF treatment—by depleting decidual B cells—will, at a later stage, put pregnancy at risk due to the lack of PIBF-positive B cells (42).

Finally, we performed a gene array on the spleen cells of anti-PIBF-treated and control mice in order to investigate whether the absence of functional PIBF had an effect on T cell activation and differentiation.

The T cell receptor is a complex of T cell receptor alpha and beta chains and the CD3 proteins. Activation of CD4+ T cells occurs through the simultaneous engagement of the T cell receptor and a co-stimulatory molecule on the T cell by the MHCII peptide and the co-stimulatory molecules on the APC. In the absence of co-stimulation, T cell receptor signaling results in anergy.

In addition to TCR alpha/beta, a whole set of cell surface receptors are also engaged by their ligands on APCs, which regulate Th differentiation. CD4 acts as a cellular adhesion molecule that binds MHC class II and stabilizes the interaction of T cells and APCs (43, 44). CD28 is a costimulatory receptor on T cells, which binds CD80 and CD86 on activated APCs (45). The TCR alpha/beta/CD3 complex provides the first signal

and CD28 the second signal for T cell activation. Both signals are required for IL-2 production and T cell proliferation. CD40 ligand, expressed by activated T cells, binds to CD40 on APCs, initiating a T cell-mediated immune response (46).

In this study, we found that members of the T cell receptor CD3 complex were significantly downregulated on CD4+ T cells of anti-PIBF-treated mice, while CD3D and IL2R B and G were upregulated in CD8+ cells, suggesting that Th cell activation is severely inhibited in the anti-PIBF-treated pregnant mice.

IL-4 is the main cytokine driving Th2 cell differentiation. IL-4 is produced by various cell types, including mast cells, basophils, eosinophils, NK cells, activated CD4+ T cells, and differentiated Th2 cells (47).

Here we found that the gene for IL-4 was significantly downregulated in CD4+ cells, while that of IL-12A was upregulated in CD8+ cells of the anti-PIBF-treated mice.

There is now ample evidence that the recognition of paternal antigens by the maternal immune system is not simply harmless but absolutely necessary for the setting in of the mechanisms that adapt the immune response to tolerate the fetus (48). Following recognition of fetal antigens, the immune system becomes activated, and this will result in the establishment of regulatory mechanisms, e.g., a Th2 dominant immune response (49, 50).

Neutralizing PIBF in the peri-implantation period abolishes this mechanism right at the start. CD4+ T cell activation is disturbed, T cells differentiate in the Th1 direction, and as a result, implantation as well as ongoing pregnancies is compromised.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Care Committee of the University of Pecs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TC performed most of the work. EP and AK did the prime pcr. EM was responsible for the flow cytometry. ZB helped with the

REFERENCES

- Carson DD, Bagchi I, Dey SK, Enders AC, Fazleabas AT, Lessey BA, et al. Embryo implantation. *Dev Biol.* (2000) 223:217– 37. doi: 10.1006/dbio.2000.9767
- Bazer FW, Spencer TE, Johnson GA, Burghardt RC. Uterine receptivity to implantation of blastocysts in mammals. *Front Biosci.* (2011) 3:745– 67. doi: 10.2741/s184
- Dey SK, Lim H, Das SK, Reese J, Paria BC, Daikoku T, et al. Molecular cues to implantation. *Endocr Rev.* (2004) 25:341–73. doi: 10.1210/er.2003-0020
- Pawar S, Hantak AM, Bagchi IC, Bagchi MK. Steroid-regulated paracrine mechanisms controlling implantation. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2014) 28:1408– 22. doi: 10.1210/me.2014-1074
- Ramathal, C.Y, Bagchi IC, Taylor RN, Bagchi MK. Endometrial decidualization: of mice and men. *Semin Reprod Med.* (2010) 28:17–26. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1242989
- Cha J, Sun X, Dey SK. Mechanisms of implantation: strategies for successful pregnancy. Nat Med. (2012) 18:1754–67. doi: 10.1038/nm.3012
- Li X, Lonard DM, O'Malley BW. A contemporary understanding of progesterone receptor function. *Mech Ageing Dev.* (2004) 125:669–78. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2004.04.007
- Mulac-Jericevic B, Conneely OM. Reproductive tissue selective actions of progesterone receptors. *Reproduction*. (2004) 128:139– 46. doi: 10.1530/rep.1.00189
- Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Funk CR, Mani SK, Hughes, A. R, et al. Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. *Genes Dev.* (1995) 9:2266–78. doi: 10.1101/gad.9.18.2266
- Mulac-Jericevic B, Mullinax RA, DeMayo FJ, Lydon JP, Conneely OM. Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform. *Science*. (2000) 289:1751–4. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5485.1751
- Mulac-Jericevic B, Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Conneely OM. Defective mammary gland morphogenesis in mice lacking the progesterone receptor B isoform. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:9744–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1732707100
- Rubel CA, Lanz RB, Kommagani R, Franco HL, Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ. Research resource: genome-wide profiling of progesterone receptor binding in the mouse uterus. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2012) 26:1428–42. doi: 10.1210/me.2011-1355
- Mulac-Jeričević B, Šućurović S, Gulic T, Szekeres-Bartho J. The involvement of the progesterone receptor in PIBF and Gal-1 expression in the mouse endometrium. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 81:e13104. doi: 10.1111/aji.13104
- Polgár B, Nagy E, Mikó E, Varga P, Szekeres-Barthó J. Urinary progesteroneinduced blocking factor concentration is related to pregnancy outcome. *Biol Reprod.* (2004) 71:1699–705. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.104.030437
- Hudić I, Szekeres-Bartho J, Stray-Pedersen B, Fatušić Z, Polgar B, Ećim-Zlojutro V. Lower urinary and serum progesterone-induced blocking factor in women with preterm birth. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 117:66– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.07.003
- Szekeres-Bartho J, Par G, Szereday L, Smart CY, Achatz I. Progesterone and non-specific immunologic mechanisms in pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1997) 38:176–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1997.tb00295.x
- Szekeres-Bartho J, Wegmann TG. A progesterone-dependent immunomodulatory protein alters the Th1/Th2 balance. J Reprod Immunol. (1996) 31:81–95. doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(96)00964-3

animal experiments. This study was designed and supervised by JS-B.

FUNDING

This work was supported by GINOP-2.3.2-15-201600021, ÁOK KA Research Grants (KA 2017-22 and KA-2018-07), EFOP- 3.6.1.-16-2016-00004, and OTKA K125212.

- Kalinka J, Szekeres-Bartho J. The impact of dydrogesterone supplementation on hormonal profile and progesterone-induced blocking factor concentrations in women with threatened abortion. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2005) 53:166–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2005.00261.x
- Conneely OM, Mulac-Jericevic B, Lydon JP, De Mayo FJ. Reproductive functions of the progesterone receptor isoforms: lessons from knock-out mice. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2001) 179:97–103. doi: 10.1016/S0303-7207(01)00465-8
- Kaya HS, Hantak AM, Stubbs LJ, Taylor RN, Bagchi IC, Bagchi MK. Roles of progesterone receptor A and B isoforms during human endometrial decidualization. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2015) 29:882–95. doi: 10.1210/me.2014-1363
- Faust Z, Laskarin G, Rukavina D, Szekeres-Bartho J. Progesterone-induced blocking factor inhibits degranulation of natural killer cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1999) 42:71–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1999.tb00468.x
- Bogdan A, Berta G, Szekeres-Bartho J. PIBF positive uterine NK cells in the mouse decidua. J Reprod Immunol. (2017) 119:38–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.12.001
- Szekeres-Bartho J, Par G, Dombay Gy, Smart YC, Volgyi Z. The antiabortive effect of progesterone-induced blocking factor in mice is manifested by modulating NK activity. *Cell Immunol.* (1997) 177:194– 9. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1997.1090
- Szekeres-Bartho J, Faust Z, Varga P. The expression of a progesteroneinduced immunomodulatory protein in pregnancy lymphocytes. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1995) 34:342–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1995.tb00962.x
- Pallinger E, Bognar Z, Bogdan A, Csabai T, Abraham H, Szekeres-Bartho J. PIBF+ extracellular vesicles from mouse embryos affect IL-10 production by CD8+ cells. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:4662. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23112-z
- Anderle C1, Hammer A, Polgár B, Hartmann M, Wintersteiger R, Blaschitz A, et al. Human trophoblast cells express the immunomodulator progesterone-induced blocking factor. J Reprod Immunol. (2008) 79:26– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2008.06.002
- De Fougerolles R, Baines M. Modulation of natural killer activity influences resorption rates in CBAxDBA/2 matings. *J Reprod Immunol.* (1987) 11:147– 53. doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(87)90018-0
- Kinsky, R, Delage G, Rosin N, Thang MN, Hoffmann M, Chaouat G. A murine model for NK mediated resorption. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1990) 23:73–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1990.tb00675.x
- Aoki K, Kajiura S, Matsumoto Y, Ogasawara M, Okada S, Yagami Y, et al. Preconceptional natural-killer-cell activity as a predictor of miscarriage. *Lancet.* (1995) 345:1340–2. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)92539-2
- Fukui K, Yoshimoto I, Matsubara K, Hori R, Ochi H, Ito M. Leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 expression on decidual natural killer cells in patients with early pregnancy loss. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (1999) 5:1083– 8. doi: 10.1093/molehr/5.11.1083
- Ntrivalas EI, Kwak-Kim JYH, Gilman-Sachs A, Chung-Bang H, Ng SC, Beaman KD, et al. Status of peripheral blood natural killer cells in women with recurrent spontaneous abortions and infertility of unknown aetiology. *Human Reprod.* (2001) 16:855–61 doi: 10.1093/humrep/16.5.855
- 32. Ntrivalas EI, Bowser CR, Kwak-Kim J, Beaman KD, Gilman-Sachs A. Expression of killer immunoglobulin-like receptors on peripheral blood NK cell subsets of women with recurrent spontaneous abortions or implantation failures. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2005) 53:215–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2005.00268.x
- Putowski L, Darmochwal-Kolarz D, Rolinski J, Oleszczuk J, Jakowicki J. The immunological profile of infertile women after repeated IVF failure

(preliminary study). Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. (2004) 112:192-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2003.06.012

- 34. Shakhar K, Ben Eliyahu S, Loewenthal R, Rosenne E, Carp H. Differences in number and activity of peripheral natural killer cells in primary versus secondary recurrent miscarriage. *Fertil Steril.* (2003) 80:368– 75. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(03)00611-3
- 35. Yamada H, Kato EH, Kobashi G, Ebina Y, Shimada S, Morikawa M, et al. High NK cell activity in early pregnancy correlates with subsequent abortion with normal chromosomes in women with recurrent abortion. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2001) 46:132–6. doi: 10.1111/j.8755-8920.2001.4 60203.x
- Szekeres-Bartho J, Hadnagy J, Pacsa AS. The suppressive effect of progesterone on lymphocyte cytotoxicity: unique progesterone sensitivity of pregnancy lymphocytes. J Reprod Immunol. (1985) 7:121–8 doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(85)90066-X
- Hansen KA, Opsahl MS, Nieman LK, Baker JR Jr, Klein TA. Natural killer cell activity from pregnant subjects is modulated by RU 486. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (1992) 166:87–90 doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(92)91835-X
- Koopman LA, Kopcow HD, Rybalov B, Boyson JE, Orange JS, Schatz F, et al. Human decidual natural killer cells are a unique NK cell subset with immunomodulatory potential. J Exp Med. (2003) 198:1201–12. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030305
- Rukavina D, Rubesa G, Gudelj L, Haller H, Podack ER. Characteristics of perforin expressing lymphocytes within the first trimester of human pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1995) 33:394–404 doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1995.tb00908.x
- Crncic TB, Laskarin G, Frankovic KJ, Tokmadzic VS, Strbo N, Bedenicki I, et al. Early pregnancy decidual lymphocytes beside perforin use Fas ligand (FasL) mediated cytotoxicity. J Reprod Immunol. (2007) 73:108– 17. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2006.07.001
- Laskarin G, Strbo N, Sotosek V, Rukavina D, Faust Z, Szekeres-Bartho J, et al. Progesterone directly and indirectly affects perforin expression in cytolytic cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1999) 42:312– 20. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1999.tb00107.x
- Huang B, Faucette AN, Pawlitz MD, Pei B, Goyert JW, Zhou JZ, et al. Interleukin-33-induced expression of PIBF1 by decidual B cells protects against preterm labor. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:128–35. doi: 10.1038/nm.4244

- Leitenberg D, Boutin Y, Constant S, Bottomly K. CD4 regulation of TCR signaling and T cell differentiation following stimulation with peptides of different affinities for the TCR. J Immunol. (1998) 161:1194–203
- Krummel MF, Sjaastad MD, Wülfing C, Davis MM. Differential clustering of CD4 and CD3zeta during T cell recognition. *Science*. (2000) 289:1349– 52. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5483.1349
- Lanier LL, O'Fallon S, Somoza C, Phillips JH, Linsley PS, Okumura K, et al. CD80 (B7) and CD86 (B70) provide similar costimulatory signals for T cell proliferation, cytokine production, and generation of CTL. *J Immunol.* (1995) 154:97–105
- Dong C, Flavell RA. Cell fate decision: T-helper 1 and 2 subsets in immune responses. Arthritis Res. (2000) 2:179–88. doi: 10.1186/ar85
- Rautajoki KJ, Kylaniemi MK, Raghav SK, Rao K, Lahesma A. An insight into molecular mechanisms of human T helper cell differentiation. *Ann Med.* (2008) 40:322–35. doi: 10.1080/078538908020 68582
- Ober C, Hyslop T, Elias S, Weitkamp LR, Hauck WW. Human leukocyte antigen matching and fetal loss: results of a 10 year prospective study. *Hum Reprod.* (1998) 13:33–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/13.1.33
- Wegmann TG, Lin H, Guilbert L, Mosmann TR. Bidirectional cytokine interactions in the maternal-fetal relationship: is successful pregnancy a TH2 phenomenon? *Immunol Today*. (1993) 14:353–6. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(93)90235-D
- Raghupathy R. Th1-type immunity is incompatible with successful pregnancy. Immunol Today. (1997) 10:478–82. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(97)01127-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Csabai, Pallinger, Kovacs, Miko, Bognar and Szekeres-Bartho. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Vertically Transferred Immunity in Neonates: Mothers, Mechanisms and Mediators

Marie Albrecht* and Petra Clara Arck*

Laboratory for Experimental Feto-Maternal Medicine, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

Over the last years, an increasing number of outbreaks of vaccine-preventable infectious

diseases has been reported. Besides elderly and immunocompromised individuals, newborns and small infants are most susceptible to infections, as their immune system is still immature. This vulnerability during infancy can be mitigated by the transplacental transfer of pathogen-specific antibodies and other mediators of immunity from mother to the fetus during pregnancy, followed postnatally by breast milk-derived immunity. Since this largely antibody-mediated passive immunity can prevent the newborn from infections, neonatal immunity depends strongly on the maternal concentration of respective specific antibodies during pregnancy. If titers are low or wane rapidly after birth, the protection transferred to the child may not be sufficient to prevent disease. Moreover, emerging concepts propose that mothers may transfer active immunity to the newborns via vertical transfer of pathogen-specific T cells. Overall, a promising strategy to augment and prolong neonatal immunity is to vaccinate the mother before or during pregnancy in order to boost maternal antibody concentrations or availability of specific T cells. Hence, a large number of pre-and postconceptional vaccine trials have been carried out to test and confirm this concept. We here highlight novel insights arising from recent research endeavors on the influence of prenatal maternal vaccination against pathogens that can pose a threat for newborns, such as measles, pertussis, rubella and influenza A. We delineate pathways involved in the transfer of specific maternal antibodies. We also discuss the consequences for children's health and long-term immunity resulting from an adjustment of prenatal vaccination regimes.

Keywords: maternal vaccination, measles, rubella, pertussis, influenza, FcRn, blunting, breastfeeding

EARLY LIFE IMMUNITY AND TIME WINDOWS PERMITTING PATHOGEN THREATS FOR NEONATES

After birth and during their first months of life, human newborns are not yet equipped with a fully matured immune system (1, 2). Hence, they are highly susceptible to infectious pathogens, such as measles, pertussis, rubella, and influenza. These pathogens can cause a severe course of disease in neonates and infants, which may even be fatal (3–5). The availability of safe and immunogenic vaccines against infectious diseases, i.e., the combined measles-mumps and rubella vaccine, does

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sarah Anne Robertson, The University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Gerard Chaouat, INSERM U976 Immunologie, Dermatologie, Oncologie, France Guillermina Girardi, King's College London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Marie Albrecht albrecht.marie@outlook.de Petra Clara Arck p.arck@uke.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 13 January 2020 Accepted: 11 March 2020 Published: 31 March 2020

Citation:

Albrecht M and Arck PC (2020) Vertically Transferred Immunity in Neonates: Mothers, Mechanisms and Mediators. Front. Immunol. 11:555. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00555 not mitigate this threat to neonatal health, as the vaccines contain living pathogen components; hence, their use is not recommended to be administered to children under the age of 12 months. Similarly, the vaccination with the combined tetanusdiphtheria-pertussis (Tdap) vaccine and the inactivated influenza vaccines (IIV) is not recommended until 2 or 6 months of age, respectively (6, 7). These restrictions to vaccination leave a pivotal gap of neonatal immunity against these pathogens until routine immunization can be administered (8).

This gap in immunity is – at least in part – covered by the active, transplacental transfer of maternal pathogenspecific antibodies. Mothers convey passive immunity to their newborns through the transplacental transfer of antibodies, hereby providing a shield for the infant from pathogenmediated diseases (1, 9). The amount of transferred antibodies can differ between individuals and is mainly dependent on maternal antibody concentrations (10, 11). Based on this natural immunity mediated by the mother, maternal vaccination strategies during pregnancy are vividly discussed. Such strategies could increase maternal antibody transfer and, in consequence, the degree of passive immunity for the neonate (12).

In the light of the recent outbreaks of vaccine-preventable diseases such as measles even in countries with high vaccine coverage, the topic of immunization has received significant attention by medical professionals and the lay community. Measles infection has caused more than 140,000 deaths globally in 2018, most of them among children under five years of age (13). Promoting the immunity of newborns via maternal vaccination holds the potential to become an effective and low-cost approach to prevent neonatal morbidity and mortality caused by communicable diseases (14-16). In the present article, we comprehensively discuss recent research studies on maternal vaccination against common childhood infections such as pertussis, influenza, measles, and rubella. We further highlight pathways involved in the transplacental transfer of antibodies as well as mechanisms through which neonatal immunity can be improved irrespective of maternal antibodies (Figure 1).

OBSERVATIONS FROM VACCINATION STUDIES AGAINST TETANUS, DIPHTHERIA AND PERTUSSIS DURING PREGNANCY

A number of recent studies confirm that vaccination with the combined tetanus, diphtheria, and acellular pertussis vaccine (Tdap) can be recommended during pregnancy, since vaccine trials carried out on a large scale and in various countries have generally demonstrated its safety and immunogenicity in mothers and their infants (**Table 1**). The World Health Organization (WHO) reports a 96% reduction of death by neonatal tetanus through implementation of recommended elimination practices from 1988 to 2015, including the vaccination of pregnant women (17). Similarly, the burden of diphtheria disease has been

reduced (18). Unfortunately, comparable achievements have not been made with regard to pertussis elimination. Outbreaks of whooping cough have recently been occurring worldwide, exposing young infants to a particularly high risk of severe infections. Thus, we here mainly discuss studies that focus on the outcome of pertussis vaccination in pregnant women.

Amongst others, the authors of a recent study aimed to evaluate the safety and immunogenicity of Tdap administration during pregnancy in mothers and their infants and to assess the possible interference of maternal antibodies with subsequent infant immunizations (19). Apart from mild and self-limiting local reactions at the vaccination site, no adverse events caused by the immunization with Tdap were reported in mothers and their infants. Anti-pertussis toxin (PT) antibodies, which primarily mediate protection against Bordetella pertussisinduced disease (20), and anti-pertactin (PRN) antibodies, which convey protection by opsonization and subsequent phagocytosis of Bordetella pertussis (21), were significantly increased in mothers vaccinated with Tdap during pregnancy, compared to the placebo group. Accordingly, both anti-PT and anti-PRN were significantly higher at birth in infants of vaccinated mothers. Irrespective of prenatal vaccination, cord blood antibody titers exceeded maternal titers assessed at delivery, indicating an active transplacental transport of antibody. However, anti-PT and anti-PRN decreased quickly until the age of 2 months.

The investigators also pointed out differences in anti-PRN and anti-PT seroresponses following routine infant vaccinations at 2 and 4 months of age with a combined tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis, polio and Hib vaccine (19). After vaccination, infants of placebo-receiving mothers showed a greater increase of anti-PT levels compared to infants of Tdap-vaccinated mothers, indicating an interference of maternal antibodies with the child's seroresponse to vaccination. Surprisingly, opposed to the response to PT, an anti-PRN response was not mounted in these infants, irrespective of maternal Tdap vaccination. This is in contrast to a study focusing on infants' response to Tdap vaccination during early life, in which a significant seroresponse to both PT and PRN was mounted (22). An explanation for the ambiguity between the vaccination responses observed in these two studies cannot be deduced from the respective articles, but may be due to different cohort sizes, variations in the procedure of specimen preparation or the different ELISA kits used to determine antibody concentrations.

Another study focusing on the influence of maternal vaccination with Tdap during the second trimester of pregnancy (23) revealed that anti-PT IgG could be detected in 92% of infants born to vaccinated mothers, whilst anti-PT IgG was undetectable in infants of unvaccinated mothers. Although this study has some limitations, for example the lack of initial maternal anti-PT levels and the ELISA-based analysis allowing for detection of antibody presence or absence only, but no concentrations, it shows that maternal immunization with Tdap during the 2nd trimester of pregnancy significantly increases the percentage of seropositive newborns.

Not only immune responses of mother and child toward Tdap immunization during pregnancy have been investigated,



but also vaccine safety. By using information from different national databases, Griffin et al. (24) identified a large cohort of women who were eligible to receive governmental funded Tdap vaccination between gestational week 28 and 38. Hospitalization for severe pregnancy complications was set as the primary outcome and hospitalizations for less critical pregnancy complications as secondary outcomes. Key finding of this study was that the hazard ratio for primary or secondary outcomes did not increase when Tdap was administered during pregnancy. Intriguingly, the authors also report that Tdap vaccination during pregnancy significantly reduced the risk for hospitalization due to severe pre-eclampsia, as well as the risk for antenatal bleeding and preterm labor and delivery. Upon inspection of the studied population, these risk reductions might be biased by the demographic characteristics that distinguish vaccinated and unvaccinated women. Vaccinated women tended to be European, have a higher income level and receive

care from an obstetrician. Since pregnancy complications as well as mother and infant mortality are rather associated with lower socioeconomic status and non-caucasian ethnicity (25-27), it is tempting to assume that higher rates for primary and secondary outcomes observed in this study may be due to confounders.

Noteworthy, New Zealand had been facing a large pertussis epidemic from 2011 to 2013. However, only 11.9% of the individuals eligible to receive Tdap in the study by Griffin et al. have been vaccinated. This example shows the urgent need for further education of the population regarding the effectiveness of immunization against pertussis.

Whilst the evidence for safety and immunogenicity of Tdap is steadily increasing, Saul et al. also emphasized on the effectiveness of maternal Tdap vaccination with regard to infant hospitalization due to pertussis infection (28). The authors report a 39% vaccine effectiveness (VE) to prevent pertussis infection TABLE 1 | Overview of studies and trials assessing safety, effectiveness and outcome of vaccinations with Tdap, IIV, and MMR during child-bearing years, pregnancy or infancy in humans.

Aim of study	Study design	N	References
Pathogens: C. tetani, C. diphtheriae, and B. pertussis			
Assessment of immunity against vaccine preventable diseases	Prospective, observational study	194	(1)
Safety and immunogenicity of Tdap matVac, interference of matAB	Randomized double-blind controlled clinical trial	171	(19)
Effect of 2 doses of pertussis vaccine before 2 months of age	Randomized non-blinded clinical trial	76	(22)
Assessment of B. pertussis titers in third trimester and newborns	Observational, cross-sectional study	111	(23)
Maternal outcome upon Tdap matVac	Retrospective observational study	68,550	(24)
Assess effectiveness of Tdap matVac	Matched case-control study	234	(28)
VE in protecting newborns from pertussis infection	Matched case-control study	88	(29)
Comparative analysis of Tdap matVac timepoint and AB yield in newborn	Prospective study	81	(30)
Determination of optimal GW for Tdap matVac in third trimester	Prospective study	154	(31)
Comparative analysis of Tdap matVac in second or third trimester	Prospective observational study	335	(32)
Effect of Tdap booster dose between two pregnancies	Prospective study	144	(72)
Comparative analysis of maternal and cord blood AB and proteins at term	Observational study	16	(73)
Analysis of neutralizing antibodies in infants after vaccination against diphtheria	Prospective study	44	(94)
Effect of matVac with Tdap and IIV on infant AB responses	Prospective study	369	(95)
Influence of Tdap booster dose during pregnancy on infant's matAB levels and immune responses	Prospective controlled cohort study	99	(96)
Safety and immunogenicity of Tdap matVAc and effect on infant immune responses	Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial	80	(97)
Pathogen: Influenza A			
Assessment of safety and immunogenicity of seasonal trivalent IIV matVac	Prospective, randomized, double-blind clinical trial	100	(40)
Risk assessment for neonatal birth defects after first trimester IIV exposure	Observational study	425,944	(41)
Persistence of HAI titers and VE of IIV3 in subsequent influenza season in women	Double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial	479	(43)
Duration of infant protection upon IIV matVac	Substudy of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial	322	(44)
Clinical effectiveness of IIV matVac; safety and immunogenicity of pneumococcal vaccines	Prospective, controlled, blinded, randomized study	340	(45)
Risk assessment for infant hospitalization due to lower respiratory infection after IIV matVac	Secondary analysis of randomized controlled trial	52	(46)
Effect of IIV matVac on risk for influenza in infants < 6 months of age	Non-randomized, prospective, observational cohort study	1169	(47)
Influence of IIV matVac on subsequent B. pertussis infection rates in mothers	Retrospective testing of samples collected in randomized controlled trial	3125	(48)
Effect of vitamin A supplementation on immune response to IIV matVac	Prospective study	112	(70)
Investigation of sensitization to IIV antigens in utero	Prospective observational study	126	(74)
Effect of maternal influenza vaccination on influenza-specific IgA levels in breast milk	Prospective, blinded, controlled trial	340	(80)
Effect of cross-reactive cellular immunity on symptomatic influenza illness in AB- naïve individuals	Prospective study	342	(90)
Pathogens: Measles, Mumps, and Rubella Virus			
Repertoire of maternal anti-viral AB in newborns at birth	Prospective study	78	(10)
Assessment of safety of MMR vaccination in adults	Retrospective observational study	3175	(51)
Assessment of B cell impairment upon measles-associated immunosuppression	Prospective observational study	29	(54)
Identification of measles infection long- term effects on immune system	Prospective study	196	(55)
Association of maternal age and vaccination status with cord blood matAB	Observational study	206	(57)
MatAB transfer in vaccinated or naturally immune mothers to preterm/term infants	Prospective study	195	(58)
Quantification of AB against MMR and varicella zoster in mothers and infants	Prospective observational study	138	(59)
Duration of presence of matAB to measles in infants	Prospective study	207	(60)

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Aim of study	Study design	N	References
Seronegativity in infants < 6 months and serologic response to measles vaccine	Cross-sectional study	203	(61)
Prenatal fetal infection among women (re-) infected with rubella during pregnancy	Prospective observational study	40	(62)
Detection of rubella-specific IgM in subclinical rubella reinfection in pregnancy	Case report	8	(63)
Criteria for defining rubella reinfection	Case report	5	(64)
Fetal infection after maternal rubella reinfection during pregnancy	Case report	1	(65)
Seroepidemiology of anti-measles, -mumps and -rubella AB in pregnant women and neonates	Prospective study	353	(71)
Assessment of transplacental transport of IgG immune complexes	Prospective study	152	(75)
Immunogenicity of measles vaccine in infants < 12 months	Cohort study	72	(92)
Studies on breast milk immunity			
Assessment of gut microbiota bound by breast milk IgA	Observational study	69	(81)
Effects of infections during pregnancy on colostrum IgA levels	Cross- sectional study	900	(82)

matVac, maternal vaccination during pregnancy; Tdap, Tetanus, diphtheria, acellular pertussis vaccine; matAB, maternal antibody; VE, vaccine effectiveness; GW, gestational week; AB, antibody; IV(3), (trivalent) inactivated influenza vaccine; MMR, measles, mumps, rubella vaccine; HAI, hemagglutination inhibition assay.

for infants < 6 months and of 69% for infants younger than 3 months of age; the overall VE against hospitalization due to severe pertussis infection was 94%. These results clearly demonstrate that maternal Tdap vaccination is predominantly effective in preventing severe cases of pertussis disease, with maternal vaccination attenuating the intensity of the illness rather than preventing it. Furthermore, the authors identified that breastfeeding may have a protective effect on pertussis infection of the infant. These findings are in line with a very similarly set up of a study conducted in the same year (29). Here, the authors found a 90.9% VE of maternal Tdap vaccination during pregnancy in protecting infants < 3 months from laboratory confirmed pertussis; yet, VE was calculated from a small cohort. Also, apart from maternal vaccination, breastfeeding was identified as the only other significant influence on infant protection against pertussis. This effect could be observed not only in mothers vaccinated during pregnancy, where maternal IgA could be passed via the breast milk, but also in those who had not been vaccinated against or in contact with pertussis for the last 10 years. The authors suggest that this might be attributed to other breast milk components which were not further specified.

There is still ambiguity with regard to vaccination timepoint recommendation by national health services. The National Health Service (NHS) in the United Kingdom and the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) in the US suggest two different vaccination schedules. While the NHS recommends Tdap administration between 16 and 32 weeks of gestation (30), the ACIP proposes that Tdap should be administered at a later timepoint between 27 and 36 weeks of gestation (6). Using cord blood concentrations of pertussis-specific IgG as a read out parameter, one study reports highest levels if mothers had been vaccinated with Tdap between 27 and <31 weeks of gestation, as compared to vaccination at 31 weeks or later (31). Another study suggested that the optimal timepoint for Tdap administration is between 28 and 32 weeks of gestation, based on higher cord blood anti-pertussis antibody concentrations resulting from vaccination at this timepoint as compared to later in gestation (32). Conversely, another study with a higher number of participants reports that maternal Tdap vaccination between gestational week 13 and 25 results in higher cord blood anti-pertussis antibody concentrations than immunization after 26 weeks of gestation (33). A longer period of time between vaccination and childbirth allows for a greater transfer window, which may explain the observed higher cord blood titers. Rescheduling the recommended vaccination to an earlier timepoint during pregnancy might therefore be beneficial, not only for preterm neonates (33).

Taken together, Tdap immunization should be recommended to each pregnant woman in every pregnancy, regardless of the previous vaccination status. This will yield to high maternal antibody concentrations toward the end of pregnancy, so that antibodies can be transferred at greater extent to the fetus. Whilst vaccination of the mother during the 2nd or 3rd trimester of pregnancy is safe and efficacious, the best strategy to ensure high neonatal anti-pertussis antibody concentrations seems to be vaccination between gestational week 13 and 25. Besides maternal vaccination, passive protection of the neonate via reduction of pathogen exposure can result from a so-called cocooning effect, achieved by vaccination of family members and caregivers of the newborn (34, 35). By combining these protective techniques, the risk for pertussis infection during the first months of life, until the neonate has mounted humoral and cellular immunity against this pathogen, can be reduced.

INSIGHTS FROM VACCINATION STUDIES AGAINST INFLUENZA DURING PREGNANCY

Apart from Tdap, vaccination against influenza using inactivated influenza vaccines (IIV) is the only other recommended

vaccination during pregnancy. Pregnant women are at high risk for severe influenza disease outcomes due to a multi-faceted failure to mount an anti-viral response. As shown in basic science approaches, this less stringent selective environment can promote the emergence of mutated influenza variants which mediate increased viral pathogenicity (36). The Robert Koch Institute, the governmental central scientific institution safeguarding public health such as the surveillance and prevention of infectious diseases in Germany, recommends vaccination against influenza for all pregnant women during the second and third trimester. For women with increased morbidity risk or preexisting medical conditions, vaccination is even recommended during the first trimester (37). Similar recommendations have been made by the ACIP in the United States (38), where vaccination against influenza is recommend at any time during normally progressing pregnancy.

These recommendations result from a wealth of studies carried out worldwide on safety, immunogenicity and efficacy of influenza vaccination during pregnancy. These studies have clearly demonstrated the advantages of protecting mother and infant from influenza disease, as extensively reviewed elsewhere (14, 15, 39).

Moreover, independent studies (Table 1) have assessed the impact of influenza vaccination on pregnancy outcomes and confirmed that the risk for structural birth defects or pregnancy complications is unaffected by maternal vaccination against influenza (40, 41). On the contrary, the frequency of infants born small for gestational age was lower among vaccinated women and the overall birth weight was higher (42). Immunogenicity analyses using hemagglutination inhibition assay (HAI) revealed that the overall reactogenicity to the inactivated influenza virus vaccine was similar between nonpregnant and pregnant individuals (40). Here, it was also reported that higher maternal age negatively correlates with seroconversion and -protection, whilst data supporting this observation have not been shown. However, another study showing that HAI titers were likely to remain elevated one year after immunization especially in women younger than 25 years of age supports the link between maternal age and immunogenicity to IIV (43).

Besides the maternal response to influenza vaccination during pregnancy, the subsequent children's outcome upon maternal vaccination has also been the focus of a number of studies. Here, an overall beneficial response could be identified, such as a lower hospitalization rate and milder disease course of infants < 6 months, not only related to influenza infection (44, 45), but also to all-cause lower respiratory tract infection (ALRI), including diseases induced by pathogens such as B. pertussis, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and rhinovirus (42, 46, 47). This broad protection from lower respiratory tract infections has been explained by an increased susceptibility to pathogens affecting the airway system subsequent to an influenza infection, from which neonates with maternally inherited passive immunity against influenza are protected to a higher degree (46, 48). However, large-scale studies are urgently needed to confirm this suggestion. Once confirmed, such insights will likely increase

the vaccination compliance of pregnant women, which is still surprisingly low (49).

VACCINES CONTRAINDICATED FOR IMMUNIZATION DURING PREGNANCY

Unlike vaccinations against tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis and influenza, which can be recommended during pregnancy, live attenuated vaccines like the combined measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine are contraindicated in pregnant women due to the hypothetical risk of transplacental viral transmission and infection of the fetus (50). However, observations from prenatal MMR immunization administered during the first trimester to women unaware of their pregnancy revealed that the risk for adverse pregnancy outcomes such as spontaneous abortion, hydrocephalus, vaginal bleeding and preterm birth is not significantly increased compared to the general population. Also, fetal infection has not been reported (51).

Resulting from the global rise of vaccine hesitancy, one of the 10 threats to global health (52), transmission of measles is rapidly spreading, which poses a significant hazard to children's health. Besides common complications related to measles infection in children, such as diarrhea, middle ear infection and pneumonia (53), it has recently been identified that measles can obliterate existing humoral immune memory against a repertoire of pathogens (54, 55). The incomplete reconstitution of the naïve B cell pool and the depletion of previously expanded B memory clones account for this obliteration of immune memory (54). Hence, the susceptibility toward subsequent infections is greatly enhanced after measles infection, which strongly underpins the urgency not only for vaccination of children, but also for women with the intention to become pregnant. This will close a vulnerable gap of neonatal susceptibility toward measles prior to the recommended vaccination at the age of one year and allow to achieve global measles elimination.

In Germany, immunization of adults with MMR is only recommended for individuals with an incomplete or unclear vaccination history (37). Since the age of women at the time of giving birth to their first child has increased by approximately a decade during the last 50 years (56), the window between routine childhood vaccination and onset of pregnancy has also increased. Hence, antibody concentrations might have waned substantially at the time of pregnancy. It has been observed that a MMR vaccination dose administered close to pregnancy induces higher matAB levels in the offspring, irrespective of the total number of vaccine doses given to the mother (57). In countries where pathogens such as measles still circulate within the population and hence, natural infections and boosting through recurrent exposures to the wild-type pathogens are frequent, antibody concentrations are higher compared to those mounted by immunization (57). Vice versa, in highly vaccinated populations with low pathogen circulation, antibody concentrations in mothers and their children tend to be lower due to faster decrease of vaccine-induced antibodies and a lack of natural boosting through pathogen exposure (58-60). Gonçalves et al. quantified this observation by measuring anti-measles-IgG in cord blood and found that in infants born to MMR-unvaccinated mothers, who most likely gained their immunity through natural infection, anti-measles-IgG reached 1849 mIU/ml, while cord blood of infants born to MMR-vaccinated mothers only contained 987 mIU/ml of anti-measles-IgG (57). It has been suggested that immune responses toward measles may differ if mounted by natural infection or by vaccination, because different antibody subclasses may be induced and that infants of vaccinated mothers lose passive acquired immunity at an earlier age compared to naturally immune mothers (61).

Studies observing the impact on the neonate in case of rubella reinfection during pregnancy (62–64) have reported that rubella reinfection can occur both in naturally immune women and in women immunized against rubella during childhood. Noteworthy, immunized women are at greater risk for such reinfection, which might be due to differences in the immune response following vaccination or natural infection. The course of rubella reinfection is mostly subclinical, but may have severe consequences such as the congenital rubella syndrome (CRS), though this has been described only in one case (65). Thus, MMR booster doses can be recommended to women planning to become pregnant in order to avoid serious illness of the child if exposed to measles or rubella virus during gestation or during the first months of life.

MECHANISMS OF TRANSFERRING IMMUNITY TO THE NEWBORN: TRANSPLACENTAL TRANSPORT OF MATERNAL ANTIBODIES

The wealth of studies summarized so far highlights that maternal antibodies against specific pathogens can be vertically transferred to the fetus and subsequently protect the neonate from infections. Thus, the mechanism of such vertical transfer is a key modulator of neonatal immunity and shall be reviewed in the following.

Generally, the placenta poses a barrier which can - at least partially - control and hinder the transmittance of harmful substances from mother to fetus. Hence, a specific and active transport mechanism is needed in order to transfer maternal pathogen-specific antibodies to the fetus. In this respect, the neonatal Fc-receptor (FcRn) plays a key role. It is, amongst other tissues, expressed in placental syncytiotrophoblasts and belongs to the Fcy receptor family, which characteristically binds the Fc fragment of IgG antibodies and promotes their transport to body sites where specific immunity is needed (66). The IgG binding characteristics of FcRn are highly pHdependent (67); in acidic environments, FcRn shows a much higher affinity to IgG compared to the physiological pH of 7.4, which is present in maternal and fetal blood. Thus, maternal antibodies are unable to bind to FcRn at the apical side of the syncytiotrophoblasts, which is bathed on maternal blood, but need to be taken up by endocytosis (Figure 2). The amount of antibody that can be transferred to the fetus depends on the amount of FcRn expressed by syncytiotrophoblasts. If all FcRn are engaged in IgG transport, additional IgG molecules

will be degraded in the lysosome, as they are not receptorbound. Thus, antibody transfer is a saturable process and will stagnate once maternal antibody concentrations reach a certain level, which has been defined as a total IgG of 15 g/L (68). Transplacental IgG transport starts early in gestation (10, 69), though still at low efficacy. With the continuation of pregnancy, FcRn expression and transplacental transport increase, peaking during the last four weeks of gestation (9). It is tempting to speculate that the increased cell mass of the growing placenta accounts for the mere increase in FcRn and related higher antibody transport rate.

To date, research on factors influencing the FcRn expression is scarce. In one study, the effect of vitamin A supplementation during pregnancy on the immune response following maternal influenza vaccination during pregnancy has been assessed. Here, a possible influence of vitamin A on FcRn expression has been proposed, but this aspect is still highly speculative and data are based on a small sample size (70). Data on sex-specific differences in placental FcRn expression is also currently lacking.

Interestingly, not all IgG subclasses are equally transferred, as FcRn mainly transports IgG1, with decreasing efficacy for IgG4, IgG3, and IgG2 (69). Structurally different antigens have been shown to induce different IgG subclasses and thus, are transferred in varying amounts. While protein antigens, such as pertussis toxin and pertactin, tetanus toxin or the measles virus elicit IgG1, polysaccharide antigens, as found on the surfaces of bacteria like Haemophilus influenzae type b or Neisseria meningitidis, induce IgG2 (2). Since the latter subclass is being transported less efficiently, newborns might lack specific immunity toward pathogens which mainly present polysaccharide antigenic structures, such as most bacteria.

The most predictive factor of transplacental antibody transfer is the level of maternal antibody (10). Higher gestational age, recent maternal vaccinations, a balanced maternal nutritional status and male gender of the newborn have been shown to positively influence maternal antibody concentrations in the infant (1, 71, 72).

Observations dating back some decades indicate that apart from IgG being transported across the placenta as a single molecule, it can also be transported as an IgG-immune complex (IgG-IC) involving IgG and it's respective antigen (73). In this study, serum tetanus antigen reached nearly the same levels in mother and infant at birth, suggesting an active transfer of anti-tetanus IgG-IC. Active transfer could not be observed for different pregnancy-related proteins such as alphafetoprotein (AFP) and human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), as their concentrations highly differed between mother and child, indicating a transmission by low-rate diffusion. More recently, influenza-specific fetal IgM could be detected in cord blood upon maternal influenza vaccination during pregnancy, suggesting that anti-influenza IgG-IC had been transferred to the fetus, followed by a fetal B- and T-cell immune response against influenza elicited by the IC in utero (74). Together with the observation that IgE, which plays a major role in allergy pathogenesis, can also be transported via the placenta as an IgG-IgE-IC (75), these findings have a great impact on understanding neonatal immunity and the development of atopy in children.



FIGURE 2 | Mechanisms of antibody transfer via placenta and breast tissue. Top: Circulating IgG antibody is taken up into the syncytiotrophoblast cell, where two IgG molecules per FcRn bind at the inner membrane of the acidic endosome. Upon opening of the endosome at the basolateral side of the cell facing the fetal circulation, FcRn releases the IgG molecules due to the increased pH and can then be recycled to perform another transport cycle. Bottom: The joining chain of the dimeric IgA molecule is bound by the polymeric Ig-receptor (pIgR) and both are internalized via endocytosis. At the apical membrane, secretory IgA (sIgA) is being released to the breast milk, as the secretory component of pIgR remains bound to the IgA antibody.

MECHANISMS OF TRANSFERRING IMMUNITY TO THE NEWBORN: TRANSFER OF MATERNAL ANTIBODIES VIA BREASTMILK

Another substantial element of neonatal immunity is the intake of breast milk, which contains a significant amount of secretory IgA. Also, maternal immune cells, such as IgG-producing memory B cells and CD4⁺ T cells, can be detected in breast milk (9, 76).

The dimeric IgA antibodies are produced by plasma cells in the mammary gland as well as in other tissues associated with mucosal surfaces. The epithelial cells of the mammary acini transport the IgA molecules from the connective tissue to the breast milk via transcytosis, involving the polymeric Ig receptor (pIgR) (77, 78) (**Figure 2**). The two IgA subclasses present in humans, IgA1 and IgA2, are distributed differently along mucosal membranes, with IgA1 being mainly present in the respiratory tract, saliva, serum and skin and IgA2 being the main secretory antibody of the intestine (79). In their seminal review, Hanson and Winberg already concluded that breast milk IgA is not absorbed by the infant's gut, but rather coats the mucosal surface of the intestine to protect it from pathogens (80).

Several studies have unveiled that the consumption of breast milk by the neonate is beneficial to its health (**Table 1**). One example is the enhanced transfer of influenza-specific and neutralizing IgA to the neonate upon influenza vaccination of the mother during pregnancy (81), which was associated with a decreased number of respiratory illness of the infants during the first six months of life. Whether this effect results from the increased amount of specific breast milk IgA or from the transplacental transfer of maternal influenza-specific IgG remains to be elucidated. Cross-fostering may provide an answer and considering the growing number of milk banks, such studies may become feasible.

Another study recently highlighted a breast milk IgAmediated protection from necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC) in preterm infants (82). The pathogenesis of NEC seems to be mainly driven by an altered sIgA binding pattern of intestinal bacteria in the newborn, since the proportion of IgA-bound bacteria was much lower in infants developing NEC compared to healthy newborns. Formula-fed infants were more likely to develop NEC than breastfed infants, presumably due to the absence of maternal IgA in formula alimentum.

Moreover, in women with respiratory tract infections during pregnancy, the proportion of IgA1 in colostrum was higher, while in women with gastrointestinal infections, levels of IgA2 were increased (83). These observations suggest that the mother's immune system seeks to shield the infant from the specific pathogens of the surrounding environment. Similarly, as shown in basic science models, maternal antibodies can potentially retain microbial molecules and transmit them to the offspring via the placenta and breastfeeding. Subsequently, the offspring are able to avert an inflammatory response to microbial molecules and allow colonization of intestinal microbes (84).

Overall, the beneficial effect of breastfeeding for infant's health seems to affect various mucosal membranes, such as the respiratory and gastrointestinal tract, hereby protecting the neonate from infections. Thus, the current recommendations of the WHO to exclusively breastfeed an infant during its first 6 months of life (85) may indeed provide optimal starting conditions for the child's postnatal immunity.

MECHANISMS OF TRANSFERRING IMMUNITY TO THE NEWBORN: MATERNAL MICROCHIMERISM

Besides antibody-mediated immunity transferred during pregnancy, it is also conceivable that pathogen-specific maternal immune cells migrate to the unborn child. It is well known that maternal immune cells can be transferred to the fetus via the placenta (86), and also via breast milk (76). These cells can then remain in the offspring until adulthood, as shown among lymphoid and myeloid compartments of peripheral blood in healthy adult women (87). Due to the low frequency of these cells

in the offspring, they are referred to as maternal microchimeric cells and a considerable percentage of such cells are T cells, which can be retained for a long period of time (88).

In general, upon infection, pathogen-specific CD8⁺ T cells remain in peripheral tissues and act as sentinels. Upon antigen re-encounter, they rapidly produce inflammatory cytokines and thereby induce a state of alertness in the local environment and recruit inflammatory cells. Thereby, a small number of pathogenspecific T cells can provoke a fast and fulminant response (89, 90). Interestingly, in the context of pregnancy, there is direct evidence for such transfer of protective maternal T cells. In a human infant with severe combined immunodeficiency suffering from Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection, large numbers of maternal CD8⁺ T cells could be detected. These cells were phenotypically activated and secreted IFN- γ in response to EBV antigen. Other hematopoietic cells were of offspring genotype, indicating that the CD8⁺ T cells originated from mature maternal T cells and not form transferred hematopoietic stem cells (91). Moreover, high frequencies of pre-existing effector CD8⁺ T cells directed against conserved core protein epitopes of influenza virus strains correlate with a milder course of influenza infection caused by other influenza virus strains, thus providing strong evidence for a cross protective function of memory CD8⁺ T cells against heterologous influenza strains (92). Based on these empirical evidences, it is appealing to speculate that pathogen-specific maternal microchimeric T cells also convey passive cellular immunity to the offspring.

THE DOWNSIDE OF NEONATAL PASSIVE IMMUNITY: MATERNAL ANTIBODIES INTERFERE WITH THE INFANT'S RESPONSE TO VACCINATION

Despite the significant health benefits resulting from maternal vaccination during pregnancy for mother and infant, there is also a downside to it. Many studies have demonstrated that high levels of maternal antibodies in the infant hamper the immune response required to mount humoral immunity upon routine childhood vaccinations (68). This inhibitory effect of maternal antibodies on the antibody generation by the infant's immune system, which is commonly referred to as "blunting," can affect neonatal immunity for up to more than one year of age, depending on the level of maternal antibodies in the neonate at birth. Interestingly, blunting occurs irrespective of the type of vaccine applied, including measles, influenza and pertussis vaccines (68).

The most common explanation for blunting involves a crosslink between the B cell receptor (BCR) and the Fc γ receptor Fc γ RIIB (68, 93), both expressed on the surface of B cells. Each BCR has a unique affinity to a certain pathogen epitope, which can also be recognized by specific maternal antibodies. These again can be ligated to the Fc γ RIIB by their Fc fragment. When the infant is being vaccinated, pathogen fragments enter its circulation and can be bound both by BCR and maternal antibodies at the same time, which leads to contradicting signals



within the B cell. While the BCR recognizes the new antigen and emanates signals leading to plasma cell differentiation and antibody production, $Fc\gamma RIIB$ signalizes the presence of specific antibody to this particular antigen and inhibits further antibody production. In consequence, the stimulatory BCR signal is being inhibited and no antibody production can be initiated by the infant's immune system (**Figure 3**).

Very recently, a large study has thoroughly addressed the topic of blunting by maternal antibodies (94). Here, children's antibody responses to routine early life vaccinations against Hepatitis B, tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis, polio, pneumococcus, rotavirus, MMR, and meningococcus have been associated with maternal vaccine responses using inactivated influenza vaccine or Tdap during pregnancy. While maternal influenza vaccination did not affect the infant's vaccine responses, maternal immunization with Tdap resulted in significantly lower vaccine responses to specific (diphtheria and pertussis) and heterologous antigens (polio and pneumococcus) in the child. This observation has sparked the notion that maternal antibodies present in the neonate bind to the diphtheria-toxin derived carrier protein of the pneumococcal vaccine before the neonatal host can mount an immune response against the heterologous antigens bound to the carrier protein. Also, reduced blunting has been described upon infant immunization with acellular as compared to the whole cell pertussis vaccine (19). In order to support maternal vaccination strategies, the consequence of Tdap-booster immunization at 13 or 15 months of age upon maternal Tdap vaccination during pregnancy has been assessed. Here, Tdap booster doses overcame an initially observed blunting effect caused by high maternal antibody levels (95, 96).

Approaches seeking to bypass the process of blunting are nowadays tested, such as alternative vaccination routes and the simultaneous injection of antigen-specific IgM or agents that stimulate the production of interferon- α along with the vaccine (68). These adjuvants have been suggested to counteract the inhibitory signal produced by Fc γ RIIB, thus leading to B cell activation and antibody production following immunization even in the presence of maternal antibodies. Additionally, as reported by studies dating back two decades and more, maternal antibodies do not interfere with T cell priming of the infant (97–99). These observations support that sufficient protection can still be reached at the time when maternal antibodies have completely waned in the infant at an age of approximately 6 months, even if the first vaccination did not trigger a significant humoral immune response.

There is still ambiguity regarding the occurrence of a blunting effect, as it was not confirmed in all studies assessing it (22). Hence, future studies are required to confirm the underlying mechanisms of blunting and T cell priming in order to ensure highest efficacy of neonatal immunization. Clearly, blunting of vaccine responses in infants might increase the susceptibility to certain early life infections. Considering the advantages related to maternally derived passive immunity for the neonate, blunting however, has been described as an acceptable trade-off (94).

Noteworthy, a number of articles published in the 1980s support that anti-idiotypic antibodies are also transferred from the mother to the fetus via the placenta (100) and by breast milk. Anti-idiotypic antibodies are directed against molecular patterns (idiotypes) located close to the antigen-binding site of pathogen-specific antibodies and are being elicited as part of the regular immune response. A proportion of anti-idiotypic antibodies carry an "internal image" of the antigen for which their idiotype antibodies are specific. Thus, anti-idiotypic antibodies are thought to stimulate B-cells in an antigen-independent manner and subsequently lead to the production of antigenspecific, idiotype-carrying antibodies with neutralizing ability (101–104). Low levels of maternally derived anti-idiotypic antibodies have been shown to provide a significant priming effect on the immune system of the neonate, protecting neonatal mice from pathogen challenges (104). Conversely, a high dose of maternally derived idiotype and anti-idiotypic antibodies, acquired via transplacental transfer or breastfeeding, may yield to the observed blunting effect. Hence, based on the immune network theory by Jerne (105), complex regulatory mechanisms involving idiotype and anti-idiotypic antibodies underlie the infant's vaccine responses. Strikingly, using monoclonal antiidiotypic antibodies as a vaccine to immunize against measles, mumps and rubella, against which to date can only be vaccinated later in life, could allow to induce protection already at birth. This would overcome a major window of vulnerability and reduce the burden of disease in young infants.

VACCINATION COMPLIANCE DURING PREGNANCY

Despite all these evidences highlighting the benefit of vaccinations during pregnancy for mother and child, poor vaccination compliance among women during their reproductive years is still an alarming clinical problem. This poor vaccination compliance is the result of a number of factors, including the neglect of healthcare providers to offer vaccination, limited availability and high costs of vaccines, doubts of the effectiveness of vaccinations, concerns about the safety of the vaccine for mother and fetus (106, 107). Continuous accumulation of evidence that vaccination strategies can yield to significant health advantages for mother and child and the communication to researchers, lay individuals and stake holders will hopefully improve the vaccination compliance in the near future.

CONCLUSION

A wealth of published evidence strongly underpins that vaccination during pregnancy is advantageous not only for maternal health, but also for children's well-being. Especially maternal vaccination against tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis and

REFERENCES

- Meng QH, Liu Y, Yu JQ, Li LJ, Shi W, Shen YJ, et al. Seroprevalence of maternal and cord antibodies specific for diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, measles, mumps and rubella in Shunyi, Beijing. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:13021. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-31283-y
- de Voer RM, van der Klis FR, Nooitgedagt JE, Versteegh FG, van Huisseling JC, van Rooijen DM, et al. Seroprevalence and placental transportation of maternal antibodies specific for *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup C, *Haemophilus influenzae* type B, diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2009) 49:58–64. doi: 10.1086/599347
- Vilajeliu A, Goncé A, López M, Costa J, Rocamora L, Ríos J, et al. Combined tetanus-diphtheria and pertussis vaccine during pregnancy: transfer of maternal pertussis antibodies to the newborn. *Vaccine*. (2015) 33:1056–62. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.12.062
- 4. Blanchard-Rohner G, Meier S, Bel M, Combescure C, Othenin-Girard V, Swali RA, et al. Influenza vaccination given at least 2 weeks before delivery to

influenza has been convincingly demonstrated by a large number of studies to be safe, immunogenic and to provide significant immunity to the newborn. The latter could not only be confirmed by the mere presence of maternally derived pathogen-specific antibodies in newborns, but indeed a reduced risk for pertussis and a broad protection from lower respiratory tract infections, even beyond infection with the influenza virus. Noteworthy, the downside of high levels of maternal antibodies against pathogens, the induction of immunological blunting in the infant, seems to dampen the neonatal response to early life vaccinations and causes a threat to neonatal health. The reduced risk for neonatal infections due to maternally derived immunity however, clearly proves that blunting-related disadvantages are outweighed by the advantages. This has been confirmed by a recent study which reports that measles vaccination of infants in the presence of maternal anti-measles antibody significantly reduced overall infant mortality, compared to vaccinated infants without maternal antibodies (108). Lastly, the poor vaccination compliance is a challenge that must urgently be met, for example by implementing maternal immunization platforms through which education and communication of vaccination-related benefits are facilitated and vaccines are routinely offered in order to increase the willingness and subsequently the vaccination rate of pregnant women.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA and PA jointly outlined the article, developed the figures, and wrote the review article.

FUNDING

Writing of this article and reference to own original data was supported by research grants provided by the German Research Foundation (KFO296, AR232/25-2) and the Authority for Science, Research and Equality, Hanseatic City of Hamburg (State Research Funding, FV45) to PA. MA was supported by a scholarship of the iPRIME graduate school, funded by the Else Kröner-Fresenius Foundation.

pregnant women facilitates transmission of seroprotective influenza-specific antibodies to the newborn. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2013) 32:1374–80. doi: 10. 1097/01.inf.0000437066.40840.c4

- Xiong Y, Wang D, Lin W, Tang H, Chen S, Ni J. Age-related changes in serological susceptibility patterns to measles: results from a seroepidemiological study in Dongguan, China. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2014) 10:1097–103.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Updated recommendations for use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis vaccine (Tdap) in pregnant women-advisory committee on immunization practices (ACIP), 2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2013) 62:131–5.
- McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention of measles, rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary recommendations of the advisory committee on immunization practices (ACIP). *MMWR Recomm Rep.* (2013) 62:1–34.

- Leuridan E, Van Damme P. Passive transmission and persistence of naturally acquired or vaccine-induced maternal antibodies against measles in newborns. *Vaccine*. (2007) 25:6296–304.
- Marchant A, Sadarangani M, Garand M, Dauby N, Verhasselt V, Pereira L, et al. Maternal immunisation: collaborating with mother nature. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2017) 17:e197–208. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30229-3
- Pou C, Nkulikiyimfura D, Henckel E, Olin A, Lakshmikanth T, Mikes J, et al. The repertoire of maternal anti-viral antibodies in human newborns. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:591–6. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0392-8
- Cetin Coban S, Temel F, Duman P, Cosgun Y, Ozarslan F, Kayman T, et al. Prevalence of protective measles virus antibody levels in umbilical cord blood samples and sera of mothers and transplacental transport ratio in Turkey. *Jpn J Infect Dis.* (2019) 72:185–92. doi: 10.7883/yoken.JJID.2018.387
- Maertens K, Caboré RN, Huygen K, Hens N, Van Damme P, Leuridan E. Pertussis vaccination during pregnancy in Belgium: results of a prospective controlled cohort study. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:142–50. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine. 2015.10.100
- World Health Organization *Fact Sheet: Measles*. (2019). Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/measles (accessed December 20, 2019).
- Swamy GK, Heine RP. Vaccinations for pregnant women. Obstet Gynecol. (2015) 125:212–26.
- Moniz MH, Beigi RH. Maternal immunization. Clinical experiences, challenges, and opportunities in vaccine acceptance. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2014) 10:2562–70. doi: 10.4161/21645515.2014.970901
- Abu Raya B, Edwards KM, Scheifele DW, Halperin SA. Pertussis and influenza immunisation during pregnancy: a landscape review. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2017) 17:e209–22. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30190-1
- World Health Organization Protecting all Against Tetanus: Guide to Sustaining Maternal and Neonatal Tetanus Elimination (MNTE) and Broadening Tetanus Protection for all Populations. (2019). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/329882/9789241515610eng.pdf?ua=1 (accessed December 13, 2019).
- World Health Organization The Immunological Basis for Immunization Series. Module 2: Diphtheria Update 2009. (2009). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44094/9789241597869_ eng.pdf;jsessionid=BD79D51068845F83A003CF37C8B10850?sequence=1 (accessed December 18, 2019).
- Villarreal Pérez JZ, Ramírez Aranda JM, de la O Cavazos M, Zamudio Osuna MJ, Perales Dávila J, Ballesteros Elizondo MR, et al. Randomized clinical trial of the safety and immunogenicity of the Tdap vaccine in pregnant Mexican women. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2017) 13:128–35. doi: 10.1080/21645515. 2016.1232786
- Wong KH, Skelton SK. New, practical approach to detecting antibody to pertussis toxin for public health and clinical laboratories. *J Clin Microbiol*. (1988) 26:1316–20.
- Hellwig SM, Rodriguez ME, Berbers GA, van de Winkel JG, Mooi FR. Crucial role of antibodies to pertactin in *Bordetella pertussis* immunity. *J Infect Dis.* (2003) 188:738–42.
- 22. Wood N, McIntyre P, Marshall H, Roberton D. Acellular pertussis vaccine at birth and one month induces antibody responses by two months of age. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2010) 29:209–15. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e3181bc 98d5
- 23. Bosch JJ, Fernández H, Polak FP, Musante G, Libster R, Rocca Rivarola M. Seroprevalence of *Bordetella pertussis* among vaccinated and unvaccinated pregnant women and newborn infants in a university hospital of Buenos Aires. Arch Argent Pediatr. (2017) 115:311–5. doi: 10.5546/aap.2017.eng.311
- 24. Griffin JB, Yu L, Watson D, Turner N, Walls T, Howe AS, et al. Pertussis immunisation in pregnancy safety (PIPS) study: a retrospective cohort study of safety outcomes in pregnant women vaccinated with Tdap vaccine. *Vaccine*. (2018) 36:5173–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.07.011
- MacDorman MF, Mathews TJ. Understanding Racial and Ethnic Disparities in U.S. Infant Mortality Rates. NCHS Data Brief No 74. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. (2011). p. 1–8.
- 26. Kim MK, Lee SM, Bae SH, Kim HJ, Lim NG, Yoon SJ, et al. Socioeconomic status can affect pregnancy outcomes and complications, even with a universal healthcare system. *Int J Equity Health*. (2018) 17:2. doi: 10.1186/ s12939-017-0715-7

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention *Pregnancy Mortality Surveillance System*. (2019). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/ maternal-mortality/pregnancy-mortality-surveillance-system.htm (accessed December 18, 2019).
- Saul N, Wang K, Bag S, Baldwin H, Alexander K, Chandra M, et al. Effectiveness of maternal pertussis vaccination in preventing infection and disease in infants: the NSW public health network case-control study. *Vaccine*. (2018) 36:1887–92. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.02.047
- Bellido-Blasco J, Guiral-Rodrigo S, Míguez-Santiyán A, Salazar-Cifre A, González-Morán F. A case-control study to assess the effectiveness of pertussis vaccination during pregnancy on newborns, Valencian community, Spain, 1 March 2015 to 29 February 2016. *Euro Surveill*. (2017) 22:30545. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.22.30545
- National Health Service Whooping Cough Vaccination in Pregnancy. (2019). Available online at: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/ whooping-cough-vaccination-pregnant/ (accessed November 03, 2019).
- Abu Raya B, Srugo I, Kessel A, Peterman M, Bader D, Gonen R, et al. The effect of timing of maternal tetanus, diphtheria, and acellular pertussis (Tdap) immunization during pregnancy on newborn pertussis antibody levels – a prospective study. *Vaccine*. (2014) 32:5787–93. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014. 08.038
- Naidu MA, Muljadi R, Davies-Tuck ML, Wallace EM, Giles ML. The optimal gestation for pertussis vaccination during pregnancy: a prospective cohort study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (2016) 215:237.e1–e6.
- 33. Eberhardt CS, Blanchard-Rohner G, Lemaître B, Boukrid M, Combescure C, Othenin-Girard V, et al. Maternal immunization earlier in pregnancy maximizes antibody transfer and expected infant seropositivity against pertussis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2016) 62:829–36. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw027
- Lim GH, Deeks SL, Crowcroft NS. A cocoon immunisation strategy against pertussis for infants: does it make sense for Ontario? *Euro Surveill*. (2014) 19:20688. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.es2014.19.5.20688
- Forsyth K, Plotkin S, Tan T, Wirsing von König CH. Strategies to decrease pertussis transmission to infants. *Pediatrics*. (2015) 135:e1475–82. doi: 10. 1542/peds.2014-3925
- 36. Engels G, Hierweger AM, Hoffmann J, Thieme R, Thiele S, Bertram S, et al. Pregnancy-related immune adaptation promotes the emergence of highly virulent H1N1 influenza virus strains in allogenically pregnant mice. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2017) 21:321–33. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.02.020
- Robert Koch-Institut Ständige impfkommission: empfehlungen der Ständigen impfkommission beim Robert Koch-Institut – 2019/2020. Epid Bull. (2019) 34:313–64. doi: 10.25646/6233.5
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Prevention and control of seasonal influenza with vaccines. Recommendations of the advisory committee on immunization practices-United States, 2013-2014. MMWR Recomm Rep. (2013) 62:1–43.
- Faucette AN, Unger BL, Gonik B, Chen K. Maternal vaccination: moving the science forward. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2015) 21:119–35. doi: 10.1093/ humupd/dmu041
- Munoz FM, Jackson LA, Swamy GK, Edwards KM, Frey SE, Stephens I, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of seasonal trivalent inactivated influenza vaccines in pregnant women. *Vaccine*. (2018) 36:8054–61. doi: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2018.10.088
- Kharbanda EO, Vazquez-Benitez G, Romitti PA, Naleway AL, Cheetham TC, Lipkind HS, et al. First trimester influenza vaccination and risks for major structural birth defects in offspring. *J Pediatr.* (2017) 187:234–9.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.04.039
- 42. Steinhoff MC, Omer SB, Roy E, El Arifeen S, Raqib R, Dodd C, et al. Neonatal outcomes after influenza immunization during pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. *CMAJ*. (2012) 184:645–53.
- Mutsaerts E, Madhi SA, Cutland CL, Jones S, Hugo A, Trenor S, et al. Influenza vaccination of pregnant women protects them over two consecutive influenza seasons in a randomized controlled trial. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2016) 15:1055–62. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2016.11 92473
- 44. Nunes MC, Cutland CL, Jones S, Hugo A, Madimabe R, Simões EA, et al. Duration of infant protection against influenza illness conferred by maternal immunization: secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2016) 170:840–7. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0921

- Zaman K, Roy E, Arifeen SE, Rahman M, Raqib R, Wilson E, et al. Effectiveness of maternal influenza immunization in mothers and infants. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:1555–64. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0708630
- 46. Nunes MC, Cutland CL, Jones S, Downs S, Weinberg A, Ortiz JR, et al. Efficacy of maternal influenza vaccination against all-cause lower respiratory tract infection hospitalizations in young infants: results from a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2017) 65:1066–71. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix497
- Eick AA, Uyeki TM, Klimov A, Hall H, Reid R, Santosham M, et al. Maternal influenza vaccination and effect on influenza virus infection in young infants. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2011) 165:104–11. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics. 2010.192
- Nunes MC, Cutland CL, Madhi SA. Influenza vaccination during pregnancy and protection against pertussis. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:1257–8.
- Gabriel G, Arck PC. Sex, immunity and influenza. J Infect Dis. (2014) 209(Suppl. 3):S93–9. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu020
- White SJ, Boldt KL, Holditch SJ, Poland GA, Jacobson RM. Measles, mumps, and rubella. *Clin Obstet Gynecol*. (2012) 55:550–9. doi: 10.1097/GRF. 0b013e31824df256
- Sukumaran L, McNeil MM, Moro PL, Lewis PW, Winiecki SK, Shimabukuro TT. Adverse events following measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine in adults reported to the vaccine adverse event reporting system (VAERS), 2003-2013. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2015) 60:e58–65. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ061
- World Health Organization *Ten Threats to Global Health in 2019*. (2019). Available online at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/ten-threats-to-global-health-in-2019 (accessed December 13, 2019).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention *Epidemiology and Prevention of Vaccine- Preventable Diseases*. Chapter 13: Measles. (2019). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/meas.html (accessed December 13, 2019).
- Petrova VN, Sawatsky B, Han Ax, Laksono BM, Walz L, Parker E, et al. Incomplete genetic reconstitution of B cell pools contributes to prolonged immunosuppression after measles. *Sci Immunol.* (2019) 4:eaay6125. doi: 10. 1126/sciimmunol.aay6125
- Mina MJ, Kula T, Leng Y, Li M, de Vries RD, Knip M, et al. Measles virus infection diminishes preexisting antibodies that offer protection from other pathogens. *Science*. (2019) 366:599–606. doi: 10.1126/science.aay6485
- Statistisches Bundesamt Demografischer Wandel. (2019). Available online at: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Querschnitt/Demografischer-Wandel/ _inhalt.html (accessed December 20, 2019).
- Gonçalves G, Nunes C, Mesquita JR, Nascimento MS, Frade J. Measles antibodies in cord blood in Portugal: possible consequences for the recommended age of vaccination. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:2750–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.vaccine.2016.04.007
- Linder N, Tallen-Gozani E, German B, Duvdevani P, Ferber A, Sirota L. Placental transfer of measles antibodies: effect of gestational age and maternal vaccination status. *Vaccine*. (2004) 22:1509–14.
- 59. van den Berg JP, Westerbeek EA, Smits GP, van der Klis FR, Berbers GA, van Elburg RM. Lower transplacental antibody transport for measles, mumps, rubella and varicella zoster in very preterm infants. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e94714. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.009 4714
- Leuridan E, Hens N, Hutse V, Ieven M, Aerts M, Van Damme P. Early waning of maternal measles antibodies in era of measles elimination: longitudinal study. *Bmj.* (2010) 340:c1626. doi: 10.1136/bmj. c1626
- Kamat M, Pyati S, Pildes RS, Jacobs N, Luayon M, Muldoon R, et al. Measles antibody titers in early infancy. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. (1994) 148:694–8.
- Cradock-Watson JE, Ridehalgh MK, Anderson MJ, Pattison JR, et al. Outcome of asymptomatic infection with rubella virus during pregnancy. J Hyg (Lond). (1981) 87:147-54.
- Morgan-Capner P, Hodgson J, Hambling MH, Dulake C, Coleman TJ, Boswell PA, et al. Detection of rubella-specific IgM in subclinical rubella reinfection in pregnancy. *Lancet.* (1985) 325:244–6.
- Best JM, Banatvala JE, Morgan-Capner P, Miller E. Fetal infection after maternal reinfection with rubella: criteria for defining reinfection. *BMJ*. (1989) 299:773–5.
- Gilbert J, Kudesia G. Fetal infection after maternal reinfection with rubella. BMJ. (1989) 299:1217. doi: 10.1136/bmj.299.6709.1217-b

- Pyzik M, Sand KMK, Hubbard JJ, Andersen JT, Sandlie I, Blumberg RS. The neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn): a misnomer? *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1540. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01540
- Palmeira P, Quinello C, Silveira-Lessa AL, Zago CA, Carneiro-Sampaio M. IgG placental transfer in healthy and pathological pregnancies. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2012) 2012:985646. doi: 10.1155/2012/985646
- Niewiesk S. Maternal antibodies: clinical significance, mechanism of interference with immune responses, and possible vaccination strategies. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:446. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00446
- Malek A, Sager R, Kuhn P, Nicolaides KH, Schneider H. Evolution of maternofetal transport of immunoglobulins during human pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1996) 36:248–55.
- Ahmad SM, Alam MJ, Khanam A, Rashid M, Islam S, Kabir Y, et al. Vitamin A supplementation during pregnancy enhances pandemic H1N1 vaccine response in mothers, but enhancement of transplacental antibody transfer may depend on when mothers are vaccinated during pregnancy. *J Nutr.* (2018) 148:1968–75. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy228
- 71. Plans P, de Ory F, Campins M, Álvarez E, Payà T, Guisasola E, et al. Prevalence of anti-rubella, anti-measles and anti-mumps IgG antibodies in neonates and pregnant women in Catalonia (Spain) in 2013: susceptibility to measles increased from 2003 to 2013. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. (2015) 34:1161–71. doi: 10.1007/s10096-015-2339-4
- Maertens K, Tran TMP, Hens N, Van Damme P, Leuridan E. Effect of prepregnancy pertussis vaccination in young infants. J Infect Dis. (2017) 215:1855–61. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix176
- 73. Malek A, Sager R, Schneider H. Transport of proteins across the human placenta. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1998) 40:347–51.
- Rastogi D, Wang C, Mao X, Lendor C, Rothman PB, Miller RL. Antigenspecific immune responses to influenza vaccine in utero. *J Clin Invest.* (2007) 117:1637–46.
- 75. Bundhoo A, Paveglio S, Rafti E, Dhongade A, Blumberg RS, Matson AP. Evidence that FcRn mediates the transplacental passage of maternal IgE in the form of IgG anti-IgE/IgE immune complexes. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2015) 45:1085–98. doi: 10.1111/cea.12508
- Kinder JM, Stelzer IA, Arck PC, Way SS. Reply: breastfeeding-related maternal microchimerism. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:730–730. doi: 10. 1038/nri.2017.117
- 77. Snoeck V, Peters IR, Cox E. The IgA system: a comparison of structure and function in different species. *Vet Res.* (2006) 37:455–67.
- Asano M, Komiyama K. Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor. J Oral Sci. (2011) 53:147–56.
- Pakkanen SH, Kantele JM, Moldoveanu Z, Hedges S, Häkkinen M, Mestecky J, et al. Expression of homing receptors on IgA1 and IgA2 plasmablasts in blood reflects differential distribution of IgA1 and IgA2 in various body fluids. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2010) 17:393–401. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00475-09
- Hanson LA, Winberg J. Breast milk and defence against infection in the newborn. Arch Dis Child. (1972) 47:845–8.
- Schlaudecker EP, Steinhoff MC, Omer SB, McNeal MM, Roy E, Arifeen SE, et al. IgA and neutralizing antibodies to influenza a virus in human milk: a randomized trial of antenatal influenza immunization. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e70867. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070867
- Gopalakrishna KP, Macadangdang BR, Rogers MB, Tometich JT, Firek BA, Baker R, et al. Maternal IgA protects against the development of necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm infants. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1110–5. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-019-0480-9
- 83. Sánchez-Salguero E, Mondragón-Ramírez GK, Alcántara-Montiel JC, Cérbulo-Vázquez A, Villegas-Domínguez X, Contreras-Vargas VM, et al. Infectious episodes during pregnancy, at particular mucosal sites, increase specific IgA1 or IgA2 subtype levels in human colostrum. *Matern Health Neonatol Perinatol.* (2019) 5:9. doi: 10.1186/s40748-019-0104-x
- Gomez de Aguero M, Ganal-Vonarburg SC, Fuhrer T, Rupp S, Uchimura Y, Li H, et al. The maternal microbiota drives early postnatal innate immune development. *Science*. (2016) 351:1296–302. doi: 10.1126/science.aad 2571
- World Health Organization Exclusive Breastfeeding for Six Months Best for Babies Everywhere. (2011). Available online at: https://www.who.int/ mediacentre/news/statements/2011/breastfeeding_20110115/en/ (accessed December 17, 2019).

- Kinder JM, Stelzer IA, Arck PC, Way SS. Immunological implications of pregnancy-induced microchimerism. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:483–94. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.38
- Loubière LS, Lambert NC, Flinn LJ, Erickson TD, Yan Z, Guthrie KA, et al. Maternal microchimerism in healthy adults in lymphocytes, monocyte/macrophages and NK cells. *Lab Invest.* (2006) 86:1185–92.
 Stelzer IA, Urbschat C, Arck PC. Unpublished observations.
- Stelzer, IA, Triviai, L, Solano, ME, Arck, PC. Maternal microchimeric CD3+ T cells promote fetal hematopoiesis in fetal bone marrow in mice. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 115:81–82 doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.04.255
- Schenkel JM, Fraser KA, Beura LK, Pauken KE, Vezys V, Masopust D. T cell memory. Resident memory CD8 T cells trigger protective innate and adaptive immune responses. *Science*. (2014) 346:98–101. doi: 10.1126/ science.1254536
- Ariotti S, Hogenbirk MA, Dijkgraaf FE, Visser LL, Hoekstra ME, Song JY, et al. T cell memory. Skin-resident memory CD8(+) T cells trigger a state of tissue-wide pathogen alert. *Science*. (2014) 346:101–5. doi: 10.1126/science. 1254803
- Touzot F, Dal-Cortivo L, Verkarre V, Lim A, Crucis-Armengaud A, Moshous D, et al. Massive expansion of maternal T cells in response to EBV infection in a patient with SCID-XI. *Blood.* (2012) 120:1957–9.
- Sridhar S, Begom S, Bermingham A, Hoschler K, Adamson W, Carman W, et al. Cellular immune correlates of protection against symptomatic pandemic influenza. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:1305–12. doi: 10.1038/nm.3350
- Edwards KM. Maternal antibodies and infant immune responses to vaccines. Vaccine. (2015) 33:6469–72. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.07.085
- Zimmermann P, Perrett KP, Messina NL, Donath S, Ritz N, van der Klis FRM, et al. The effect of maternal immunisation during pregnancy on infant vaccine responses. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2019) 13:21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm. 2019.06.010
- 95. Maertens K, Caboré RN, Huygen K, Vermeiren S, Hens N, Van Damme P, et al. Pertussis vaccination during pregnancy in Belgium: follow-up of infants until 1 month after the fourth infant pertussis vaccination at 15 months of age. *Vaccine*. (2016) 34:3613–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.04.066
- 96. Munoz FM, Bond NH, Maccato M, Pinell P, Hammill HA, Swamy GK, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of tetanus diphtheria and acellular pertussis (Tdap) immunization during pregnancy in mothers and infants: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2014) 311:1760–9.
- Gans HA, Arvin AM, Galinus J, Logan L, DeHovitz R, Maldonado Y. Deficiency of the humoral immune response to measles vaccine in infants immunized at age 6 months. *JAMA*. (1998) 280:527–32.
- Dagan R, Amir J, Mijalovsky A, Kalmanovitch I, Bar-Yochai A, Thoelen S, et al. Immunization against hepatitis A in the first year of life: priming despite the presence of maternal antibody. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2000) 19:1045–52.

- Lagergård T, Trollfors B, Claesson BA, Karlberg J, Taranger J. Determination of neutralizing antibodies and specific immunoglobulin isotype levels in infants after vaccination against diphtheria. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (1992) 11:341–5.
- 100. Mellander L, Carlsson B, Hanson LA. Secretory IgA and IgM antibodies to *E. coli* O and poliovirus type I antigens occur in amniotic fluid, meconium and saliva from newborns. A neonatal immune response without antigenic exposure: a result of anti-idiotypic induction? *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1986) 63:555–61.
- Sacks DL, Esser KM, Sher A. Immunization of mice against African trypanosomiasis using anti-idiotypic antibodies. *J Exp Med.* (1982) 155:1108– 19.
- Reagan KJ, Wunner WH, Wiktor TJ, Koprowski H. Anti-idiotypic antibodies induce neutralizing antibodies to rabies virus glycoprotein. J Virol. (1983) 48:660–6.
- 103. Kennedy RC, Melnick JL, Dreesman GR. Antibody to hepatitis B virus induced by injecting antibodies to the idiotype. *Science*. (1984) 223:930–1.
- 104. Stein KE, Soderstrom T. Neonatal administration of idiotype or antiidiotype primes for protection against *Escherichia coli* K13 infection in mice. *J Exp Med.* (1984) 160:1001–11.
- Jerne NK. Towards a network theory of the immune system. Ann Immunol (Paris). (1974) 125C:373–89.
- 106. Blanchard-Rohner G, Meier S, Ryser J, Schaller D, Combescure C, Yudin MH, et al. Acceptability of maternal immunization against influenza: the critical role of obstetricians. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2012) 25:1800–9. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2012.663835
- MacDougall DM, Halperin SA. Improving rates of maternal immunization: challenges and opportunities. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2016) 12:857–65.
- 108. Benn CS, Martins CL, Andersen A, Fisker AB, Whittle HC, Aaby P. Measles vaccination in presence of measles antibody may enhance child survival. *Front Pediatr.* (2020) 8:20. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020. 00020

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Albrecht and Arck. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Analysis of TCR Repertoire and PD-1 Expression in Decidual and Peripheral CD8⁺ T Cells Reveals Distinct Immune Mechanisms in Miscarriage and Preeclampsia

Keiko Morita¹, Sayaka Tsuda¹, Eiji Kobayashi², Hiroshi Hamana², Kei Tsuda¹, Tomoko Shima¹, Akitoshi Nakashima¹, Akemi Ushijima¹, Hiroyuki Kishi^{2*} and Shigeru Saito^{3*}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan, ² Department of Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, Academic Assembly, University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan, ³ University of Toyama, Japan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Julia Szekeres-Bartho, University of Pécs Medical School, Hungary

Reviewed by:

Frans H. J. Claas, Leiden University, Netherlands Attila Molvarec, Semmelweis University, Hungary

*Correspondence:

Hiroyuki Kishi immkishi@med.u-toyama.ac.jp Shigeru Saito s30saito@med.u-toyama.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 March 2020 Accepted: 05 May 2020 Published: 03 June 2020

Citation:

Morita K, Tsuda S, Kobayashi E, Hamana H, Tsuda K, Shima T, Nakashima A, Ushijima A, Kishi H and Saito S (2020) Analysis of TCR Repertoire and PD-1 Expression in Decidual and Peripheral CD8⁺ T Cells Reveals Distinct Immune Mechanisms in Miscarriage and Preeclampsia. Front. Immunol. 11:1082. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01082

CD8⁺ T cells, the most abundant T cell subset in the decidua, play a critical role in the maintenance of pregnancy. The majority of decidual CD8⁺ T cells have an effector memory phenotype, while those in the peripheral blood display a naive phenotype. An increased amount of highly differentiated CD8⁺ T cells in the decidua indicates local antigen stimulation and expansion, albeit these CD8⁺ T cells are suppressed. In decidual CD8⁺ T cells, co-inhibitory molecules such as PD-1, TIM-3, LAG-3, and CTLA-4 are upregulated, reflecting the suppression of cytotoxicity. Previous studies established the importance of the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction for feto-maternal tolerance. CD8⁺ T cells could directly recognize fetal-specific antigens, such as HLA-C, expressed by trophoblasts. However, although fetal-specific CD8⁺ T cells have been reported, their TCR repertoires have not been identified. In this study, we analyzed the TCR repertoires of effector memory CD8⁺ T cells (CD8⁺ EM cells) and naive CD8⁺ T cells (CD8⁺ N cells) in the decidua and peripheral blood of women with normal or complicated pregnancy and examined PD-1 expression at a single-cell level to verify whether antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells accumulate in the decidua and to identify immunological differences related to the suppression of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia. We observed that some TCR^β repertoires, which might recognize fetal or placental antigens, were clonally expanded. The population size of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells was higher in the decidua than in the peripheral blood. CD8⁺ EM cells began to express PD-1 during the course of normal pregnancy. We found that the total proportion of decidual CD8⁺ EM cells not expressing PD-1 was increased both in miscarriage and in preeclampsia cases, although a different mechanism was responsible for this increase. The amount of cytotoxic CD8⁺ EM cells increased in cases of miscarriage, whereas the expression of PD-1 in clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells was downregulated in preeclampsia cases. These results demonstrated that decidual CD8+ EM cells were able to recognize fetal-specific antigens at the feto-maternal interface and could easily induce fetal rejection.

Keywords: effector memory CD8⁺ T cell, human pregnancy, miscarriage, preeclampsia, T cell repertoire

INTRODUCTION

Immune tolerance to the "semi-allogeneic" fetus is particularly important for successful pregnancy. Decidual CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, and NK cells are activated during pregnancy (1); in particular, decidual CD4⁺ T cells are activated when an HLA-C mismatch is present between the mother and the fetus (2). Maternal regulatory T cells (Treg cells) play an important role in the maintenance of pregnancy by preventing rejection (3, 4). During pregnancy, CD8⁺ T cells become predominant among decidual immune cells and play a major role in feto-maternal tolerance. The main population among decidual CD8⁺ T cells (dCD8⁺ T cells) is represented by effector memory CD8⁺ T cells (CD8⁺ EM cells) that are thought to potentially induce fetal rejection, while the predominant population among peripheral CD8⁺ T cells (pCD8⁺ T cells) are naive CD8⁺ T cells (CD8⁺ N cells) (5). Previous studies revealed functional differences between decidual and peripheral CD8⁺ T cells. Decidual CD8⁺ EM cells (dCD8⁺ EM cells) exhibit higher production of interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and interleukin-4 (IL-4), as well as reduced perforin and granzyme B expression, compared to peripheral CD8⁺ EM cells (pCD8⁺ EM cells) (5, 6). dCD8⁺ EM cells express higher levels of inhibitory checkpoint molecules such as programmed cell death-1 (PD-1), T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3 (TIM-3), lymphocyte-activation gene-3 (LAG-3), and cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated protein-4 (CTLA-4) compared to pCD8⁺ EM cells (6-8). A high PD-1 expression was reported in decidual immune cells such as CD8⁺ T cells, regulatory T cells (Treg cells), and NKT-like cells (7, 9, 10), and programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1) was found to be highly expressed in extravillous trophoblasts (EVT), syncytiotrophoblasts (ST), and other immune cells at the feto-maternal interface (11-15). The blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway results in increased fetal resorption in mice (16), suggesting that this axis is necessary for immune tolerance in the decidua. Therefore, the cytotoxicity of CD8⁺ T cells in the decidua is regulated so as to promote immune tolerance against fetal antigens during pregnancy, albeit these cells maintain a cytotoxic potential against virus-infected cells (17).

Immunological differences have been reported between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia. Ramhorst et al. demonstrated that in non-pregnant women undergoing recurrent pregnancy loss, the proportion of effector memory T cells in the peripheral blood is higher than in fertile nonpregnant women (18). Several studies reported that miscarriage and preeclampsia are associated with a decreased number of Treg cells (4, 19–23). Interestingly, clonally expanded decidual Treg cells are decreased in preeclampsia but not in miscarriage (24). In light of this increasing evidence, successful pregnancy seems to require an appropriate functional change in cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells as well as a correct balance between cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and Treg cells.

Paternal antigen-specific tolerance is necessary for the maintenance of allogeneic pregnancy (4). Previous studies have identified fetal antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cells and Treg cells in mice (25, 26). However, the detection of fetal antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cells and Treg cells is technically difficult in humans,

because of the high diversity of CDR3 amino acid sequences in TCR β , with a lower boundary of 2 \times 10⁷ in young humans (27). We have previously reported the existence of clonally expanded Treg cells by performing single-cell DNA sequencing of T cell receptor β (TCR β) (24). The population size of clonally expanded Treg cells that are able to recognize fetal antigens at the feto-maternal interface is increased in the decidua, but not in the peripheral blood (24). In serial pregnancies, Treg cells expressing the same TCR clonotypes across different pregnancies were observed in the decidua, suggesting that these cells might recognize fetal antigens (24). The clonal population of decidual effector Treg cells is less abundant in preeclampsia than in normal late pregnancy, suggesting that paternal antigenspecific tolerance mediated by Treg cells might be disturbed in this condition (24). As CD8⁺ T cells can recognize fetal antigens at the feto-maternal interface, we hypothesized that antigens recognizing CD8⁺ T cells would be clonally expanded in the decidua, but that their function would be suppressed during human pregnancy. In addition, we postulated that the maldistribution or functional alteration of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells could underlie pregnancy complications.

In this study, we analyzed the TCR β repertoire of decidual and peripheral CD8⁺ EM cells and CD8⁺ N cells in women undergoing normal pregnancy and in cases of miscarriage or preeclampsia. We further examined the expression of PD-1 in these cells, to clarify whether antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells accumulated in the decidua, and to identify the mechanisms underlying their suppression during normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia. If decidual CD8⁺ T cells recognize fetal antigens, CD8⁺ T cells with the same TCR β repertoire should be clonally expanded, and express elevated levels of PD-1 during normal pregnancy. Therefore, a difference in the proportion of antigen-recognizing CD8⁺ cells or in the expression of PD-1 should be observable between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Blood and Tissue Samples

Paired samples of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and decidual tissues were collected from 10 cases of artificial abortion in the 1st trimester (1st trimester normal pregnancy), 6 cases of miscarriage with normal fetal chromosomes in the 1st trimester (1st trimester miscarriage), 9 cases of uncomplicated pregnancy with delivery in the 3rd trimester (3rd trimester normal pregnancy), and 9 preeclampsia cases with delivery in the 3rd trimester (3rd trimester preeclampsia). As a control group, 6 samples of peripheral blood from age-matched healthy donors who had never been pregnant were collected. Written informed consent was obtained from all women in accordance with a protocol approved by the Ethical Review Board of the University of Toyama (Rin-28- 144). In the artificial abortion cases, the fetal heartbeat was confirmed before dilation and evacuation. For miscarriage cases, the diagnosis was formulated when the fetal heartbeat was lost or when the fetal heartbeat had not been detected inside the gestational sac for at least 2 weeks. In miscarriage cases, isolated chorionic villi were examined for

Clonally Expanded CTL in Pregnancy

TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics.

	Control No pregnancy history (n = 6)	1st trimester		3rd trimester	
		Normal pregnancy	Miscarriage with normal fetal chromosomes	Normal pregnancy	Preeclampsia
		(<i>n</i> = 10)	(n = 6)	(n = 9)	(n = 9)
Maternal age (years) ^a	30 (25–35)	26 (22–39)	34 (26–41)	32 (22–36)	36.5 (28–41)
Body Mass Index (kg/m²)ª	NA	18.6 (16.7–21.2)	21.4 (16.4–27.6)	18.4 (17.7–24.9)	23.7 (17.6–26.0)
Gravidity ^a	0 (0–0)	4 (1–7)	4 (3–7)	2 (1–3)	2 (1–5)
Parity ^a		2 (0-4)	0.5 (0-2)	1 (0-2)	0 (0–3)
Live birth ^a		2 (0-4)	0.5 (0-3)	1 (0-2)	0 (0–3)
Miscarriage ^a		0 (0–3)	2 (0-4)	0 (0-1)	0 (0-4)
Still Birth n (%)		0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (22.2)	0 (0.0)
Nullipara n (%)		3 (30.0)	3 (50.0)	4 (44.4)	6 (66.7)
Gestational week (weeks) ^a		8 (6–9)	8 (6–8)	38 (37–40)	35.5 (32–39)
Cesarean section (patient number) n (%)				5 (55.6)	5 (55.6)

^aData are presented as median (range). NA: not available. Steel–Dwass test and Fisher's exact test were used for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. No statistically significant differences were observed between the groups.

fetal chromosomal karyotype by G-band staining, and only cases with normal fetal chromosomes were enrolled. The diagnosis of preeclampsia was based on the guidelines of the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (28). Both the peripheral blood (10 mL) and the decidual tissues were obtained at dilation and evacuation, or after vaginal delivery or elective cesarean section. First-trimester decidual samples were derived from uterine content. Third-trimester decidual tissues were macroscopically dissected from the maternal surface of the placenta. The clinical and demographic characteristics of the enrolled patients are summarized in **Table 1**.

Mononuclear Cell Isolation

Peripheral blood samples were layered on Ficoll Hypaque gradients (LymphoprepTM; Alere Technologies, Norway) for density gradient centrifugation ($453 \times g$ for 30 min). Mononuclear cells were isolated and washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Decidual tissues were rinsed thoroughly with PBS and minced into 1–2 mm pieces by a pair of scalpel blades in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium. Then, the suspensions were filtered through a 32 μ m nylon mesh as reported elsewhere (24). All samples were cryopreserved until single-cell analysis.

Single-Cell Sorting

The following monoclonal antibodies were used for cell staining: anti-CD3 (FITC; BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), anti-CD8 (APC; eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA), anti-CD45RA (PE; BD Biosciences), anti-CCR7 (PerCP/Cy 5.5; BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), anti-PD-1 (PE/Cy7; BioLegend), and Fixable Viability Dye (APC-Cy7; eBioscience). Both PBMC and decidual cells were stained with anti-CD3, anti-CD8, anti-CD45RA, anti-CCR7, and anti-PD-1 for 20 min on ice and then incubated for 5 min with Fixable Viability Dye to exclude dead cells. After staining, the cells were washed with PBS. Flow cytometric analysis and single cell sorting were performed using a FACSAria II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). CD3⁺CD8⁺CD45RA⁺CCR7⁺ cells (naive CD8⁺ T cells; CD8⁺ N cells) and CD3⁺CD8⁺CD45RA⁻CCR7⁻ cells (effector memory CD8⁺ T cells; CD8⁺ EM cells) were single cell sorted into 96-well PCR plates (**Supplementary Figures 1A,B**). PD-1 expression in each cell was analyzed by the index sort method (**Supplementary Figure 1C**) (29).

TCR Repertoire Analysis

TCR cDNAs were amplified from single cells using one-step RT-PCR, as previously described (30). All primers are listed in Supplementary Table 1. The contents of the PCR reaction mixture are listed in Supplementary Table 2. For the one-step RT-PCR, 5 µL of the RT-PCR mixture were added to each well containing a single CD8⁺ T cell. The program for the one-step RT-PCR was as follows: 40 min at 45°C for the RT reaction, 98°C for 1 min and 30 cycles of 98°C for 10 s, 52°C for 5 s, 72°C for 1 min. The amplification products were diluted 10fold and 2 μ L of each were added to 18 μ L of the second PCR mixture. The PCR program for the second PCR cycle for TCR β was as follows: 98°C for 1 min and 35 cycles of 98°C for 10 s, 52°C for 5 s, 72°C for 30 s. PCR products were electrophoresed to confirm their amplification (Supplementary Figure 2A) and then analyzed by direct sequencing. The TCR repertoire was analyzed with the IMGT/V-QUEST tool (http://www.imgt.org/). We defined CD8⁺ T cells in which the same TCR β clonotype was detected two or more times as clonally expanded populations (clonal populations), and $CD8^+$ T cells with a unique TCR β clonotype as unique populations (Supplementary Figure 2B). The frequency of clonal populations and their PD-1 expression were compared in all groups.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 8 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). The differences



between PBMC and decidua in each group were assessed using the Wilcoxon matched-pairs single rank test. A Mann-Whitney U test was performed to determine the differences between PBMC or decidual samples of different groups via two-group comparisons (control vs. 1st trimester or 3rd trimester normal pregnancy, 1st trimester vs. 3rd trimester normal pregnancy, 1st trimester normal pregnancy vs. miscarriage, and 3rd trimester normal pregnancy vs. preeclampsia). p < 0.05 were considered indicative of statistical significance (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01 in Wilcoxon matched-pairs single rank test; $^{\dagger}p < 0.05$; $^{\dagger}p < 0.01$ in Mann-Whitney U test; NS, not significant).

RESULTS

CD8⁺ T Cell Phenotype in PBMC and Decidua

To examine functional differences between peripheral $CD8^+$ T cells ($pCD8^+$ T cells) and decidual $CD8^+$ T cells ($dCD8^+$ T cells), we compared the proportion of effector memory $CD8^+$ T cells ($CD8^+$ EM cells) and naive $CD8^+$ T cells ($CD8^+$ N cells) in the PBMC and decidua. A significantly higher number of $CD8^+$ EM cells was observed in the decidua compared to the PBMC throughout the pregnancy period in normal pregnancy subjects, miscarriage cases, and preeclampsia cases (**Figure 1A**). In contrast, $CD8^+$ N cells were significantly more abundant in the PBMC than in the decidua (**Figure 1B**). Therefore, $dCD8^+$ T cells showed a distinct phenotype compared to $pCD8^+$ T cells.

Clonal Populations of CD8⁺ T Cells

To verify our hypothesis that clonally expanded CD8⁺ T cells accumulate in the decidua, we analyzed the TCR β clonotype of CD8⁺ T cells and their clonality ratio. As shown in **Figure 2A** and **Supplementary Figure 3A**, clonally expanded CD8⁺ T cell populations were observed both

in the peripheral and decidual $CD8^+$ EM cells. However, they were rarely detected in $CD8^+$ N cells (**Figure 2B**, **Supplementary Figure 3B**). The clonality ratios of $pCD8^+$ EM and $dCD8^+$ EM cells among $CD8^+$ EM cells were similar in early pregnant subjects, miscarriage cases, late pregnancy subjects, and preeclampsia cases (**Supplementary Figure 3A**). However, as shown in **Figure 2A**, the total amount of clonally expanded $CD8^+$ EM cells among $CD8^+$ T cells in the decidua was significantly higher than in the peripheral blood.

The total proportion of clonally expanded dCD8⁺ EM cells was significantly higher in miscarriage cases than in subjects with normal early pregnancy (p < 0.05). On the other hand, this population did not significantly differ between preeclampsia and normal late pregnancy (**Figure 2A**). These results demonstrated that dCD8⁺ EM cells are likely to recognize fetal or placental antigens in the decidua and are clonally expanded. An increased proportion of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells was found to be associated with miscarriage.

Common TCR β Clonotype Between PBMC and Decidua

In each subject the TCR β clonotype of CD8⁺ T cells was compared in paired PBMC and decidua to identify differential immunological functions (**Figure 3**). One representative sample of normal late pregnancy is shown in **Figures 3A-C** (case number #2). The proportion of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells was comparable in PBMC and the decidua (**Figure 3A**). TCR β clonotypes of clonally expanded CD8⁺ T cells and/or TCR β clonotypes that are common to both pCD8⁺ T cells and dCD8⁺ T cells are shown in a row (A to Q) in **Figure 3B** (the different color density indicates the number of clones). Eight TCR β clonotypes were shared between pCD8⁺ EM cells and dCD8⁺ EM cells (clonotypes A, B, C, D, I, N, O, and P in **Figures 3B,C**). Common TCR β clonotypes between pCD8⁺ EM cells and dCD8⁺ EM cells



were detected in all groups (**Figure 3D**). We calculated the ratios of pCD8⁺ EM cells and dCD8⁺ EM cells expressing common TCR β clonotypes among the total CD8⁺ EM cells analyzed in each group. The ratios were comparable in all groups: 17.3% in 1st trimester normal pregnancy, 14.2% in miscarriage, 14.5% in 3rd trimester normal pregnancy, and 16.3% in preeclampsia (see the numbers above the bars in **Figure 3D**). These findings indicated that the immunological differences between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia did not depend on the proportion of CD8⁺ EM cells expressing common TCR β clonotypes in PBMC and the decidua.

$TCR\beta$ Clonotype Comparison of the Serial Pregnancies

If decidual CD8⁺ T cells recognize fetal antigens of paternal origin, CD8⁺ T cells with the same TCR β clonotypes should be detected in different pregnancies of the same couple. To verify this hypothesis, we examined the TCR β clonotypes of peripheral and decidual CD8⁺ EM cells in two pregnancies of the same subject with normal early pregnancy (Figure 4A). As shown in Figure 4B, the same TCR β clonotypes were detected. Three TCRβ clonotypes (clone E, I, and J in Figure 4B) were shared by pCD8⁺ EM cell populations during the two pregnancies. Twelve TCR^β clonotypes (clone F, L, M, N, O, R, S, T, U, V, W, and X in Figure 4B) were found in dCD8⁺ EM cells from both pregnancies. Three TCRB clonotypes (clone B, F, and K in Figure 4B) were shared between pCD8⁺ EM cells from the former pregnancy and dCD8⁺ EM cells from the subsequent pregnancy. Two TCRβ clonotypes (clone E and L in **Figure 4B**) were shared by dCD8⁺ EM cells from the former pregnancy and pCD8⁺ EM cells from the subsequent pregnancy; some clones were expanded in both pregnancies. CD8⁺ EM cells exhibiting the same TCR β clonotypes in different pregnancies might be able to recognize fetal antigens.

PD-1 Expression in CD8⁺ T Cells

Finally, the expression of PD-1 was analyzed in CD8⁺ T cells to identify immunological differences between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia. Most CD8⁺ N cells were PD-1^{low/-} cells, both in the PBMC and the decidua (Supplementary Figure 4C). Among CD8⁺ EM cells, the size of the PD-1^{low/-} population was significantly lower in the decidua than in PBMC (Supplementary Figure 4A). In normal pregnancies, decidual PD- $1^{\overline{10w}/-}$ CD8⁺ EM cells were significantly less abundant in late than in early pregnancy (p < 0.05) (Supplementary Figure 4A). When we focused on clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cell populations, significant differences in decidual PD-1 expression were observed between normal pregnancy and preeclampsia cases during late pregnancy (Figures 5A,B). The population size of PD-1^{high} dCD8⁺ EM cells was significantly lower in preeclampsia than in normal late pregnancy (p < 0.05) (**Figure 5A**), indicating that the proportion of PD-110m/- dCD8+ EM cells with high cytotoxic potential was increased in the clonal population of preeclampsia cases (Figure 5B). These findings indicated that dCD8⁺ EM cells had a higher level of PD-1 expression compared to pCD8⁺ EM cells, and that they begin to express PD-1 during pregnancy. An increased number of PD-1^{low/-} CD8⁺ EM cells would result in miscarriage, whereas, on the contrary, the downregulation of PD-1 in clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells would be associated with preeclampsia.

DISCUSSION

This study is the first to analyze the TCR β repertoire and the expression of PD-1 in CD8 $^+$ T cells during



FIGURE 3 | Comparison of TCRβ clonotype between PBMC and decidua. (A-C) A representative example of normal late pregnancy (case number #2). (A) Analysis of the TCRβ repertoire in peripheral CD8⁺ EM cells (pCD8⁺ EM cells) and decidual CD8⁺ N cells (dCD8⁺ N cells). Each pie slice in color indicates the T-cell population expressing the same clonotypic TCRβ. The numbers of CD8⁺ T cells expressing the same TCRβ are shown in the pie charts. The white slice in each pie chart indicates the T cell population with unique TCR. The number in the center of the pie charts is the total number of analyzed T cells. The proportion of clonal cells was calculated as follows: clonal population (%) = clonal CD8⁺ T cells/total CD8⁺ T cells analyzed. (B) The TCRβ clonotypes were compared between pCD8⁺ EM, (Continued)
FIGURE 3 | $pCD8^+$ N $dCD8^+$ EM, and $dCD8^+$ N cells. $TCR\beta$ clonotypes of clonally expanded $CD8^+$ T cells in PBMC or decidua and/or $TCR\beta$ clonotypes in common between $pCD8^+$ T and $dCD8^+$ T cells are shown in a row (A to Q) (the color density reflects the number of clones). (C) Clones of clonally expanded $CD8^+$ EM cells and/or clones that were shared between $pCD8^+$ EM and $dCD8^+$ EM cells are shown. The number above or under each bar is the percentage of the $CD8^+$ EM cells with a particular TCR clone among total $CD8^+$ EM cells with an identified TCR β repertoire. (D) Comparison of the TCR β clonotype between $pCD8^+$ EM and $dCD8^+$ EM cells of the color of the CD8^+ EM cells are shown. The number above or under each bar is the percentage of the CD8^+ EM cells with a particular TCR clone among total $CD8^+$ EM cells with an identified TCR β repertoire. (D) Comparison of the TCR β clonotype between $pCD8^+$ EM and $dCD8^+$ EM cells in all cases. The blue bar indicates the CD8^+ EM cell population with common TCR β clonotype among total $CD8^+$ EM cells with an identified TCR β repertoire in PBMC; the orange bar indicates the corresponding population in the decidua. The total number of $pCD8^+$ EM and $dCD8^+$ EM cells expressing common TCR β repertoires in all CD8^+ EM cells of each group was calculated (the numbers above the bars in each group).

pregnancy. The most abundant population of clonally expanded $CD8^+$ EM cells was observed in the decidua. The proportion of clonally expanded $CD8^+$ EM cells increased in cases of miscarriage, whereas PD-1 expression was downregulated in clonally expanded $CD8^+$ EM cells in preeclampsia cases.

CD8⁺ T cells have a crucial role in immune tolerance at the feto-maternal interface. Previous studies have examined the distribution, phenotypes, gene, and cell surface protein expression, as well as functional properties of CD8⁺ T cells in both normal and complicated pregnancies (5, 7, 16, 17, 31, 32). Local expansion of highly differentiated decidual CD8⁺ T cells implies direct response to fetal-specific antigens. However, due to CD8⁺ T cell heterogeneity, it is unclear whether these decidual CD8⁺ T cells recognize fetal antigens. In recent studies, Zeng et al. performed a transcriptional analysis of paired pCD8⁺ T and dCD8⁺ T cell populations in the 1st trimester and revealed differences in gene regulation (33). Powell et al. identified fetal antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells, both in the peripheral blood and the decidua, using HY-specific dextramers in humans (6, 34). The proportion of HY-specific CD8⁺ T cells was significantly increased in the decidua and most of them were CD8⁺ EM cells expressing the co-inhibitory molecule, PD-1 (6). These findings support the notion that CD8⁺ T cells recognizing fetal antigens exist but are functionally suppressed due to PD-1 expression at the feto-maternal interface. However, although minor populations of CD8⁺ T cells can be detected by the MHCmultimer approach, the extent of diversity of antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cells is still unclear. To our knowledge, this study is the first to examine the TCR β repertoire of CD8⁺ EM cells and CD8⁺ N cells during pregnancy at the single-cell level. We also analyzed the clonotypes and PD-1 expression in these cells to identify tolerogenic differences between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia.

Previous studies demonstrated that effector memory cells are the major subset of decidual $CD8^+$ T cells, whereas naive cells predominate in the peripheral blood (5). Our results were consistent with previous studies (**Figure 1**) (5); we found that the proportion of $CD8^+$ EM cells among decidual $CD8^+$ T cells neither differed between normal early pregnancy and miscarriage, nor between normal late pregnancy and preeclampsia (**Figure 1A**). These findings indicated that pregnancy failure was not due to alterations in the proportion of $CD8^+$ EM cells in early or late pregnancy.

Clonally expanded CD8⁺ T cells were observed in the effector memory subset but not in the naive subset (**Figure 2**), reflecting previous TCR stimulation and CD8⁺ T cell differentiation. A larger volume of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells was observed in the decidua than in PBMC, and in late pregnancy compared to early pregnancy (**Figure 2A**). This suggested that $CD8^+$ EM cells were expanded by antigen stimulation at the feto-maternal interface.

We observed common clonotypes between peripheral and decidual CD8⁺ EM cells (**Figures 3B–D**), reflecting the presence of effector memory T cell signatures in the systemic circulation. The ratio of CD8⁺ EM cells with common TCR β clonotype was comparable in each group (**Figure 3D**), suggesting that the immunological differences between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia did not depend on the proportion of CD8⁺ EM cells expressing the same TCR β clonotype in PBMC and the decidua. CD8⁺ EM cells with common clonotypes in PBMC and the decidua might react with microchimeric fetal cells in the periphery (35–38).

If clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells recognize fetal antigens, the same TCRB clonotype should be detected in different pregnancies of the same couple. Indeed, we found that some clonotypes were maintained across different pregnancies of the same patient (Figures 4B-D). Because of the high diversity of the CDR3 amino acid sequence in TCR β , with a lower boundary of 2 \times 10⁷ in young humans (27), these clonotype matches are unlikely to occur by chance. CD8⁺ EM cells with these TCR clonotypes might recognize the same fetal or placental antigens. In case of HLA-C mismatch between mother and fetus, and in the presence, in consecutive pregnancies, of the same paternal HLA-C, this could be recognized by CD8⁺ EM cells with the same TCR^β clonotype. Similarly, if the fetal sex of both pregnancies is male, the CD8⁺ EM cells might be HY-specific. Further studies are necessary to determine the antigens recognized by clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells. Another question to be addressed is whether clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells increase in parous women. As shown in Supplementary Figure 5, no differences in the size of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cell populations seemed to occur between nullipara and parous women. These findings suggested that the proportion of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells did not increase in subsequent pregnancies.

The proportion of decidual PD-1^{low/-} CD8⁺ EM cells was larger in normal early pregnancy than in normal late pregnancy (**Figure 5B**); therefore, dCD8⁺ EM cells acquired PD-1 expression during late pregnancy. Wang et al. reported increased PD-1 expression in CD8⁺ T cells after co-culture with trophoblasts (7), suggesting that cell-cell interactions may induce PD-1 expression in CD8⁺ T cells at the feto-maternal interface. Other studies proposed the existence of CD8⁺ regulatory T cells with high PD-1 expression (39, 40). Therefore, the clonally expanded PD-1^{high} CD8⁺ EM cells detected in our study might be regulatory cells.



FIGURE 4 | Comparison of the TCR β clonotype during normal early pregnancy in consecutive pregnancies of the same subject (case numbers #2 and #10, obtained from the same patient). (A) Analysis of the TCR β repertoire in pCD8⁺ EM and dCD8⁺ EM cells in different pregnancies of the same series. (B) TCR β clonotype comparison in different pregnancies of the same series. TCR β clonotypes of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells in PBMC or decidua and/or TCR β clonotypes in common between pCD8⁺ EM and dCD8⁺ EM cells are shown in a row (A to W, a to e) (the color density indicates the number of clones). Comparison of CD8⁺ EM CR β clonotype between two different pregnancies in PBMC (C) and the decidua (D). The number above or under each bar is the percentage of CD8⁺ EM cells with a particular TCR clone among total CD8⁺ EM cells with an identified TCR β repertoire.



FIGURE 5 | PD-1^{high} and PD-1^{low/-} CD8⁺ EM cell populations. (A) PD-1^{high} CD8⁺ EM cells among clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells. (B) PD-1^{low/-} CD8⁺ EM cells among clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells. Statistical analysis was performed using Wilcoxon matched-pairs single rank test (PBMC vs. decidua in each group); **p < 0.01. Mann-Whitney U-test (1st vs. 3rd trimester normal pregnancy, 1st trimester normal pregnancy vs. miscarriage, 3rd trimester normal pregnancy vs. preeclampsia); $^{\dagger}p < 0.05$; $^{\dagger}p < 0.01$; NS, not significant.

Clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells exhibited informative differences between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia in terms of clonality and PD-1 expression. In the 1st trimester, a significant increase in the proportion of clonally expanded dCD8⁺ EM cells was observed in cases of miscarriage compared to normal pregnancy. In early pregnancy, most clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells were PD-1^{low/-}. This suggested that an increase in antigen specific PD-1^{low/-} cytotoxic CD8⁺ EM cells at the feto-maternal interface might lead to miscarriage.

In contrast, in the 3rd trimester, the proportion of PD- $1^{low/-}$ CD8⁺ EM cells among clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells was significantly increased in preeclampsia cases compared to normal pregnancy, despite a similar proportion of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells (**Figures 2A, 5B**). Remarkably, the amount of PD- $1^{low/-}$ CD8⁺ EM cells with unique TCRs did not differ between preeclampsia and normal pregnancy (**Supplementary Figure 4B**). These data suggest that antigenspecific CD8⁺ EM cells are less exhausted in preeclampsia.

We have previously reported that the total amount of decidual effector Treg cells is decreased in cases of miscarriage, whereas the size of clonal populations of decidual effector Treg cells is comparable in normal early pregnancy and miscarriage cases (24). On the other hand, the proportion of clonally expanded effector Treg cells in the decidua is lower in preeclampsia cases than in normal late pregnancy (24). Altogether, these observations indicate that the reduced proportion of non-specific decidual effector Treg cells and the increased proportion of clonally expanded PD-1^{low/-} cytotoxic dCD8⁺ T cells might lead to miscarriage in early pregnancy. In contrast, the decreased proportion of antigen-specific decidual effector Treg cells and the decreased expression of PD-1 in clonally expanded dCD8⁺ T cells might induce fetal rejection in preeclampsia. These results suggested that, in preeclampsia, antigen-specific tolerance was

disrupted both in Treg cells and CD8⁺ T cells. This is in good accord with the epidemiology of human preeclampsia. The risk of preeclampsia increases in women at the first pregnancy following a partner change and after pregnancy intervals of more than 10 years (41-43). Increased risk of preeclampsia has also been reported in association with long-term condom usage and artificial insemination by donor, indicating that insufficient paternal antigen-specific tolerance mediated by seminal plasma priming may underlie preeclampsia (44-46). Pregnancy following oocyte donation, in which the fetus is completely allogeneic, associates with a significantly high risk of preeclampsia (45, 47). These epidemiological data demonstrate that the failure or lack of paternal antigen-specific tolerance may be responsible for preeclampsia. In addition, Barton et al. demonstrated that after the reencounter of fetal antigens by fetal antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells, PD-1 expression was more effectively promoted in parous mice than virgin mice (48). The exposure to fetal antigens could promote PD-1 expression in CD8⁺ T cells, explaining the relatively high expression of PD-1 in late normal pregnancy. These epidemiological and experimental data suggest that the disruption of paternal antigen-specific tolerance in preeclampsia possibly affects PD-1 expression in CD8⁺ T cells, consistent with the PD-1 downregulation that we observed in clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells of preeclampsia cases.

Nevertheless, there are several limitations in this study. First, we assumed that clonally expanded $CD8^+$ T cells might recognize fetal-specific antigens, but the target specificity of TCRs from $CD8^+$ T cells has not been assessed. Second, although we assumed that clonally expanded $dCD8^+$ EM cells were cytotoxic, this assumption was not verified. Third, we focused on PD-1 expression, while alterations of other co-inhibitory molecules and cytokine expression have been reported in miscarriage and preeclampsia. Extensive analysis of

these factors as well as the TCR repertoire may help understand the immunological differences between normal pregnancy, miscarriage, and preeclampsia. An additional limitation is that the detrimental immune reactivity of $CD8^+$ T cells observed in miscarriage and preeclampsia may be partly due to different timing of sample collection (at 6–8 gestational weeks in miscarriage, and at 32–39 gestational weeks in preeclampsia), albeit this problem cannot be overcome.

In conclusion, CD8⁺ EM cells might recognize some antigens at the feto-maternal interface, which are clonally expanded in the decidua. Clonally expanded dCD8⁺ EM cells expressed PD-1 on their surface during late pregnancy, although most of them did not express PD-1 during early pregnancy. The total proportion of PD-1^{low/-} clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells increased in both miscarriage and preeclampsia cases, but the mechanisms behind this phenomenon were distinct. In miscarriage cases, the proportion of clonally expanded CD8⁺ EM cells increased. On the other hand, in preeclampsia, clonally expanded dCD8⁺ EM cells exhibited low PD-1 expression. Based on the results of this and our former study, we can conclude that, in miscarriage, the total proportion of decidual effector Treg cells decreased, while that of clonally expanded dCD8⁺ EM cells increased. Moreover, in preeclampsia, the proportion of clonally expanded decidual effector Treg cells decreased and PD-1 expression was downregulated in the clonally expanded dCD8+ EM cells. Thus, the recognition of fetal antigens by clonally expanded Treg cells and CD8⁺ EM cells would easily induce fetal rejection. In future studies, we will attempt to clarify which antigens are recognized by clonally expanded TCRβ.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because the ethics review committee of the University of Toyama, which approved our protocol, did not give permission for data sharing. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to s30saito@med.u-toyama.ac.jp.

REFERENCES

- Saito S, Nishikawa K, Morii T, Narita N, Enomoto M, Ichijo M. Expression of activation antigens CD69, HLA-DR, interleukin-2 receptor-alpha (IL-2R alpha) and IL-2R beta on T cells of human decidua at an early stage of pregnancy. *Immunology*. (1992) 75:710–2.
- Tilburgs T, Scherjon SA, van der Mast BJ, Haasnoot GW, Versteeg VDV-MM, Roelen DL, et al. Fetal-maternal HLA-C mismatch is associated with decidual T cell activation and induction of functional T regulatory cells. J Reprod Immunol. (2009) 82:148–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2009. 05.003
- Aluvihare VR, Kallikourdis M, Betz AG. Regulatory T cells mediate maternal tolerance to the fetus. *Nat Immunol.* (2004) 5:266–71. doi: 10.1038/ ni1037
- Sasaki Y, Sakai M, Miyazaki S, Higuma S, Shiozaki A, Saito S. Decidual and peripheral blood CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in early pregnancy subjects and spontaneous abortion cases. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2004) 10:347– 53. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah044

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Ethical Guidelines for Medical and Health Research Involving Human Subjects, the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, Japan. The protocol was approved by the ethics review committee of the University of Toyama (Rin 28- 144). All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SS and HK: conception and design. KM, ST, and AU: acquiring and processing samples. KM, EK, HH, and KT: execution of experiment. KM and ST: analysis of data. KM, ST, EK, HH, HK, and SS: interpretation of data. KM, ST, and SS: drafting manuscript. ST, EK, HH, TS, AN, HK, and SS: revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology in Japan [KAKENHI Grant Number 19K18690 (ST), 17K11221 (TS), 15H04980 (SS), 16H06499 (HK)], THE HOKURIKU BANK Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists (ST) and AMED under Grant Number JP18gk0110018h0003 (SS).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Kyoko Tanebe, Satomi Wakasugi, and Azusa Sameshima for providing samples.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.01082/full#supplementary-material

- Tilburgs T, Schonkeren D, Eikmans M, Nagtzaam NM, Datema G, Swings GM, et al. Human decidual tissue contains differentiated CD8+ effectormemory T cells with unique properties. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:4470– 7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903597
- Powell RM, Lissauer D, Tamblyn J, Beggs A, Cox P, Moss P, et al. Decidual T cells exhibit a highly differentiated phenotype and demonstrate potential fetal specificity and a strong transcriptional response to IFN. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3406–17. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1700114
- Wang SC, Li YH, Piao HL, Hong XW, Zhang D, Xu YY, et al. PD-1 and Tim-3 pathways are associated with regulatory CD8+ T-cell function in decidua and maintenance of normal pregnancy. *Cell Death Dis.* (2015) 6:e1738. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.112
- van der Zwan A, Bi K, Norwitz ER, Crespo AC, Claas FHJ, Strominger JL, et al. Mixed signature of activation and dysfunction allows human decidual CD8(+) T cells to provide both tolerance and immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:385–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.17139 57115

- Taglauer E.S., Trikhacheva AS, Slusser JG, Petroff MG. Expression and function of PDCD1 at the human maternal-fetal interface. *Biol Reprod.* (2008) 79:562–9. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.107.066324
- Meggyes M, Miko E, Szigeti B, Farkas N, Szereday L. The importance of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway at the maternal-fetal interface. *BMC Pregn Childbirth*. (2019) 19:74. doi: 10.1186/s12884-019-2218-6
- Petroff MG, Chen L, Phillips TA, Azzola D, Sedlmayr P, Hunt, et al. B7 family molecules are favorably positioned at the human maternalfetal interface. *Biol Reprod.* (2003) 68:1496–504. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.102. 010058
- Guleria I, Khosroshahi A, Ansari MJ, Habicht A, Azuma M, Yagita H, et al. A critical role for the programmed death ligand 1 in fetomaternal tolerance. J Exp Med. (2005) 202:231–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050019
- Nagamatsu T, Schust DJ, Sugimoto J, Barrier BF. Human decidual stromal cells suppress cytokine secretion by allogenic CD4+ T cells via PD-1 ligand interactions. *Hum Reprod.* (2009) 24:3160–71. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ dep308
- Arck PC, Hecher K. Fetomaternal immune cross-talk and its consequences for maternal and offspring's health. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:548–56. doi: 10.1038/nm.3160
- Vento-Tormo R, Efremova M, Botting RA, Turco MY, Vento-Tormo M, Meyer KB, et al. Single-cell reconstruction of the early maternal-fetal interface in humans. *Nature*. (2018) 563:347–53. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0698-6
- Taglauer ES, Yankee TM, Petroff MG. Maternal PD-1 regulates accumulation of fetal antigen-specific CD8+ T cells in pregnancy. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2009) 80:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2008.12.001
- Tilburgs T, Strominger JL. CD8+ effector T cells at the fetal-maternal interface balancing fetal tolerance and antiviral immunity. *Am J Reprod Immunol*. (2013) 69:395–407. doi: 10.1111/aji.12094
- Ramhorst R, Garcia V, Agriello E, Corigliano A, Etchepareborda E, Irigoyen M, et al. Intracellular expression of CD69 in endometrial and peripheral T cells represents a useful marker in women with recurrent miscarriage: modulation after allogeneic leukocyte immunotherapy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2003) 49:149–58. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2003.00021.x
- Yang H, Qiu L, Chen G, Ye Z, Lu C, Lin Q. Proportional change of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in decidua and peripheral blood in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion patients. *Fertil Steril.* (2008) 89:656–61. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.03.037
- Mei S, Tan J, Chen H, Chen Y, Zhang J. Changes of CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells and FOXP3 expression in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion patients. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 94:2244-7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.11.020
- Sasaki Y, Darmochwal-Kolarz D, Suzuki D, Sakai M, Ito M, Shima T, et al. Proportion of peripheral blood and decidual CD4(+) CD25(bright) regulatory T cells in pre-eclampsia. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2007) 149:139– 45. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03397.x
- Toldi G, Svec P, Vasarhelyi B, Meszaros G, Rigo J, Tulassay T, et al. Decreased number of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in preeclampsia. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand.* (2008) 87:1229–33. doi: 10.1080/00016340802389470
- Santner-Nanan B, Peek MJ, Khanam R, Richarts L, Zhu E, Fazekas de St Groth B, et al. Systemic increase in the ratio between Foxp3+ and IL-17-producing CD4+ T cells in healthy pregnancy but not in preeclampsia. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:7023–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901154
- Tsuda S, Zhang X, Hamana H, Shima T, Ushijima A, Tsuda K, et al. Clonally expanded decidual effector regulatory T cells increase in late gestation of normal pregnancy but not in preeclampsia in humans. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1934. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01934
- Tafuri A, Alferink J, Moller P, Hammerling GJ, Arnold B. T cell awareness of paternal alloantigens during pregnancy. *Science*. (1995) 270:630– 3. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5236.630
- Moldenhauer, LM, Hayball JD, Robertson SA. Utilising T cell receptor transgenic mice to define mechanisms of maternal T cell tolerance in pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2010) 87:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2010.05.007
- Qi Q, Liu Y, Cheng Y, Glanville J, Zhang D, Lee JY, et al. Diversity and clonal selection in the human T-cell repertoire. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:13139–44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1409155111

- Brown MA, Magee LA, Kenny LC, Karumanchi SA, McCarthy FP, Saito S, et al. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: ISSHP classification diagnosis and management recommendations for international practice. *Hypertension.* (2018) 72:24–43. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117. 10803
- Penter L, Dietze K, Bullinger L, Westermann J, Rahn HP, Hansmann L. FACS single cell index sorting is highly reliable and determines immune phenotypes of clonally expanded T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2018) 48:1248– 50. doi: 10.1002/eji.201847507
- Hamana H, Shitaoka K, Kishi H, Ozawa T, Muraguchi A. A novel rapid and efficient method of cloning functional antigen-specific T-cell receptors from single human and mouse T-cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2016) 474:709–14. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.05.015
- Shao L, Jacobs AR, Johnson VV, Mayer L. Activation of CD8+ regulatory T cells by human placental trophoblasts. J Immunol. (2005) 174:39– 7547. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.7539
- 32. Tilburgs T, Roelen DL, van der Mast BJ, van Schip JJ, Kleijburg C, de Groot-Swings GM, et al. Differential distribution of CD4(+)CD25(bright) and CD8(+)CD28(-) T-cells in decidua and maternal blood during human pregnancy. *Placenta.* (2006) 27(Suppl. A):S47–53. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.11.008
- 33. Zeng W, Liu X, Liu Z, Zheng Y, Yu T, Fu S, et al. Deep surveying of the transcriptional and alternative splicing signatures for decidual cd8(+) T cells at the first trimester of human healthy pregnancy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:937. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00937
- Lissauer D, Piper K, Goodyear O, Kilby MD, Moss PA. Fetal-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T cell responses develop during normal human pregnancy and exhibit broad functional capacity. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:1072– 80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200544
- Bianchi DW, Zickwolf GK, Weil GJ, Sylvester S, DeMaria MA. Male fetal progenitor cells persist in maternal blood for as long as 27 years postpartum. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1996) 93:705–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 93.2.705
- 36. Lo YM, Lo ES, Watson N, Noakes L, Sargent IL, Thilaganathan B, et al. Two-way cell traffic between mother and fetus: biologic and clinical implications. *Blood.* (1996) 88:4390–95. doi: 10.1182/blood.V88.11. 4390.4390
- O'Donoghue K, Chan J, de la Fuente J, Kennea N, Sandison A, Anderson JR, et al. Microchimerism in female bone marrow and bone decades after fetal mesenchymal stem-cell trafficking in pregnancy. *Lancet.* (2004) 364:179–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16631-2
- Nelson J. Your cells are my cells. Sci Am. (2008) 298:64– 71. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican0408-64
- Arruvito L, Payaslian F, Baz P, Podhorzer A, Billordo A, Pandolfi J, et al. Identification and clinical relevance of naturally occurring human CD8+HLA-DR+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol. (2014) 193:4469–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401490
- Machicote A, Belen S, Baz P, Billordo LA, Fainboim L. Human CD8(+)HLA-DR(+) regulatory T cells similarly to classical CD4(+)Foxp3(+) cells suppress immune responses via PD-1/PD-L1 Axis. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2788. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02788
- Robillard PY, Hulsey TC, Alexander GR, Keenan A, de Caunes F, Papiernik E. Paternity patterns and risk of preeclampsia in the last pregnancy in multiparae. J Reprod Immunol. (1993) 24:1–12. doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(93)90032-D
- Trupin LS, Simon LP, Eskenazi B. Change in paternity: a risk factor for preeclampsia in multiparas. *Epidemiology*. (1996) 7:240–4. doi: 10.1097/00001648-199605000-00004
- 43. Skjaerven R, Wilcox AJ, Lie RT. The interval between pregnancies and the risk of preeclampsia. *N Engl J Med.* (2002) 346:33–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa011379
- Klonoff-Cohen HS, Savitz DA, Cefalo RC, McCann MF. An epidemiologic study of contraception and preeclampsia. *JAMA*. (1989) 262:3143–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.262.22.3143
- Salha O, Sharma V, Dada T, Nugent D, Rutherford AJ, Tomlinson AJ, et al. The influence of donated gametes on the incidence of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Hum Reprod.* (1999) 14:2268–73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/14. 9.2268

- Koelman CA, Coumans AB, Nijman HW, Doxiadis II, Dekker GA, Claas FH. Correlation between oral sex and a low incidence of preeclampsia: a role for soluble HLA in seminal fluid? *J Reprod Immunol.* (2000) 46:155– 66. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00062-5
- 47. Nakabayashi Y, Nakashima A, Yoshino O, Shima T, Shiozaki A, Adachi T, et al. Impairment of the accumulation of decidual T cells NK cells and monocytes and the poor vascular remodeling of spiral arteries were observed in oocyte donation cases regardless of the presence or absence of preeclampsia. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 114:65–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2015.07.005
- Barton BM, Xu R, Wherry EJ, Porrett PM. Pregnancy promotes tolerance to future offspring by programming selective dysfunction in long-lived maternal T cells. J Leukoc Biol. (2017) 101:975–87. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1A0316-135R

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Morita, Tsuda, Kobayashi, Hamana, Tsuda, Shima, Nakashima, Ushijima, Kishi and Saito. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulatory T Cells in Pregnancy: It Is Not All About FoxP3

Juliette Krop, Sebastiaan Heidt, Frans H. J. Claas and Michael Eikmans*

Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

In pregnancy, the semi-allogeneic fetus needs to be tolerated by the mother's immune system. Regulatory T cells (Tregs) play a prominent role in this process. Novel technologies allow for in-depth phenotyping of previously unidentified immune cell subsets, which has resulted in the appreciation of a vast heterogeneity of Treg subsets. Similar to other immunological events, there appears to be great diversity within the Treg population during pregnancy, both at the maternal-fetal interface as in the peripheral blood. Different Treg subsets have distinct phenotypes and various ways of functioning. Furthermore, the frequency of individual Treg subsets varies throughout gestation and is altered in aberrant pregnancies. This suggests that distinct Treg subsets play a role at different time points of gestation and that their role in maintaining healthy pregnancy is crucial, as reflected for instance by their reduced frequency in women with recurrent pregnancy loss. Since pregnancy is essential for the existence of mankind, multiple immune regulatory mechanisms and cell types are likely at play to assure successful pregnancy. Therefore, it is important to understand the complete microenvironment of the decidua, preferably in the context of the whole immune cell repertoire of the pregnant woman. So far, most studies have focused on a single mechanism or cell type, which often is the FoxP3 positive regulatory T cell when studying immune regulation. In this review, we instead focus on the contribution of FoxP3 negative Treg subsets to the decidual microenvironment and their possible role in pregnancy complications. Their phenotype, function, and effect in pregnancy are discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Shigeru Saito, University of Toyama, Japan

Reviewed by:

Sayaka Tsuda, University of Toyama, Japan Lianjun Zhang, Suzhou Institute of Systems Medicine (ISM), China

> *Correspondence: Michael Eikmans m.eikmans@lumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 March 2020 Accepted: 13 May 2020 Published: 23 June 2020

Citation:

Krop J, Heidt S, Claas FHJ and Eikmans M (2020) Regulatory T Cells in Pregnancy: It Is Not All About FoxP3. Front. Immunol. 11:1182. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01182 Keywords: regulatory T (Treg) cells, pregnancy, preeclampsia, Tr1 regulatory cells, Th3 regulatory cells, HLA-G Treg, immune tolerance, recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL)

PLACENTAL DEVELOPMENT AND IMMUNE EVASION BY TROPHOBLASTS

The most striking feature of pregnancy is that a semi-allogeneic fetus is tolerated by the maternal immune system. This is in sharp contrast with solid organ transplantation, where an allograft will be rejected by the patient's immune system unless the patient takes immunosuppressive drugs. Since direct contact between maternal and fetal cells occurs at the maternal-fetal interface in the placenta, it is thought that maternal immune cells in the placenta do not attack the fetal cells (trophoblasts) because of the tolerogenic microenvironment created by regulatory T cells (Tregs) and other immune cells.

42



FIGURE 1 | Schematic overview of the maternal-fetal interface at different trimesters. (A) During first-trimester, the maternal immune cells in the decidua can come into contact with fetal syncytiotrophoblasts, when around weeks 11–12 the maternal blood flow commences (B) a second maternal-fetal interface occurs. The maternal immune cells in the periphery can come into contact with fetal syncytiotrophoblasts, while the maternal decidual immune cells are in contact with the fetal extravillous trophoblasts. Indicating immunotolerance needs to adapt during the shift in gestation.

Trophoblast Development

The main function of the placenta is to provide oxygen and nutrients to the developing fetus. In the first-trimester, nutrients are mainly provided by uterine glands in a hypoxic environment as no active maternal blood flow has been established yet. Once active maternal blood flow in the placenta has commenced around weeks 11-12 of gestation, oxygen and nutrients are exchanged over a thin lining of fetal cells. Since the fetus is semiallogeneic, as it inherits both maternal and paternal antigens, the fetal trophoblast cells may potentially be recognized as foreign by maternal immune cells. Three main types of trophoblasts can be distinguished: cytotrophoblasts (CTBs), syncytiotrophoblasts (SCTs), and extravillous trophoblasts (EVTs). At the beginning of the first trimester, the maternal-fetal interface consists of the maternal parenchymal cells in the decidua and the fetal SCTs (Figure 1A). Later in pregnancy, this interface is mainly represented by maternal decidual cells and the EVTs (Figure 1B), where a distinction is made between decidua basalis and decidua parietalis. Importantly, a second maternal-fetal interface is established when active maternal blood flow in the placenta has commenced. The maternal peripheral blood then comes into contact with the SCTs lining the fetal villi. From the moment these maternal-fetal interfaces have been established, it is of utmost importance for maternal immune cells to keep the balance between tolerizing the semi-allogeneic fetus, and at the same time maintaining the ability to form a robust immune response against pathogens upon infection.

Mechanisms by Trophoblasts for Avoiding and Modulating Immune Responses

The classical human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I molecules HLA-A, -B, and -C are normally present on virtually all nucleated cells in the body and present intracellular antigens to surveilling T cells. Non-classical HLA molecules are selectively present, and have initially been described on trophoblasts in the placenta (1) and later also in other tissues (2–4). HLA class II is mainly expressed by antigen-presenting cells (APCs), including dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and B cells. Since the fetus inherits half of its genes from the father, it also inherits half of the paternal HLA alleles, which can potentially be recognized as foreign by the maternal immune system.

One way for the trophoblasts to evade recognition by the maternal immune system is lack of the polymorphic HLA-A, -B, and HLA class II molecules on their cell surface. Interestingly, EVTs do express polymorphic classical HLA-C molecules. The regular function of these molecules is to present a wide variety of pathogen-associated peptides to surveilling $CD8^+$ T cells (5). Since HLA-C is polymorphic, its presence on trophoblasts can possibly also lead to allorecognition of the inherited paternal HLA-C by maternal T cells (6). EVTs may help to tip the local maternal immune balance toward tolerance by their expression of non-classical HLA-E and HLA-G (7), and possibly also HLA-F (8). The mechanisms responsible for the presence or absence of the specific HLA class I types on trophoblasts have not fully been elucidated yet (5). Expression of HLA molecules on trophoblasts allows them to escape natural killer (NK) cell recognition (9). HLA-G was first described on CTBs and has been shown to induce immune tolerance (10, 11) (described below). HLA-E also has tolerogenic properties as it can bind to the NK cell receptor

Abbreviations: Tregs, regulatory T cells; tTreg, thymic derived regulatory T cell; pTreg, periphery induced regulatory T cell; EVTs, cytotrophoblasts (CTBs), syncytiotrophoblasts (SCTs), and extravillous trophoblasts; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; APCs, antigen presenting cells; KIR, killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor; TCR, T cell receptor; IDO, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; dNK, decidual NK; RPL, recurrent pregnancy loss; PE, pre-eclampsia; SNPs, single nucleotide polymorphisms; NK, natural killer; ILCs, innate lymphoid cell; DCs, dendritic cells; DC-10, tolerogenic DCs; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; NO, nitric oxide; TGF- β , transforming growth factor-beta; IFN- γ , interferon gamma.

CD94/NKG2A upon which NK cell activity is inhibited (12). SCTs, which are in direct contact with the maternal blood, do not express any HLA molecules (13), which would potentially render them sensitive to NK cell-mediated killing (13). However, for NK cells killing an activating ligand needs to be present on the target cell, which is likely missing on trophoblasts (14).

Trophoblasts express several molecules that are thought to dampen alloimmune reactivity, including PD-L1, PD-L2, CD200, and FasL (15-19), some of which are differentially expressed throughout gestation (17). Trophoblasts are also known to produce soluble factors with an immune-modulatory action, such as soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G), transforming growth factorbeta (TGF- β), and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). TGF- β is known to have various functions and will be extensively discussed below. Since IDO causes local tryptophan deprivation (20), which is an essential amino acid required for T cell activation, elevated local IDO levels lead to inhibition of T cell activation. Recently, the role of galectins in pregnancy has become more apparent, as they were found to play an important role in suppressing the maternal immune system (21). Galectins on human trophoblasts modulate a number of regulatory mechanisms (22), such as induction of T cell apoptosis (23) and induction of Treg cell development (24).

Maternal Immune Cells in the Decidua

Not only the composition of fetal cells in the placenta but also the composition of maternal immune cells changes throughout gestation. Already before conception, as early as seminal plasma exposure, activation and proliferation of fetus-specific maternal T cells in uterine draining lymph nodes have been observed in murine models (25). In humans, maternal APCs and CD8⁺ T cells seem to get recruited to the ectocervix upon coitus, but their specificity remains unknown (26). In the first trimester of human pregnancy, maternal leukocytes account for 30-40% of all cells in the decidua (27). During this period, the most prominent immune cells are decidual NK (dNK) cells (~60%), macrophages (\sim 20%), and T cells (\sim 10%) (27–29). During gestation, dNK cell frequencies decrease, macrophage frequencies remain relatively stable, and T cell frequencies increase (29). Next to these main immune cell populations, innate lymphoid cell (ILCs) other than NK cells, DCs, B cells, NKT cells, granulocytes, and mast cells are found in the decidua (30-32).

Despite the many mechanisms that trophoblasts have to evade an alloimmune response, fetus specific immune recognition has been observed in mice (33). Furthermore, fetus-specific CD8⁺ T cells (34, 35) and inherited paternal antigen (IPA)specific antibodies are found in maternal peripheral blood during pregnancy (36-38). Both HLA-C and HLA-E restricted CD8⁺ T cells, specific for viral and bacterial peptides, are present in humans (39). However, maternal CD8⁺ T cells could recognize the paternally inherited HLA-C from the fetus or fetal minor histocompatibility antigens, and if not suppressed are likely to attack the fetal trophoblasts (34, 35). Besides this, ~30% of pregnancies result in the formation of paternal HLA-specific IgG antibodies (38, 40). Allo-antibodies directed against HLA-C of the fetus do not necessarily appear to be detrimental to pregnancy outcome (41), but some studies do show that they are associated with spontaneous preterm deliveries and recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL) (42, 43). Therefore, to inhibit the effect of maternal immune components, it is thought that local immune regulation is required to prevent anti-fetal immunity.

MATERNAL TREG CELLS DURING GESTATION

To prevent a detrimental immune reaction against the fetus, maternal immune cells need to be regulated. The level of both FoxP3⁺ and Foxp3⁻ Tregs is increased in the peripheral blood of pregnant women compared to non-pregnant control women (44, 45). While the proportion of total T cells in the decidua is low during the first trimester (\sim 10%), of which 10-30% of the CD4⁺ T cells are Tregs (28, 29, 46, 47), later in pregnancy the proportion of Tregs significantly increases in the decidua [(46); van der Zwan et al. submitted]. In mice the importance of Tregs during implantation and for maintenance of a healthy pregnancy is evident. This was shown in murine studies by injecting abortion prone mice with CD25⁺ Tregs from wild-type pregnant mice, which led to a significantly increased litter size (48). Alternatively, depleting CD25⁺ Tregs during the implantation period of nonsynergistically mated mice caused high fetal resorption (49). Depleting Tregs in the mid-gestation phase in non-sterile mice also resulted in high fetal resorption (50). In a systematic review of 17 studies on human pregnancy, it has been shown that the number and functionality of Tregs are diminished in women experiencing RPL, both in the peripheral blood and in the decidua, compared to control women (51). Similarly, in women with pre-eclampsia decreased Treg frequencies in both the periphery and the decidua and impairment in the signaling of peripheral blood Tregs have been found (45, 52, 53).

Using extensive mass cytometry panels containing more than 38 immune cell markers, we have previously shown that there is great heterogeneity in immune cell subsets among the different trimesters (van der Zwan et al. submitted). Interestingly, five Treg-like clusters were found to be differently distributed over the three trimesters. This could be attributed to the developmental changes in the placenta, causing a constant change in the possible cell-cell interactions between immune cells and different EVT subsets that seem to exist over different trimesters (54). Apart from that, a deficit in Treg presence and functionality has been observed in pregnancy complications such as PE, infertility, and RPL (55). Such complications arise at different periods of pregnancy, i.e., during implantation, <22-24 weeks of gestation or throughout gestation (56, 57). Taken together, as both Treg subsets and the initiation of complications can be prominent in a particular time frame of gestation, it might be that disbalances in different Treg subsets could play a role in the onset of different complications. Therefore, it is important to investigate the presence and functioning of the wide range of Treg subsets present during pregnancy.

ADVANCES IN TREG IDENTIFICATION

Regulatory T cells were originally named suppressor cells (58). Ideas and insights changed over time, and suppressor cells have endured much debate. In 1983 it was shown in mice that both

CD8 (Lyt-2⁺) and CD4 (Lyt-2⁻) suppressor cells were present that expressed the I-J molecule (59). When the I-J molecule turned out not to exist and suppressor cells could not be identified in any other way, interest in these cells waned. The arrival of novel molecular technologies propelled new knowledge, which made immunological tolerance become more evident and revived interest in T suppressor cells, now referred to as Tregs (60). In 2001, the FoxP3 gene was identified in scurfy mice and later as a key transcription factor for Treg cell development and function in both humans and mice (61, 62). Subsequently, several FoxP3⁻ Treg subsets were identified, as will be discussed below. Initially, it was hypothesized that Tregs could only be generated in the thymus (tTregs), but in the 2000s this concept was challenged by studies showing that Tregs could be induced from conventional T cells in the periphery (pTregs) (63, 64). It is thought that tTregs and pTregs function in distinct ways, recognize different types of antigens (autoantigens vs. foreign antigens), and are needed in different immunological events such as preventing T cell trafficking to an organ and preventing T cell priming by APC, respectively (65).

Because tTregs and pTregs can have different roles, there is a need for phenotypic markers to distinguish the two. While Helios and Nrp-1 have been proposed as markers for tTregs in mice (66, 67), it has been shown that Helios deficiency or Nrp-1 deficiency does not impede tTreg development (65, 68). Consequently, there is no consensus on which markers can distinguish tTregs from pTregs (65, 69, 70). Helios is associated with the promoter regions of apoptosis/cell survival genes, and Helios deficient FoxP3⁺ Tregs show increased inflammatory cytokine expression, which suggests the importance of Helios in suppressing the production of effector cytokines (71). Even though Nrp-1 is not essential for tTreg development, it seems to increase Treg immunoregulatory properties, such as an increased capacity for tumor infiltration (69, 72). When comparing Nrp-1 and Helios there is no consistent overlap in expression of these markers (65). In humans, Helios is found on Tregs, but Nrp-1 is not found on peripheral blood Tregs and can, therefore, be excluded as tTreg marker (66, 73). More recently CNS1 has been suggested to distinguish between tTregs and pTregs. However, since CNS1 is a FoxP3 enhancer, it is debatable whether this marker distinguishes FoxP3⁻ tTreg and pTreg populations (74, 75).

Treg subsets are often identified by their co-signaling molecules. Many Treg subsets express co-signaling molecules, such as ICOS, PD-1, TIGIT, and TIM-3, which upon interaction with their ligand can alter their function to either activation or senescence (76–78). These co-signaling molecules, which can be present on both FoxP3⁺ and FoxP3⁻ Tregs, have widely been discussed in several reviews (79–81). Similarly, the heterogeneity within FoxP3⁺ Tregs, generally described as CD4⁺CD25⁺CD127⁻ in functional assays, has been extensively reviewed elsewhere (82–87). However, the heterogeneity within the FoxP3⁻ compartment has not been elaborated on and will be discussed here in the context of pregnancy. Besides co-signaling molecules, several soluble factors affect the action of Tregs and are produced by these cells to mediate their immune regulatory effects. These will first be briefly reviewed.

SOLUBLE FACTORS

IL-10

IL-10 is an immunomodulatory cytokine that is produced by many immune cells in the decidua, including most known Treg subsets. It has an effect on trophoblasts and innate- and adaptive immune cells within the decidua (88). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the promoter region of IL-10 correlate with adverse pregnancy outcomes in humans (89). Next to that, the administration of recombinant IL-10 or IL-10 producing B cells to mice leads to reduced incidence of fetal resorption (90). Concomitantly, IL-10 null mice in sterile cages showed normal litter size, whereas administration of a danger signal in the form of a low dose of LPS to these mice resulted in increased fetal resorption (91, 92). These data suggest that IL-10 is an important mediator of immune regulation during pregnancy. In human pregnancy, decreased serum IL-10 levels or IL-10 production by PBMCs are associated with the occurrence of PE and RPL (93-98). This suggests that IL-10 producing immune cells are important for maintaining an uncomplicated pregnancy.

IL-10 induces expression of HLA-G on trophoblasts, which has direct and indirect immune suppressive effects (described below) (99). IL-10, together with HLA-G, can induce monocyte-derived DCs in vitro to differentiate into tolerogenic DCs (DC-10) that have immunosuppressive properties (100, 101). They exert their immunosuppressive properties by the production of IL-10, expression of HLA-G, and upregulation of inhibitory receptors for HLA-G (namely ILT2, ILT3, and ILT4). Furthermore, these tolerogenic DCs downregulate co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86, as well as HLA-DR (102-104). DC-10s induce Tregs by their expression of ILT4 and by IL-10 production (105). Macrophages are also regulated by IL-10 (106). It has been shown that IL-10 acts on macrophages by controlling their metabolic pathways, causing activation, proliferation, and inflammatory responses to be inhibited (106, 107). Next to that, CD4⁺ T cell proliferation is suppressed by IL-10, antigen-experienced specific CD4⁺ T cells can be induced into an anergic state, and conventional T cells can be induced to convert to Tregs (103, 108-110).

TGF-β

TGF- β is produced by and has an immunomodulatory effect on multiple cell types present in the decidua (111–120). In the early implantation phase, TGF- β is important for trophoblast invasion in the endometrium (121, 122). In humans, TGF- β serum levels are elevated in pregnant women compared to non-pregnant women, and serum levels are higher in early pregnancy compared to late pregnancy (123). However, women experiencing RPL display a decrease in TGF- β serum levels compared to women undergoing elective termination for non-medical reasons (124). Interestingly, there are indications from mouse studies that TGF- β induced Tregs could prevent spontaneous abortion, but this effect needs to be elucidated further (111, 125).

TGF- β can inhibit NK cell and T cell activation and proliferation by repressing the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway (126, 127), and similarly, suppress activation of dNK cells (120). Since dNK cells are important

contributors to angiogenesis at the maternal-fetal interface, their cytotoxicity needs to be suppressed but they should still be able to execute their role in angiogenesis. A balanced TGF- β level may, therefore, be important to maintain correct functioning of dNK cells (120). Furthermore, TGF- β can affect T cells directly by inhibiting their proliferation and differentiation (128, 129), and indirectly by its inhibitory effect on APCs. HLA-class II on APCs is downregulated, activation of macrophages is downregulated, and maturation of DCs is prevented by TGF- β (116, 130–134). Next to that, the presence of TGF- β is needed for the induction of several FoxP3⁺ and FoxP3⁻ Treg subsets by APCs (135–138).

HLA-G

As discussed above, HLA-G was first described on trophoblasts (1). Interestingly, also myeloid and lymphoid cells, such as the below described FoxP3⁻HLA-G⁺ Treg, can express HLA-G and secrete sHLA-G (139–141). HLA-G is oligomorphic and has seven isoforms, of which some are membrane-bound (HLA-G1 to -G4), and others are secreted as a soluble form (sHLA-G5 to -G7) (142). Several polymorphisms in the untranslated region (UTR) of the *HLA-G* gene have been associated with lower sHLA-G levels in both blood and seminal plasma (143, 144). In both PE and RPL, a reduction in serum sHLA-G levels has been observed compared to healthy control women (145–148). Together these observations highlight the possible importance of (s)HLA-G during pregnancy.

(s)HLA-G exerts its immunoregulatory effects on a wide variety of immune cells because of its interactions with several inhibitory receptors, of which ILT2 seems to be most prominent (149). Other receptors for (s)HLA-G are ILT4, KIR2DL4, and CD8. The ITL2 receptor is expressed on monocytes/macrophages, DCs, B cells, and some NK and T cells (150), while the ILT4 receptor is mainly present on macrophages, NK cells, and neutrophils (150, 151). Upon ILT2 or ILT4 binding to HLA-G, NK cells and T cells receive a signal that leads to inhibited killing capacity (152-154). In CD8⁺ T cells, this inhibited killing capacity is reflected by the down-regulation of granzyme B expression (155). KIR2DL4 has been identified on dNK cells and some T cell subsets. Engagement of this receptor with sHLA-G results in activation and secretion of different types of cytokines and chemokines, but does not result in direct cytotoxicity (156). Binding of sHLA-G with KIR2DL4 on NK cells results in the upregulation of a restricted set of chemokines and cytokines that can promote vascular remodeling (156). CD8 is not only expressed by cytotoxic T cells but also by some NK cell subsets (79, 157). When sHLA-G binds to CD8, this interaction inhibits cytotoxic activity and triggers FasLmediated apoptosis in both the CD8⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ NK cells (158). Besides effector cells, APCs can also be affected by HLA-G. For example, in concert with IL-10, HLA-G induces DCs to differentiate into tolerogenic DC-10 cells (100, 101). Additionally, macrophages obtain a tolerogenic phenotype upon binding to HLA-G with their ILT2 or ILT4, and subsequently show reduced expression of HLA class II, CD80, and CD86. Such macrophages have been described to be similar to decidual macrophages as they also express IDO (159). Together this suggests that decidual macrophages are under the constant influence of HLA-G, produced by either trophoblasts or HLA- G^+ Tregs.

FOXP3⁻ REGULATORY T CELLS

FoxP3⁻ HLA-G⁺ Tregs

In the lymphoid compartment, HLA-G expressing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells show reduced proliferation in response to allogeneic and polyclonal stimuli (139). CD4+HLA-G+CD25-FoxP3-Tregs (Figures 2, 5, Table 1) suppress T cell proliferation through the expression of membrane-bound HLA-G1 and secretion of IL-10 and sHLA-G5 in a reversible, cell-contact independent and cell-contact dependent manner (139, 169). They have functionally been compared to other Treg populations such as FoxP3⁺ Tregs and Tr1 Tregs (discussed below), and represent a population that is distinct from tTregs (169–171). Interestingly, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells can also acquire a similar HLA-G1⁺ phenotype *in vitro* through trogocytosis (160), meaning the uptake of membrane fragments from another cell. Resting and activated CD25⁺ T cells that acquire HLA-G1 expression by trogocytosis differ functionally from the HLA-G⁺ tTregs, and they do not secrete sHLA-G5 and IL-10. They have been shown to exert their immune-suppressive capacity in a cell-contact dependent manner only (160), and will not be discussed further.

HLA-G⁺ tTregs accumulate at sites of inflammation to regulate immune responses (172) and importantly, have also been found in the decidua (141, 173). CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ Treg frequencies are increased in peripheral blood throughout pregnancy compared to non-pregnant controls (45, 141). Interestingly, sHLA-G serum levels are also increased during pregnancy, while these levels are decreased in complicated pregnancies compared to healthy pregnancies (145-148). However, it is unlikely that a direct correlation between CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ Treg frequencies and serum sHLA-G levels exists, since other cells (in the placenta) produce sHLA-G as well. CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ Treg frequencies within the CD4⁺ T cell compartment are even higher in the decidua compared to those in peripheral blood (141, 173), suggesting a role in local immune regulation. In women with PE, decidual CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ Tregs are decreased, whereas in the peripheral blood their numbers remain unchanged compared to healthy control pregnancies (45, 173), indicating that in a healthy pregnancy these cells are induced locally, but to a lesser extent during PE.

Tr1 Treg

Tr1 Tregs (**Figures 3**, **5**, **Table 1**) suppresses T cell proliferation mainly through IL-10 and TGF- β production. They also produce low amounts of IFN- γ , IL-5, and IL-2, and express granzyme B (109, 112, 174). Next to cytokine production, they can suppress other immune cells in a cell-contact dependent manner by using their KIR receptors or ectoenzymes (161). Tr1 Tregs are peripherally induced upon chronic antigen stimulation in the presence of IL-10 (175). Both HLA-G and IL-10 provided by APCs, like DC-10 cells, play a role in Tr1 Treg induction (103),



indicated by their reduced induction by DC-10s when anti-HLA-G is added *in vitro*. Additionally, their induction is reverted when agonistic anti-ILT4 antibodies are added, but not when agonistic anti-ILT2 antibodies are added (103). Interestingly, EVTs are also able to induce Tr1-like cells via HLA-G directly (119).

Recently, co-expression of CD49b and LAG-3 has been described as phenotypic markers for Tr1 Tregs in mice and humans (176). This observation is under debate since a subsequent study only detected a small proportion of IL-10⁺ Tregs co-expressing CD49b and LAG3 (177). Due to their lack of a clear phenotype, Tr1 Tregs are often described as Tr1-like cells, as they have similar properties, such as IL-10 production. Tr1 Tregs can express the co-signaling molecules PD-1, CTLA-4, TIM-3, and ICOS (136, 177–179), and several other molecules related to their function, including GARP, LAP, ectoenzyme CD39, and CD73 (180), as well as KIRs and ILT receptors. FoxP3 is only transiently expressed by Tr1 Tregs. Since functional Tr1 Tregs are found in patients who have a mutation in the *FoxP3* gene, FoxP3 appears not to be required for their development (110, 174).

Tr1-like Tregs have been identified in peripheral blood and various tissues (181), including the human decidua (119). These Tregs express high levels of PD-1, express granzymes, and lack FoxP3. They produce IL-10 and IFN- γ , and thereby may have a similar suppressive mechanism as bona fide Tr1 Tregs (119). Similar to Tr1 Treg, decidual Tr1-like Treg induction by EVTs can be partially reverted when agonistic anti-HLA-G antibodies are added, but not by anti-ILT2 (119). Tr1 Tregs are able to selectively lyse APCs in a cell-contact dependent manner, but

not B and T cells (161). Lysis of APCs can cause amplification of the tolerogenic process since decreased numbers of activated APCs will generally lead to less activation of T cells. For this, the Tr1 Treg needs HLA-class I recognition of the APC through its KIR receptors, CD54/LFA-1 mediated adhesion, CD58/CD2 interaction, as well as CD155/CD226 ligation (161). Furthermore, the Tr1 has been described to directly affect T cells by their expression of ectoenzyme CD39 and CD73, which disrupts the metabolic state of effector T cells (180).

Th3 Tregs

The main suppressive effects of Th3 Tregs (**Figures 4, 5, Table 1**) are mediated by TGF- β production, in a cell-contact independent manner (135). Phenotypically these cells are CD25⁻ and FoxP3⁻, they are thought to express Helios, and express LAP and GARP, which can be used as surrogate markers for TGF- β production (182, 183). Th3 cells also produce IL-10, but unlike Tr1 Tregs, they produce this in conjunction with IL-4 (113, 184). Similar to Tr1 Tregs, Th3 Tregs are peripherally induced upon antigen stimulation (135). The mechanism underlying the induction into either Th3- or Tr1 Treg remains poorly understood and is thought to depend on their microenvironment during priming (114, 185). Another question that remains to be answered is whether Tr1 and Th3 Tregs truly represent different subsets or differentiation states and whether they differ depending on the microenvironment in which they reside.

With the limited markers identified so far, it is difficult to phenotypically identify Th3 Tregs, which may explain the limited number of articles describing the presence of the Th3





cell during pregnancy. Dimova et al. observed in paired decidua and peripheral blood samples mRNA cytokine profiles similar to Th3, the first description of a possible presence of Th3 cells in the decidua (163). Importantly, no functional testing has been performed for Th3-like cells from the decidua, and their presence and role in pregnancy remains to be confirmed. Regardless, Th3 Treg was first described to have an important role in oral tolerance (182). Interestingly, exposure to semen through oral sex has been proposed to be beneficial for subsequent pregnancy outcomes in couples experiencing PE or RPL (186– 188), providing a possible mechanistic explanation for this effect.

Other Treg Populations

Besides FoxP3⁻ HLA-G⁺, Tr1, and Th3 Tregs, other immune regulatory T cell populations that have been described, albeit to a lesser extent, include CD8⁺ Tregs, nitric oxide (NO) induced FoxP3⁻ Tregs, TIGIT⁺ Tregs, FoxP3^{dim} Tregs, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells (**Figure 5, Table 1**).

CD8⁺ Tregs are increasingly being recognized, even though they remain difficult to identify as there is no consensus on their phenotype. Both FoxP3⁺ and FoxP3⁻ CD8⁺ Tregs have been described to have suppressive activities, indicating there also is heterogeneity in the CD8⁺ Treg population (189). Shao et al. showed that a CD8⁺ Treg subset can be activated by trophoblast cells. This activation appears not to be HLA restricted since their expansion is unaffected when cultured in the presence of pan-HLA class I blocking antibodies (164). When cultured with PBMCs, these CD8⁺ Tregs suppress the secretion of immunoglobulins in a cell-contact dependent manner, as shown using a trans-well system. While humoral immunity seemed to be dampened, these CD8⁺ Tregs did not have any suppressive effect on effector T cells. Phenotypically these cells can be identified as being CD101⁺ and CD103⁺ (164). Even though in a mixed lymphocyte reaction these CD8+ Tregs do not appear to suppress CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, they could potentially be important for preventing formation and suppressing production of IPA-specific antibodies.

Subset	Induction/ activation	Suppressive mechanism	Function	Localization	Depletion in animal models	Master genes of differentiation	Cell volume changes in complications
CD4 ⁺ HLA- G ⁺ Treg (139, 160)	Natural occurring (139)	Secretion of sHLA-G and IL-10 (139), and cell interaction with HLA-G (160)	Induction of HLA-G expression by trophoblasts, DC-10s and Tregs by IL-10 Inhibition of macrophages, NK cells and T cell killing	Found in peripheral blood (45) and decidua (141)	Has not been performed	Not known	Found to be increased in peripheral blood of pre-eclampsia patients (45)
Tr1-(like) Treg (109, 119)	Via trogocytosis (160)	Secretion of IL-10 and TGF-β, and cell interaction (136, 161)	Induction of HLA-G expression by trophoblasts, DC-10s and Tregs by IL-10 Lysis of APCs, disruption of metabolic state of T cells	Found in peripheral blood and decidua (119)	Has not been performed	Not known	Has not been described
Th3 Treg (162)	By APC in an IL-10 dominant microenvironment (110)	Secretion of TGF-β and IL-10 (162)	Induction of HLA-G expression by trophoblasts, DC-10s and Tregs by IL-10 Inhibition of NK cell and T cells and APC by TGF-β	Found in the decidua (163)	Has not been performed	Not known	Has not been described
CD8 ⁺ Treg (59)	By APC in presence of TGF-β and IL-4 (113, 135)	Suppress the secretion of immunoglobulins (164)	Prevent formation and suppressing production of IPA-specific antibodies.	Found in peripheral blood (CD8 ⁺ HLA-G ⁺ Treg) (45) and decidua (164)	Has not been performed	Not known	CD8 ⁺ HLA-G ⁺ Treg are increased in peripheral blood of pre-eclampsia patients (45)
NO-Treg (165)	CD101 ⁺ CD103 ⁺ are induced by trophoblasts (164)	Secretion of IL-10 (165, 166)	Induction of HLA-G expression by trophoblasts, DC-10s and Tregs by IL-10.	Found in peripheral blood (165)	Has not been performed	Not known	Has not been described
TIGIT ⁺ Treg (119)	Depends on nitric oxide, p53, IL-2, and OX-40 (165)	Secretion of IFN _γ and IL-2 (119)	Induction of IL-10 production by APCs. Suppression of CD4 ⁺ effector T cells	Found in decidua (119)	Has not been performed	Not known	Has not been described
Vδ1 ⁺ γδ T cell (167)	Unknown	Secretion of IL-10 and TGF-β (115)	Induction of HLA-G expression by trophoblasts, DC-10s and Tregs by IL-10 Inhibition of NK cell and T cells and APC by TGF-β	Found in peripheral blood and decidua (168)	Has not been performed	Not known	Decreased amount in an abortion prone mice model (111)

TABLE 1 | Overview of FoxP3⁻ immune regulating T cells discussed in this review, how they are induced or activated, their main suppressive mechanism and how they function, their localization, animal models depletion assays, master genes for differentiation, and cell volume changes in complicated pregnancies.

Niedbala et al. described NO-induced Tregs (NO-Tregs) in mice (165). These cells are characterized as $CD4^+CD25^+GITR^+CD27^+T$ -bet^{low}, GATA3⁺, and FoxP3⁻, and they are induced from $CD4^+CD25^-$ T cells via p53, IL-2, and OX-40 (165). Experimentally, the development of NO-Tregs was induced when using adoptive transfer of $CD4^+CD25^-$ T cells into SCID mice, together with application of an NO synthase inhibitor. NO-Tregs produce IL-4 and IL-10, but no IL-2, TGF- β , or IFN- γ . Addition of antagonistic anti-IL4 antibodies led to reduced proliferation of NO-Tregs, whereas blocking IL-10 blocked their suppressive effect on CD4⁺CD25⁻ cell differentiation (165, 166). These data suggest that NO-Tregs suppress through IL-10, in a cell-contact independent manner.

While NO-Tregs has not yet been studied in the context of pregnancy, NO appears to be involved in pregnancy with NO levels fluctuating throughout the different gestational ages and being lower during PE (190–193). It would, therefore, be interesting to retrospectively study first-trimester blood samples of women who develop PE, to test if NO levels are already lower at this early time point of pregnancy, and to study NO-Treg formation in these patients in comparison to healthy controls.

Salvany-Celades et al. identified three types of functional Tregs in the decidua, of which two subsets were negative or low for FoxP3 (119). One of these is the PD-1^{high}, Tr1-like cell, which has been described above. The second is the



TIGIT⁺ Treg that is characterized by TIGIT positivity, low expression of CD25 and FoxP3, and intermediate expression of PD-1. TIGIT⁺ Tregs express high levels of IFN- γ and IL-2, and low levels of IL-10. TIGIT⁺ Tregs mainly suppress CD4⁺

effector T cells in proliferation assays, but not consistently CD8⁺ effector T cells. Interestingly, TIGIT⁺ Tregs seem to vary in their characteristics, depending on the trimester in which they are encountered (119): first-trimester TIGIT⁺

Tregs show an increased expression of IL-10 compared to term TIGIT⁺ Tregs. This difference in trimesters could be due to the microenvironment influencing their phenotype, or because they truly represent different subsets. TIGIT has been described to be expressed on multiple Treg subsets, and it can bind CD155 on APCs, which thereby increases their IL-10 production (194, 195). Binding of TIGIT induces Tregs to produce IL-10 and fibrinogen-like protein 2 (Fgl2). By usage of Fgl2 the Tregs obtain the capacity to suppress Th1 and Th17 cells *in vitro*, but not Th2 cells (77, 195). It would be interesting to determine the presence of TIGIT⁺ Tregs during pregnancy complications and to investigate their possible role in providing a tolerogenic microenvironment in successful pregnancies.

In the first-trimester decidua, $\gamma \delta T$ cells produce high amounts of IL-10 and TGF-B (115, 196). As described above, these cytokines are important for establishing an immune suppressive microenvironment in the decidua. Transfer of uterine $\gamma\delta$ T cell culture supernatant, containing a high concentration of TGF-β, into the uterus of mice before pregnancy prevents fetal resorption (111). Terzieva et al. identified the TCR repertoire from decidual $\gamma\delta$ T cells and compared this to the repertoire of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in peripheral blood. In 1st and 3rd trimester decidua they mostly found $V\delta 1^+$ TCR, whereas this particular δ chain was hardly present in the peripheral blood (168). V δ 1⁺ T cells are described to have a tolerogenic effect (167, 197). The possible role of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in pregnancy is further suggested by another study showing higher numbers of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in peripheral blood from women experiencing RPL compared to controls. The specific presence of the Vo1 chain was not investigated (198). It would be interesting to determine the frequency and immunesuppressive effect of $V\delta 1^+$ T cells in the decidua of women experiencing RPL compared to women with elective termination of pregnancy.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

In this review we have discussed several types of Tregs that may contribute to a tolerogenic environment in the decidua (Figure 5, Table 1) besides FoxP3⁺ Tregs. Decidual Tregs seem to assist other cells in creating and maintaining a microenvironment where inflammatory signals are generally overruled by tolerogenic signals. Next to Tregs, this tolerogenic microenvironment is established and maintained by factors from paternal, maternal and fetal origin. Paternal contribution to this tolerogenic microenvironment comes early on from seminal fluid that contains tolerogenic factors such as TGF- β and paternal antigens for priming. Fetal trophoblasts contribute by their expression of tolerogenic HLA-G and HLA-E molecules, galectins, and PD-L1, and by their production of sHLA-G, IDO, and TGF-β. Next to this, the maternal contribution in maintaining a tolerogenic microenvironment in the decidua is provided by the decidual immune cells, which do not have an activated phenotype and produce IDO, TGF- β , IL-10, and sHLA-G.

It remains to be elucidated which mechanisms exactly attract Tregs to the decidua, if they are activated locally by APCs in the decidua or in the lymph nodes, where they proliferate, and if they are specific for fetal antigens. In mice, it has been shown that fetus-specific Tregs are already detectable in the uterine draining lymph nodes shortly after semen exposure and that their numbers increase upon pregnancy (199). While this could be similar in the human situation, in vitro fertilization with donor semen, where there is no paternal semen exposure, often results in a healthy uncomplicated pregnancy, albeit at a lower rate than in naturally conceived pregnancies (200). More information on the basic mechanisms of FoxP3⁻ Tregs, as well as how they are initiated, is needed to provide insight in the deviations in frequencies or functionality of FoxP3⁻ Treg subsets in pregnancy complications. Likewise, from a therapeutic point of view such basic mechanisms need to be clarified before possible novel therapeutic strategies can be developed. These therapies could be based on therapy designs similar to those proposed for FoxP3⁺ Tregs, such as infusion of Tregs or application of the cytokines needed for induction of specific Treg subsets (201).

While it is clear that FoxP3⁺ Tregs play a role in maintaining pregnancy, the relevance of the different types of FoxP3⁻ Tregs herein needs to be established. FoxP3⁻ Tregs with proven suppressive capacities are found in the decidua and are, therefore, likely to contribute to the tolerogenic microenvironment. However, studies such as depletion assays in mice need to be performed to confirm whether they play a non-redundant role in maintaining a healthy pregnancy. Since pregnancy is crucial for the existence of mankind, it is not surprising that there would be multiple mechanisms in play to establish a regulatory microenvironment to maintain a healthy pregnancy. Pregnancy complications for which no clear cause can be identified do occur, and it is plausible that many of these are related to a disbalance in maternal immune regulation. It would be helpful to get a better understanding of the function of all regulatory T cells present in the decidua, to be able to recognize their relevance in healthy and complicated pregnancies. As such, the use of multiple omics techniques to identify the decidual microenvironment by a holistic approach could give insights in the presence, frequency, and distribution of the different types of Tregs in pregnancy [(32, 202, 203); van der Zwan et al., submitted]. It is important to note that the time point of sampling is a crucial factor in such experiments, given the dynamic nature of the placental microenvironment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JK contributed to the content design, writing the manuscript, and preparing the figures. FC, SH, and ME supervised the project and participated in critical discussions and evaluations of the text of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Ellis SA, Palmer MS, McMichael AJ. Human trophoblast and the choriocarcinoma cell line BeWo express a truncated HLA Class I molecule. J Immunol. (1990) 144:731–5.
- Mallet V, Blaschitz A, Crisa L, Schmitt C, Fournel S, King A, et al. HLA-G in the human thymus: a subpopulation of medullary epithelial but not CD83(+) dendritic cells expresses HLA-G as a membrane-bound and soluble protein. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:889–98. doi: 10.1093/intimm/1 1.6.889
- Le Discorde M, Moreau P, Sabatier P, Legeais JM, Carosella ED. Expression of HLA-G in human cornea, an immune-privileged tissue. *Hum Immunol.* (2003) 64:1039–44. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2003.08.346
- Cirulli V, Zalatan J, McMaster M, Prinsen R, Salomon DR, Ricordi C, et al. The class I HLA repertoire of pancreatic islets comprises the nonclassical class Ib antigen HLA-G. *Diabetes*. (2006) 55:1214–22. doi: 10.2337/db05-0731
- Papuchova H, Meissner TB, Li Q, Strominger JL, Tilburgs T. The Dual Role of HLA-C in Tolerance and Immunity at the Maternal-Fetal Interface. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2730. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02730
- Tilburgs T, Scherjon SA, van der Mast BJ, Haasnoot GW, Versteeg VDV-MM, Roelen DL, et al. Fetal-maternal HLA-C mismatch is associated with decidual T cell activation and induction of functional T regulatory cells. J Reprod Immunol. (2009) 82:148–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2009.05.003
- Apps R, Murphy SP, Fernando R, Gardner L, Ahad T, Moffett A. Human leucocyte antigen. (HLA) expression of primary trophoblast cells and placental cell lines, determined using single antigen beads to characterize allotype specificities of anti-HLA antibodies. *Immunology*. (2009) 127:26–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.03019.x
- Hackmon R, Pinnaduwage L, Zhang J, Lye SJ, Geraghty DE, Dunk CE. Definitive class I human leukocyte antigen expression in gestational placentation: HLA-F, HLA-E, HLA-C, and HLA-G in extravillous trophoblast invasion on placentation, pregnancy, and parturition. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2017) 77. doi: 10.1111/aji.12643
- Rouas-Freiss N, Goncalves RM, Menier C, Dausset J, Carosella ED. Direct evidence to support the role of HLA-G in protecting the fetus from maternal uterine natural killer cytolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:11520–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.21.11520
- Hunt JS, Petroff MG, McIntire RH, Ober C. HLA-G and immune tolerance in pregnancy. FASEB J. (2005) 19:681–93. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-2078rev
- 11. Tilburgs T, Crespo AC, van der Zwan A, Rybalov B, Raj T, Stranger B, et al. Human HLA-G plus extravillous trophoblasts: immune-activating cells that interact with decidual leukocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:7219–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1507977112
- Braud VM, Allan DS, O'Callaghan CA, Soderstrom K, D'Andrea A, Ogg GS, et al. HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. *Nature*. (1998) 391:795–9. doi: 10.1038/35869
- Blaschitz A, Hutter H, Dohr G. HLA Class I protein expression in the human placenta. *Early Pregnancy*. (2001) 5:67–9.
- Apps R, Gardner L, Traherne J, Male V, Moffett A. Natural-killer cell ligands at the maternal-fetal interface: UL-16 binding proteins, MHC class-I chain related molecules, HLA-F and CD48. *Hum Reprod.* (2008) 23:2535–48. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den223
- Clark DA, Keil A, Chen Z, Markert U, Manuel J, Gorczynski RM. Placental trophoblast from successful human pregnancies expresses the tolerance signaling molecule, CD200 (OX-2). *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2003) 50:187– 95. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2003.00086.x
- Abrahams VM, Straszewski-Chavez SL, Guller S, Mor G. First trimester trophoblast cells secrete Fas ligand which induces immune cell apoptosis. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2004) 10:55–63. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah006
- Petroff MG, Kharatyan E, Torry DS, Holets L. The immunomodulatory proteins B7-DC, B7-H2, and B7-H3 are differentially expressed across gestation in the human placenta. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 167:465–73. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62990-2
- Jones RL, Stoikos C, Findlay JK, Salamonsen LA. TGF-beta superfamily expression and actions in the endometrium and placenta. *Reproduction*. (2006) 132:217–32. doi: 10.1530/rep.1.01076

- Lu B, Teng X, Fu G, Bao L, Tang J, Shi H, et al. Analysis of PD-L1 expression in trophoblastic tissues and tumors. *Hum Pathol.* (2019) 84:202– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2018.10.001
- Yeung AW, Terentis AC, King NJ, Thomas SR. Role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in health and disease. *Clin Sci.* (2015) 129:601–72. doi: 10.1042/CS20140392
- 21. Balogh A, Toth E, Romero R, Parej K, Csala D, Szenasi NL, et al. Placental galectins are key players in regulating the maternal adaptive immune response. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1240. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01240
- Ramhorst RE, Giribaldi L, Fraccaroli L, Toscano MA, Stupirski JC, Romero MD, et al. Galectin-1 confers immune privilege to human trophoblast: implications in recurrent fetal loss. *Glycobiology*. (2012) 22:1374–86. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cws104
- Than NG, Romero R, Goodman M, Weckle A, Xing J, Dong Z, et al. A primate subfamily of galectins expressed at the maternal-fetal interface that promote immune cell death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:9731–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903568106
- Blois SM, Ilarregui JM, Tometten M, Garcia M, Orsal AS, Cordo-Russo R, et al. A pivotal role for galectin-1 in fetomaternal tolerance. *Nat Med.* (2007) 13:1450–7. doi: 10.1038/nm1680
- Moldenhauer LM, Diener KR, Thring DM, Brown MP, Hayball JD, Robertson SA. Cross-presentation of male seminal fluid antigens elicits T cell activation to initiate the female immune response to pregnancy. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:8080–93. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0804018
- Sharkey DJ, Tremellen KP, Jasper MJ, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Robertson SA. Seminal fluid induces leukocyte recruitment and cytokine and chemokine mRNA expression in the human cervix after coitus. J Immunol. (2012) 188:2445–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102736
- Bulmer JN, Morrison L, Longfellow M, Ritson A, Pace D. Granulated lymphocytes in human endometrium: histochemical and immunohistochemical studies. *Hum Reprod.* (1991) 6:791–8. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137430
- Heikkinen J, Mottonen M, Alanen A, Lassila O. Phenotypic characterization of regulatory T cells in the human decidua. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2004) 136:373–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02441.x
- Williams PJ, Searle RF, Robson SC, Innes BA, Bulmer JN. Decidual leucocyte populations in early to late gestation normal human pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2009) 82:24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2009.08.001
- Bulmer JN, Williams PJ, Lash GE. Immune cells in the placental bed. Int J Dev Biol. (2010) 54:281–94. doi: 10.1387/ijdb.082763jb
- Gomez-Lopez N, Guilbert LJ, Olson DM. Invasion of the leukocytes into the fetal-maternal interface during pregnancy. J Leukoc Biol. (2010) 88:625–33. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1209796
- Vento-Tormo R, Efremova M, Botting RA, Turco MY, Vento-Tormo M, Meyer KB, et al. Single-cell reconstruction of the early maternal-fetal interface in humans. *Nature*. (2018) 563:347–53. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0698-6
- Moldenhauer LM, Hayball JD, Robertson SA. Utilising T cell receptor transgenic mice to define mechanisms of maternal T cell tolerance in pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2010) 87:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2010.05.007
- Lissauer D, Piper K, Goodyear O, Kilby MD, Moss PA. Fetal-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T cell responses develop during normal human pregnancy and exhibit broad functional capacity. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:1072–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200544
- 35. Tilburgs T, Strominger JL. CD8+ effector T cells at the fetal-maternal interface, balancing fetal tolerance and antiviral immunity. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2013) 69:395–407. doi: 10.1111/aji.12094
- Nakajima H, Mano Y, Tokunaga E, Nozue G. Influence of previous pregnancy on maternal response to foetal antigens. *Tissue Antigens*. (1982) 19:92–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.1982.tb01421.x
- Regan L, Braude PR. Is antipaternal cytotoxic antibody a valid marker in the management of recurrent abortion? *Lancet.* (1987) 2:1280. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(87)91896-4
- Regan L, Braude PR, Hill DP. A prospective study of the incidence, time of appearance and significance of anti-paternal lymphocytotoxic antibodies in human pregnancy. *Hum Reprod.* (1991) 6:294–8. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137325

- Pietra G, Romagnani C, Manzini C, Moretta L, Mingari MC. The emerging role of HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T lymphocytes in the adaptive immune response to pathogens and tumors. *J Biomed Biotechnol.* (2010) 2010:907092. doi: 10.1155/2010/907092
- van Kampen CA, Versteeg-van der Voort Maarschalk MFJ, Langerak-Langerak J, van Beelen E, Roelen DL, Claas FHJ. Pregnancy can induce long-persisting primed CTLs specific for inherited paternal HLA antigens. *Human Immunol.* (2001) 62:201–7. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(01)00209-9
- Agrawal S, Pandey MK, Mandal S, Mishra L, Agarwal S. Humoral immune response to an allogenic foetus in normal fertile women and recurrent aborters. *BMC Pregn Childbirth.* (2002) 2:6. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-2-6
- 42. Lee J, Romero R, Xu Y, Miranda J, Yoo W, Chaemsaithong P, et al. Detection of anti-HLA antibodies in maternal blood in the second trimester to identify patients at risk of antibody-mediated maternal anti-fetal rejection and spontaneous preterm delivery. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2013) 70:162–75. doi: 10.1111/aji.12141
- 43. Meuleman T, van Beelen E, Kaaja RJ, van Lith JM, Claas FH, Bloemenkamp KW. HLA-C antibodies in women with recurrent miscarriage suggests that antibody mediated rejection is one of the mechanisms leading to recurrent miscarriage. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 116:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.03.003
- 44. Somerset DA, Zheng Y, Kilby MD, Sansom DM, Drayson MT. Normal human pregnancy is associated with an elevation in the immune suppressive CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T-cell subset. *Immunology*. (2004) 112:38–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01869.x
- Zare M, Namavar Jahromi B, Gharesi-Fard B. Analysis of the frequencies and functions of CD4(+)CD25(+)CD127(low/neg), CD4(+)HLA-G(+), and CD8(+)HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells in pre-eclampsia. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 133:43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2019.06.002
- 46. Tilburgs T, Roelen DL, van der Mast BJ, van Schip JJ, Kleijburg C, de Groot-Swings GM, et al. Differential distribution of CD4(+)CD25(bright) and CD8(+)CD28(-) T-cells in decidua and maternal blood during human pregnancy. *Placenta.* (2006) 27(Suppl. A):S47–53. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.11.008
- Mjosberg J, Berg G, Jenmalm MC, Ernerudh J. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells and T helper 1, T helper 2, and T helper 17 cells in human early pregnancy decidua. *Biol Reprod.* (2010) 82:698–705. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.109.081208
- Zenclussen AC, Gerlof K, Zenclussen ML, Sollwedel A, Bertoja AZ, Ritter T, et al. Abnormal T-cell reactivity against paternal antigens in spontaneous abortion: adoptive transfer of pregnancy-induced CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells prevents fetal rejection in a murine abortion model. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 166:811–22. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62302-4
- 49. Shima T, Sasaki Y, Itoh M, Nakashima A, Ishii N, Sugamura K, et al. Regulatory T cells are necessary for implantation and maintenance of early pregnancy but not late pregnancy in allogeneic mice. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2010) 85:121–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2010.02.006
- Rowe JH, Ertelt JM, Aguilera MN, Farrar MA, Way SS. Foxp3(+) regulatory T cell expansion required for sustaining pregnancy compromises host defense against prenatal bacterial pathogens. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2011) 10:54–64. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2011.06.005
- Keller CC, Eikmans M, van der Hoorn M-LP, Lashley LEELO. Recurrent miscarriages and the association with regulatory T cells; A systematic review. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2020) 139:103105. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2020.103105
- Sasaki Y, Darmochwal-Kolarz D, Suzuki D, Sakai M, Ito M, Shima T, et al. Proportion of peripheral blood and decidual CD4(+) CD25(bright) regulatory T cells in pre-eclampsia. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2007) 149:139–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03397.x
- Han X, Ghaemi MS, Ando K, Peterson LS, Ganio EA, Tsai AS, et al. Differential Dynamics of the Maternal Immune System in Healthy Pregnancy and Preeclampsia. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1305. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01305
- 54. Liu Y, Fan X, Wang R, Lu X, Dang YL, Wang H, et al. Singlecell RNA-seq reveals the diversity of trophoblast subtypes and patterns of differentiation in the human placenta. *Cell Res.* (2018) 28:819–32. doi: 10.1038/s41422-018-0066-y
- Guerin LR, Prins JR, Robertson SA. Regulatory T-cells and immune tolerance in pregnancy: a new target for infertility treatment? *Hum Reprod Update*. (2009) 15:517–35. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmp004

- 56. Rai R, Regan L. Recurrent miscarriage. *Lancet.* (2006) 368:601–11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69204-0
- Whitley GS, Cartwright JE. Trophoblast-mediated spiral artery remodelling: a role for apoptosis. J Anat. (2009) 215:21–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7580.2008.01039.x
- Gershon RK, Kondo K. Cell interactions in the induction of tolerance: the role of thymic lymphocytes. *Immunology*. (1970) 18:723–37.
- Green DR, Flood PM, Gershon RK. Immunoregulatory T-cell pathways. Annu Rev Immunol. (1983) 1:439–63. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.01.040183.002255
- Sakaguchi S, Wing K, Miyara M. Regulatory T cells a brief history and perspective. *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37(Suppl. 1):S116–23. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737593
- Brunkow ME, Jeffery EW, Hjerrild KA, Paeper B, Clark LB, Yasayko SA, et al. Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. *Nat Genet.* (2001) 27:68–73. doi: 10.1038/83784
- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science*. (2003) 299:1057–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1079490
- Apostolou I, Sarukhan A, Klein L, von Boehmer H. Origin of regulatory T cells with known specificity for antigen. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:756–63. doi: 10.1038/ni816
- Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J Exp Med. (2003) 198:1875–86. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030152
- Shevach EM, Thornton AM. tTregs, pTregs, and iTregs: similarities and differences. *Immunol Rev.* (2014) 259:88–102. doi: 10.1111/imr.12160
- 66. Thornton AM, Korty PE, Tran DQ, Wohlfert EA, Murray PE, Belkaid Y, et al. Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymic-derived from peripherally induced Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. J Immunol. (2010) 184:3433–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0904028
- Yadav M, Louvet C, Davini D, Gardner JM, Martinez-Llordella M, Bailey-Bucktrout S, et al. Neuropilin-1 distinguishes natural and inducible regulatory T cells among regulatory T cell subsets *in vivo. J Exp Med.* (2012) 209:1713–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.20120822
- Corbel C, Lemarchandel V, Thomas-Vaslin V, Pelus AS, Agboton C, Romeo PH. Neuropilin 1 and CD25 co-regulation during early murine thymic differentiation. *Dev Comp Immunol.* (2007) 31:1082–94. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2007.01.009
- 69. Szurek E, Cebula A, Wojciech L, Pietrzak M, Rempala G, Kisielow P, et al. Differences in expression level of helios and neuropilin-1 do not distinguish thymus-derived from extrathymically-induced CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0141161. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0141161
- Elkord E. Helios should not be cited as a marker of human thymus-derived tregs. commentary: Helios(+) and Helios(-) cells coexist within the natural FOXP3(+) T regulatory cell subset in humans. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:276. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00276
- Kim HJ, Barnitz RA, Kreslavsky T, Brown FD, Moffett H, Lemieux ME, et al. Stable inhibitory activity of regulatory T cells requires the transcription factor Helios. *Science*. (2015) 350:334–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aad0616
- Hansen W, Hutzler M, Abel S, Alter C, Stockmann C, Kliche S, et al. Neuropilin 1 deficiency on CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells impairs mouse melanoma growth. J Exp Med. (2012) 209:2001–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111497
- Milpied P, Renand A, Bruneau J, Mendes-da-Cruz DA, Jacquelin S, Asnafi V, et al. Neuropilin-1 is not a marker of human Foxp3+ Treg. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:1466–71. doi: 10.1002/eji.200839040
- Zheng Y, Josefowicz S, Chaudhry A, Peng XP, Forbush K, Rudensky AY. Role of conserved non-coding DNA elements in the Foxp3 gene in regulatory T-cell fate. *Nature*. (2010) 463:808–12. doi: 10.1038/nature08750
- 75. Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells and Foxp3. *Immunol Rev.* (2011) 241:260–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01018.x
- 76. Wagner MI, Jost M, Spratte J, Schaier M, Mahnke K, Meuer S, et al. Differentiation of ICOS+ and ICOS- recent thymic emigrant regulatory T

cells. (RTE T regs) during normal pregnancy, pre-eclampsia and HELLP syndrome. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 183:129–42. doi: 10.1111/cei.12693

- Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Tim-3, Lag-3, and TIGIT. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. (2017) 410:127–56. doi: 10.1007/82_2017_62
- Jiang L, Tang C, Gong Y, Liu Y, Rao J, Chen S, et al. PD-1/PD-L1 regulates Treg differentiation in pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (2018) 51:e7334. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20187334
- 79. Xu YY, Wang SC, Li DJ, Du MR. Co-signaling molecules in maternal-fetal immunity. *Trends Mol Med.* (2017) 23:46–58. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2016.11.001
- Miko E, Meggyes M, Doba K, Barakonyi A, Szereday L. Immune checkpoint molecules in reproductive immunology. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:846. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00846
- Zhang YH, Sun HX. Immune checkpoint molecules in pregnancy: focus on regulatory T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2020) 50:160–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948382
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alphachains. (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol.* (1995) 155:1151–64.
- Liu W, Putnam AL, Xu-Yu Z, Szot GL, Lee MR, Zhu S, et al. CD127 expression inversely correlates with FoxP3 and suppressive function of human CD4+ T reg cells. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:1701–11. doi: 10.1084/jem.20060772
- Yu N, Li X, Song W, Li D, Yu D, Zeng X, et al. CD4(+)CD25. (+)CD127. (low/-) T cells: a more specific Treg population in human peripheral blood. *Inflammation*. (2012) 35:1773–80. doi: 10.1007/s10753-012-9496-8
- Kosten IJ, Rustemeyer T. Generation, subsets and functions of inducible regulatory T cells. *Antiinflamm Antiallergy Agents Med Chem.* (2015) 13:139–53. doi: 10.2174/1871523013666141126100019
- Jorgensen N, Persson G, Hviid TVF. The tolerogenic function of regulatory t cells in pregnancy and cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:911. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00911
- Tsuda S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Saito S. New paradigm in the role of regulatory T cells during pregnancy. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:573. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00573
- Mosser DM, Zhang X. Interleukin-10: new perspectives on an old cytokine. *Immunol Rev.* (2008) 226:205–18. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00706.x
- Thaxton JE, Sharma S. Interleukin-10: a multi-faceted agent of pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2010) 63:482–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00810.x
- Busse M, Campe KJ, Nowak D, Schumacher A, Plenagl S, Langwisch S, et al. IL-10 producing B cells rescue mouse fetuses from inflammation-driven fetal death and are able to modulate T cell immune responses. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:9335. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45860-2
- Svensson L, Arvola M, Sallstrom MA, Holmdahl R, Mattsson R. The Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-10 are not crucial for the completion of allogeneic pregnancy in mice. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2001) 51:3–7. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(01)00065-1
- Murphy SP, Fast LD, Hanna NN, Sharma S. Uterine NK cells mediate inflammation-induced fetal demise in IL-10-null mice. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:4084–90. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.6.4084
- Hennessy A, Pilmore HL, Simmons LA, Painter DM. A deficiency of placental IL-10 in preeclampsia. J Immunol. (1999) 163:3491–5.
- Raghupathy R, Makhseed M, Azizieh F, Hassan N, Al-Azemi M, Al-Shamali E. Maternal Th1- and Th2-type reactivity to placental antigens in normal human pregnancy and unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortions. *Cell Immunol.* (1999) 196:122–30. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1999.1532
- Plevyak M, Hanna N, Mayer S, Murphy S, Pinar H, Fast L, et al. Deficiency of decidual IL-10 in first trimester missed abortion: a lack of correlation with the decidual immune cell profile. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2002) 47:242–50. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2002.01060.x
- Banerjee P, Ghosh S, Dutta M, Subramani E, Khalpada J, Roychoudhury S, et al. Identification of key contributory factors responsible for vascular dysfunction in idiopathic recurrent spontaneous miscarriage. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e80940. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080940
- 97. Wang LQ, Yan XT, Yan CF, Zhang XW, Hui LY, Xue M, et al. Women with recurrent miscarriage have decreased expression of 25-hydroxyvitamin

D3-1alpha-hydroxylase by the fetal-maternal interface. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0165589. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165589

- Azizieh FY, Raghupathy R. IL-10 and pregnancy complications. *Clin Exp* Obstet Gynecol. (2017) 44:252–8. doi: 10.12891/ceog3456.2017
- Moreau P, Adrian-Cabestre F, Menier C, Guiard V, Gourand L, Dausset J, et al. IL-10 selectively induces HLA-G expression in human trophoblasts and monocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:803–11. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.5.803
- Steinbrink K, Wolfl M, Jonuleit H, Knop J, Enk AH. Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. J Immunol. (1997) 159:4772–80.
- 101. Ristich V, Liang S, Zhang W, Wu J, Horuzsko A. Tolerization of dendritic cells by HLA-G. *Eur J Immunol.* (2005) 35:1133–42. doi: 10.1002/eji.200425741
- 102. Manavalan JS, Rossi PC, Vlad G, Piazza F, Yarilina A, Cortesini R, et al. High expression of ILT3 and ILT4 is a general feature of tolerogenic dendritic cells. *Transpl Immunol.* (2003) 11:245–58. doi: 10.1016/S0966-3274(03)00058-3
- Gregori S, Magnani CF, Roncarolo MG. Role of human leukocyte antigen-G in the induction of adaptive type 1 regulatory T cells. *Hum Immunol.* (2009) 70:966–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2009.07.022
- Comi M, Amodio G, Gregori S. Interleukin-10-producing DC-10 is a unique tool to promote tolerance via antigen-specific T regulatory type 1 cells. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:682. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00682
- 105. Gregori S, Tomasoni D, Pacciani V, Scirpoli M, Battaglia M, Magnani CF, et al. Differentiation of type 1 T regulatory cells. (Tr1) by tolerogenic DC-10 requires the IL-10-dependent ILT4/HLA-G pathway. *Blood.* (2010) 116:935–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-234872
- 106. Ip WKE, Hoshi N, Shouval DS, Snapper S, Medzhitov R. Anti-inflammatory effect of IL-10 mediated by metabolic reprogramming of macrophages. *Science*. (2017) 356:513–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aal3535
- 107. O'Farrell AM, Liu Y, Moore KW, Mui AL. IL-10 inhibits macrophage activation and proliferation by distinct signaling mechanisms: evidence for Stat3-dependent and -independent pathways. *EMBO J.* (1998) 17:1006–18. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.4.1006
- Groux H, Bigler M, de Vries JE, Roncarolo MG. Interleukin-10 induces a long-term antigen-specific anergic state in human CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med.* (1996) 184:19–29. doi: 10.1084/jem.184.1.19
- 109. Levings MK, Sangregorio R, Galbiati F, Squadrone S, de Waal Malefyt R, Roncarolo MG. IFN-alpha and IL-10 induce the differentiation of human type 1 T regulatory cells. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:5530–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.9.5530
- 110. Levings MK, Gregori S, Tresoldi E, Cazzaniga S, Bonini C, Roncarolo MG. Differentiation of Tr1 cells by immature dendritic cells requires IL-10 but not CD25+CD4+ Tr cells. *Blood.* (2005) 105:1162–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-1211
- 111. Suzuki T, Hiromatsu K, Ando Y, Okamoto T, Tomoda Y, Yoshikai Y. Regulatory role of gamma delta T cells in uterine intraepithelial lymphocytes in maternal antifetal immune response. *J Immunol.* (1995) 154:4476–84.
- 112. Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE, et al. A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature*. (1997) 389:737–42. doi: 10.1038/39614
- 113. Inobe J, Slavin AJ, Komagata Y, Chen Y, Liu L, Weiner HL. IL-4 is a differentiation factor for transforming growth factor-beta secreting Th3 cells and oral administration of IL-4 enhances oral tolerance in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol.* (1998) 28:2780–90.
- 114. Weiner HL. The mucosal milieu creates tolerogenic dendritic cells and T(R)1 and T(H)3 regulatory cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:671–2. doi: 10.1038/90604
- 115. Nagaeva O, Jonsson L, Mincheva-Nilsson L. Dominant IL-10 and TGFbeta mRNA expression in gammadeltaT cells of human early pregnancy decidua suggests immunoregulatory potential. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2002) 48:9–17. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2002.01131.x
- 116. Cobbold SP, Adams E, Nolan KF, Regateiro FS, Waldmann H. Connecting the mechanisms of T-cell regulation: dendritic cells as the missing link. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 236:203–18. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00913.x
- 117. Sanjabi S, Oh SA, Li MO. Regulation of the immune response by TGF-beta: from conception to autoimmunity and infection. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2017) 9:a022236. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a022236
- Pollheimer J, Vondra S, Baltayeva J, Beristain AG, Knofler M. Regulation of placental extravillous trophoblasts by the maternal uterine environment. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2597. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02597

- 119. Salvany-Celades M, van der Zwan A, Benner M, Setrajcic-Dragos V, Bougleux Gomes HA, Iyer V, et al. Three types of functional regulatory T cells control T cell responses at the human maternal-fetal interface. *Cell Rep.* (2019) 27:2537–47 e2535. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.04.109
- Zhang J, Dunk CE, Shynlova O, Caniggia I, Lye SJ. TGFb1 suppresses the activation of distinct dNK subpopulations in preeclampsia. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 39:531–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.12.015
- 121. Lash GE, Otun HA, Innes BA, Bulmer JN, Searle RF, Robson SC. Inhibition of trophoblast cell invasion by TGFB1, 2, and 3 is associated with a decrease in active proteases. *Biol Reprod.* (2005) 73:374–81. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.105.040337
- 122. Lafontaine L, Chaudhry P, Lafleur MJ, Van Themsche C, Soares MJ, Asselin E. Transforming growth factor Beta regulates proliferation and invasion of rat placental cell lines. *Biol Reprod.* (2011) 84:553–9. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.110.086348
- 123. Singh M, Orazulike NC, Ashmore J, Konje JC. Changes in maternal serum transforming growth factor beta-1 during pregnancy: a cross-sectional study. *Biomed Res Int.* (2013) 2013:318464. doi: 10.1155/2013/318464
- 124. Xie J, Cao Y. Expression of TGF-beta1 and miR-99a in serum of patients with early spontaneous abortion and correlation with hormone levels during pregnancy. *Exp Ther Med.* (2019) 17:4593–7. doi: 10.3892/etm.2019.7477
- 125. Qiu T, Teng Y, Wang Y, Xu L. Adoptive transfer of transforming growth factor-?1-induced CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells prevents immune response-mediated spontaneous abortion. *Reprod Fertil Dev.* (2015) 28:1788–97. doi: 10.1071/RD14503
- 126. Delisle JS, Giroux M, Boucher G, Landry JR, Hardy MP, Lemieux S, et al. The TGF-beta-Smad3 pathway inhibits CD28-dependent cell growth and proliferation of CD4 T cells. *Genes Immun.* (2013) 14:115–26. doi: 10.1038/gene.2012.63
- 127. Viel S, Marcais A, Guimaraes FS, Loftus R, Rabilloud J, Grau M, et al. TGFbeta inhibits the activation and functions of NK cells by repressing the mTOR pathway. *Sci Signal.* (2016) 9:ra19. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aad1884
- Gorelik L, Constant S, Flavell RA. Mechanism of transforming growth factor beta-induced inhibition of T helper type 1 differentiation. *J Exp Med.* (2002) 195:1499–505. doi: 10.1084/jem.20012076
- Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta in T-cell biology. Nat Rev Immunol. (2002) 2:46–53. doi: 10.1038/nri704
- Bogdan C, Nathan C. Modulation of macrophage function by transforming growth factor beta, interleukin-4, and interleukin-10. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (1993) 685:713–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1993.tb35934.x
- 131. Vodovotz Y, Bogdan C. Control of nitric oxide synthase expression by transforming growth factor-beta: implications for homeostasis. *Prog Growth Factor Res.* (1994) 5:341–51. doi: 10.1016/0955-2235(94)00004-5
- Lee YJ, Han Y, Lu HT, Nguyen V, Qin H, Howe PH, et al. TGF-beta suppresses IFN-gamma induction of class II MHC gene expression by inhibiting class II transactivator messenger RNA expression. J Immunol. (1997) 158:2065–75.
- Nandan D, Reiner NE. TGF-beta attenuates the class II transactivator and reveals an accessory pathway of IFN-gamma action. J Immunol. (1997) 158:1095–101.
- 134. Yamaguchi Y, Tsumura H, Miwa M, Inaba K. Contrasting effects of TGF-beta 1 and TNF-alpha on the development of dendritic cells from progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Stem Cells*. (1997) 15:144–53. doi: 10.1002/stem.150144
- Weiner HL. Induction and mechanism of action of transforming growth factor-beta-secreting Th3 regulatory cells. *Immunol Rev.* (2001) 182:207–14. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.1820117.x
- Levings MK, Bacchetta R, Schulz U, Roncarolo MG. The role of IL-10 and TGF-beta in the differentiation and effector function of T regulatory cells. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2002) 129:263–76. doi: 10.1159/0000 67596
- 137. Fu S, Zhang N, Yopp AC, Chen D, Mao M, Chen D, et al. TGF-beta induces Foxp3 + T-regulatory cells from CD4 + CD25 - precursors. *Am J Transplant*. (2004) 4:1614–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00566.x
- Carrier Y, Yuan J, Kuchroo VK, Weiner HL. Th3 cells in peripheral tolerance.
 Induction of Foxp3-positive regulatory T cells by Th3 cells derived from TGF-beta T cell-transgenic mice. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:179–85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.1.179
- 139. Feger U, Tolosa E, Huang YH, Waschbisch A, Biedermann T, Melms A, et al. HLA-G expression defines a novel regulatory T-cell subset present in

human peripheral blood and sites of inflammation. *Blood*. (2007) 110:568–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-11-057125

- Carosella ED, Gregori S, LeMaoult J. The tolerogenic interplay(s) among HLA-G, myeloid APCs, and regulatory cells. *Blood*. (2011) 118:6499–505. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-370742
- 141. Amodio G, Mugione A, Sanchez AM, Vigano P, Candiani M, Somigliana E, et al. HLA-G expressing DC-10 and CD4(+) T cells accumulate in human decidua during pregnancy. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:406–11. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.11.031
- 142. HoWangYin KY, Loustau M, Wu J, Alegre E, Daouya M, Caumartin J, et al. Multimeric structures of HLA-G isoforms function through differential binding to LILRB receptors. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2012) 69:4041–9. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1069-3
- 143. Chen XY, Yan WH, Lin A, Xu HH, Zhang JG, Wang XX. The 14 bp deletion polymorphisms in HLA-G gene play an important role in the expression of soluble HLA-G in plasma. *Tissue Antigens*. (2008) 72:335–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2008.01107.x
- 144. Craenmehr MHC, Haasnoot GW, Drabbels JJM, Spruyt-Gerritse MJ, Cao M, van der Keur C, et al. Soluble *HLA*-G levels in seminal plasma are associated with HLA-G 3'UTR genotypes and haplotypes. *HLA*. (2019) 94:339–46. doi: 10.1111/tan.13628
- 145. Hunt JS, Jadhav L, Chu W, Geraghty DE, Ober C. Soluble HLA-G circulates in maternal blood during pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2000) 183:682–8. doi: 10.1067/mob.2000.106762
- 146. Yie SM, Li LH, Li YM, Librach C. HLA-G protein concentrations in maternal serum and placental tissue are decreased in preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (2004) 191:525–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.01.033
- 147. Jassem RM, Shani WS, Loisel DA, Sharief M, Billstrand C, Ober C. HLA-G polymorphisms and soluble HLA-G protein levels in women with recurrent pregnancy loss from Basrah province in Iraq. *Hum Immunol.* (2012) 73:811– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.05.009
- 148. Keskin F, Karatas A, Albayrak M, Biyik I, Erkan M, Demirin H, et al. Maternal serum soluble HLA-G levels in missed abortions. *Medicina*. (2013) 49:435–8. doi: 10.3390/medicina49100068
- 149. Gonzalez A, Rebmann V, LeMaoult J, Horn PA, Carosella ED, Alegre E. The immunosuppressive molecule HLA-G and its clinical implications. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* (2012) 49:63–84. doi: 10.3109/10408363.2012.677947
- Li C, Houser BL, Nicotra ML, Strominger JL. HLA-G homodimerinduced cytokine secretion through HLA-G receptors on human decidual macrophages and natural killer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:5767–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901173106
- 151. Baudhuin J, Migraine J, Faivre V, Loumagne L, Lukaszewicz AC, Payen D, et al. Exocytosis acts as a modulator of the ILT4-mediated inhibition of neutrophil functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:17957–62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1221535110
- 152. Colonna M, Navarro F, Bellon T, Llano M, Garcia P, Samaridis J, et al. A common inhibitory receptor for major histocompatibility complex class I molecules on human lymphoid and myelomonocytic cells. *J Exp Med.* (1997) 186:1809–18. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.11.1809
- 153. Le Gal FA, Riteau B, Sedlik C, Khalil-Daher I, Menier C, Dausset J, et al. HLA-G-mediated inhibition of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Int Immunol. (1999) 11:1351–6. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.8.1351
- 154. Favier B, Lemaoult J, Lesport E, Carosella ED. ILT2/HLA-G interaction impairs NK-cell functions through the inhibition of the late but not the early events of the NK-cell activating synapse. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:689–99. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-135194
- 155. Ajith A, Portik-Dobos V, Nguyen-Lefebvre AT, Callaway C, Horuzsko DD, Kapoor R, et al. HLA-G dimer targets Granzyme B pathway to prolong human renal allograft survival. *FASEB J.* (2019) 33:5220–36. doi: 10.1096/fj.201802017R
- Rajagopalan S, Long EO. KIR2DL4. (CD158d): an activation receptor for HLA-G. Front Immunol. (2012) 3:258. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00258
- 157. Jonges LE, Albertsson P, van Vlierberghe RL, Ensink NG, Johansson BR, van de Velde CJ, et al. The phenotypic heterogeneity of human natural killer cells: presence of at least 48 different subsets in the peripheral blood. *Scand J Immunol.* (2001) 53:103–10. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.2001.00838.x
- 158. Contini P, Ghio M, Poggi A, Filaci G, Indiveri F, Ferrone S, et al. Soluble HLA-A,-B,-C and -G molecules induce apoptosis in T and NK CD8+ cells

and inhibit cytotoxic T cell activity through CD8 ligation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:125–34. doi: 10.1002/immu.200390015

- Lee CL, Guo Y, So KH, Vijayan M, Guo Y, Wong VH, et al. Soluble human leukocyte antigen G5 polarizes differentiation of macrophages toward a decidual macrophage-like phenotype. *Hum Reprod.* (2015) 30:2263–74. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev196
- 160. LeMaoult J, Caumartin J, Daouya M, Favier B, Le Rond S, Gonzalez A, et al. Immune regulation by pretenders: cell-to-cell transfers of HLA-G make effector T cells act as regulatory cells. *Blood.* (2007) 109:2040–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-024547
- 161. Magnani CF, Alberigo G, Bacchetta R, Serafini G, Andreani M, Roncarolo MG, et al. Killing of myeloid APCs via HLA class I, CD2 and CD226 defines a novel mechanism of suppression by human Tr1 cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:1652–62. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041120
- 162. Weiner HL. Oral tolerance: immune mechanisms and treatment of autoimmune diseases. *Immunol Today*. (1997) 18:335–43. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(97)01053-0
- 163. Dimova T, Nagaeva O, Stenqvist AC, Hedlund M, Kjellberg L, Strand M, et al. Maternal Foxp3 expressing CD4+ CD25+ and CD4+ CD25- regulatory T-cell populations are enriched in human early normal pregnancy decidua: a phenotypic study of paired decidual and peripheral blood samples. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2011) 66(Suppl. 1):44–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011.01046.x
- 164. Shao L, Jacobs AR, Johnson VV, Mayer L. Activation of CD8+ regulatory T cells by human placental trophoblasts. J Immunol. (2005) 174:7539–47. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.7539
- 165. Niedbala W, Cai B, Liu H, Pitman N, Chang L, Liew FY. Nitric oxide induces CD4+CD25+ Foxp3 regulatory T cells from CD4+CD25T cells via p53, IL-2, and OX40. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2007) 104:15478–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703725104
- 166. Niedbala W, Besnard AG, Jiang HR, Alves-Filho JC, Fukada SY, Nascimento D, et al. Nitric oxide-induced regulatory T cells inhibit Th17 but not Th1 cell differentiation and function. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:164–70. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202580
- 167. Hua F, Kang N, Gao YA, Cui LX, Ba DN, He W. Potential regulatory role of *in vitro*-expanded Vdelta1 T cells from human peripheral blood. *Immunol Res.* (2013) 56:172–80. doi: 10.1007/s12026-013-8390-2
- 168. Terzieva A, Dimitrova V, Djerov L, Dimitrova P, Zapryanova S, Hristova I, et al. Early pregnancy human decidua is enriched with activated, fully differentiated and pro-inflammatory gamma/delta T cells with diverse TCR repertoires. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:687. doi: 10.3390/ijms20030687
- 169. Huang YH, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Schwab N, Wiendl H. T cell suppression by naturally occurring HLA-G-expressing regulatory CD4+ T cells is IL-10-dependent and reversible. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2009) 86:273–81. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1008649
- 170. Pankratz S, Bittner S, Herrmann AM, Schuhmann MK, Ruck T, Meuth SG, et al. Human CD4+ HLA-G+ regulatory T cells are potent suppressors of graft-versus-host disease *in vivo*. *FASEB J*. (2014) 28:3435–45. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-251074
- Pankratz S, Ruck T, Meuth SG, Wiendl H. CD4(+)HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells: molecular signature and pathophysiological relevance. *Hum Immunol.* (2016) 77:727–33. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2016.01.016
- 172. Huang YH, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Metz I, Buck D, Toyka KV, et al. Specific central nervous system recruitment of HLA-G(+) regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 66:171–83. doi: 10.1002/ana.21705
- 173. Hsu P, Santner-Nanan B, Joung S, Peek MJ, Nanan R. Expansion of CD4(+) HLA-G(+) T Cell in human pregnancy is impaired in pre-eclampsia. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2014) 71:217–28. doi: 10.1111/aji.12195
- 174. Passerini L, Di Nunzio S, Gregori S, Gambineri E, Cecconi M, Seidel MG, et al. Functional type 1 regulatory T cells develop regardless of FOXP3 mutations in patients with IPEX syndrome. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:1120– 31. doi: 10.1002/eji.201040909
- Akbari O, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:725–31. doi: 10.1038/90667
- 176. Gagliani N, Magnani CF, Huber S, Gianolini ME, Pala M, Licona-Limon P, et al. Coexpression of CD49b and LAG-3 identifies human and mouse T regulatory type 1 cells. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:739–46. doi: 10.1038/nm.3179

- 177. White AM, Wraith DC. Tr1-like T cells an enigmatic regulatory T cell lineage. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:355. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00355
- 178. Akdis M, Verhagen J, Taylor A, Karamloo F, Karagiannidis C, Crameri R, et al. Immune responses in healthy and allergic individuals are characterized by a fine balance between allergen-specific T regulatory 1 and T helper 2 cells. *J Exp Med.* (2004) 199:1567–75. doi: 10.1084/jem.20032058
- 179. Haringer B, Lozza L, Steckel B, Geginat J. Identification and characterization of IL-10/IFN-gamma-producing effector-like T cells with regulatory function in human blood. J Exp Med. (2009) 206:1009–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082238
- 180. Schuler PJ, Saze Z, Hong CS, Muller L, Gillespie DG, Cheng D, et al. Human CD4+ CD39+ regulatory T cells produce adenosine upon co-expression of surface CD73 or contact with CD73+ exosomes or CD73+ cells. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2014) 177:531–43. doi: 10.1111/cei.12354
- 181. Niedzielska M, Israelsson E, Angermann B, Sidders BS, Clausen M, Catley M, et al. Differential gene expression in human tissue resident regulatory T cells from lung, colon, and blood. *Oncotarget*. (2018) 9:36166–84. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26322
- Weiner HL, da Cunha AP, Quintana F, Wu H. Oral tolerance. *Immunol Rev.* (2011) 241:241–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01017.x
- 183. Elkord E, Abd Al Samid M, Chaudhary B. Helios, and not FoxP3, is the marker of activated Tregs expressing GARP/LAP. Oncotarget. (2015) 6:20026–36. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4771
- 184. Bacchetta R, Sartirana C, Levings MK, Bordignon C, Narula S, Roncarolo MG. Growth and expansion of human T regulatory type 1 cells are independent from TCR activation but require exogenous cytokines. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:2237–45. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200208)32:8<2237::AID-IMMU2237>3.0.CO;2-2
- 185. Wahl SM, Swisher J, McCartney-Francis N, Chen WJ. TGF-beta: the perpetrator of immune suppression by regulatory T cells and suicidal T cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2004) 76:15–24. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1103539
- 186. Koelman CA, Coumans ABC, Nijman HW, Doxiadis IIN, Dekker GA, Claas FHJ. Correlation between oral sex and a low incidence of preeclampsia: a role for soluble HLA in seminal fluid? *J Reprod Immunol.* (2000) 46:155–66. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00062-5
- Clark DA. Oral tolerance and the materno-fetal relationship. J Reprod Immunol. (2019) 134–135, 36–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2019.07.003
- Meuleman T, Baden N, Haasnoot GW, Wagner MM, Dekkers OM, le Cessie S, et al. Oral sex is associated with reduced incidence of recurrent miscarriage. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 133:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2019.03.005
- 189. Liu Y, Lan Q, Lu L, Chen M, Xia Z, Ma J, et al. Phenotypic and functional characteristic of a newly identified CD8+ Foxp3- CD103+ regulatory T cells. J Mol Cell Biol. (2014) 6:81–92. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/ mjt026
- 190. Seligman SP, Buyon JP, Clancy RM, Young BK, Abramson SB. The role of nitric oxide in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (1994) 171:944–8. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(94)70064-8
- 191. Nobunaga T, Tokugawa Y, Hashimoto K, Kimura T, Matsuzaki N, Nitta Y, et al. Plasma nitric oxide levels in pregnant patients with preeclampsia and essential hypertension. *Gynecol Obstet Invest.* (1996) 41:189–93. doi: 10.1159/000292266
- 192. Silver RK, Kupferminc MJ, Russell TL, Adler L, Mullen TA, Caplan MS. Evaluation of nitric oxide as a mediator of severe preeclampsia. *Am J Obstetr Gynecol.* (1996) 175:1013–7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(96) 80044-5
- Choi JW, Im MW, Pai SH. Nitric oxide production increases during normal pregnancy and decreases in preeclampsia. *Ann Clin Lab Sci.* (2002) 32:257– 63.
- 194. Yu X, Harden K, Gonzalez LC, Francesco M, Chiang E, Irving B, et al. The surface protein TIGIT suppresses T cell activation by promoting the generation of mature immunoregulatory dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:48–57. doi: 10.1038/ni.1674
- 195. Joller N, Lozano E, Burkett PR, Patel B, Xiao S, Zhu C, et al. Treg cells expressing the coinhibitory molecule TIGIT selectively inhibit proinflammatory Th1 and Th17 cell responses. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:569–81. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014. 02.012

- 196. Fan DX, Duan J, Li MQ, Xu B, Li DJ, Jin LP. The decidual gammadelta T cells up-regulate the biological functions of trophoblasts via IL-10 secretion in early human pregnancy. *Clin Immunol.* (2011) 141:284–92. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2011.07.008
- 197. Peng G, Wang HY, Peng W, Kiniwa Y, Seo KH, Wang RF. Tumor-infiltrating gammadelta T cells suppress T and dendritic cell function via mechanisms controlled by a unique toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Immunity*. (2007) 27:334–48. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.05.020
- 198. Psarra K, Kapsimali V, Tarassi K, Dendrinos S, Athanasiadis T, Botsis D, et al. TCRgammadelta + T lymphocytes in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortions. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2001) 45:6–11. doi: 10.1111/j.8755-8920.2001.450102.x
- 199. Shima T, Inada K, Nakashima A, Ushijima A, Ito M, Yoshino O, et al. Paternal antigen-specific proliferating regulatory T cells are increased in uterine-draining lymph nodes just before implantation and in pregnant uterus just after implantation by seminal plasma-priming in allogeneic mouse pregnancy. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2015) 108:72–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2015.02.005
- Lansac J, Royere D. Follow-up studies of children born after frozen sperm donation. *Human Reproduction Update*. (2001) 7:33–7. doi: 10.1093/humupd/7.1.33
- 201. Robertson SA, Green ES, Care AS, Moldenhauer LM, Prins JR, Hull ML, et al. Therapeutic potential of regulatory T cells in

preeclampsia—opportunities and challenges. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:478. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00478

- 202. Huhn O, Ivarsson MA, Gardner L, Hollinshead M, Stinchcombe JC, Chen P, et al. Distinctive phenotypes and functions of innate lymphoid cells in human decidua during early pregnancy. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:381. doi: 10.1038/s41467-01 9-14123-z
- 203. Peterson LS, Stelzer IA, Tsai AS, Ghaemi MS, Han X, Ando K, et al. Multiomic immune clockworks of pregnancy. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s00281-019-00772-1

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Krop, Heidt, Claas and Eikmans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Role of Regulatory T Cells in Regulating Fetal-Maternal Immune Tolerance in Healthy Pregnancies and Reproductive Diseases

Ning Huang, Hongbin Chi* and Jie Qiao*

Center for Reproductive Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Peking University Third Hospital, Beijing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sarah Anne Robertson, University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Lianjun Zhang, Suzhou Institute of Systems Medicine (ISM), China Alexander Steinkasserer, University Hospital Erlangen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Hongbin Chi chihb@163.com Jie Qiao jie.qiao@263.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 12 January 2020 Accepted: 28 April 2020 Published: 26 June 2020

Citation:

Huang N, Chi H and Qiao J (2020) Role of Regulatory T Cells in Regulating Fetal-Maternal Immune Tolerance in Healthy Pregnancies and Reproductive Diseases. Front. Immunol. 11:1023. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01023 Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are a specialized subset of T lymphocytes that function as suppressive immune cells and inhibit various elements of immune response in vitro and in vivo. While there are constraints on the number or function of Tregs which can be exploited to evoke an effective anti-tumor response, sufficient expansion of Tregs is essential for successful organ transplantation and for promoting tolerance of self and foreign antigens. The immune-suppressive property of Tregs equips this T lymphocyte subpopulation with a pivotal role in the establishment and maintenance of maternal tolerance to fetal alloantigens, which is necessary for successful pregnancy. Elevation in the level of pregnancy-related hormones including estrogen, progesterone and human chorionic gonadotropin promotes the recruitment and expansion of Tregs, directly implicating these cells in the regulation of fetal-maternal immune tolerance. Current studies have provided evidence that a defect in the number or function of Tregs contributes to the etiology of several reproductive diseases, such as recurrent spontaneous abortion, endometriosis, and pre-eclampsia. In this review, we provide insight into the underlying mechanism through which Tregs contribute to pregnancy-related immune tolerance and demonstrate the association between deficiencies in Tregs and the development of reproductive diseases.

Keywords: regulatory T cells, pregnancy, steroidogenesis, endometriosis, primary unexplained infertility, recurrent spontaneous abortion, preeclampsia

INTRODUCTION

Regulatory T cells (Tregs), a key subset of T lymphocytes, play a critical role in regulating the immune response and maintaining immune tolerance both in physiological and pathological processes. Many studies have shown that Tregs are compromised in patients with autoimmune diseases as well as in patients with graft-versus-host disease after receiving transplanted organs (1), however, these cells are activated to promote tumor growth and progression, leading to the failure of immunotherapies in cancer (2). Defects in the number of Tregs and their suppressive activity are involved in the development of various systemic or organ-specific autoimmune diseases, including thyroiditis (3), gastritis (4), type I diabetes (T1D) (5), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (6), multiple sclerosis (MS) (7), rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (8), and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (9).

58

During the course of pregnancy, the mother's systemic immune system is altered to tolerate the fetus, who expresses paternal major histocompatibility complex antigens. Many studies have supplied multiple lines of evidence that Tregs possess specific characteristics for preventing the development of a maternal immune response against the fetus and maintaining fetal-maternal tolerance. First, the proportion of Tregs in peripheral blood is significantly increased during pregnancy in both women and mice, and there is a specific recruitment of Tregs from maternal peripheral blood to the fetal-maternal interface, leading to a higher proportion of Tregs in the placental decidua than in the peripheral blood (10). Furthermore, a decreased proportion of Tregs has been proposed to be associated with pregnancy-related complication such as recurrent spontaneous abortion and pre-eclampsia (11-13). Second, antibody-mediated depletion of CD25⁺ Tregs has been shown to cause implantation failure in allogeneic mated mice (14). Conversely, the adoptive transfer of Tregs attenuates the high abortion rates in the wellstudied CBA/J×DBA/2J abortion-prone murine model (15).

Pregnancy is a physiological process greatly dependent on immune tolerance, which is regulated by the number of Tregs and their suppressive activity. This review of the current literature describes the role played by Tregs in regulating fetal-maternal immune tolerance. Furthermore, we demonstrate the relationship between a deficiency of Tregs and pregnancy-related complications, with the aim of identifying the mechanisms through which Tregs maintain fetal-maternal immune homeostasis, thus providing a potential target for treating pregnancy-related complications.

Differentiation and Immunosuppressive Function of Tregs

Tregs are divided into two populations, namely natural regulatory T cells (nTregs) and inducible regulatory T cells (iTregs). NTregs originate from the thymus in response to self-antigens, whereas iTregs are peripherally induced from T cells responsible for restraining immune responses to foreign antigens, such as commensal bacteria, food antigens and allergens (16, 17). The mechanism underlying how Tregs are generated remains controversial. Although some studies have suggested that Tregs are anergic to TCR (T cell receptor) stimulation in *vitro*, the process involving the formation and selection of Tregs in the thymus is highly dependent on the TCR rearrangement, as evidenced by the observation that the development of Tregs is abrogated in TCR transgenic mice with RAG-2 deficiency (18). An increasing number of studies have suggested that Tregs are positively selected from autoreactive T cells that express specific TCR with the appropriate affinity for self-peptides (19–21).

Unlike other T helper cells, Tregs lack the capacity to secrete specific cytokines, and it is therefore difficult to distinguish them from other T helper cells. Foxp3 is the most specific Tregs marker and is constitutively expressed in Tregs generated in both the thymus and the periphery irrespective of the mode or state of activation (22, 23). The Foxp3 gene contains 11 exons and maintains a high degree of conservation between human and mouse genes (24). Mice genetically deficient in Foxp3 lose

the ability to properly regulate Tregs activity and succumb to a fatal and severe lymphoproliferative autoimmune syndrome at 3–4 weeks of age (25). Similar to mice, humans carrying a FOXP3 mutant gene develop an autoimmune syndrome named IPEX (immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome) (26, 27). Beyond its role as an indispensable factor required for the development of Tregs, continuous Foxp3 expression is required for the latter's suppressive function. Research has shown that Tregs isolated from Foxp3 deficient mice lack suppressive function. However, transduction of Foxp3 endows $CD4^+CD25^-$ T cells with the capacity to suppress the proliferation of $CD4^+$ T cells (28, 29).

The suppressive function of Tregs is achieved via two mechanisms, namely a cell-contact dependent mechanism involving the recognition of co-stimulated molecules that directly suppress the expansion of effector T cells and a cell-contact independent mechanism involving the secretion of soluble cytokines that negatively regulate the immune response (30) (**Figure 1**).

CELL-CONTACT DEPENDENT MECHANISM

Cell-contact dependent suppressive activity is mediated via the recognition of co-stimulated molecules. In this process, Tregs function is highly dependent on the normal expression of molecules located on Tregs, and a deficiency of key molecules triggers the defective expansion and suppressive activity of Tregs, leading to a disturbance of immune homeostasis. IL-2 receptor α (IL-2R α) and CTLA4 are the most important molecules involved in cell-contact dependent mechanism.

Most Tregs abundantly express high-affinity IL-2 receptor α (CD25) and IL-2/IL-2R signaling provides indispensable signaling during the development and maturation of Tregs both in the thymus and in the periphery. Furthermore, the lack of the IL-2R cannot be compensated by other cytokine receptors (31). IL-2, IL-2Ra, and IL-2RB deficient mice all die from severe lymphoproliferation and autoimmune disease in early life. In addition, neutralization of circulating IL-2 by anti-IL-2 monoclonal antibodies inhibits Tregs proliferation and triggers a wide range of organ specific autoimmune diseases (32-35). IL-2-IL-2R signaling is essential for the development and maturation of both Tregs and Teff cells, however, low dose IL-2 is remarkably efficacious in promoting the expansion of Tregs rather than Teff cells, which possibly results from the higher affinity of IL-2R in Tregs (36). Based on the comparative activity and different sensitivity for IL-2, the consumption of IL-2 by Tregs has been shown to be a predominant mechanism involved in suppressing the expansion and activity of Teff cells and triggering Teff cell apoptosis due to IL2 deprivation (37, 38).

CTLA4, a key molecule constitutively expressed in Tregs, is crucial for maintaining T cells homeostasis and tolerance induction, and its expression is in part controlled by Foxp3 (39, 40). Mice deficient in CTLA4 become sick by 2 weeks of age and moribund at 3–4 weeks of age, with diffuse and



focal lymphocytic infiltration into various organs (41, 42). Furthermore, specific deficiency of CTLA4 in Tregs results in the spontaneous development of systemic lymphoproliferation, multi-organ lymphocyte infiltrations, fatal T cell-mediated autoimmune diseases, and hyperproduction of immunoglobulin E in mice (43). CTLA-4-mediated suppressive regulation of T cell response and upregulation of Tregs activation are predominantly achieved by competition with CD28, a positive costimulatory molecule that shares common ligands (CD80/CD86) with CTLA4 (44, 45). CTLA4 possesses significantly higher affinity in binding CD80/CD86 and CTLA4 rather than CD28 removes costimulatory ligands CD80/CD86 from APCs by a process of trans-endocytosis (46, 47). These properties equip CTLA4 with the capacity to outcompete the ability of CD28 to serve as a negative immune regulator (48, 49).

CELL-CONTACT INDEPENDENT MECHANISM

In addition to the cell-contact dependent mechanism, Tregs also exert suppressive activity in a cell-contact independent manner, mainly through the secretion of inhibitory cytokines. Unlike other T cells, Tregs fail to produce exclusive cytokines. However, certain cytokines, such as TGF- β and IL-10, secreted by Tregs are essential for the expansion and suppressive activity of Tregs.

Several lines of evidence suggest that the addition of TGF- β enhances the conversion rate of native T cells into Tregs, and that TGF- β secreted by Tregs plays a partial role in maintaining suppressive properties by binding to the TGF- β receptor (50– 53). Administration of neutralizing antibodies specific for TGF- β or specific deficiency of TGF- β expression in Tregs leads to a limitation or even abrogation of Tregs' suppressive activity (54, 55). Strong evidence that the role of TGF- β to maintain Foxp3 expression is supported by the observation that the expression of Foxp3 is dramatically diminished in peripheral Tregs from TGF- $\beta^{-/-}$ mice and addition of TGF- β results in increased Foxp3 expression (52).

Unlike TGF- β , the function of IL-10 in Tregs seems to be organ-specific. Recent studies have found that IL-10 and IL-35 produced by intratumoral Tregs cooperatively share a common BLIMP1 axis to promote the exhausted intratumoral T cell state and anti-tumor immunity, implying IL-10 and IL-35 contribute to maintaining immune tolerance (56, 57). IL-10 is recognized as a potent suppressor of macrophage and T cell functions. Furthermore, IL-10 deficient mice are growth retarded and suffer from chronic enterocolitis (58). An increasing number of current studies have found that IL-10 is expressed in Tregs and plays an auxiliary role in promoting their expansion and function. IL-10⁺ Tregs are mostly located in intestinal tissues and are essential for limiting immune response-induced inflammation to the diverse intestinal microbiota, which may provide a reasonable explanation as to why IL-10 deficient mice or mice treated with anti-IL-10 receptor blockers succumb to intestinal inflammation (59, 60). Although the Tregs-specific deficiency in IL-10 does not result in severe systemic autoimmunity, it does lead to immunological hyperreactivity at environmental interfaces, resulting in conditions such as spontaneous colitis, lung hyperreactivity, and skin hypersensitivity (61). Thus, while IL-10 production by Treg cells is not necessary for the regulation of systemic autoimmunity, it is essential for hindering excessive immune responses at local environmental interfaces. The suppressive activity of IL-10 is partly mediated via binding to IL-10R to restrain the Th17-induced inflammatory response, which plays a critical role in regulating intestinal homeostasis. This is illustrated by the observation that mice with IL-10R deficient Tregs produce high levels of IL-17 and are prone to developing severe colitis (62, 63).

Regulation of Fetal-Maternal Tolerance During Healthy Pregnancy

For decades, many studies have shown that successful pregnancy depends on the homeostasis of fetal-maternal tolerance. Furthermore, failure of the maternal immune system to establish fetal-maternal tolerance is the predominant trigger in the development of pregnancy-related complications. Consequently, numerous therapeutic treatments aimed at suppressing the maternal immune system are employed in clinics. However, the effect of these therapies is not always apparent and is often accompanied by various side effects. It is therefore important to identify the cellular and molecular mechanisms responsible for establishing fetal-maternal immune tolerance in healthy and abnormal pregnancies to promote the development of targeted therapeutic interventions. The immune suppressive property of Tregs confers this cell population with a fundamental role in establishing the fetal-maternal immune tolerance necessary for successful pregnancy.

Some studies consider pregnancy to be a process of mutual conversion between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory conditions (64), therefore dividing pregnancy status into three distinct immunological states that correspond to different stages of fetal development: first, a pro-inflammatory stage associated with embryo implantation and placentation (65–67); second, an anti-inflammatory-oriented stage associated with fetal growth (68, 69); and third, a switch from an anti-inflammatory to a pro-inflammatory stage necessary for the initiation of labor (70, 71). Concurrent with the above stages is a dramatic change in the number of Tregs during the course of pregnancy. Following

exposure of paternal alloantigens, circulating Tregs increase rapidly during the early pregnancy stage and peak during the second stage at which time trophoblast invasion of the maternal decidua is maximal; then, Tregs gradually decrease when labor begins (64). The change in the number of Tregs and crosstalk with other immune cells play a critical role throughout the entire course of pregnancy.

Tregs PRIMING AND IMPLANTATION

Embryo implantation is the initial stage of pregnancy and involves apposition of the blastocyst and the uterine endometrium followed by attachment and invasion of the blastocyst into the endometrium, and reconstruction of the decidua by the invasive trophectoderm (72). The wide application of assisted reproductive technology, such as *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transplantation (IVF-ET) and intrauterine insemination (IUI), has enabled an analysis of earlier gestational stages from oocyte fertilization to implantation in humans. Adequate endometrial receptivity is considered a pivotal precondition for successful embryo implantation. Endometrial scratching before embryo transfer has been proposed as a clinical treatment to increase uterine receptivity, and some studies have demonstrated that endometrial scratching improves the pregnancy outcome by triggering an inflammatory response and enhancing angiogenesis at the implantation site, providing indirect evidence for the role played by inflammation during implantation (73-77).

Studies based on human and animal experiments have demonstrated that the peri-implantation period is accompanied with the activation and infiltration of various immune cells (78). Uterine-specific natural killer (uNK) cells, macrophages (Mos), and dendritic cells (DCs) are recruited at the implantation site and exert prominent immune-regulatory effects during early pregnancy. uNK cells are the most abundant immune cells located in human decidua during early pregnancy, while Mos and DCs serve as antigen-presenting cells that infiltrate into the decidua. Crosstalk among these cells plays an essential role in regulating trophoblast invasion and in promoting spiral artery remodeling (79–81).

The role played by Tregs during implantation is unclear. However, some studies have reported that a reduced number of Tregs is associated with implantation failure. Mice with a depletion of Tregs exhibit a significant defect in implantation, which is reversed following an adoptive transfer of Tregs (82). A study showed that compared with fertile women, endometrial tissue from women with unexplained infertility displayed a significant reduction Foxp3 mRNA expression, the fate-determining transcription factor especially expressed in Treg cells (83). Other evidence has also revealed a correlation between the level of Tregs in peripheral blood and the implantation rate. Women with implantation failure after IVF or artificial insemination by donor sperm (AID) had a significantly decreased percentage of Tregs compared with women with a successful pregnancy (84, 85). Therefore, the presence of peripheral or local Tregs may create a limited but necessary immunomodulatory function during the course of implantation.

ENLARGEMENT OF Tregs FUNCTION AND PREGNANCY MAINTENANCE

Successful implantation is followed by a phase of fetal growth and development. The establishment of fetal-maternal immune tolerance lays the foundation for this stage, with a shift from a pro-inflammatory immune response to a Th2/Treg-predominant anti-inflammatory immune tolerance (64). The proportion of Tregs begins to rise and peaks at this stage, and a paucity of Tregs could lead to pregnancy-related complications such as spontaneous abortion. Tregs exert a strong immunosuppressive function to maintain an anti-inflammatory environment and protect the fetus from maternal immunological rejection. Tregs can effectively suppress the expansion and activation of effector T cells via a classic cell-contact mechanism or by secreting suppressive cytokines as described previously. One study described a class of functionally distinct Tregs with expression of a co-inhibitory molecule TIGIT, which induces selective suppression of Th1 and Th17 cells but not Th2 cells. However, whether this Tregs subset is expanded and activated during pregnancy is still unknown (86).

The pivotal role played by Tregs in fetal-maternal tolerance raises several questions about the mechanisms responsible for their expansion during pregnancy and underscores the need for studies investigating these mechanisms. Previous studies suggest that the activation and regulation of Tregs is primarily impacted by antigen exposure and the dynamic changes of steroid hormones that occur during pregnancy.

ANTIGEN-MEDIATED Tregs EXPANSION: PATERNAL SPERM ANTIGEN AND FETAL ANTIGEN

Investigators have proposed that exposure to male seminal fluid delivered during mating elicits the expansion of maternal Tregs, as evidenced by the increase in the number of Tregs within the period of time subsequent to mating and before embryo implantation (87, 88). Immune tolerance to the fetus is necessary for successful pregnancy, and transmission of seminal fluid seems to play a priming role prior to implantation by promoting expansion of Tregs, thereby activating specific tolerance to paternal alloantigens. Seminal fluid contains various components, including a cellular fraction that contains sperm, leukocytes and epithelial cells and a non-cellular fraction of compounds such as TGF- β and prostaglandins. The cellular and acellular fractions in semen both contain several antigens, including classical class Ia, non-classical class Ib and minor antigens such as H-Y antigen, which drive an antigen-dependent expansion of Treg cells (89, 90). The non-cellular components are also required to confer tolerance. As mentioned above, TGF- β is a critical cytokine for Tregs proliferation. One study found that intravaginal pre-treatment with TGF-B at mating enhances successful pregnancy *in vivo* in a well-established murine model (91). An *in vitro* experiment also indicated a role for prostaglandins in upregulating Foxp3 expression and enhancing Tregs function (92). Collectively, both sperm and seminal plasma may contribute to driving an expansion of Tregs and providing an immune-privileged environment that is beneficial for subsequent embryo implantation.

Embryo implantation and fetal growth are the most important stages during pregnancy. Some studies have proposed that the implanted blastocyst should be considered a semi-allograft and constant immunosuppression is required for a pregnancy to be successful. Although a seemingly opposite pro-inflammatory process is involved in both implantation and initiation of labor, immunosuppression is an indispensable response to maintain immune homeostasis during the fetal growth stage, and this is highly dependent on the expansion and activation of Tregs triggered by the fetal alloantigens (93). When Tregs are depleted, fetal outcome is normal in syngeneic pregnancies rather than allogeneic pregnancies, suggesting that Tregs suppress maternal immune responses directed against fetal alloantigens rather than male-specific minor histocompatibility antigens (94, 95). When encountered with parental alloantigens presented by a fetus, peripheral Tregs, generated extrathymically and induced by non-self-antigens, serve as the predominant subset suppressing immune response. The development of peripheral Tregs is dependent on the expression of a Foxp3 enhancer CNS1, a deficiency of which leads to an increased resorption of embryos in mice (96).

STEROID HORMONE-MEDIATED Tregs EXPANSION: ESTROGEN, PROGESTERONE AND HUMAN CHORIONIC GONADOTROPIN

Serum levels of the pregnancy-associated hormones such as estrogen, progesterone, and human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG) increase dramatically during pregnancy. These hormones play an essential role in maintaining immune tolerance and in supporting successful pregnancy. Currently, there is increasing evidence that the mechanisms through which hormones contribute to immune homeostasis during pregnancy are in part due to the expansion of Tregs and their suppressive activity (**Figure 2**).

Estrogen-based therapy has been reported to alleviate symptoms associated with several autoimmune diseases, such as collagen-induced arthritis (97), type1diabetes (98), and autoimmune encephalomyelitis (99). Furthermore, the mechanisms underlying these protective effects seem to be associated with changes in immune cells and cytokines (100–102). The number of Tregs in human peripheral blood change continuously during the menstrual cycle and peak before ovulation, which is concurrent with the change of the concentration of estrogen, suggesting that estrogen may be a powerful factor in promoting Tregs expansion (103). Some studies have demonstrated that the proliferation and



suppressive activity of human Tregs observed with estrogen treatment is mediated through estrogen receptor α (104, 105). In both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments, estrogen treatment triggers the expansion of Tregs. Furthermore, the addition of estrogen in combination with TCR stimulation enhances Foxp3 mRNA expression in CD4⁺CD25⁻T cells *in vitro*, suggesting that estrogen may potentially induce the conversion of CD4⁺CD25⁻T cells to Tregs (106, 107).

Progesterone, which is mainly produced by the placenta and is markedly elevated during pregnancy, functions as a regulator that maintains homeostasis at the maternal-fetal interface. Similar to estrogen, progesterone is considered to be another important hormone that promotes the expansion of Tregs and their suppressive capacity (107). The proportion of Tregs and the conversion rate of CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells into Tregs has been shown to increase significantly in the peripheral blood, spleen, and inguinal lymph nodes of ovariectomized mice after progesterone injection (108). Progesterone-mediated immune tolerance is achieved by progesterone binding to the glucocorticoid receptor rather than to the progesterone receptor (109, 110). Progesterone promiscuously binds the glucocorticoid receptor and promotes immune suppression by inducing enrichment of Treg cells and triggering apoptosis of effector T cells, which is based on the preferred sensibility in effector T cells for glucocorticoid receptor-mediated T cells death compared with that in Tregs (110, 111). Progesterone is also present at high levels in human cord blood where it has been reported to have an immune-suppressive function. Progesterone drives a shift of native cord blood T cells into suppressive Tregs, while impeding the conversion from native T cells into Th17 cells, another potential pathway through which progesterone regulates immune tolerance (112).

HCG is another hormone that is increased during pregnancy, and is produced in the blastocyst after fertilization, reaching its maximum level at the 11th week and then gradually decreasing until birth (113). Khil et al. reported that HCG prevents the development of autoimmune-mediated diabetes in NOD mice by downregulating immune effector cells and cytokines and simultaneously upregulating the proportion of Tregs and the levels of TGF- β and IL-10, suggesting that HCG is an effective regulator for immune tolerance (114). Increased HCG during pregnancy provokes many Tregs-related responses including (1) augmenting the number of Tregs, (2) increasing their local and systemic suppressive function, (3) enhancing attraction of circulating Tregs into decidua, and (4) increasing the secretion of suppressive cytokines (115–117). HCG-mediated expansion of Tregs is achieved in part by retaining DCs in an immature state, leading to the generation of Tregs and a loss of the capacity to activate a T cell-mediated immune response (117, 118). In vitro migration assays further confirmed the chemoattractant properties of HCG that promote migration of Tregs from the periphery into the uterus, which is potentially mediated via binding to HCG/LH receptors located on Tregs (116, 119).

DECLINE OF Tregs ACTIVITY AND LABOR

There is a decline in the number of Tregs as pregnancy progresses into the third gestational period. The reduction in the number of Tregs in late gestation may be a contributing factor for the initiation of spontaneous labor. This is supported by the finding that the proportion of Tregs in the decidua following a spontaneous vaginal delivery is significantly lower than that following an elective cesarean section (120). Shah et al. conducted a longitudinal analysis from 20-weeks gestational age to labor and observed a reduction in the number of activated Tregs (defined as Tregs with HLA-DR⁺) and a significant shift toward a Th1/Th17 response with the onset of labor (121). Compared with women undergoing spontaneous term labor, the proportion of activated Tregs is significantly decreased in women in preterm labor (122, 123). The change is similar to the reduction in activated Tregs observed in patients who experience an acute rejection after kidney transplantation, supporting that the reduction in the proportion and activity of Tregs promotes the conversion from an anti-inflammatory to a pro-inflammatory stage and plays a critical role in initiating spontaneous labor. The mechanism underlying the reduction in Tregs during labor remains an enigma. The alteration in hormone levels and in the microbial environment may be stimuli for activating an inflammatory response, however, the specific molecular mechanisms needs to be further investigated.

The level of Tregs progressively decreases after delivery. However, there is a retention of "memory" Tregs with fetal specificity, which retain the ability to generate a more effective and accelerated suppressive response when re-exposed to the same fetal antigens in subsequent pregnancies (124). The primary pregnancy confers Tregs with a protective regulatory memory, which may provide an immunological basis for protection against complications such as pre-eclampsia in a subsequent pregnancy (125, 126).

Dysfunction of Tregs in Reproductive Diseases

Since it has been determined that Tregs maintain fetal-maternal tolerance during the normal course of embryo implantation and pregnancy, it is of interest to investigate whether systemic and local maldistribution and dysfunction of Tregs play a role in the etiology of infertility and pregnancy-related complications. Increasing evidence suggests that a deficiency in the expansion and function of Tregs as well as an abnormal expression of key molecules are linked to pregnancy-related complications.

RECURRENT SPONTANEOUS ABORTION

Recurrent spontaneous abortion (RSA), defined as the loss of three or more consecutive pregnancies, affects $\sim 1\%$ of women attempting to conceive (127, 128). RSA is a complex pregnancy-related complication that is due to multiple factors including

chromosomal abnormalities, congenital or acquired anatomical defects in the uterine fundus and cervix, and other endocrine diseases such as PCOS, diabetes, thyroid disorders, and others related to aberrant immune responses (128, 129). Increasing evidences suggests that the proportion of various immune cells and cytokines is altered in patients with RSA, supporting that immune dysfunction may be a contributing factor to its etiology (130, 131). Although there have been detailed guidelines describing clinical interventions for managing women with RSA, treatment based on immune rejection as a potential etiology is controversial, because no definite cellular and molecular mechanism has been discovered to date (17, 129).

The mechanisms through which Tregs contribute to RSA primarily involve an imbalance of the Th1/Th2/Th17/Treg cells paradigm and the abnormal proportion and activity of Tregs. Dysregulation of T lymphocyte homeostasis is also involved in the etiology of RSA. In peripheral blood from patients with RSA, the balance between Th1 and Th2 cells is disrupted in favor of Th1 cells, and the ratio of Th17/Treg cells is skewed toward Th17 cells (132, 133). It is widely accepted that there is a close interaction between the expansion of Tregs and the secretion of IL-17. When IL-17 combines with the IL-17 receptor, Tregs are upregulated. Conversely, Tregs suppress the proliferation of Th17 cells and the secretion of IL-17 via cell-cell contact and via Il-10/TGF-B-mediated effects (134, 135). However, this suppressive function of Tregs is abrogated in patients with RSA (134). Transfusion of Tregs into mice pretreated with IL-17 has been shown to significantly increase the expression of IL-10 and TGF-β, two key cytokines that mediate the suppressive activity of Tregs in decidua and lower the fetal resorption rates in mice (136). Furthermore, insufficient generation of pregnancyinduced Tregs triggers the accumulation of paternal alloantigen specific Th1 cells and directly results in the failure to establish appropriate maternal-fetal immune tolerance (137).

Numerous studies have also confirmed that the reduction in the number of Tregs are involved in the pathogenesis of RSA (Table 1). Sasaki et al. first reported the presence of Tregs in the decidua and demonstrated the proportion of Tregs in decidua from spontaneous abortions was significantly lower than that in decidua from induced abortion (11). Other studies have also demonstrated that the proportion of Tregs and the expression of Foxp3 in both the decidua and peripheral blood from patients with unexplained RSA patients are significantly lower than those from women with normal pregnancies (13, 139). In addition to the reduction in number, Lourdes et al. reported that the suppressive function of Tregs is significantly impaired in RSA as assessed by a co-culture technique with CD4⁺CD25⁻T cells (103). Inadequate number of Tregs and downregulation of Treg cell activity impair the anti-inflammatory environment, weaken the immune tolerance against fetal rejection and thereby increase the risk of RSA.

ENDOMETRIOSIS

Endometriosis is a benign gynecological disease affecting \sim 6–10% women of childbearing age, and is characterized by

TABLE 1 The change of the proportion of Tregs in patients with recurrent
spontaneous abortion compared with normal pregnant women.

Proportion	References	
Peripheral blood	Decidua	
Ļ	\downarrow	(11)
\downarrow	\downarrow	(13)
\downarrow	\downarrow	(138)
\downarrow	\downarrow	(139)
\downarrow	Not mentioned	(132)
\downarrow	Not mentioned	(140)
Not mentioned	\downarrow	(141)
\downarrow	Not mentioned	(142)
\downarrow	\downarrow	(143)

↓: Decreased.

the implantation of endometrial tissues outside the uterus (144). Chronic pelvic pain, dysmenorrhea and infertility are the common symptoms occurring in patients with endometriosis (145, 146). As multiple factors, including genetic and environmental factors, contribute to the development of endometriosis, the pathogenesis of endometriosis remains uncertain. Many theories have been proposed to explain how endometriosis develops, and one of the most widely accepted is the retrograde menstruation theory. This theory hypothesizes that fragments of endometrial tissue reflux to the peritoneum through the fallopian tubes during menstruation (147). However, this theory fails to explain why only a few women develop endometriosis even though retrograde menstruation is a common phenomenon occurring in most women of childbearing age (148). Therefore, other studies have postulated that a disturbed local and systemic immune response may be responsible for the development and progression of endometriosis (149-151).

An aberrant immune environment that includes alternative activation of peritoneal macrophages (152), production of various cytokines (153), and reduction in natural killer cell cytotoxicity (154), all contribute to the survival and invasion of ectopic endometrial tissue. Dysregulation in T lymphocyte homeostasis is associated with the pathogenesis of endometriosis. The Th1/Th2 balance is altered in local and systemic immune conditions, such that there is skewing toward Th2 cells in endometriotic lesions, but skewing toward Th1 cells in peripheral blood (155).

A disturbance in Tregs activity may be a more prominent mechanism involved in the etiology of endometriosis due to their immune-suppressive function, derangement of which could potentially promote the survival of ectopic endometrial lesions. However, evidence regarding the change in the proportion of Tregs in peripheral blood, peritoneal fluid, eutopic endometrium, and ectopic endometrial tissues among patients with endometriosis is inconsistent (**Table 2**). The discrepancy may result from differences in patient selection, namely the patients with early or advanced endometriosis. Most studies

TABLE 2 The change of the proportion of Tregs in patients with endometriosis
compared with patients without endometriosis.

Proportion of	References			
Peripheral blood*	Peritoneal fluid*	Ectopic peritoneal lesions [#]	-	
Not mentioned	Not mentioned	1	(156)	
Not mentioned	\uparrow	Not mentioned	(157)	
\downarrow	\uparrow	Not mentioned	(158)	
\rightarrow	\rightarrow	Not mentioned	(159)	
\rightarrow	Not mentioned	Not mentioned	(155)	
\rightarrow	\rightarrow	\downarrow	(160)	
\rightarrow	1	Not mentioned	(161)	
\rightarrow	→(Early) ↑(Advanced)	Not mentioned	(162)	

 \uparrow : Increased, ↓: Decreased, →: Not changed.

*The proportion of Tregs in peripheral blood and peritoneal fluid in patients with endometriosis is compared with patients without endometriosis. [#]The proportion of Tregs in the ectopic peritoneal lesions in patients with endometriosis is compared with eutopic endometrium in patients without endometriosis.

suggest the proportion of Tregs is significantly increased in peritoneal fluid from women with endometriosis compared with control women (157, 158, 161). One study reported that the number of Tregs was increased in the peritoneal fluid and decreased in the peripheral blood, and another study found the number of Tregs was higher in peritoneal fluid than in peripheral blood, both indicating that active translocation of Tregs occurs from circulation to the local peritoneal cavity (158, 162). However, some studies failed to find any difference in the proportion of Tregs in patients with endometriosis when compared with women without endometriosis (159). To bypass the confounding influence of interpatient variability, research has been carried out in an established animal model with endometriosis to identify abnormalities in the proportion of Tregs. In a study of baboons with induced endometriosis, the proportion of Tregs was decreased in peripheral circulation and eutopic endometrium but increased in ectopic tissue, which is consistent with Tregs' local immunosuppressive activity Tregs played (163). Tanaka et al. focused on the variation in resting and activated Tregs and put forth a new concept that the proportion of activated Tregs in the endometrioma rather than in the peritoneal fluid or peripheral blood is decreased, which may be temporal and associated with the angiogenesis and progression of endometriosis (160). However, a study showed the proportion of Tregs in ectopic endometrium was increased in patients with endometriosis compared with eutopic endometrium (156). Further research is required with an expanded sample size and more detailed subgroup analysis to better determine the role Tregs play in the pathogenesis of endometriosis.

Change in the proportion of Tregs appears to contribute to the suppressed immune response against ectopic endometrial tissue, permitting implantation of endometrial tissue in the peritoneal cavity. Therefore, understanding the origin of local Tregs production may be provide new insights that will aid

Role of Tregs in Reproduction

in the development of targeted therapies for women with endometriosis. The accumulation of Tregs in the peritoneal cavity may not only be a result of active translocation from the peripheral blood but may also be due to their local induction (153). Higher levels of IL-10 and TGF-β, two key cytokines responsible for regulating the proliferation and activity of Tregs, were found in the peritoneal fluid and serum of patients with endometriosis than in normal controls (164, 165). Compared with serum levels, the level of cytokines in peritoneal fluid was significantly higher (165). Furthermore, IL-10 and TGF-B mRNA expression were significantly higher in ectopic lesions than eutopic endometrium from women with or without endometriosis, particularly in cases of advanced endometriosis (166). These results suggest Tregs and related cytokines maintain the local anti-inflammatory environment and play a crucial role in the development of endometriosis.

PREECLAMPSIA

Preeclampsia is a common pregnancy-related complication that occurrs in 3-5% of pregnant women and can lead to iatrogenic preterm birth and fetal growth restriction (167). The precise etiology of preeclampsia remains unknown, although insufficient formation of uterine spiral arteries, over-activated inflammation, injured endothelial cells, and genetic factors have all been implicated (168-171). Interestingly, preeclampsia seems to be more common in primiparous than multiparous women, whereas the protective effect is abrogated with the change of partner. A meta-analysis compared the difference in the risk of preeclampsia in women who were impregnated by donor or partner sperm and found the risk was significantly increased in conceptions resulting from donor sperm (172). Furthermore, another study reported that prior and prolonged partner sperm exposure before pregnancy is associated with a significant reduction of the risk of preeclampsia (173). Taken together, these observations suggest that paternal antigens and sperm exposure induce an immune tolerance during the first pregnancy and offer effective protection against the development of preeclampsia with subsequent pregnancies, implying the adaptive immune response with alloantigen specificity and immunological memory is involved in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia (174).

An increasing body of evidence suggests that an inadequate immune tolerance induced by Tregs-associated abnormalities play a pivotal role in the etiology of preeclampsia. Several studies have reported that, compared with normal pregnancy, both the number of Tregs and the ratio of Tregs to Th17 cells in peripheral blood are significantly reduced in preeclampsia (175–177). The increased ratio of Th17/Treg cells has also been confirmed by an analysis of Th17/Treg expression of related transcription factors and the secretion of Th17/Tregrelated cytokines. Compared with healthy pregnant women, a reduction in the expression of Treg-specific transcription factor Foxp3 and an elevation in Th17-specific transcription factor ROR γ t in patients with preeclampsia has been reported (178). Furthermore, analysis of cytokine profiles have revealed a significant decrease in IL-10, and a significant increase in IL-17 levels in patients with preeclampsia (178, 179). Taken together, these studies suggest that a shift occurs from Tregs to Th17 cells in the development of preeclampsia, leading to an abnormal immune state that triggers inflammation and an impairment of immune tolerance. The mechanism underlying the imbalance of Th17/Treg cells remains unclear. Eghbal-Fard et al. suggested the upregulation of miRNA in patients with preeclampsia may affect the differentiation and expansion of Th17/Treg cells by regulating the expression of specific transcription factors (178). In addition to the alteration in the proportion of Tregs, the immunosuppressive activity of Tregs is also altered in patients with preeclampsia. Darmochwal-Kolarz et al. reported the proliferation of effector T lymphocytes in patients with preeclampsia was significantly inhibited by Tregs isolated from healthy pregnant women. However, the suppressive response was lost if replaced with Tregs from patients with preeclampsia (180).

The recruitment of Tregs from peripheral blood into decidua and the local expansion of decidual Tregs are important for maintaining fetal-maternal immune tolerance at the fetalmaternal interface. It has been well-established that the proportion of Tregs in decidua is decreased in preeclampsia (181). Though the reduction of decidual Tregs may be associated with an imbalance in systemic Tregs, local expansion may also play an important role. TCR repertoire analysis of decidual Tregs showed an insufficient clonal expansion of decidual Tregs in preeclampsia compared with healthy pregnancy (182). In normal pregnancy, induced rather than native Tregs are the dominant Tregs subset located in the decidua and are clonally expanded, while the expansive and suppressive capacity of iTregs is significantly impaired in preeclampsia (183). The local induction of Tregs depends on specific APCs within the decidual microenvironment. A significant reduction in the expression of HLA-G and ILT4 on decidual APCs is observed in preeclampsia compared with normal pregnancy, providing a possible clue to the lack of iTregs in preeclampsia (183). An aberrant proportion and type of Tregs in the decidua disturb the immune homeostasis during pregnancy and promote the development of preeclampsia.

Tregs and Immune Therapy During Pregnancy

Taken together, the above studies suggest that Tregs play a prominent role in regulating fetal-maternal immune tolerance, and a defect in the proportion and activity of Tregs is involved in the development of RSA, endometriosis, and preeclampsia. Thus, approaches designed to boost the proportion of Tregs or strengthen their suppressive function may lead to promising strategies for treating pregnancy-related diseases. Several Tregsbased target therapies are entering into clinical trials, including adoptive Treg cell therapy, Tregs-enhancing drugs, and low dose IL-2 administration (184).

Administration of purified Tregs was firstly applied as Tregs-based target therapy. With the development of immune cell therapy, antigen-specific Tregs therapy was also proposed

for treating autoimmune and graft-versus-host diseases. Phase I/II clinical trials aimed to explore the curative effect, and some have reported that Tregs administration alleviates clinical symptoms induced by autoimmunity (184). Some research has attempted to determine whether Tregs administration improves pregnancy outcomes. Yin et al. and Wang et al. examined the effectiveness of adoptive transfer of Tregs in preventing spontaneous abortion in mice models (136, 185). Yin et al. established an abortion-prone pregnancy mice model with DBA/2J-mated pregnant CBA/J mice and performed adoptive transfer of freshly isolated and in vitro expanded Tregs from non-pregnant CBA/J mice. Wang et al. induced spontaneous abortions by administration of IL-17 in a CBA/J \times BALB/c mouse model of normal pregnancy and performed adoptive transfer of in vitro expanded Tregs purified from pregnant CBA/J mice. These two studies demonstrated transfusion with in vitro expanded Tregs promotes immune suppressive activity, increases the secretion of suppressive cytokines and significantly reduces the rate of spontaneous abortion.

Although Treg cell therapy has not been widely used in clinical practice, clinical research has initiated several nonspecific immunotherapies partially regulating the proportion and activity of Tregs for the treatment of pregnancy-related diseases. Intravenous immunoglobulin G (IVIG) and paternal or third-party lymphocyte immunization therapy have been proposed for the treatment of patients with RSA due to the potential immunomodulatory effects. Although the benefit for these immunotherapies is controversial, a growing body of evidence suggests that they may increase rates of live birth and decrease rates of miscarriage (186-188). A variety of studies and clinical trials have reported both IVIG and lymphocyte immunization therapy correct the Tregs defect and rebalances the Th17/Treg paradigm in peripheral blood. Compared with a control group, the treatment triggers a shift toward Tregs in the Th17/Treg balance by enhancing the expansion of Tregs, promoting the secretion of suppressive cytokines, and inhibiting Th17 cells proliferation (186, 188–192).

Tregs-enhancing drugs are another type of Tregs-based target therapy. Rapamycin (Sirolimus) is an mTOR inhibitor, which acts as an immunosuppressive drug by selectively promoting the expansion of Tregs and inducing differentiation of T helper cells into Tregs. Royster et al. established a murine model with conditional knockdown of Tregs induced by diphtheria toxin. They found the deletion of Tregs decreased litter sizes and triggered embryo implantation failure, effects that were reversed after the treatment with rapamycin (193). A multicenter, double-blind, phase II randomized clinical trial administrated 2 mg/day of sirolimus for 2 days before embryo transfer to patients receiving IVF-ET therapy and who had a history of recurrent implantation failure. The study collected blood samples and assessed the ratio of Th17/Treg cells by flow cytometry 5-10 days prior to the initiation of an IVF cycle. Only patients with a high ratio of Th17/Treg cells were included in this trial. The trial reported that the administration of sirolimus reversed the imbalance in the ratio of Th17/Treg cells and significantly increased the rate of clinical pregnancy and live birth compared with those in the control group (194).

Taken together, some studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of Tregs-based therapy in treating several autoimmune diseases and cases of organ transplantation. However, the methods cannot be directly applied for pregnancy-related diseases because the dynamic change in the immune state during pregnancy and the possibility of fetal drug toxicity must be taken into account. Most of the current treatments for pregnancy-related diseases focus on a reduction in an overactive immune response with the use of non-specific immunosuppressive therapy. This triggers the simultaneous activation of numerous immune cells and makes it difficult to control the dose and to evaluate the curative effect because of individual heterogeneity. Therefore, more studies should be conducted to further explore the effectiveness and safety of Tregs-based target therapies for the treatment of pregnancy-related diseases.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

Tregs are generally viewed as arising from a specific T cell lineage generated in the thymus or induced in peripheral organs. Being the most predominant immune-suppressive cells, a tremendous amount of research has focused on determining the molecular mechanisms responsible for inducing the expansion of Tregs and their activity in the periphery and in specific organs. This effort will provide new insights that will guide the improvement of Tregs-based targeted immune therapy. In recent years, increasing data has shown that the expansion of Tregs is triggered after exposure to the fetal alloantigens and changes dynamically over the course of pregnancy. Hormones such as estradiol and progesterone as well as HCG are significantly increased during pregnancy, and regulate the number and function of Tregs to sustain a proper pregnancy-related immune tolerance. Furthermore, various reproductive diseases such as recurrent miscarriage, endometriosis and preeclampsia result in part from the deficiency in the number and activity of Tregs. Therefore, modulating the immune response by boosting the number of Tregs and enhancing their activity may be a potential therapeutic strategy for managing these pregnancyrelated complications.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81871212).

REFERENCES

- Koreth J, Matsuoka K, Kim HT, McDonough SM, Bindra B, Alyea EP, et al. Interleukin-2 and regulatory T cells in graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:2055–66. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1108188
- Plitas G, Konopacki C, Wu K, Bos PD, Morrow M, Putintseva EV, et al. Regulatory T cells exhibit distinct features in human breast cancer. *Immunity*. (2016) 45:1122–34. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.032
- Ellis JS, Hong SH, Zaghouani H, Braley-Mullen H. Reduced effectiveness of CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in CD28-deficient NOD.H-2h4 mice leads to increased severity of spontaneous autoimmune thyroiditis. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:4940–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301253
- Harakal J, Rival C, Qiao H, Tung KS. Regulatory T cells control Th2dominant murine autoimmune gastritis. J Immunol. (2016) 197:27–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502344
- Serr I, Furst RW, Achenbach P, Scherm MG, Gokmen F, Haupt F, et al. Type 1 diabetes vaccine candidates promote human Foxp3(+)Treg induction in humanized mice. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10991. doi: 10.1038/ncomms 10991
- Lai ZW, Kelly R, Winans T, Marchena I, Shadakshari A, Yu J, et al. Sirolimus in patients with clinically active systemic lupus erythematosus resistant to, or intolerant of, conventional medications: a single-arm, open-label, phase 1/2 trial. *Lancet*. (2018) 391:1186–96. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18) 30485-9
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium. Low-frequency and rare-coding variation contributes to multiple sclerosis risk. *Cell.* (2018) 175:1679–1687.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.09.049
- Komatsu N, Okamoto K, Sawa S, Nakashima T, Oh-hora M, Kodama T, et al. Pathogenic conversion of Foxp3+ T cells into TH17 cells in autoimmune arthritis. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:62–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.3432
- Leber A, Hontecillas R, Zoccoli-Rodriguez V, Chauhan J, Bassaganya-Riera J. Oral treatment with BT-11 ameliorates inflammatory bowel disease by enhancing regulatory T cell responses in the gut. J Immunol. (2019) 202:2095–104. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801446
- Tilburgs T, Roelen DL, van der Mast BJ, de Groot-Swings GM, Kleijburg C, Scherjon SA, et al. Evidence for a selective migration of fetusspecific CD4+CD25bright regulatory T cells from the peripheral blood to the decidua in human pregnancy. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:5737–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.8.5737
- Sasaki Y, Sakai M, Miyazaki S, Higuma S, Shiozaki A, Saito S. Decidual and peripheral blood CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in early pregnancy subjects and spontaneous abortion cases. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2004) 10:347– 53. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah044
- Sasaki Y, Darmochwal-Kolarz D, Suzuki D, Sakai M, Ito M, Shima T, et al. Proportion of peripheral blood and decidual CD4(+) CD25(bright) regulatory T cells in pre-eclampsia. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2007) 149:139–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03397.x
- Yang H, Qiu L, Chen G, Ye Z, Lu C, Lin Q. Proportional change of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in decidua and peripheral blood in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion patients. *Fertil Steril.* (2008) 89:656–61. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.03.037
- Shima T, Sasaki Y, Itoh M, Nakashima A, Ishii N, Sugamura K, et al. Regulatory T cells are necessary for implantation and maintenance of early pregnancy but not late pregnancy in allogeneic mice. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2010) 85:121–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2010.02.006
- Zenclussen AC, Gerlof K, Zenclussen ML, Ritschel S, Zambon Bertoja A, Fest S, et al. Regulatory T cells induce a privileged tolerant microenvironment at the fetal-maternal interface. *Eur J Immunol.* (2006) 36:82–94. doi: 10.1002/eji.200535428
- Zhang H, Kong H, Zeng X, Guo L, Sun X, He S. Subsets of regulatory T cells and their roles in allergy. J Transl Med. (2014) 12:125. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-125
- Williams Z. Inducing tolerance to pregnancy. N Engl J Med. (2012) 367:1159– 61. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcibr1207279
- Itoh M, Takahashi T, Sakaguchi N, Kuniyasu Y, Shimizu J, Otsuka F, et al. Thymus and autoimmunity: production of CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells as a key function of the thymus in maintaining immunologic self-tolerance. *J Immunol.* (1999) 162:5317–26.

- Jordan MS, Boesteanu A, Reed AJ, Petrone AL, Holenbeck AE, Lerman MA, et al. Thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by an agonist self-peptide. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:301–6. doi: 10.1038/86302
- Kawahata K, Misaki Y, Yamauchi M, Tsunekawa S, Setoguchi K, Miyazaki J, et al. Generation of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells from autoreactive T cells simultaneously with their negative selection in the thymus and from nonautoreactive T cells by endogenous TCR expression. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:4399–405. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.9.4399
- Li MO, Rudensky AY. T cell receptor signalling in the control of regulatory T cell differentiation and function. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2016) 16:220–33. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.26
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2003) 4:330–6. doi: 10.1038/ni904
- Fontenot JD, Rasmussen JP, Williams LM, Dooley JL, Farr AG, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cell lineage specification by the forkhead transcription factor foxp3. *Immunity*. (2005) 22:329–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.01.016
- 24. Lu L, Barbi J, Pan F. The regulation of immune tolerance by FOXP3. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:703–17. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.75
- Brunkow ME, Jeffery EW, Hjerrild KA, Paeper B, Clark LB, Yasayko SA, et al. Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. *Nat Genet.* (2001) 27:68–73. doi: 10.1038/83784
- Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, et al. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, Xlinked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. *Nat Genet*. (2001) 27:20–1. doi: 10.1038/83713
- Gavin MA, Torgerson TR, Houston E, DeRoos P, Ho WY, Stray-Pedersen A, et al. Single-cell analysis of normal and FOXP3-mutant human T cells: FOXP3 expression without regulatory T cell development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:6659–64. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509484103
- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science*. (2003) 299:1057–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1079490
- Khattri R, Cox T, Yasayko SA, Ramsdell F. An essential role for Scurfin in CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2003) 4:337–42. doi: 10.1038/ni909
- Paust S, Lu L, McCarty N, Cantor H. Engagement of B7 on effector T cells by regulatory T cells prevents autoimmune disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:10398–403. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0403342101
- Toomer KH, Lui JB, Altman NH, Ban Y, Chen X, Malek TR. Essential and non-overlapping IL-2Ralpha-dependent processes for thymic development and peripheral homeostasis of regulatory T cells. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1037. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08960-1
- Malek TR, Yu A, Vincek V, Scibelli P, Kong L. CD4 regulatory T cells prevent lethal autoimmunity in IL-2Rbeta-deficient mice. implications for the nonredundant function of IL-2. *Immunity*. (2002) 17:167–78. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00367-9
- Suzuki H, Kundig TM, Furlonger C, Wakeham A, Timms E, Matsuyama T, et al. Deregulated T cell activation and autoimmunity in mice lacking interleukin-2 receptor beta. *Science*. (1995) 268:1472–6. doi: 10.1126/science.7770771
- Bayer AL, Yu A, Adeegbe D, Malek TR. Essential role for interleukin-2 for CD4(+)CD25(+) T regulatory cell development during the neonatal period. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 201:769–77. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041179
- Setoguchi R, Hori S, Takahashi T, Sakaguchi S. Homeostatic maintenance of natural Foxp3(+) CD25(+) CD4(+) regulatory T cells by interleukin (IL)-2 and induction of autoimmune disease by IL-2 neutralization. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 201:723–35. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041982
- Yu A, Zhu L, Altman NH, Malek TR. A low interleukin-2 receptor signaling threshold supports the development and homeostasis of T regulatory cells. *Immunity*. (2009) 30:204–17. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.014
- Chinen T, Kannan AK, Levine AG, Fan X, Klein U, Zheng Y, et al. An essential role for the IL-2 receptor in Treg cell function. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:1322–33. doi: 10.1038/ni.3540
- Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:1353–62. doi: 10.1038/ni1536

- Takahashi T, Tagami T, Yamazaki S, Uede T, Shimizu J, Sakaguchi N, et al. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells constitutively expressing cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. J Exp Med. (2000) 192:303–10. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.2.303
- Friedline RH, Brown DS, Nguyen H, Kornfeld H, Lee J, Zhang Y, et al. CD4+ regulatory T cells require CTLA-4 for the maintenance of systemic tolerance. *J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:421–34. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081811
- 41. Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee KP, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. *Science*. (1995) 270:985–8. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5238.985
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity*. (1995) 3:541–7. doi: 10.1016/1074-7613(95)90125-6
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. *Science*. (2008) 322:271–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1160062
- 44. Yokosuka T, Kobayashi W, Takamatsu M, Sakata-Sogawa K, Zeng H, Hashimoto-Tane A, et al. Spatiotemporal basis of CTLA-4 costimulatory molecule-mediated negative regulation of T cell activation. *Immunity*. (2010) 33:326–39. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.09.006
- Sansom DM, Walker LS. The role of CD28 and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) in regulatory T-cell biology. *Immunol Rev.* (2006) 212:131–48. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00419.x
- van der Merwe PA, Bodian DL, Daenke S, Linsley P, Davis SJ. CD80 (B7-1) binds both CD28 and CTLA-4 with a low affinity and very fast kinetics. *J Exp Med.* (1997) 185:393–403. doi: 10.1084/jem.185.3.393
- Qureshi OS, Zheng Y, Nakamura K, Attridge K, Manzotti C, Schmidt EM, et al. Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: a molecular basis for the cell-extrinsic function of CTLA-4. *Science*. (2011) 332:600–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1202947
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev. Cancer. (2012) 12:252–64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Science. (2018) 359:1350–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar4060
- Kretschmer K, Apostolou I, Hawiger D, Khazaie K, Nussenzweig MC, von Boehmer H. Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:1219–27. doi: 10.1038/ni1265
- Zhang X, Izikson L, Liu L, Weiner HL. Activation of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells by oral antigen administration. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:4245–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.8.4245
- Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J Exp Med. (2003) 198:1875–86. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030152
- Zheng SG, Gray JD, Ohtsuka K, Yamagiwa S, Horwitz DA. Generation ex vivo of TGF-beta-producing regulatory T cells from CD4+CD25- precursors. J Immunol. (2002) 169:4183–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4183
- Marie JC, Letterio JJ, Gavin M, Rudensky AY. TGF-beta1 maintains suppressor function and Foxp3 expression in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Exp Med. (2005) 201:1061–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.20042276
- Huber S, Schramm C, Lehr HA, Mann A, Schmitt S, Becker C, et al. Cutting edge: TGF-beta signaling is required for the *in vivo* expansion and immunosuppressive capacity of regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:6526–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.11.6526
- Sawant DV, Yano H, Chikina M, Zhang Q, Liao M, Liu C, et al. Adaptive plasticity of IL-10(+) and IL-35(+) Treg cells cooperatively promotes tumor T cell exhaustion. *Nat Immunol.* (2019) 20:724–35. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0346-9
- 57. Damo M, Joshi NS. Treg cell IL-10 and IL-35 exhaust CD8(+) T cells in tumors. *Nat Immunol.* (2019) 20:674–5. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0389-y
- Kuhn R, Lohler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Muller W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell.* (1993) 75:263–74. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)80068-P
- Maynard CL, Harrington LE, Janowski KM, Oliver JR, Zindl CL, Rudensky AY, et al. Regulatory T cells expressing interleukin 10 develop from Foxp3+ and Foxp3- precursor cells in the absence of interleukin 10. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:931–41. doi: 10.1038/ni1504

- Kamanaka M, Kim ST, Wan YY, Sutterwala FS, Lara-Tejero M, Galan JE, et al. Expression of interleukin-10 in intestinal lymphocytes detected by an interleukin-10 reporter knockin tiger mouse. *Immunity*. (2006) 25:941–52. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.09.013
- Rubtsov YP, Rasmussen JP, Chi EY, Fontenot J, Castelli L, Ye X, et al. Regulatory T cell-derived interleukin-10 limits inflammation at environmental interfaces. *Immunity*. (2008) 28:546–58. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.02.017
- Chaudhry A, Samstein RM, Treuting P, Liang Y, Pils MC, Heinrich JM, et al. Interleukin-10 signaling in regulatory T cells is required for suppression of Th17 cell-mediated inflammation. *Immunity*. (2011) 34:566–78. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.018
- 63. Murai M, Turovskaya O, Kim G, Madan R, Karp CL, Cheroutre H, et al. Interleukin 10 acts on regulatory T cells to maintain expression of the transcription factor Foxp3 and suppressive function in mice with colitis. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:1178–84. doi: 10.1038/ni.1791
- Mor G, Aldo P, Alvero AB. The unique immunological and microbial aspects of pregnancy. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:469–82. doi: 10.1038/nri. 2017.64
- Gnainsky Y, Granot I, Aldo P, Barash A, Or Y, Mor G, et al. Biopsyinduced inflammatory conditions improve endometrial receptivity: the mechanism of action. *Reproduction*. (2015) 149:75–85. doi: 10.1530/REP-14-0395
- Zenclussen AC, Hammerling GJ. Cellular regulation of the uterine microenvironment that enables embryo implantation. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:321. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00321
- Dekel N, Gnainsky Y, Granot I, Racicot K, Mor G. The role of inflammation for a successful implantation. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2014) 72:141–7. doi: 10.1111/aji.12266
- Saito S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Ito M. Th1/Th2/Th17 and regulatory Tcell paradigm in pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2010) 63:601–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00852.x
- Erlebacher A, Mechanisms of T cell tolerance towards the allogeneic fetus. Nat Rev Immunol. (2013) 13:23–33. doi: 10.1038/nri3361
- Edey LF, O'Dea KP, Herbert BR, Hua R, Waddington SN, MacIntyre DA, et al. The local and systemic immune response to intrauterine LPS in the prepartum mouse. *Biol Reprod.* (2016) 95:125. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.116.143289
- 71. Lindstrom TM, Bennett PR. The role of nuclear factor kappa B in human labour. *Reproduction.* (2005) 130:569–81. doi: 10.1530/rep.1.00197
- Mor G, Cardenas I, Abrahams V, Guller S. Inflammation and pregnancy: the role of the immune system at the implantation site. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (1221) (2011) 80-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05938.x
- 73. Gibreel A, Badawy A, El-Refai W, El-Adawi N. Endometrial scratching to improve pregnancy rate in couples with unexplained subfertility: a randomized controlled trial. *J Obstetr Gynaecol Res.* (2013) 39:680–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2012.02016.x
- 74. Gnainsky Y, Granot I, Aldo PB, Barash A, Or Y, Schechtman E, et al. Local injury of the endometrium induces an inflammatory response that promotes successful implantation. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 94:2030–6. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.02.022
- Zhou L, Li R, Wang R, Huang HX, Zhong K. Local injury to the endometrium in controlled ovarian hyperstimulation cycles improves implantation rates. *Fertil Steril.* (2008) 89:1166–76. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.05.064
- 76. Guven S, Kart C, Unsal MA, Yildirim O, Odaci E, Yulug E. Endometrial injury may increase the clinical pregnancy rate in normoresponders undergoing long agonist protocol ICSI cycles with single embryo transfer. *Eur J Obstetr Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2014) 173:58–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2013.11.005
- 77. Maged AM, Al-Inany H, Salama KM, Souidan, II, Abo Ragab HM, Elnassery N. Endometrial scratch injury induces higher pregnancy rate for women with unexplained infertility undergoing IUI with ovarian stimulation: a randomized controlled trial. *Reprod Sci.* (2016) 23:239–43. doi: 10.1177/1933719115602776
- Achache H, Revel A. Endometrial receptivity markers, the journey to successful embryo implantation. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2006) 12:731–46. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dml004

- Liu S, Diao L, Huang C, Li Y, Zeng Y, Kwak-Kim JYH. The role of decidual immune cells on human pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2017) 124:44–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.10.045
- Plaks V, Birnberg T, Berkutzki T, Sela S, BenYashar A, Kalchenko V, et al. Uterine DCs are crucial for decidua formation during embryo implantation in mice. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:3954–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI36682
- Acar N, Ustunel I, Demir R. Uterine natural killer (uNK) cells and their missions during pregnancy: a review. *Acta histochemica*. (2011) 113:82–91. doi: 10.1016/j.acthis.2009.12.001
- Heitmann RJ, Weitzel RP, Feng Y, Segars JH, Tisdale JF, Wolff EF. Maternal T regulatory cell depletion impairs embryo implantation which can be corrected with adoptive t regulatory cell transfer. *Reprod Sci.* (2017) 24:1014– 24. doi: 10.1177/1933719116675054
- Jasper MJ, Tremellen KP, Robertson SA. Primary unexplained infertility is associated with reduced expression of the T-regulatory cell transcription factor Foxp3 in endometrial tissue. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2006) 12:301–8. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal032
- Zhou J, Wang Z, Zhao X, Wang J, Sun H, Hu Y. An increase of Treg cells in the peripheral blood is associated with a better *in vitro* fertilization treatment outcome. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2012) 68:100–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2012.01153.x
- Lu Y, Zhang F, Zhang Y, Zeng B, Hu L, Liao A. Quantitative reduction of peripheral CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in reproductive failure after artificial insemination by donor sperm. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2013) 69:188–93. doi: 10.1111/aji.12041
- Joller N, Lozano E, Burkett PR, Patel B, Xiao S, Zhu C, et al. Treg cells expressing the coinhibitory molecule TIGIT selectively inhibit proinflammatory Th1 and Th17 cell responses. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:569–81. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.02.012
- Robertson SA, Prins JR, Sharkey DJ, Moldenhauer LM. Seminal fluid and the generation of regulatory T cells for embryo implantation. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2013) 69:315–30. doi: 10.1111/aji.12107
- Guerin LR, Moldenhauer LM, Prins JR, Bromfield JJ, Hayball JD, Robertson SA. Seminal fluid regulates accumulation of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the preimplantation mouse uterus through expanding the FOXP3+ cell pool and CCL19-mediated recruitment. *Biol Reprod.* (2011) 85:397–408. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.110.088591
- Robertson SA, Guerin LR, Bromfield JJ, Branson KM, Ahlstrom AC, Care AS. Seminal fluid drives expansion of the CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cell pool and induces tolerance to paternal alloantigens in mice. *Biol Reprod.* (2009) 80:1036–45. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.074658
- Moldenhauer LM, Diener KR, Thring DM, Brown MP, Hayball JD, Robertson SA. Cross-presentation of male seminal fluid antigens elicits T cell activation to initiate the female immune response to pregnancy. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:8080–93. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0804018
- Clark DA, Fernandes J, Banwatt D. Prevention of spontaneous abortion in the CBA x DBA/2 mouse model by intravaginal TGF-beta and local recruitment of CD4+8+ FOXP3+ cells. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2008) 59:525–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2008.00582.x
- Baratelli F, Lin Y, Zhu L, Yang SC, Heuze-Vourc'h N, Zeng G, et al. Prostaglandin E2 induces FOXP3 gene expression and T regulatory cell function in human CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:1483–90. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.3.1483
- Kahn DA, Baltimore D. Pregnancy induces a fetal antigen-specific maternal T regulatory cell response that contributes to tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2010) 107:9299–304. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1003909107
- Aluvihare VR, Kallikourdis M, Betz AG. Regulatory T cells mediate maternal tolerance to the fetus. *Nat Immunol.* (2004) 5:266–71. doi: 10.1038/ni1037
- Zhao JX, Zeng YY, Liu Y. Fetal alloantigen is responsible for the expansion of the CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cell pool during pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2007) 75:71–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.06.052
- Samstein RM, Josefowicz SZ, Arvey A, Treuting PM, Rudensky AY. Extrathymic generation of regulatory T cells in placental mammals mitigates maternal-fetal conflict. *Cell*. (2012) 150:29–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.031
- Latham KA, Zamora A, Drought H, Subramanian S, Matejuk A, Offner H, et al. Estradiol treatment redirects the isotype of the autoantibody response and prevents the development of autoimmune arthritis. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:5820–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.5820

- Gourdy P, Bourgeois EA, Levescot A, Pham L, Riant E, Ahui ML, et al. Estrogen therapy delays autoimmune diabetes and promotes the protective efficiency of natural killer T-cell activation in female nonobese diabetic Mice. *Endocrinology*. (2016) 157:258–67. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1313
- Bebo BF, Jr, Fyfe-Johnson A, Adlard K, Beam AG, Vandenbark AA, Offner H. Low-dose estrogen therapy ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in two different inbred mouse strains. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:2080–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.3.2080
- 100. Liao ZH, Huang T, Xiao JW, Gu RC, Ouyang J, Wu G, et al. Estrogen signaling effects on muscle-specific immune responses through controlling the recruitment and function of macrophages and T cells. *Skelet Muscle*. (2019) 9:20. doi: 10.1186/s13395-019-0205-2
- 101. Seifert HA, Benedek G, Nguyen H, Kent G, Vandenbark AA, Offner H. Estrogen protects both sexes against EAE by promoting common regulatory cell subtypes independent of endogenous estrogen. *Metab Brain Dis.* (2017) 32:1747–1754. doi: 10.1007/s11011-017-0063-8
- 102. Haghmorad D, Amini AA, Mahmoudi MB, Rastin M, Hosseini M, Mahmoudi M. Pregnancy level of estrogen attenuates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in both ovariectomized and pregnant C57BL/6 mice through expansion of Treg and Th2 cells. J Neuroimmunol. (2014) 277:85–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.10.004
- 103. Arruvito L, Sanz M, Banham AH, Fainboim L. Expansion of CD4+CD25+and FOXP3+ regulatory T cells during the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle: implications for human reproduction. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:2572–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.4.2572
- 104. Polanczyk M, Zamora A, Subramanian S, Matejuk A, Hess DL, Blankenhorn EP, et al. The protective effect of 17beta-estradiol on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is mediated through estrogen receptor-alpha. Am J Pathol. (2003) 163:1599–605. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63516-X
- Prieto GA, Rosenstein Y. Oestradiol potentiates the suppressive function of human CD4 CD25 regulatory T cells by promoting their proliferation. *Immunology*. (2006) 118:58–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02339.x
- 106. Polanczyk MJ, Carson BD, Subramanian S, Afentoulis M, Vandenbark AA, Ziegler SF, et al. Cutting edge: estrogen drives expansion of the CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell compartment. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:2227–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.4.2227
- 107. Tai P, Wang J, Jin H, Song X, Yan J, Kang Y, et al. Induction of regulatory T cells by physiological level estrogen. J Cell Physiol. (2008) 214:456–64. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21221
- 108. Mao G, Wang J, Kang Y, Tai P, Wen J, Zou Q, et al. Progesterone increases systemic and local uterine proportions of CD4+CD25+ Treg cells during midterm pregnancy in mice. *Endocrinology*. (2010) 151:5477–88. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-0426
- 109. Hierweger AM, Engler JB, Friese MA, Reichardt HM, Lydon J, DeMayo F, et al. Progesterone modulates the T-cell response via glucocorticoid receptor-dependent pathways. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2019) 81:e13084. doi: 10.1111/aji.13084
- 110. Engler JB, Kursawe N, Solano ME, Patas K, Wehrmann S, Heckmann N, et al. Glucocorticoid receptor in T cells mediates protection from autoimmunity in pregnancy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E181–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1617115114
- 111. Rocamora-Reverte L, Reichardt HM, Villunger A, Wiegers G. T-cell autonomous death induced by regeneration of inert glucocorticoid metabolites. *Cell Death Dis.* (2017) 8:e2948. doi: 10.1038/cddis.20 17.344
- 112. Lee JH, Ulrich B, Cho J, Park J, Kim CH. Progesterone promotes differentiation of human cord blood fetal T cells into T regulatory cells but suppresses their differentiation into Th17 cells. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:1778– 87. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003919
- 113. Enninga EA, Holtan SG, Creedon DJ, Dronca RS, Nevala WK, Ognjanovic S, et al. Immunomodulatory effects of sex hormones: requirements for pregnancy and relevance in melanoma. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2014) 89:520–35. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.01.006
- 114. Khil LY, Jun HS, Kwon H, Yoo JK, Kim S, Notkins AL, et al. Human chorionic gonadotropin is an immune modulator and can prevent autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. *Diabetologia*. (2007) 50:2147–55. doi: 10.1007/s00125-007-0769-y

- Schumacher A, Heinze K, Witte J, Poloski E, Linzke N, Woidacki K, et al. Human chorionic gonadotropin as a central regulator of pregnancy immune tolerance. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:2650–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202698
- 116. Schumacher A, Brachwitz N, Sohr S, Engeland K, Langwisch S, Dolaptchieva M, et al. Human chorionic gonadotropin attracts regulatory T cells into the fetal-maternal interface during early human pregnancy. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:5488–97. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803177
- 117. Poloski E, Oettel A, Ehrentraut S, Luley L, Costa SD, Zenclussen AC, et al. JEG-3 trophoblast cells producing human chorionic gonadotropin promote conversion of human CD4+FOXP3- T cells into CD4+FOXP3+ regulatory T cells and foster T cell suppressive activity. *Biol Reprod.* (2016) 94:106. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.115.135541
- Lutz MB, Schuler G. Immature, semi-mature and fully mature dendritic cells: which signals induce tolerance or immunity? *Trends Immunol.* (2002) 23:445–9. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02281-0
- 119. Diao LH, Li GG, Zhu YC, Tu WW, Huang CY, Lian RC, et al. Human chorionic gonadotropin potentially affects pregnancy outcome in women with recurrent implantation failure by regulating the homing preference of regulatory T cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2017) 77:e12618. doi: 10.1111/aji.12618
- 120. Sindram-Trujillo AP, Scherjon SA, van Hulst-van Miert PP, Kanhai HH, Roelen DL, Claas FH. Comparison of decidual leukocytes following spontaneous vaginal delivery and elective cesarean section in uncomplicated human term pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2004) 62:125–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2003.11.007
- 121. Shah NM, Edey LF, Imami N, Johnson MR. Human labour is associated with altered regulatory T cell function and maternal immune activation. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2020) 199:182–200. doi: 10.1111/cei.13384
- 122. Kisielewicz A, Schaier M, Schmitt E, Hug F, Haensch GM, Meuer S, et al. A distinct subset of HLA-DR+-regulatory T cells is involved in the induction of preterm labor during pregnancy and in the induction of organ rejection after transplantation. *Clin Immunol.* (2010) 137:209–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2010.07.008
- 123. Schober L, Radnai D, Schmitt E, Mahnke K, Sohn C, Steinborn A. Term and preterm labor: decreased suppressive activity and changes in composition of the regulatory T-cell pool. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2012) 90:935– 44. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.33
- Rosenblum MD, Way SS, Abbas AK. Regulatory T cell memory. Nat Rev Immunol. (2016) 16:90–101. doi: 10.1038/nri.2015.1
- 125. Rowe JH, Ertelt JM, Xin L, Way SS. Pregnancy imprints regulatory memory that sustains anergy to fetal antigen. *Nature*. (2012) 490:102–6. doi: 10.1038/nature11462
- 126. Kinder JM, Jiang TT, Clark DR, Chaturvedi V, Xin L, Ertelt JM, et al. Pregnancy-induced maternal regulatory T cells, bona fide memory or maintenance by antigenic reminder from fetal cell microchimerism? *Chimerism.* (2014) 5:16–9. doi: 10.4161/chim.28241
- 127. Rai R, Regan L. Recurrent miscarriage. Lancet. (2006) 368:601-11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69204-0
- Branch DW, Gibson M, Silver RM. Clinical practice. recurrent miscarriage. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:1740–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1005330
- 129. Stirrat GM. Recurrent miscarriage. II: Clinical associations, causes, and management. Lancet (1990) 336:728–33. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90) 92215-4
- 130. Zhang C, Deng X, Zhang X, Pan Z, Zhao W, Zhang Y, et al. Association between Serum TNF-alpha levels and recurrent spontaneous miscarriage: a meta-analysis. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2016) 75:86–93. doi: 10.1111/aji.12447
- Kwak-Kim J, Bao S, Lee SK, Kim JW, Gilman-Sachs A. Immunological modes of pregnancy loss: inflammation, immune effectors, and stress. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2014) 72:129–40. doi: 10.1111/aji.12234
- 132. Lee SK, Kim JY, Hur SE, Kim CJ, Na BJ, Lee M, et al. An imbalance in interleukin-17-producing T and Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells in women with idiopathic recurrent pregnancy loss. *Hum Reprod.* (2011) 26:2964–71. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der301
- 133. Kwak-Kim JY, Chung-Bang HS, Ng SC, Ntrivalas EI, Mangubat CP, Beaman KD, et al. Increased T helper 1 cytokine responses by circulating T cells are present in women with recurrent pregnancy losses and in infertile women with multiple implantation failures

after IVF. Hum Reprod. (2003) 18:767-73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ deg156

- 134. Wang WJ, Hao CF, Qu QL, Wang X, Qiu LH, Lin QD. The deregulation of regulatory T cells on interleukin-17-producing T helper cells in patients with unexplained early recurrent miscarriage. *Hum Reprod.* (2010) 25:2591–6. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq198
- 135. Wu L, Li J, Xu HL, Xu B, Tong XH, Kwak-Kim J, et al. IL-7/IL-7R signaling pathway might play a role in recurrent pregnancy losses by increasing inflammatory Th17 cells and decreasing Treg cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 76:454–64. doi: 10.1111/aji.12588
- 136. Wang WJ, Liu FJ, Xin L, Hao CF, Bao HC, Qu QL, et al. Adoptive transfer of pregnancy-induced CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells reverses the increase in abortion rate caused by interleukin 17 in the CBA/JxBALB/c mouse model. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:946–52. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu014
- 137. Zenclussen AC, Gerlof K, Zenclussen ML, Sollwedel A, Bertoja AZ, Ritter T, et al. Abnormal T-cell reactivity against paternal antigens in spontaneous abortion: adoptive transfer of pregnancy-induced CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells prevents fetal rejection in a murine abortion model. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 166:811–22. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62302-4
- Jin LP, Chen QY, Zhang T, Guo PF, Li DJ. The CD4+CD25 bright regulatory T cells and CTLA-4 expression in peripheral and decidual lymphocytes are down-regulated in human miscarriage. *Clin Immunol.* (2009) 133:402–10. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2009.08.009
- 139. Mei S, Tan J, Chen H, Chen Y, Zhang J. Changes of CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells and FOXP3 expression in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion patients. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 94:2244–7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.11.020
- 140. Winger EE, Reed JL. Low circulating CD4(+) CD25(+) Foxp3(+) T regulatory cell levels predict miscarriage risk in newly pregnant women with a history of failure. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2011) 66:320–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011.00992.x
- 141. Bao SH, Wang XP, De Lin Q, Wang WJ, Yin GJ, Qiu LH. Decidual CD4+CD25+CD127dim/-regulatory T cells in patients with unexplained recurrent spontaneous miscarriage. *Euro J Obstetr Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2011) 155:94–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2010.11.007
- 142. Zhu L, Chen H, Liu M, Yuan Y, Wang Z, Chen Y, et al. Treg/Th17 cell imbalance and IL-6 profile in patients with unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Reprod Sci.* (2017) 24:882–90J.
- 143. Qian J, Zhang N, Lin J, Wang C, Pan X, Chen L, et al. Distinct pattern of Th17/Treg cells in pregnant women with a history of unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Biosci Trends.* (2018) 12:157–67. doi: 10.5582/bst.2018.01012
- 144. Giudice LC, Kao LC. Endometriosis. Lancet. (2004) 364:1789–99. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17403-5
- 145. Bulun SE. Endometriosis. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:268–79. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0804690
- 146. Chapron C, Marcellin L, Borghese B, Santulli P. Rethinking mechanisms, diagnosis and management of endometriosis. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2019) 15:666–82. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0245-z
- D'Hooghe TM, Debrock S. Endometriosis, retrograde menstruation and peritoneal inflammation in women and in baboons. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2002) 8:84–8. doi: 10.1093/humupd/8.1.84
- Halme J, Hammond MG, Hulka JF, Raj SG, Talbert LM. Retrograde menstruation in healthy women and in patients with endometriosis. *Obstetri Gynecol.* (1984) 64:151–4.
- 149. Olovsson M. Immunological aspects of endometriosis: an update. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2011) 66(Suppl. 1):101–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897. 2011.01045.x
- Sciezynska A, Komorowski M, Soszynska M, Malejczyk J. NK cells as potential targets for immunotherapy in endometriosis. J Clin Med. (2019) 8:1468. doi: 10.3390/jcm8091468
- Zhang T, De Carolis C, G.Man CW, Wang CC. The link between immunity, autoimmunity and endometriosis: a literature update. *Autoimmunity Rev.* (2018) 17:945–55. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2018.03.017
- 152. Bacci M, Capobianco A, Monno A, Cottone L, Di Puppo F, Camisa B, et al. Macrophages are alternatively activated in patients with endometriosis and required for growth and vascularization of lesions in a mouse model of disease. *Am J Pathol.* (2009) 175:547–56. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.081011
- Zhou WJ, Yang HL, Shao J, Mei J, Chang KK, Zhu R, et al. Antiinflammatory cytokines in endometriosis. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2019) 76:2111– 32. doi: 10.1007/s00018-019-03056-x
- 154. Ho HN, Chao KH, Chen HF, Wu MY, Yang YS, Lee TY. Peritoneal natural killer cytotoxicity and CD25+ CD3+ lymphocyte subpopulation are decreased in women with stage III-IV endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (1995) 10:2671–5. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a135765
- 155. Takamura M, Koga K, Izumi G, Hirata T, Harada M, Hirota Y, et al. Simultaneous detection and evaluation of four subsets of CD4+ T lymphocyte in lesions and peripheral blood in endometriosis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2015) 74:480–6. doi: 10.1111/aji.12426
- 156. Basta P, Majka M, Jozwicki W, Lukaszewska E, Knafel A, Grabiec M, et al. The frequency of CD25+CD4+ and FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in ectopic endometrium and ectopic decidua. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2010) 8:116. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-8-116
- 157. Podgaec S, Rizzo LV, Fernandes LF, Baracat EC, Abrao MS. CD4(+) CD25(high) Foxp3(+) cells increased in the peritoneal fluid of patients with endometriosis. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2012) 68:301–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2012.01173.x
- 158. Olkowska-Truchanowicz J, Bocian K, Maksym RB, Bialoszewska A, Wlodarczyk D, Baranowski W, et al. CD4(+) CD25(+) FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells in peripheral blood and peritoneal fluid of patients with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2013) 28:119–24. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des346
- 159. Gogacz M, Winkler I, Bojarska-Junak A, Tabarkiewicz J, Semczuk A, Rechberger T, et al. T regulatory lymphocytes in patients with endometriosis. *Mol Med Rep.* (2014) 10:1072–6. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2014.2294
- 160. Tanaka Y, Mori T, Ito F, Koshiba A, Takaoka O, Kataoka H, et al. Exacerbation of endometriosis due to regulatory T-cell dysfunction. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2017) 102:3206–17. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00052
- 161. Hanada T, Tsuji S, Nakayama M, Wakinoue S, Kasahara K, Kimura F, et al. Suppressive regulatory T cells and latent transforming growth factor-beta-expressing macrophages are altered in the peritoneal fluid of patients with endometriosis. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2018) 16:9. doi: 10.1186/s12958-018-0325-2
- 162. Khan KN, Yamamoto K, Fujishita A, Muto H, Koshiba A, Kuroboshi H, et al. Differential levels of regulatory T-cells and T-helper-17 cells in women with early and advanced endometriosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2019) 104:4715–29. doi: 10.1210/jc.2019-00350
- 163. Braundmeier A, Jackson K, Hastings J, Koehler J, Nowak R, Fazleabas A. Induction of endometriosis alters the peripheral and endometrial regulatory T cell population in the non-human primate. *Hum Reprod.* (2012) 27:1712– 22. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des083
- 164. Zhang X, Hei P, Deng L, Lin J. Interleukin-10 gene promoter polymorphisms and their protein production in peritoneal fluid in patients with endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2007) 13:135–40. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal106
- 165. Sikora J, Smycz-Kubanska M, Mielczarek-Palacz A, Bednarek I, Kondera-Anasz Z. The involvement of multifunctional TGF-beta and related cytokines in pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Immunol Lett.* (2018) 201:31–7. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2018.10.011
- 166. Gueuvoghlanian-Silva BY, Bellelis P, Barbeiro DF, Hernandes C, Podgaec S. Treg and NK cells related cytokines are associated with deep rectosigmoid endometriosis and clinical symptoms related to the disease. J Reprod Immunol. (2018) 126:32–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2018.02.003
- 167. B.Mol WJ, Roberts CT, Thangaratinam S, Magee LA, C.de Groot JM, Hofmeyr GJ. Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet.* (2016) 387:999–1011. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00070-7
- Williams PJ, Broughton Pipkin F. The genetics of pre-eclampsia and other hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol.* (2011) 25:405–17. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2011.02.007
- 169. Powe CE, Levine RJ, Karumanchi SA. Preeclampsia, a disease of the maternal endothelium: the role of antiangiogenic factors and implications for later cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*. (2011) 123:2856– 69. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.853127
- 170. Lyall F, Robson SC, Bulmer JN. Spiral artery remodeling and trophoblast invasion in preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction: relationship to clinical outcome. *Hypertension*. (2013) 62:1046–54. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.01892

- 171. Lockwood CJ, Yen CF, Basar M, Kayisli UA, Martel M, Buhimschi I, et al. Preeclampsia-related inflammatory cytokines regulate interleukin-6 expression in human decidual cells. *Am J Pathol.* (2008) 172:1571–9. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.070629
- 172. Gonzalez-Comadran M, Urresta Avila J, Saavedra Tascon A, Jimenez R, Sola I, Brassesco M, et al. The impact of donor insemination on the risk of preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Obstetr Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2014) 182:160–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2014.09.022
- 173. Saftlas AF, Rubenstein L, Prater K, Harland KK, Field E, Triche EW. Cumulative exposure to paternal seminal fluid prior to conception and subsequent risk of preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol. (2014) 102:104–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2013.07.006
- 174. Einarsson JI, Sangi-Haghpeykar H, Gardner MO. Sperm exposure and development of preeclampsia. Am J Obstetr Gynecol. (2003) 188:1241–3. doi: 10.1067/mob.2003.401
- 175. Santner-Nanan B, Peek MJ, Khanam R, Richarts L, Zhu E, Fazekas de St. Groth B, et al. Systemic increase in the ratio between Foxp3+ and IL-17producing CD4+ T cells in healthy pregnancy but not in preeclampsia. J Immunol. (2009) 183:7023–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901154
- 176. Figueiredo AS, Schumacher A. The T helper type 17/regulatory T cell paradigm in pregnancy. *Immunology*. (2016) 148:13–21. doi: 10.1111/imm.12595
- Hosseini A, Dolati S, Hashemi V, Abdollahpour-Alitappeh M, Yousefi M. Regulatory T and T helper 17 cells: their roles in preeclampsia. *J Cell Physiol.* (2018) 233:6561–6573. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26604
- Eghbal-Fard S, Yousefi M, Heydarlou H, Ahmadi M, Taghavi S, Movasaghpour A, et al. The imbalance of Th17/Treg axis involved in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *J Cell Physiol.* (2019) 234:5106–16. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27315
- 179. Molvarec A, Czegle I, Szijarto J, Rigo J. Jr. Increased circulating interleukin-17 levels in preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol. (2015) 112:53–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2015.05.007
- 180. Darmochwal-Kolarz D, Kludka-Sternik M, Tabarkiewicz J, Kolarz B, Rolinski J, Leszczynska-Gorzelak B, et al. The predominance of Th17 lymphocytes and decreased number and function of Treg cells in preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol. (2012) 93:75–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2012.01.006
- 181. Robertson SA, Green ES, Care AS, Moldenhauer LM, Prins JR, Hull ML, et al. Therapeutic potential of regulatory T cells in preeclampsia-opportunities and challenges. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:478. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00478
- 182. Tsuda S, Zhang X, Hamana H, Shima T, Ushijima A, Tsuda K, et al. Clonally expanded decidual effector regulatory T cells increase in late gestation of normal pregnancy, but not in preeclampsia, in humans. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1934. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01934
- 183. Hsu P, Santner-Nanan B, Dahlstrom JE, Fadia M, Chandra A, Peek M, et al. Altered decidual DC-SIGN+ antigen-presenting cells and impaired regulatory T-cell induction in preeclampsia. Am J Pathol. (2012) 181:2149– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.08.032
- 184. Sharabi A, Tsokos MG, Ding Y, Malek TR, Klatzmann D, Tsokos GC. Regulatory T cells in the treatment of disease. *Nat Rev Drug Discover*. (2018) 17:823–44. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.148
- 185. Yin Y, Han X, Shi Q, Zhao Y, He Y. Adoptive transfer of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells for prevention and treatment of spontaneous abortion. *Eur J Obstetr Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2012) 161:177–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2011.12.023
- 186. Liu M, Zhen X, Song H, Chen J, Sun X, Li X, et al. Low-dose lymphocyte immunotherapy rebalances the peripheral blood Th1/Th2/Treg paradigm in patients with unexplained recurrent miscarriage. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2017) 15:95. doi: 10.1186/s12958-017-0315-9
- 187. Jafarzadeh S, Ahmadi M, Dolati S, Aghebati-Maleki L, Eghbal-Fard S, Kamrani A, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin G treatment increases live birth rate in women with recurrent miscarriage and modulates regulatory and exhausted regulatory T cells frequency and function. *J Cell Biochem*. (2019) 120:5424–5434. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27821
- Muyayalo KP, Li ZH, Mor G, Liao AH. Modulatory effect of intravenous immunoglobulin on Th17/Treg cell balance in women with unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2018) 80:e13018. doi: 10.1111/aji.13018

- 189. Wu L, Luo LH, Zhang YX, Li Q, Xu B, Zhou GX, et al. Alteration of Th17 and Treg cells in patients with unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion before and after lymphocyte immunization therapy. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2014) 12:74. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-12-74
- 190. Yang H, Qiu L, Di W, Zhao A, Chen G, Hu K, et al. Proportional change of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells after lymphocyte therapy in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion patients. *Fertil Steril.* (2009) 92:301–5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008. 04.068
- 191. Ahmadi M, Aghdam SA, Nouri M, Babaloo Z, Farzadi L, Ghasemzadeh A, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) treatment modulates peripheral blood Th17 and regulatory T cells in recurrent miscarriage patients: non randomized, open-label clinical trial. *Immunology Lett.* (2017) 192:12–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.10.003
- 192. Kim DJ, Lee SK, Kim JY, Na BJ, Hur SE, Lee M, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin G modulates peripheral blood Th17 and Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells in pregnant women with recurrent pregnancy loss. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2014) 71:441–50. doi: 10.1111/aji.12208

- 193. Royster GD, Harris JC, Nelson A, Castro Y, Weitzel RP, Tisdale J, et al. Rapamycin corrects T regulatory cell depletion and improves embryo implantation and live birth rates in a murine model. *Reprod Sci.* (2019) 26:1545–56. doi: 10.1177/1933719119828110
- 194. Ahmadi M, Abdolmohamadi-Vahid S, Ghaebi M, Dolati S, Abbaspour-Aghdam S, Danaii S, et al. Sirolimus as a new drug to treat RIF patients with elevated Th17/Treg ratio: a double-blind, phase II randomized clinical trial. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2019) 74:105730. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105730

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Huang, Chi and Qiao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Upregulated TRAIL and Reduced DcR2 Mediate Apoptosis of Decidual PMN-MDSC in Unexplained Recurrent Pregnancy Loss

Congcong Li^{1,2†}, Xiaoxin Zhang^{1†}, Xiaomin Kang³, Chao Chen^{1,2}, Feng Guo^{1,2}, Qiaohong Wang^{1,2} and Aimin Zhao^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Renji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ² Shanghai Key Laboratory of Gynecologic Oncology, Shanghai, China, ³ Department of Reproductive Medical Center, The First People's Hospital of Yunnan Province, Kunming, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Shigeru Saito, University of Toyama, Japan

Reviewed by:

Yasuyuki Negishi, Nippon Medical School, Japan Seiji Mabuchi, Nara Medical University, Japan

> *Correspondence: Aimin Zhao zamzkh0526@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 January 2020 **Accepted:** 27 May 2020 **Published:** 30 June 2020

Citation:

Li C, Zhang X, Kang X, Chen C, Guo F, Wang Q and Zhao A (2020) Upregulated TRAIL and Reduced DcR2 Mediate Apoptosis of Decidual PMN-MDSC in Unexplained Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. Front. Immunol. 11:1345. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01345

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), especially polymorphonuclear MDSC (PMN-MDSC), accumulate in maternal-fetal interface during pregnancy and are involved in the maintenance of immune tolerance. Decreased PMN-MDSC is associated with pregnancy complications such as unexplained recurrent pregnancy loss (URPL). In the present study we showed decreased PMN-MDSC in the URPL group compared with the normal pregnancy (NP) group, and PMN-MDSC was the major subset of MDSC in human decidua with potent immune suppression activity. We then performed gene expression profile and found that human decidual PMN-MDSC in the NP and URPL groups showed different gene and pathway signature, including apoptosis. Apoptosis of decidual PMN-MDSC was mediated by TNF-related apoptosis-induced ligand (TRAIL) in a Caspase 3 dependent manner. TRAIL was expressed in decidua and upregulated in decidua of the URPL group. Notably, of all the membrane TRAIL receptors, only DcR2 was down-regulated in PMN-MDSC in the URPL group. In vitro experiment demonstrated that DcR2 blockade sensitized PMN-MDSC to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. Together, these data indicate that increased TRAIL and reduced DcR2 on PMN-MDSC sensitize PMN-MDSC response to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in the URPL group, which is responsible for decreased accumulation of PMN-MDSC in URPL.

Keywords: polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cell, TRAIL, TRAIL receptor, apoptosis, unexplained recurrent pregnancy loss

INTRODUCTION

Recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL), defined as two or more failed pregnancies, occurs in 5% pregnancies and about 50% of all RPL are idiopathic, which is defined as unexplained RPL (URPL) (1, 2). The pathogenesis of URPL is poorly understood and maternal-fetal immune dysfunction is considered to be one major cause. Maternal-fetal immune tolerance depends on intricate interactions of the immune system (3), and recent reports indicate a role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) in maintenance of maternal-fetal immune tolerance (4–6).

MDSC are recently identified as heterogeneous cell populations of myeloid origin with potent immunosuppressive activity (7, 8). In human, MDSC are defined as $HLA-DR^{-/low}CD11b^+CD33^+$,

74

and can be further categorized into two major subsets: CD33^{bright}CD14⁺CD15⁻ monocytic MDSC (M-MDSC) and CD33^{dim}CD14⁻CD15⁺ polymorphonuclear MDSC (PMN-MDSC) (8-10). Accumulation of MDSC occurs in a lot of physiological and pathological conditions, such as cancer, infection, autoimmune disorders, obesity, and pregnancy (7). Immune suppressive activity is the hallmark of MDSC. The most prominent immune regulatory factors of MDSC include Arginase 1, reactive oxygen species (ROS), prostaglandin E2, nitric oxide synthase, and immune checkpoints (11, 12). In different contexts MDSC suppress the immune response via different mechanisms (7). MDSC are involved in the maintenance of immune tolerance of pregnancy by inhibiting cytotoxic T cells activation, suppressing NK cells killing activities and regulating regulatory T cells (5, 6, 13, 14). Decreased MDSC has been associated with URPL and depletion of MDSC in murine pregnancy model can lead to implantation failure or embryo loss (6, 14, 15). Several studies have reported potential mechanisms of MDSC expansion during pregnancy in healthy women. Estrogen or progesterone can facilitate expansion and activation of MDSC (15, 16). Fetal-derived factor HLA-G also plays a role in PMN-MDSC accumulation via STAT3 pathway stimulation (17). Moreover, CXCR2/CXCL1 axis, which is also related to PMN-MDSC infiltration into tumor, promotes PMN-MDSC recruitment to the decidual microenvironment (18). Nevertheless, little is known about transcription features and cell fate of MDSC in normal pregnancy (NP) and URPL. Reagents targeting MDSC survival have been demonstrated to be effective for cancer treatment in both murine models and human participants (19-21). Understanding the cell fate of decidual MDSC is critical for developing better therapeutic approaches for pregnancy complications such as URPL.

In this study, we showed PMN-MDSC was the most abundant MDSC subset in decidua and only PMN-MDSC, not M-MDSC, decreased in decidua isolated from patients with URPL. Furthermore, we found apoptosis of decidual PMN-MDSC was activated in the URPL group. Increased TRAIL expression, together with reduced DcR2 in decidual PMN-MDSC, played an important role in excessive apoptosis of PMN-MDSC in URPL.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Participants

From June 2018 to December 2019, a total of 33 women with clinical NP and 23 women with URPL were enrolled in the study. The demographic characteristics of participants in the URPL group and the NP group are concluded in **Supplemental Table 1**. The fetal heartbeat of the NP group was verified by ultrasound before elective termination of pregnancy. Patients with URPL were enrolled in the URPL group if they fitted the following criteria: (1) two or more previous spontaneous abortions; (2) absence of uterine malformation; (3) normal karyotype of parents and abortus; and (4) absence of endocrine, metabolic, autoimmune diseases, thrombophilia, or infection; (5) Fetal heartbeat had ceased or never detected. Decidual tissues from 6 to 9 weeks were harvested immediately after surgery under sterile conditions and washed in cold PBS to remove blood and fetal

tissues. Decidual tissues were frozen in liquid nitrogen for protein or RNA extraction. For immunohistochemistry, decidual tissues were fixed in formalin and embedded in paraffin for preservation. Peripheral blood was collected from healthy non-pregnant donors. The study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of Renji Hospital and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Cell Isolation

Single-cell suspensions were obtained by homogenizing tissues in PBS in the gentleMACS Dissociator (Miltenvi Biotec, Germany) with gentleMACS program B and C. Cell suspensions were strained through a 70-µm strainer and subsequently through a 40-µm strainer. Afterwards, the cells were washed with PBS and isolated using Ficoll density gradient (GE healthcare, USA). Mononuclear cells were harvested from the interphase. Cells were used immediately after isolation for phenotypic characterization and functional analysis. For sorting of decidual PMN-MDSC, decidual mononuclear cells were labeled with: CD11b-APC (BioLegend, USA), HLA-DR-FITC (BioLegend, USA) and CD15-PE (BD Bioscience, USA). PMN-MDSC were sorted as CD11b⁺HLA-DR⁻CD15⁺ using FACS Aria II (BD Bioscience, USA). In experiments involving survival analysis, CD15 MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Germany) and MACS sorting were used for separation of PMN-MDSC. To isolate CD3⁺ T cells for T cell suppression assay, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of healthy donors were labeled with CD3 MicroBeads (Miltenvi Biotec, Germany) and sorted. Purity was >90% as confirmed by flow cytometry.

Analytical Flow Cytometry

Fc receptor blocking solution (BioLegend, USA) was added prior to staining. The following antibodies were used in this study: CD45-APC-H7 (BD Bioscience, USA), CD45-Percp-Cy5.5 (BD Bioscience, USA), CD33-PE-Cy7 (BioLegend, USA), CD11b-FITC (BioLegend, USA), CD11b-BV421 (BD Bioscience, USA), CD11b-APC (BioLegend, USA), HLA-DR-BV421 (BD Bioscience, USA), HLA-DR-FITC (BioLegend, USA), CD14-PE (BD Bioscience, USA), CD15-APC (BD Bioscience, USA), CD15-BV510 (BioLegend, USA), CD3-FTIC (BioLegend, USA), IFN-γ-PE-Cy7 (BioLegend, USA), CD4-APC (BioLegend, USA), CD8-PE (BioLegend, USA), CD16-PE (BD Bioscience, USA), CD56-PE-Cy7 (BD Bioscience, USA), Fas-APC (BD Bioscience, USA), CD261-APC (BioLegend, USA), CD262-PE (BioLegend, USA), CD263-PE (eBioscience, USA), and CD264-PE (R&D Systems, USA). FVD eFluor 780 (eBioscience, USA) was used to identify dead cells for excluding them from the analysis. Flow cytometry data were acquired with LSRFortessa (BD Bioscience, USA) or Beckman Coulter FC500 (Beckman, USA), and were analyzed using FlowJo software (BD Bioscience, USA). Positive subpopulations were identified by comparing stained samples with Fluorescence minus one (FMO) controls.

T Cell Suppression Assay

CD3⁺ cells were labeled with carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE) (BD Bioscience, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions and cultured with PMN-MDSC

isolated from decidual tissues at a ratio of 2:1 or 6:1 in 96-well plates. $CD3^+$ cells were stimulated with $10 \mu g/mL$ pre-coated anti-CD3 (OKT3, BioLegend, USA) and $1 \mu g/mL$ soluble anti-CD28 (CD28.2, BioLegend, USA). After 3.5 days of incubation, cells were resuspended in PBS for flow cytometry. For T cell secretion suppression assay, unlabeled CD3⁺ cells were used in the T: MDSC cell co-culture system. After 3.5 days, leukocyte activation cocktail with BD Golgiplug (BD Bioscience, USA) was added into the culture system for 5 h. Afterwards, the cells were harvested for the analysis of intracellular cytokine expression. Cells were cultured at 37° C in humidified air with 5% CO₂ in RPMI 1640 (HyClone, USA) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco, USA) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, USA).

Gene Expression Profile Analysis

The Human Whole Genome OneArray HOA 7.1 (Phalanx Biotech Group, China) was used to examine the whole-genome expression profiles of sorted PMN-MDSC from three women of the NP group and three women of the URPL group. Total RNA was extracted using Trizol Reagent (Invitrogen, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA integrity number (RIN) was 7–10. Cy5-labeled aRNA was hybridized and scanned on a G2505C Agilent Microarray Scanner (Agilent Technologies, USA) with Agilent 0.1 XDR software. Heatmap analysis was performed using R and a fold change of >1.5 was considered to be significant. Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) including GO and KEGG pathway was carried out using GSEA 4.0.1 and gene sets were obtained from the MSigDB database v7.0 (22, 23). The complete data were deposited in NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus with accession number GSE139180.

Survival Assay

PMN-MDSC isolated from decidual tissues of normal pregnancy were cultured at 37°C in humidified air with 5% CO2 in RPMI 1640 (HyClone, USA) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco, USA), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, USA) and 5 ng/mL recombinant GM-CSF (R&D Systems, USA). Decidual PMN-MDSC were treated with FasL (10, 100 ng/mL, BioLegend, USA), TRAIL (10, 100 ng/mL, Gibco, USA) or DR5 agonist Bioymifi (10, 50 μ M, Selleck, USA) for 24 h and then were collected. In some experiments, PMN-MDSC were preincubated with anti-human DcR2 Ab (10 μ g/mL, R&D Systems, USA) for 1 h before exposed to TRAIL. Apoptosis of PMN-MDSC was tested using activated Caspase-3-PE (BD Bioscience, USA) staining or Annexin V Apoptosis Detection Kit (BD Bioscience, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Real-Time Quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted from decidual tissues with TaKaRa MiniBEST Universal RNA Extraction Kit (Takara, Japan) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Concentration of RNA was measured by NanoDrop ND-1000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). mRNA was synthesized into cDNA using PrimeScript RT Reagent Kit (Takara, Japan). FasL, TRAIL and GAPDH were amplified through qRT-PCR using SYBR Premix Ex Taq II (Takara, Japan) with QuantStudio Dx Real-Time Instrument (Life Technologies, USA). For clinical samples, relative gene expression was calculated with $2^{-\Delta CT}$ method normalized to GAPDH. The sequences of primers were listed in **Supplemental Table 2**.

Western Blot

Decidual samples were homogenized, incubated with radioimmuno precipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) with protease inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for 30 min on ice. Total protein extracts were obtained after centrifuging at 12,000 g for 15 min at 4°C. Protein concentrations were measured using a bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA) assay kit (Beyotime Biotechnology, China). A hundred microgram protein were loaded on 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Membranes were blocked in 5% w/v bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 h at room temperature. Then membranes were incubated at 4°C overnight with the following primary antibodies: anti-TRAIL (Cell Signaling Technology, USA, 1:1,000), anti-FasL (Absin, China, 1:500), and anti-β-actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, USA, 1:1,000). βactin was used as the internal control. Then the blot was incubated with the corresponding IRDye 800CW-conjugated secondary antibody (LI-COR Biosciences, USA, 1:10,000) for 1 h at room temperature. Signals were detected using Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR Biosciences, USA) and the blots were quantified using ImageJ (McMaster Biophotonics Facility, Canada).

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed as previously described (24). Four micrometer sections of formalin-fixed paraffinembedded decidual samples were incubated overnight with anti-FasL antibody (1:200; Abcam, USA) and anti-TRAIL antibody (1:200; Cell Signaling Technology, USA, 1:500) at 4°C. Monoclonal or polyclonal rabbit IgG served as the negative control. Bright-field images were taken using Leica DM2500 (Leica, Germany). Images were randomly taken from each section, and the average optic density was identified with ImageJ (McMaster Biophotonics Facility, Canada).

Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Unpaired Student's *t*-test was used to analyze the differences between the two groups. When the variances of the two groups differed in F test, the Mann-Whitney *U*-test was used to compare the two groups. Comparison among multiple groups was carried out by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's *posthoc* test. Correlations between parameters were evaluated using Pearson correlation analysis. *P*-value < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 7 Software (GraphPad Software, USA).

RESULTS

PMN-MDSC Was the Major Subset of Decidual MDSC and Decreased in the URPL Group

We used current consensual marker combinations for characterization of MDSC subsets. PMN-MDSC were defined as HLA-DR^{-/low}CD11b⁺CD33⁺CD15⁺CD14⁻ and M-MDSC were defined as HLA-DR^{-/low}CD11b⁺CD33⁺CD15⁻CD14⁺ (Figure 1A). We found that both CD33^{dim}CD15⁺ PMN-MDSC and CD33^{bright}CD14⁺ M-MDSC existed in decidua of early pregnancy. To determine the potential role of MDSC in pathogenesis of URPL, we analyzed percentage of MDSC subsets within the total CD45⁺ leukocytes of 23 patients with URPL and 33 women with normal pregnancy using flow cytometry. Compared with M-MDSC, more PMN-MDSC accumulated in decidua in both the NP group and the URPL group (Figure 1B; P < 0.0001). Notably, only decidual PMN-MDSC significantly decreased in the URPL group compared with normal pregnancy (Figure 1B; P = 0.001).

Decidual PMN-MDSC in Both the NP Group and the URPL Group Had Suppressive Activity

T cell suppression ability is a hallmark of MDSC and is indispensable when defining MDSC. PMN-MDSC were isolated from decidual tissues of the NP group and the URPL group and then cocultured with purified CD3⁺ T cells at ratio of 1:2 or 1:6 in the presentence of anti-CD3/CD28 stimulation for 3.5 days. PMN-MDSC in both groups remarkably suppressed proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells or CD8⁺ T cells (**Figures 2A,B**). IFN- γ production was also suppressed by PMN-MDSC in both the NP group (**Figure 2C**; *P* = 0.02) and the URPL group (**Figure 2C**; *P* = 0.04). Altogether, these data indicated that PMN-MDSC in both the NP group and URPL group exerted potent suppression ability.

Decidual PMN-MDSC in the URPL vs. the NP Groups Showed Different Gene and Pathway Signature

To evaluate the potential role of PMN-MDSC in maintaining the normal pregnancy, we performed whole-genome expression profile analysis of decidual PMN-MDSC in the NP group and the URPL group. The gene expression pattern of the decidual PMN-MDSC was significantly different between the NP group and the URPL group. Altogether, 423 differentially expressed genes (DEG) exhibited a fold change of >1.5 with an adjusted *P*-value of <0.05; 303 genes were upregulated and 120 genes were down-regulated in the URPL group compared with the NP group (**Figures 3A,B**). To elucidate functional features of PMN-MDSC in NP and URPL, GSEA were performed. KEGG gene sets and GO gene sets were used in the analysis. Of note, toll-like receptor signal pathway, apoptosis, leukocyte activation involved in inflammatory response and phagocytic vesicle were significantly enriched in the URPL group while extracellular matrix (ECM) receptor interaction, TGF-beta signaling pathway, cell adhesion mediator activity and growth factor binding were remarkably enriched in the NP group (**Figures 3C,D**).

Decidual PMN-MDSC in URPL Underwent More Apoptosis

To further examine whether decidual PMN-MDSC in the URPL group experienced more apoptosis than that in the NP group, we analyzed activated Caspase 3 expression in PMN-MDSC of the two groups. There was significant difference in the proportion of apoptotic cells in freshly isolated decidual PMN-MDSC of the NP group and the URPL group (Figure 4A; P = 0.004). After cultured in vitro for 24 h, activated Caspase3 expression was also higher in PMN-MDSC of the URPL group (Figure 4A; P = 0.002). Furthermore, the proportion of PMN-MDSC within the total decidual CD45⁺ leukocytes was negatively correlated with activated Caspase 3 expression in PMN-MDSC (Figure 4B; Pearson r = -0.51, P = 0.031). The apoptosis of decidual PMN-MDSC was also examined by Annexin V staining. For PMN-MDSC which were freshly isolated or cultured for 24 h, the percentage of Annexin V⁺ PMN-MDSC was higher in the URPL group compared with the NP group (Figure 4C; P = 0.02, P = 0.006). Activated Caspase 3 expression was of no difference between the NP group and the URPL group for freshly isolated decidual NK cells (Supplemental Figure 1) and decidual T cells (Supplemental Figure 1). These data indicated that decidual PMN-MDSC in the URPL group underwent more apoptosis than that in the NP group.

Decidual FasL and TRAIL Expression Were Increased in URPL

We determined the expression levels of FasL and TRAIL in decidual tissues of the URPL and the NP group. qRT-PCR results showed that mRNA level of FasL (Figure 5A; P = 0.034) and TRAIL (Figure 5B; P = 0.008) significantly increased in the URPL group. Western blot showed protein levels of FasL (Figure 5C; P = 0.011) and TRAIL (Figure 5D; P = 0.022) were remarkably upregulated in the URPL group. Immunohistochemistry staining showed that in the NP group, FasL expression was stronger in the glandular epithelial cells than that in the decidual stromal cells (Figure 5E1); however, in the URPL group, both glandular epithelial cells and decidual stromal cells showed moderate FasL expression (Figure 5E2). TRAIL was localized in both glandular epithelial cells and decidual stromal cells (Figure 5F1,F2), and epithelial cells showed stronger expression than stromal cells in the NP group (Figure 5F1). FasL and TRAIL staining were stronger in the URPL group (**Figures 5E,F**; P = 0.005, P < 0.0001). Localization of glandular epithelial cells and decidual stromal cells were determined by staining of cytokeratin 7 and vimentin (Supplemental Figure 2), respectively. The negative control stained with polyclonal or monoclonal rabbit IgG showed no positive staining (Figure 5E3,F3).



FIGURE 1 Phenotypic characteristics and frequency of MDSC subsets of human decidual tissue in the normal pregnancy (NP) group and the unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion (URPL) group. (A) Representative flow cytometry showing gating strategy of PMN-MDSC (gated on HLA-DR^{-//ow}CD11b⁺CD33⁺CD15⁺CD14⁻) and M-MDSC (gated on HLA-DR^{-//ow}CD11b⁺CD33⁺CD15⁻CD14⁺) in decidua. (B) Representative flow cytometry of decidual PMN-MDSC and M-MDSC of the NP and the URPL group (left). Percentage of decidual PMN-MDSC and M-MDSC of NP (n = 33) and URPL (n = 23) (right) were analyzed (mean ± SD, Mann-Whitney *U*-test). ***P < 0.0001; ****P < 0.0001; ns, not significant. FMO, Fluorescent minus one.

Apoptosis of Decidual PMN-MDSC Was Regulated by TRAIL and TRAIL-Rs

We then analyzed the expression of membrane receptors of FasL and TRAIL on decidual PMN-MDSC. Decidual PMN-MDSC in both the NP group and the URPL group showed expression of Fas, DR4, DR5, DcR1, and DcR2 (Figure 6A). The expression level of DR4 was rather low since the fluorescence intensity was very close to the FMO control. PMN-MDSC of the two groups did not differ in the expression of Fas, DR4,

DR5, or DcR1; however, DcR2 expression on PMN-MDSC was significantly down-regulated in the URPL group (P = 0.016). We next investigated whether decidual PMN-MDSC was sensitive to FasL or TRAIL induced apoptosis. PMN-MDSC from the NP group were treated with recombinant human FasL and TRAIL. FasL could not induce apoptosis of decidual PMN-MDSC at the concentration of both 10 and 100 ng/mL (**Figure 6B**). Notably, decidual PMN-MDSC showed significantly higher apoptosis (**Figure 6B**, P = 0.0006) after exposure to 100 ng/mL TRAIL.







genes (DEGs). Rows in the heatmap represent DEGs. (B) The number and proportion of DEGs in PMN-MDSC that were upregulated or downregulated in the URPL group (n = 3) vs. the NP group (n = 3). (C) GSEA analysis of KEGG gene sets including toll-like receptor signal pathway, apoptosis, ECM receptor interaction and TGF-beta signaling pathway. (D) GSEA analysis of GO gene sets including leukocyte activation involved in leukocyte activation involved in inflammatory response, phagocytic vesicle, cell adhesion mediator activity, and growth factor binding. Normalized enrichment score (NES) reflects the degree to which a gene set was upregulated (positive NES) or downregulated (negative NES) in PMN-MDSC of URPL and false discovery rate (FDR) represents statistical significance of difference.

Moreover, exposure to 10 or 50 μ M DR5 agonist Bioymifi induced a significantly high level of PMN-MDSC apoptosis than TRAIL (P < 0.0001, P < 0.0001). To examine whether the response to TRAIL-induced apoptosis was mediated by DcR2 expression, we detected the expression of activated Caspase 3 in decidual PMN-MDSC after exposure of anti-DcR2 Ab and TRAIL for 24 h (**Figure 6C**). Notably, compared with isotype control, DcR2 blockade significantly increased TRAIL-induced apoptosis (P < 0.0001).

DISCUSSION

As an important regulator of the immune system, the role of MDSC in pregnancy has been established in several studies (5, 6, 13, 14). A certain number of MDSC take part in maintaining immune tolerance during normal pregnancy and a lack of MDSC can lead to pregnancy failure (14, 15). Consistent with previous studies of our group and others (5, 13), we found that PMN-MDSC was the major subset of MDSC in human decidua since the percentage of PMN-MDSC

remarkably exceeded that of paired M-MDSC in both the NP group and the URPL group. Also, only PMN-MDSC, but not M-MDSC, decreased significantly in decidua of patients with URPL compared with normal pregnancy. During pregnancy, PMN-MDSC can facilitate maternal-fetal immune tolerance via crosstalk with various immune cells. PMN-MDSC suppress T cell proliferation via ROS or Arginase I and polarize CD4⁺ T cells toward a Th2 cytokine response (4, 14, 15). PMN-MDSC can also induce regulatory T cells in a TGF-beta dependent manner (5). Moreover, PMN-MDSC can inhibit NK cytotoxicity by inhibiting expression of perforin, granzyme B, and NKG2D (6). We found that PMN-MDSC of both the NP group and the URPL group potently suppressed T cell proliferation as well as cytokine production, validating the immune regulatory ability of decidual PMN-MDSC.

According to our whole-genome expression profile analysis, genes upregulated in PMN-MDSC of the URPL group significantly enriched in apoptosis compared with PMN-MDSC of the NP group. Flow cytometry analysis further validated that compared with PMN-MDSC in the NP group,







FIGURE 5 [FasL and TRAIL expression in human decidual tissue of the NP and the URPL group. (**A**) and (**B**) Decidual FasL and TRAIL mRNA expression in the NP group (n = 17) and the URPL group (n = 12) was quantified using $2^{-\Delta CT}$ method normalized to GAPDH. (**C**,**D**) Representative western blot results and statistical analysis of FasL and TRAIL in the NP (n = 10) group and URPL (n = 10) group were shown. Relative protein amount was normalized to β -actin. Arrows indicate the specific bands for each antibody. (**E**,**F**) Representative immunohistochemical staining image and quantification of the average optical density (AOD) of FasL and TRAIL in the NP group (n = 10) (E1, F1) and the URPL group (n = 12) (E2, F2). Polyclonal or monoclonal rabbit IgG substituted primary antibodies in the negative control (E3, F3) Original magnification, x400; mean \pm SD, unpaired Student's *t*-test; *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ****P < 0.0001.



one-way ANOVA, Tukey's *post-hoc* test). **(C)** Decidual PMN-MDSC from the NP group were stimulated with TRAIL (100 ng/mL) in the presentence of $10 \,\mu$ g/mL anti-DcR2 Ab or isotype control for 24 h. Activated Caspase 3 was measured. Representence flow cytometry (left) and quantification (right) were shown (n = 6) (mean \pm SD, one-way ANOVA, Tukey's *post-hoc* test). *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001; ****P < 0.0001; ****P < 0.0001

PMN-MDSC in the URPL group underwent more apoptosis. Mechanisms on MDSC apoptosis and survival have been investigated in other microenvironments, however, the results remain controversial. Cytotoxic T cells can induce MDSC apoptosis via Fas/Fas ligand (FasL) signaling pathway while resistance to Fas-mediated apoptosis contributes to the presence of MDSC in tumor, and this effect is exclusive in MDSC since other myeloid cells also express a similar level of Fas but do not respond to FasL (25, 26). Interestingly, in another mouse model, FasL deficiency leads to reduced MDSC and skews MDSC toward M-MDSC, indicating that PMN-MDSC decreases more after

FasL knockdown (27). Moreover, inflammation conditions can protect MDSC from extrinsic-induced apoptosis (28). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis induced ligand (TRAIL) is another regulator of MDSC apoptosis via interacting with membrane bound TRAIL receptors (TRAIL-Rs). TRAIL-R1 (DR4 or CD261) and TRAIL-R2 (DR5 or CD262) are two death receptors, and ligation of TRAIL with either of them can activate the apoptotic pathway. TRAIL-R3 (DcR1 or CD263) and TRAIL-R4 (DcR2 or CD264) are two decoy receptors which bind to TRAIL without further inducing apoptosis (29). In a murine model, high expression of DR5 mediated TRAIL-induced effects, while in human, differently expressed DcR1 and DcR2 could regulate cell fate of PMN-MDSC, indicating different apoptosis mechanisms between species (19, 20). In primary HIV-infected individuals, high TRAIL level is also associated with decreased PMN-MDSC (30).

FasL and TRAIL are located in placenta as well as decidua, and are important for immune privilege and successful pregnancy since they can mediate apoptosis of cytotoxic T cells or other immune cells with cell toxicity (31, 32). We found that in human decidua both glandular epithelial cells and decidual stromal cells expressed FasL and TRAIL. FasL and TRAIL levels were elevated in the URPL group, which is in accordance with that excessive FasL as well as TRAIL could also be involved in URPL (33-36). Then we detected Fas and TRAIL-Rs levels of decidual PMN-MDSC between the URPL and the NP group and only DcR2 expression was differentially expressed. Decidual PMN-MDSC did not respond to FasL-mediated apoptosis. However, they were sensitive to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis via Caspase-3 dependent pathway. Interestingly, 100 ng/mL TRAIL only increased two times apoptosis while DR5 agonist Bioymifi increased up to four times apoptosis. Further in vitro blocking of DcR2 can facilitate TRAIL-induced apoptosis in human decidual PMN-MDSC, which is in line with a clinical trial showing that DR5 agonist selectively eliminated PMN-MDSC in cancer patients and the effect is reversely correlated with DcR2 expression level (20).

This is the first study focusing on decidual PMN-MDSC survival during early human pregnancy. We found that the apoptosis levels of two major decidual leukocytes, NK and T cells, are similar in the NP and the URPL groups, implying that PMN-MDSC apoptosis might not be the result of enhanced apoptosis state in the URPL group. In addition, previous studies mainly focused on disparity in MDSC number between the NP and URPL groups. In the present study, although we showed that PMN-MDSC in both NP and URPL groups exerted potent immune suppressive function, the gene expression profile indicated significantly different enriched biology pathways between PMN-MDSC of the two groups. Genes upregulated in the PMN-MDSC of the URPL group were enriched in toll-like receptor signal pathway, leukocyte activation involved in inflammatory response and phagocytic vesicle, indicating that these cells experienced more inflammation than PMN-MDSC in the NP group. The ECM receptor interaction, TGFbeta signaling pathway, cell adhesion mediator activity and growth factor binding were negatively enriched in PMN-MDSC of the URPL group, indicating impaired interaction with extracellular matrix and other cells, which is important for cell recruitment and immune crosstalk. These issues remain be further investigation.

REFERENCES

 Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Evaluation and treatment of recurrent pregnancy loss: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 98:1103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012. 06.048 In conclusion, we demonstrate that human decidual PMN-MDSC in URPL are more sensitive to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis signal pathway owing to elevated TRAIL and decreased DCR2 expression. This could be a mechanism of impaired viability of decidual PMN-MDSC in URPL, however, the underlying molecular pathways of decidual PMN-MDSC apoptosis needs to be further elucidated. The observations presented in this study provide a new insight into mechanisms of dysregulation of PMN-MDSC in URPL, and therapeutic targeting on TRAILinduced apoptosis signaling may provide novel strategies for URPL treatment.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study can be found in the Gene Expression Omnibus - GSE139180.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Research Ethics Committee of Renji Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CL, XZ, and AZ conceived and designed this study. CL and XZ performed the experiments. CL, XZ, CC, FG, and QW collected the samples. CL, XZ, and XK analyzed the data. CL drafted the manuscript. AZ revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81671481) and National Natural Science Foundation of China (81871179).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank clinicians of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology for supporting the retrieval of clinical samples for this study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.01345/full#supplementary-material

- El Hachem H, Crepaux V, May-Panloup P, Descamps P, Legendre G, Bouet PE. Recurrent pregnancy loss: current perspectives. *Int J Women's Health*. (2017) 9:331–45. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S100817
- Arck PC, Hecher K. Fetomaternal immune cross-talk and its consequences for maternal and offspring's health. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:548–56. doi: 10.1038/nm.3160

- Kostlin N, Hofstadter K, Ostermeir AL, Spring B, Leiber A, Haen S, et al. Granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells accumulate in human placenta and polarize toward a Th2 phenotype. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:1132– 45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500340
- Kang X, Zhang X, Liu Z, Xu H, Wang T, He L, et al. Granulocytic myeloidderived suppressor cells maintain feto-maternal tolerance by inducing Foxp3 expression in CD4+CD25-T cells by activation of the TGF-beta/beta-catenin pathway. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2016) 22:499–511. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gaw026
- Ren J, Zeng W, Tian F, Zhang S, Wu F, Qin X, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells depletion may cause pregnancy loss via upregulating the cytotoxicity of decidual natural killer cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 81:e13099. doi: 10.1111/aji.13099
- Veglia F, Perego M, Gabrilovich D. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells coming of age. Nat Immunol. (2018) 19:108–19. doi: 10.1038/s41590-017-0022-x
- Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12150. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12150
- Lang S, Bruderek K, Kaspar C, Hoing B, Kanaan O, Dominas N, et al. Clinical relevance and suppressive capacity of human myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:4834–44. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3726
- Wu H, Zhen Y, Ma Z, Li H, Yu J, Xu ZG, et al. Arginase-1dependent promotion of TH17 differentiation and disease progression by MDSCs in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Sci Transl Med.* (2016) 8:331ra40. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aae0482
- Solito S, Marigo I, Pinton L, Damuzzo V, Mandruzzato S, Bronte V. Myeloidderived suppressor cell heterogeneity in human cancers. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (2014) 1319:47–65. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12469
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Fenselau C. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: immunesuppressive cells that impair antitumor immunity and are sculpted by their environment. J Immunol. (2018) 200:422–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701019
- Kostlin N, Kugel H, Spring B, Leiber A, Marme A, Henes M, et al. Granulocytic myeloid derived suppressor cells expand in human pregnancy and modulate T-cell responses. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:2582– 91. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344200
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P, Figley C, Long R, Park D, Carter D, et al. Frontline science: myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) facilitate maternal-fetal tolerance in mice. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2017) 101:1091–101. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1HI1016-306RR
- Pan T, Liu Y, Zhong LM, Shi MH, Duan XB, Wu K, et al. Myeloidderived suppressor cells are essential for maintaining feto-maternal immunotolerance via STAT3 signaling in mice. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2016) 100:499– 511. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1A1015-481RR
- Pan T, Zhong L, Wu S, Cao Y, Yang Q, Cai Z, et al. 17beta-Oestradiol enhances the expansion and activation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells via signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-3 signalling in human pregnancy. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 185:86–97. doi: 10.1111/cei.12790
- Kostlin N, Ostermeir AL, Spring B, Schwarz J, Marme A, Walter CB, et al. HLA-G promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation and suppressive activity during human pregnancy through engagement of the receptor ILT4. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:374–84. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646564
- Kang X, Zhang X, Liu Z, Xu H, Wang T, He L, et al. CXCR2-mediated granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells' functional characterization and their role in maternal fetal interface. DNA Cell Biol. (2016) 35:358– 65. doi: 10.1089/dna.2015.2962
- Condamine T, Kumar V, Ramachandran IR, Youn JI, Celis E, Finnberg N, et al. ER stress regulates myeloid-derived suppressor cell fate through TRAIL-Rmediated apoptosis. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:2626–39. doi: 10.1172/JCI74056
- Dominguez GA, Condamine T, Mony S, Hashimoto A, Wang F, Liu Q, et al. Selective targeting of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer patients using DS-8273a, an agonistic TRAIL-R2 antibody. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:2942–50. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1784
- Guha P, Gardell J, Darpolor J, Cunetta M, Lima M, Miller G, et al. STAT3 inhibition induces Bax-dependent apoptosis in liver tumor myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Oncogene. (2019) 38:533–48. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0449-z
- 22. Mootha VK, Lindgren CM, Eriksson KF, Subramanian A, Sihag S, Lehar J, et al. PGC-1alpha-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are

coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. Nat Genet. (2003) 34:267-73. doi: 10.1038/ng1180

- Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:15545–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506580102
- Kang X, Zhang X, Liu Z, Xu H, Wang T, He L, et al. Excessive TLR9 signaling contributes to the pathogenesis of spontaneous abortion through impairment of Treg cell survival by activation of Caspase 8/3. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2015) 29:285–92. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2015.11.004
- Sinha P, Chornoguz O, Clements VK, Artemenko KA, Zubarev RA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells express the death receptor Fas and apoptose in response to T cell-expressed FasL. *Blood.* (2011) 117:5381– 90. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-11-321752
- Hu X, Bardhan K, Paschall AV, Yang D, Waller JL, Park MA, et al. Deregulation of apoptotic factors Bcl-xL and Bax confers apoptotic resistance to myeloidderived suppressor cells and contributes to their persistence in cancer. *J Biol Chem.* (2013) 288:19103–15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.434530
- Peyvandi S, Buart S, Samah B, Vetizou M, Zhang Y, Durrieu L, et al. Fas ligand deficiency impairs tumor immunity by promoting an accumulation of monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:4292– 301. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-1848
- Chornoguz O, Grmai L, Sinha P, Artemenko KA, Zubarev RA, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Proteomic pathway analysis reveals inflammation increases myeloid-derived suppressor cell resistance to apoptosis. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2011) 10:M110.002980. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M110.002980
- Johnstone RW, Frew AJ, Smyth MJ. The TRAIL apoptotic pathway in cancer onset, progression and therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2008) 8:782– 98. doi: 10.1038/nrc2465
- Tumino N, Bilotta MT, Pinnetti C, Ammassari A, Antinori A, Turchi F, et al. Granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells increased in early phases of primary HIV infection depending on TRAIL plasma level. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.* (1999) 74:575–82. doi: 10.1097/QAI.000000000001283
- Ohshima K, Nakashima M, Sonoda K, Kikuchi M, Watanabe T. Expression of RCAS1 and FasL in human trophoblasts and uterine glands during pregnancy: the possible role in immune privilege. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2001) 123:481– 6. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2001.01461.x
- 32. Phillips TA, Ni J, Pan G, Ruben SM, Wei YF, Pace JL, et al. TRAIL (Apo-2L) and TRAIL receptors in human placentas: implications for immune privilege. *J Immunol.* (1999) 162:6053–9.
- 33. Banzato PC, Daher S, Traina E, Torloni MR, Gueuvoghlanian-Silva BY, Puccini RF, et al. FAS and FAS-L genotype and expression in patients with recurrent pregnancy loss. *Reprod Sci.* (2013) 20:1111–5. doi: 10.1177/1933719113477488
- 34. Minas V, Jeschke U, Kalantaridou SN, Richter DU, Reimer T, Mylonas I, et al. Abortion is associated with increased expression of FasL in decidual leukocytes and apoptosis of extravillous trophoblasts: a role for CRH and urocortin. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2007) 13:663–73. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gam054
- Rull K, Tomberg K, Koks S, Mannik J, Mols M, Sirotkina M, et al. Increased placental expression and maternal serum levels of apoptosisinducing TRAIL in recurrent miscarriage. *Placenta*. (2013) 34:141– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.11.032
- 36. Agostinis C, Bulla R, Tisato V, De Seta F, Alberico S, Secchiero P, et al. Soluble TRAIL is elevated in recurrent miscarriage and inhibits the *in vitro* adhesion and migration of HTR8 trophoblastic cells. *Hum Reprod.* (2012) 27:2941–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des289

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Li, Zhang, Kang, Chen, Guo, Wang and Zhao. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org





Altered Glycosylation Contributes to Placental Dysfunction Upon Early Disruption of the NK Cell-DC Dynamics

Sophia Borowski^{1,2}, Irene Tirado-Gonzalez³, Nancy Freitag¹, Mariana G. Garcia⁴, Gabriela Barrientos⁵ and Sandra M. Blois^{1,2*}

¹ Experimental and Clinical Research Center, A Cooperation Between the Max Delbrück Center for Molecular Medicine in the Helmholtz Association, and the Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin, AG Glycolmmunology, Berlin, Germany, ² Department of Obstetrics and Fetal Medicine, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ³ Georg-Speyer-Haus, Institute for Tumor Biology and Experimental Therapy, Frankfurt, Germany, ⁴ Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional, Facultad de Ciencias Biomédicas, CONICET, Universidad Austral, Derqui-Pilar, Argentina, ⁵ Laboratorio de Medicina Experimental, Hospital Alemán—Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas, Buenos Aires, Argentina

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Shigeru Saito, University of Toyama, Japan

Reviewed by:

Attila Molvarec, Semmelweis University, Hungary Nathalie Ledee, Hôpital Cochin, France

> *Correspondence: Sandra M. Blois s.blois@uke.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 09 April 2020 **Accepted:** 26 May 2020 **Published:** 14 July 2020

Citation:

Borowski S, Tirado-Gonzalez I, Freitag N, Garcia MG, Barrientos G and Blois SM (2020) Altered Glycosylation Contributes to Placental Dysfunction Upon Early Disruption of the NK Cell-DC Dynamics. Front. Immunol. 11:1316. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01316 Immune cells [e. g., dendritic cells (DC) and natural killer (NK) cells] are critical players during the pre-placentation stage for successful mammalian pregnancy. Proper placental and fetal development relies on balanced DC-NK cell interactions regulating immune cell homing, maternal vascular expansion, and trophoblast functions. Previously, we showed that in vivo disruption of the uterine NK cell-DC balance interferes with the decidualization process, with subsequent impact on placental and fetal development leading to fetal growth restriction. Glycans are essential determinants of reproductive health and the glycocode expressed in a particular compartment (e.g., placenta) is highly dependent on the cell type and its developmental and pathological state. Here, we aimed to investigate the maternal and placental glycovariation during the pre- and post-placentation period associated with disruption of the NK cell-DC dynamics during early pregnancy. We observed that depletion of NK cells was associated with significant increases of O- and Nlinked glycosylation and sialylation in the decidual vascular zone during the pre-placental period, followed by downregulation of core 1 and poly-LacNAc extended O-glycans and increased expression of branched N-glycans affecting mainly the placental giant cells and spongiotrophoblasts of the junctional zone. On the other hand, expansion of DC induced a milder increase of Tn antigen (truncated form of mucin-type O-glycans) and branched N-glycan expression in the vascular zone, with only modest changes in the glycosylation pattern during the post-placentation period. In both groups, this spatiotemporal variation in the glycosylation pattern of the implantation site was accompanied by corresponding

86

changes in galectin-1 expression. Our results show that pre- and post- placentation implantation sites have a differential glycopattern upon disruption of the NK cell-DC dynamics, suggesting that immune imbalance early in gestation impacts placentation and fetal development by directly influencing the placental glycocode.

Keywords: dendritic cells, natural killer cells, implantation, glycoimmunology, placentation

INTRODUCTION

In hemochorial placentation, the placental trophoblasts have direct contact to maternal immune cells. Thus, trophoblast cells are exposed to allogenic immune responses by the mother. Uterine immune responses must be regulated in a way that allows access of the placenta to the maternal blood supply but also prevents excess invasion of fetal cells and infections (1). For successful pregnancy, maternal tolerance to the fetus needs to be established, otherwise failure of the maternal immune response to adapt correctly can lead to aberrant immune activation, which is associated with preeclampsia and miscarriage (2).

Highly specialized subpopulations of maternal leukocytes, such as uterine NK (uNK) cells, infiltrate the murine decidua in large numbers during the first half of pregnancy (3, 4). Through expression of different factors (e.g., VEGF and IFN-γ), uNK cells guide the remodeling of decidual spiral arteries increasing the availability of maternal blood at the implantation site and promoting trophoblast invasion (5-7). Another important subpopulation of maternal leukocytes key for modulation of local immunity and tolerance are uterine DC (uDC), which increase in number during the pre-placentation period, reaching a plateau in the post-placentation phase (8). These cells also support vascular adaptations during pregnancy including vessel permeability and blood flow to the implantation site through the CXCL12/CXCR4 pathway (9-11). Recruitment of NK cells, which is facilitated by DC, represents a mechanism to confine the immunogenic potential of uDC. Thus, healthy dynamics in the proportion of uNK cells and uDC during pregnancy play a critical role not only in the regulation of angiogenesis and decidualization (11, 12) but also in the placentation process. Immune cell imbalance during early pregnancy, such as expansion of DC or depletion of NK cells, has an effect on the pre-placentation period and also on the placental phenotype (13). For instance, implantation sites from NK cell depleted dams showed decidual growth defects during early pregnancy, indicated by a disrupted dynamics of decidua maturation (12). Additionally, these mice exhibited vascular defects (i.e., narrow lumens and cuffed appearance) in the central, proximal region of the decidua basalis during the post-placentation period together with increased accumulation of vascular- and tissue-associated NK cells in the mesometrial lymphoid aggregate of pregnancy (13). As a result from placental insufficiency, fetuses derived from NK cell depleted dams suffer from intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) accompanied by an overall reduction of global DNA methylation levels and epigenetic changes in the methylation of specific hepatic gene promoters. Likewise, the expansion of DC during early pregnancy also provoked decidual growth defects on E5.5 (12) and changes in immune cell recruitment, with increased numbers of perivascular DC at the mesometrial decidua (MD) (11) and upregulation of IL-10 expressing NK cells on E7.5 (14). Expansion of DC also led to significant changes in placental morphology, with impaired vascular development of the labyrinth and an increased accumulation of glycogen cells in the junctional zone (13), but the effect on pregnancy outcome was milder as offspring derived from these pregnancies did not suffer from IUGR and exhibited slight gene-specific epigenetic changes.

Glycans are sequences of carbohydrates that are added to proteins and lipids to modulate their structure and function (15). Two major types of glycosylation are observed: N-linked glycosylation is the attachment of oligosaccharides to asparagine or arginine side-chains, whereas O-linked glycosylation occurs mainly at serine and threonine (Figure 1A). Glycans modify proteins required for trophoblast function, and alterations have been associated with pathological conditions. Thus, aberrant N-glycosylation of integrin $\beta 1$ in villous tissues, which influences trophoblast invasion, was linked to early spontaneous miscarriage in humans (16). Lectin histochemistry analyses performed in human placentas revealed significant alterations of carbohydrate metabolism (i.e., dysregulation of α-D-mannose, GlcNAc, β-GalNAc, and α-Fucose) after the onset of different types of hypertensive disorders and fetal growth restriction (17, 18); showing for instance alterations in the trophoblast and/or endothelial cell glycophenotype of the pathological groups (17) and an altered distribution of $\alpha 2,3$ and $\alpha 2,6$ -linked sialic acid in placentas from hypertensive disorders (18). More recently, Tannetta et al. showed that preeclampsia is associated with changes in the surface glycosylation of syncytiotrophoblast derived extracellular vesicles (STBEVs), which are released in increased numbers and exhibit a proinflammatory, antiangiogenic, and procoagulant activity. Indeed, STBEVs derived from preeclamptic patients exhibited increased binding of Sambucus nigra lectin and Ricinus communis agglutinin I, which bind to a2,6-linked sialic acid and galactose or Nacetylgalactosamine residues (19), which may be a link to changes in vesicle-cell interactions affecting functions like cell targeting, clearance, and immune activity. However, further investigation is needed to determine whether and how different alterations in glycosylation contribute to inappropriate maternal-fetal immune responses and poor pregnancy outcomes. In this work, we analyzed the effect of temporary changes within the DC or NK cell pool during early pregnancy on the glycophenotype during the pre- and post-placentation process, before the onset of the IUGR disease phenotype. We show that pre- and postplacentation implantations have a differential glycopattern where either NK cells were temporally ablated or DC were expanded. Our data confirm that immune dysregulations early in gestation have an impact on the placental glycocode, influencing the placentation process itself and subsequently fetal development.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

All animals tissues used in this work were collected for previous experiments assessing the role of NK cell-DC interactions in the modulation of early pregnancy maternal adaptations, placentation and fetal growth (11-13) in accordance with guidelines for the care and use of laboratory research animals promulgated by the Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin and Regional Office for Health and Social Affairs. Animals were purchased from Jaxmice[®] and maintained on a 12L/12D cycle. Five- to six-weeks old CD11c.DTR females were mated with Balb/c males. The presence of a vaginal plug after cohabitation was denoted as embryonic day (E) 0.5. Females were kept in groups of 4-5 animals and injected (i.p.) on E4.5 with anti asialo GM1 (WAKO, Cat.no. 986-10001, 2 mg/g BW) for transient ablation of NK cells (aNK group, Figure 1B). For the expansion of uterine DC (eDC group, Figure 1B), Balb/c-mated CD11c.DTR females were treated with one daily injection of human recombinant Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (FL; BioX cell, Cat.no. BE0098, 10 mg/mouse/day) from E0.5 to E7.5. Control CD11c.DTR females received PBS supplemented with rabbit normal serum (2 mg/g body weight i.p.). On E7.5 and 13.5, mice from the respective groups were sacrificed and uterine tissue from the implantation sites (n = 5) was processed for histological sectioning according to standard procedures. Pregnancy outcomes for the different groups have been described in our previous studies (11–13).

Immunofluorescence

We used a panel of lectins that recognize specific Oglycan structures (Helix pomatia agglutinin (HPA; Tn-antigen), Arachis hypogaea lectin (PNA; core 1), and Lycopersicon esculentum lectin [LEA; core 2)]. In addition, we employed Phaseolus vulgaris lectin (PHA-L), which specifically recognizes β1,6GlcNAc-branched complex N-glycans. Finally, sialyation was determined using the Maackia amurensis lectin (MAA) and Sambucus nigra agglutinin (SNA-I) which bind to a2,3and $\alpha 2,6$ -linked sialic acid, respectively (Figure 1A). Serial cryosections of implantation sites were prepared at 8 µm. Briefly, slides were washed in TBS and blocked with Biotin Blocking system (X0590, DAKO Corporation) for 20 min in a humid chamber at RT. Afterwards, slides were blocked with Carbo-Free Blocking Solution (SP-5040, Vector Laboratories) for 30 min in a humid chamber at RT. Subsequently, slides were incubated with biotinylated lectin (EY Laboratories) diluted in Carbo-Free Blocking Solution for 16 h at 4°C in a humid chamber HPA (20 ng/ml; BA-3601-1), PHA-L (20 ng/ml; BA-1801-2), or SNA-I (10 ng/ml; BA-6802-1). Lectinstained sections were then incubated with 2 µg/ml Streptavidin-Tetramethylrhodamine (S-870; Invitrogen) for 1 h in a humid chamber at RT. Subsequently, slides were incubated with FITC-labeled lectin (EY Laboratories) diluted in Carbo-Free Blocking Solution for 2 h at RT PNA (20 ng/ml; F-2301-1), LEA (20 ng/ml; F-7001-1), or MAA (20 ng/ml; F-7801-2). Nuclei were counterstained with 4['],6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for 5 min at RT and mounted in Prolong Gold (P36930, Invitrogen). Stainings of whole implantation sites were digitally scanned by a high-resolution bright field and fluorescence slide scanner (Pannoramic MIDI BF/FL, 3DHISTECH Ltd.), and staining was evaluated on virtual slides using Pannoramic Viewer 1.15.4 (3DHISTECH Ltd.) by two examiners blinded to the experimental group.

Galectin-1 Staining

Staining of $8 \,\mu$ m cryo sections was performed by washing in TBS, followed by blocking with Duale Endogenous Enzyme Block (S2003, Dako) for 30 min in a humid chamber at RT. Afterwards, slides were blocked with Proteinblock (PHA-70873, Dianova) for 20 min. The primary antibody against galectin-1 (1:400; GTX 101566, GeneTex) was incubated over night at 4°C. The slides were than washed and incubated with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (111-035-003; Jackson ImmunoResearch) for 1 h at RT. The signal was detected by incubation at RT with a 0.05% diaminobenzidine in 0.015% H₂O₂ substrate solution. After washing, nuclei were counterstained with 0.1% Mayer's hematoxylin followed by a standard dehydration procedure and mounting in Entellan (Merck Millipore).

Statistics

Data analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism 7 (GraphPad Software, Inc.). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM and were analyzed with D'Agostino-Pearson omnibus normality test followed by unpaired *t*-test or Mann-Whitney test. A *p* < 0.05 was considered as significant.

RESULTS

Dysregulation of the NK Cell or DC Pool Changed the Distribution of O-Glycans, Complex N-Glycans, and Sialylation in the Mesometrial Decidua and Vascular Zone During the Pre-placentation Period

In order to determine whether temporary ablation of NK cell or expansion of DC during early pregnancy could influence the glycophenotype of the implantation sites, we analyzed implantation sites during the pre-placentation period (on E7.5) focusing on the quantification within the mesometrial decidua (MD) and vascular zone (VZ) (**Figure 1B**).

We first examined the O-glycans during the pre-placentation period (**Figure 1C**). During normal gestation abundant expression of core 1 O-glycans (PNA) compared to Tn antigen (HPA) and core 2 O-glycans (LEA) in the MD was observed (**Figure 1C**, left panel). Depletion of NK cells during early pregnancy caused a decrease in core 1 O-glycans (PNA) and an increase of Tn antigens (HPA) in this region. In contrast, the expansion of DC during the pre-placentation period caused a



slight increase in Tn antigens (HPA) and decreased expression of core 1 (PNA) and core 2 O-glycans (LEA). Under normal conditions, HPA reactive O-glycans were observed in the VZ on E7.5. Of note, HPA-reactivity was significantly increased in the VZ of the aNK and the eDC group compared to the control group, with the aNK group showing the highest MFI. No changes were observed in PNA reactive glycans. LEA staining was increased in the VZ of the aNK group but not in the eDC group compared to the control group (**Figure 1C**,

right panel). Next, we examined the distribution of complex branched N-glycans (specifically MGAT5-modified) during the pre-placentation period (**Figure 1D**). Glycans bound by PHA-L were observed in the MD of all groups (**Figure 1D**, left panel), with comparable mean fluorescence intensities (MFIs) of the control and the aNK group. Notably, a significantly lower MFI in the MD of the eDC group was observed compared to the aNK group. Regarding the distribution of complex branched N-glycans within the VZ, binding of PHA-L showed that staining intensity was significantly increased in the aNK and the eDC group compared to the control group (**Figure 1D**, right panel). As for the distribution pattern of sialylated glycans in the MD, the control group and the aNK group showed comparable MFIs but the eDC group displayed a lower MAA MFI (**Figure 1E**, left panel). For SNA-I reactive glycans, similar MFIs in the aNK and the eDC group were observed at the MD during the pre-placentation period. Staining intensity for α 2,3-linked sialic acid (MAA) was significantly increased in the VZ of the aNK group compared to the control group, whereas SNA-I reactive glycans showed a significant increase in the aNK and eDC dams (**Figure 1E**, right panel).

Imbalance on NK or DC Cell Subsets During Early Gestation Provokes Altered O- and N-Glycosylation Patterns in the Post-placentation Period

Taking into account that alterations of NK cell and DC relative abundance were shown to influence the placentation process and epigenetic programming in the offspring (13), we next examined changes in the glycophenotype during the post-placentation period (E13.5). Figure 2A (upper panel) shows the distribution of O-glycans within the decidua and placenta. During normal gestation Tn antigen (HPA) was only observable in the decidua and on giant cells (GC). In contrast, core 1 (PNA, middle panels), and core 2 O-glycans (LEA, bottom panels) were observed in all layers of the implantation site (including decidua, GC, junctional zone (Jz), and labyrinth). More Tn antigen (HPA) was observed on GC trophoblast than in the decidua. Core 1 O-glycans (PNA) were abundantly expressed in all layers but core 2 O-glycans (LEA) were more abundant on GC than in the decidua. Depletion of NK cells during early pregnancy was associated with decreased levels of core 1 O-glycans (PNA) on GC and Jz and reduced expression of core 2 O-glycans (LEA) on GC (Figure 2A, middle and bottom panels). In contrast, expansion of DC provoked an increase of Tn antigen (HPA) in the decidua (Figure 2A, upper panel), accompanied by increased expression of core 1 O-glycans (PNA) on GC but reduced expression in the Jz (middle panels). When analyzing the complex branched N-glycans (PHA-L, Figure 2B), we observed that during the post-placentation period reactivity in the decidua is stronger than in the placenta in undisturbed pregnancy. Expression of branched, complex N-glycans (PHA-L) was increased in the decidua and the Jz of the aNK group, but only in the labyrinth of eDC placentas. Finally, analysis of sialyation showed that MAAreactive a2,3-linked sialic acid was detected on giant cells and in the labyrinth under normal placentation (Figure 2C, upper panel), accompanied with a strong expression of α 2,6-linked sialic acid (SNA-I, bottom panel) in the decidua. Compared to controls, depletion of NK cells during early pregnancy provoked a decrease of $\alpha 2,3$ -sialylation in the decidua and the Jz and an increase of α 2,6-sialylation in the Jz, whereas placentas derived from DC expanded dams showed a decrease of a2,6-sialylation in the Jz.

Alteration of the Glycosylation Signature During the Pre- and Post-placentation Period is Accompanied by Changes on Gal-1 Expression

Given its well-established role in the modulation of pregnancy associated processes (20, 21), our next aim was to characterize galectin-1 (gal-1) expression during the pre- (E7.5) and post-(E13.5) placentation period. During the pre-placental period, we observed reduced gal-1 expression on the mesometrial decidua upon NK cell depletion compared to untreated dams (Figure 2D, left panel), whereas MD expression of this lectin was not sensitive to DC expansion. In contrast, both treated groups (aNK and eDC) exhibited decreased levels of gal-1 expression in the VZ, especially on endothelial cells during the pre-placentation period. As pregnancy progressed to the post-placentation period, aNK dams showed increased gal-1 expression within the decidua and placental layers (including GC, Jz, and labyrinth) compared to controls (Figure 2D, right panel). However, eDC placentas showed decreased gal-1 levels on the GC and the labyrinth on E13.5, suggesting that changes of gal-1 expression together with an altered glycosylation signature could interfere with the pregnancy protective functions of this lectin.

DISCUSSION

Changes in local immune cells dynamics (e.g., uNK cells and DC) during early gestation lead to the development of placental abnormalities and particularly upon NK cell depletion, fetal growth restriction (11–13). Our study on gal-1-glycan circuits in mice shows that changes in immune cell subset frequencies during the pre-placentation period differentially alter the placental glycophenotypes: placenta derived from NK depleted dams displayed reduced expression of O-glycans and α 2,3-sialylation in placental layers accompanied by upregulation of complex N-glycans (**Figure 3**). This does not seem to be the case in placenta derived from expanded DC dams, which by contrast displayed milder changes in the placental glycophenotype with a modest reduction of core 1 O-glycosylation and α 2,6-sialylation specially in the junctional zone and only a slight increase of N-glycans in the labyrinth.

Our study has limitations regarding the challenges of studying diversity on glycopatterns and the lack of *in vitro* experimentation, with specific consideration for the technical difficulty to preserve glycan structure and mimic the complex glycovariations in an *in vitro* setting. Nevertheless, the results reported herein highlight the notion that balanced innate immune cell dynamics at the maternal fetal interface have a strong impact on the glycophenotype, thereby influencing galectin-glycan interactions driving decidual and placental functions.

Pre-placentation Impaired NK Cell-DC Dynamic Alters Glycopatterns Within the Maternal Vascular Decidua

During early gestation, NK cells and DC shape decidual adaption to the developing embryo regulating angiogenesis and vascular



FIGURE 2 | Placental glycocode dynamics upon NK cell depletion and DC expansion during early gestation. (A) Quantification of O-glycan distribution across decidua and placenta layers on E13.5. Th antigen was identified using the Helix pomatia agglutinin (HPA), core 1 and core 2 O-glycans were detected by Arachis hypogaea lectin (PNA) and Lycopersicon esculentum lectin (LEA), respectively. (B) Expression patterns of complex N-glycans were detected by *Phaseolus vulgaris* lectin (PHA-L) on E13.5. (C) Sialylation in the post-placentation period was characterized using Maackia amurensis lectin (MAA) and Sambucus nigra agglutinin (SNA-I) which bind to α 2,3- and α 2,6-linked sialic acid, respectively. (D) Analysis of galectin-1 (gal-1) expression during the pre- (E7.5) and post-placentation (E13.5) period. In all panels, bars show the MFI mean values and the corresponding S.E.M. Differences are noted as **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, and ****P* < 0.001 according to *Mann-Whitney U-test*. MFI, mean fluorescence intensity; MD, mesometrial decidua; VZ, vascular zone; GC, giant cells; Jz, junctional zone; Lab, labyrinth.



FIGURE 3 Overview of the placenta glycocode dynamics in poor pregnancy outcome caused by disrupted NK cell recruitment. Fetal growth restriction as a consequence of NK cell depletion is associated with changes in O-glycan expression (\downarrow core 1 and core 2) in giant cells (GC). Junctional zone is characterized by increased expression of branched N-glycans and changes in sialylation ($\downarrow \alpha 2, 3$ - and $\uparrow \alpha 2, 6$ - linked sialic acid). Placentas derived from NK ablated dams are characterized by an increased gal-1 expression.

growth (11-13). We have previously shown that DC found associated with the decidual vasculature co-express CXCR4 and impaired homing of CXCR4⁺DC altered decidual vascular organization with impaired spiral artery remodeling later in gestation (11). In this study, we further reveal that alterations on the NK cell and DC pool dynamics during the pre-placentation period affect the glycopattern of the vasculature at the fetomaternal interface. In this regard, the VEGF system plays a paramount role in uterine vascular permeability and angiogenesis during implantation and decidualization (22, 23) and several findings have highlighted the importance of glycosylation for VEGFR2 functionality. For instance, VEGF-dependent proliferation is influenced by heparan sulfate (24) and complex branched N-glycans on the VEGFR2 are responsible for gal-1/VEGF-like signaling to sustain angiogenesis (25). Sialylation on VEGFR2 can also determine the signaling capacity of this receptor through gal-1. Thus, $\alpha 2$,6- linked, but not $\alpha 2$,3-terminal sialic acid inhibits binding of gal-1, which can also bind to the VEGFR2 to activate alternative pro-angiogenic signaling (25, 26). Additionally, exposure of endothelial cells to hypoxic conditions leads to increased branching of \$1,6 branched Nglycan structures, and elongation of poly-LacNAc residues on core 2 O-glycans (25). These examples highlight the versatility of the endothelial glycome and its ability to adapt to cellular physiology. Indeed, several of these changes in the glycosylation pattern of the vascular zone during the pre-placentation period were observed in the present study upon DC expansion or NK cell ablation. Ablation of NK cells provoked an increase of core 2 O-glycans, branched N-glycans, and a2,3-sialyation compared to the control group, indicating the possibility of hypoxic or inflammatory conditions and increased gal-1 binding. These changes may occur to compensate the low gal-1 levels due to reduced NK cell abundance in these implantation sites. Expansion of DC, on the other hand, led to increased expression of branched N-glycans and a2,6-linked sialic acid compared to the control group; which despite not affecting the normal VEGF/VEGFR2 signaling pathway may lead to lower gal-1 sensitivity of cells in the vascular zone of this group. The corollary to these observations is that the decidual vascular glycocode appears to be dependent on the concerted actions of NK cells and DC, by virtue of their effect as modulators of VEGF/ gal-1 signaling pathways.

Thickness of the glycocalyx covering endothelial cells can influence the access of leukocytes to adhesion receptors on the endothelial cell surface. Pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , can lead to disruption of the endothelial glycocalyx and thus to an increase in leukocyte recruitment (27, 28). In this context, immune cell imbalance (i.e., DC expansion or NK cell depletion) during early pregnancy may influence the cytokine profile at the implantation site, leading to altered properties of the endothelial glycocalyx by directly influencing the expression of glycosyltransferases. Indeed, our previous studies have shown that expansion of DC was associated with a significant upregulation of the CXCL12/CXCR4 pathway; which has recently been shown to enhance megakaryocyte expression of *B4GalT1* (29), one of the main galactosyltransferases involved in the synthesis of the LacNAc moieties present in core 2 O-glycans and complex N-glycans. In turn, since B4GalT1dependent galactosylation modulates β 1 integrin function (29), such cytokine-mediated changes in the endothelial glycocalyx may further contribute to immune disbalance by provoking a differential recruitment of leukocytes due to altered cell adhesion properties. Indeed, DC expansion or NK cell depletion induced several changes in the glycosylation pattern in the vascular zone during the pre-placentation period, particularly in the expression of Tn antigen. In addition, endothelial gal-1 has been shown to reduce lymphocyte recruitment (30), further indicating that in the aNK group, which showed reduced gal-1 staining of endothelial cells, lymphocyte trafficking might be enhanced compared to the control group.

Pre-placentation Manipulation of the Relative NK Cell-DC Abundance Modifies Gal-1 Binding Placental Glycophenotypes

Trophoblast glycodiversity is part of the trophoblast lineage identity (31). Several pregnancy complications including preeclampsia, IUGR, and miscarriages were associated with specific differential glycosylation patterns after the onset of the disease (16-19, 32). In a first effort to identify early glycosignals that influence placental development upon disruption of the NK cell-DC dynamics, we show here that changes in trophoblast glycosylation patterns precede poor pregnancy outcomes (e.g., IUGR). For instance, Tn antigen O-glycans are exclusively expressed on the giant cell layer of the placenta and to a lesser extent in the decidua during unchallenged pregnancy. Both depletion of NK cells or expansion of DC in absence of dangers signals increased Tn antigen expression in the decidua. Since Tn antigen expression has been linked to enhanced growth and invasion ability in cancer cells (33-35), it is possible that increased decidual Tn antigen expression would act to facilitate trophoblast invasion. In this regard, trophoblast giant cells showed intense staining with LEA, indicating increased expression of LacNAc core 2 O-glycans during normal pregnancy. Giant cells in particular need to acquire an invasive character to make contact to the maternal arteries and replace the endothelial cell lining of the maternal blood vessels to funnel blood into the placenta. Importantly, our results further showed a down-regulation of core 2 O-glycans on giant cells derived from NK ablated dams. As cell surface mucin 1 (MUC1) carrying core 2 O-glycans is involved in trophoblast migration and adhesion to uterine endothelial cells (36-39), data suggests that changes in MUC1 core 2 O-glycans pattern would interfere with the invasive properties of giant cells in NK ablated placentas. This is in agreement with our previous work showing that aNK mice had impaired spiral artery remodeling and IUGR (13), indicating that a differential glycosylation pattern in the post-placentation period results in poor spiral artery remodeling. Moreover, expression of core 1 O-glycans has also been detected on MUC1 in the human placenta (40). In our study, staining of core 1 O-glycans by PNA also revealed reduced expression on trophoblast giant cells (aNK group) and trophoblasts in the junctional zone (aNK and eDC group), which could further indicate alterations in mucin expression or glycosylation. Considering that gal-1 is able to bind mucins on trophoblast cells and is involved in the trophoblast invasion machinery (41, 42), the increased gal-1 expression in aNK placenta may represent an attempt to compensate reduced abundance of MUC1 binding partners.

Enhanced expression of N-acetylglucosaminyl transferase V (GnTV) characterizes first trimester placentas in normal gestation (43). GnTV generates B1-6-N-acetylglucosamine branches in complex N-glycans, which are recognized by gal-1. In this context, LacNAc motives are a glycan signature of invasive trophoblast cells not only on their surface but also on their secretion product HLA-G (31, 44, 51). The significantly higher expression of complex, branched Nglycans detected in the junctional zone of the aNK group indicates that the middle connecting layer of the placenta efficiently glycoadapts to the maternal environment giving rise to trophoblast giant cells and glycogen cells that invade and anchor the placenta to the decidua (45). In addition, we observed a switch on sialylation from α 2,3-linked to α 2,6linked sialic acid in the labyrinth of the aNK group. This finding correlates with the reduced fetal vascular density in the labyrinth upon NK depletion and with the inflammatory status due to the increased NK cell density in the mesometrial lymphoid aggregate of pregnancy (13). Interestingly, changes in the glycosylation status predominantly affecting the placental labyrinth and junctional zone have been reported in a rat model of hyperglycemic placental dysfunction (46, 47); suggesting that glycovariations in these layers induced by adverse maternal environments may have direct impact on placental function.

Our results further showed that increased $\alpha 2,6$ sialylation can reduce gal-1 mediated angiogenesis (48), which is critical for healthy placentation (49). Moreover, the inhibition of gal-1 binding by sialylation at the position six of galactose has been suggested to make T cells resistant to apoptosis (50) and might contribute to uncontrolled maternal inflammation during pregnancy complications (20, 49). Indeed, increased $\alpha 2,6$ sialylation in STBEV surface has been associated with human PE syndrome (19). Taken together, the results reported here highlight the relevance of glycodynamics during the pre- and post-placentation period that could be

REFERENCES

- Moffett A, Loke C. Immunology of placentation in eutherian mammals. Nat Rev Immunol. (2006) 6:584–94. doi: 10.1038/nr i1897
- Saito S, Shiozaki A, Nakashima A, Sakai M, Sasaki Y. The role of the immune system in preeclampsia. *Mol Aspects Med.* (2007) 28:192– 209. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2007.02.006
- Delgado SR, Mcbey BA, Yamashiro S, Fujita J, Kiso Y, Croy BA. Accounting for the peripartum loss of granulated metrial gland cells, a natural killer cell population, from the pregnant mouse uterus. *J Leukoc Biol.* (1996) 59:262– 9. doi: 10.1002/jlb.59.2.262
- 4. Karsten CM, Behrends J, Wagner AK, Fuchs F, Figge J, Schmudde I, et al. DC within the pregnant mouse uterus influence growth and

helpful to the understanding of the pathogenesis of poor pregnancy outcomes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Charité— Universitätsmedizin Berlin and Regional Office for Health and Social Affairs.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SMB designed the study and secured grant funding. SB, IT-G, GB, NF, SMB, and MG performed experiments and/or analyzed data. SB, GB, and SMB wrote the manuscript. All authors gave approval for publication.

FUNDING

We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin. Research grants from the DFG BL1115/1-2, BL1115/4-1 and Heisenberg Program BL1115/3-1, BL1115/7-1 to SMB and the bilateral cooperation project 01DN16022 between Ministerio de Ciencia y Tecnología (MINCYT, Argentina) and Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung—Deutschen Zentrum für Luft und Raumfahrt (BMBF-DLR, Germany) to SMB and GB. MG thanks the Alexander von Humboldt Foundation for the sponsoring of a renewed research stay at the ECRC, Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin (ARG/1128984).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to Petra Moschansky and Gudrun Koch for the excellent technical work involved in tissue processing and histology.

functional properties of uterine NK cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:2203–14. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838844

- Wang C, Umesaki N, Nakamura H, Tanaka T, Nakatani K, Sakaguchi I, et al. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by granulated metrial gland cells in pregnant murine uteri. *Cell Tissue Res.* (2000) 300:285– 93. doi: 10.1007/s004410000198
- Zhang J, Chen Z, Smith GN, Croy BA. Natural killer cell-triggered vascular transformation: maternal care before birth? *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2011) 8:1– 11. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2010.38
- Hofmann AP, Gerber SA, Croy BA. Uterine natural killer cells pace early development of mouse decidua basalis. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2014) 20:66– 76. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gat060
- 8. Blois SM, Alba Soto CD, Tometten M, Klapp BF, Margni RA, Arck PC. Lineage, maturity, and phenotype of uterine murine dendritic cells

throughout gestation indicate a protective role in maintaining pregnancy. *Biol Reprod.* (2004) 70:1018–23. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.022640

- Krey G, Frank P, Shaikly V, Barrientos G, Cordo-Russo R, Ringel F, et al. *In vivo* dendritic cell depletion reduces breeding efficiency, affecting implantation and early placental development in mice. *J Mol Med.* (2008) 86:999– 1011. doi: 10.1007/s00109-008-0379-2
- Plaks V, Birnberg T, Berkutzki T, Sela S, Benyashar A, Kalchenko V, et al. Uterine DCs are crucial for decidua formation during embryo implantation in mice. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:3954–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI36682
- Barrientos G, Tirado-Gonzalez I, Freitag N, Kobelt P, Moschansky P, Klapp BF, et al. CXCR4(+) dendritic cells promote angiogenesis during embryo implantation in mice. *Angiogenesis*. (2013) 16:417–27. doi: 10.1007/s10456-012-9325-6
- Tirado-Gonzalez I, Barrientos G, Freitag N, Otto T, Thijssen VL, Moschansky P, et al. Uterine NK cells are critical in shaping DC immunogenic functions compatible with pregnancy progression. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e46755. doi: 10.1371/annotation/9c332046-387a-4bbc-9549-2bcff73afd9a
- Freitag N, Zwier MV, Barrientos G, Tirado-Gonzalez I, Conrad ML, Rose M, et al. Influence of relative NK-DC abundance on placentation and its relation to epigenetic programming in the offspring. *Cell Death Dis.* (2014) 5:e1392. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.353
- Blois SM, Freitag N, Tirado-Gonzalez I, Cheng SB, Heimesaat MM, Bereswill S, et al. NK cell-derived IL-10 is critical for DC-NK cell dialogue at the maternal-fetal interface. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:2189. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-02333-8
- Gabius HJ, Andre S, Kaltner H, Siebert HC. The sugar code: functional lectinomics. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2002) 1572:165– 77. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4165(02)00306-9
- Zhang M, Wang M, Gao R, Liu X, Chen X, Geng Y, et al. Altered beta1,6-GlcNAc and bisecting GlcNAc-branched N-glycan on integrin beta1 are associated with early spontaneous miscarriage in humans. *Hum Reprod.* (2015) 30:2064–75. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev153
- Sgambati E, Biagiotti R, Marini M, Brizzi E. Lectin histochemistry in the human placenta of pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth retardation based on absent or reversed diastolic flow. *Placenta*. (2002) 23:503–15. doi: 10.1053/plac.2002.0793
- Marini M, Bonaccini L, Thyrion GD, Vichi D, Parretti E, Sgambati E. Distribution of sugar residues in human placentas from pregnancies complicated by hypertensive disorders. *Acta Histochem.* (2011) 113:815– 25. doi: 10.1016/j.acthis.2010.12.001
- Tannetta D, Masliukaite I, Vatish M, Redman C, Sargent I. Update of syncytiotrophoblast derived extracellular vesicles in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol. (2017) 119:98–106. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.08.008
- Blois SM, Ilarregui JM, Tometten M, Garcia M, Orsal AS, Cordo-Russo R, et al. A pivotal role for galectin-1 in fetomaternal tolerance. *Nat Med.* (2007) 13:1450–7. doi: 10.1038/nm1680
- Blois SM, Dveksler G, Vasta GR, Freitag N, Blanchard V, Barrientos G. Pregnancy galectinology: insights into a complex network of glycan binding proteins. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1166. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01166
- 22. Halder JB, Zhao X, Soker S, Paria BC, Klagsbrun M, Das SK, et al. Differential expression of VEGF isoforms and VEGF(164)-specific receptor neuropilin-1 in the mouse uterus suggests a role for VEGF(164) in vascular permeability and angiogenesis during implantation. *Genesis*. (2000) 26:213– 24. doi: 10.1002/SICI1526-968X20000326:3<213::AID-GENE7>3.0.CO;2-M
- Douglas NC, Tang H, Gomez R, Pytowski B, Hicklin DJ, Sauer CM, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR-2) functions to promote uterine decidual angiogenesis during early pregnancy in the mouse. *Endocrinology*. (2009) 150:3845–54. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-1207
- Xu D, Fuster MM, Lawrence R, Esko JD. Heparan sulfate regulates VEGF165and VEGF121-mediated vascular hyperpermeability. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:737–45. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.177006
- Croci DO, Cerliani JP, Dalotto-Moreno T, Mendez-Huergo SP, Mascanfroni ID, Dergan-Dylon S, et al. Glycosylation-dependent lectin-receptor interactions preserve angiogenesis in anti-VEGF refractory tumors. *Cell.* (2014) 156:744–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.043
- 26. Toscano MA, Bianco GA, Ilarregui JM, Croci DO, Correale J, Hernandez JD, et al. Differential glycosylation of TH1, TH2 and TH-17 effector cells

selectively regulates susceptibility to cell death. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:825–34. doi: 10.1038/ni1482

- Henry CB, Duling BR. TNF-alpha increases entry of macromolecules into luminal endothelial cell glycocalyx. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2000) 279:H2815–23. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2000.279.6.H2815
- Bondt A, Rombouts Y, Selman MH, Hensbergen PJ, Reiding KR, Hazes JM, et al. Immunoglobulin G (IgG) Fab glycosylation analysis using a new mass spectrometric high-throughput profiling method reveals pregnancy-associated changes. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2014) 13:3029–39. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M114.039537
- Giannini S, Lee-Sundlov MM, Rivadeneyra L, Di Buduo CA, Burns R, Lau JT, et al. beta4GALT1 controls beta1 integrin function to govern thrombopoiesis and hematopoietic stem cell homeostasis. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:356. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-14178-y
- Norling LV, Sampaio AL, Cooper D, Perretti M. Inhibitory control of endothelial galectin-1 on *in vitro* and *in vivo* lymphocyte trafficking. *FASEB* J. (2008) 22:682–90. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-9268com
- Chen Q, Pang PC, Cohen ME, Longtine MS, Schust DJ, Haslam SM, et al. Evidence for differential glycosylation of trophoblast cell types. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2016) 15:1857–66. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M115.055798
- 32. Brown HM, Green ES, Tan TCY, Gonzalez MB, Rumbold AR, Hull ML, et al. Periconception onset diabetes is associated with embryopathy and fetal growth retardation, reproductive tract hyperglycosylation and impaired immune adaptation to pregnancy. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:2114. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19263-8
- Kudelka MR, Ju T, Heimburg-Molinaro J, Cummings RD. Simple sugars to complex disease-mucin-type O-glycans in cancer. *Adv Cancer Res.* (2015) 126:53–135. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2014.11.002
- 34. Jiang Y, Liu Z, Xu F, Dong X, Cheng Y, Hu Y, et al. Aberrant O-glycosylation contributes to tumorigenesis in human colorectal cancer. J Cell Mol Med. (2018) 22:4875–85. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13752
- Liu Z, Liu J, Dong X, Hu X, Jiang Y, Li L, et al. Tn antigen promotes human colorectal cancer metastasis via H-Ras mediated epithelialmesenchymal transition activation. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2019) 23:2083– 92. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14117
- 36. Shalom-Barak T, Nicholas JM, Wang Y, Zhang X, Ong ES, Young TH, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma controls Muc1 transcription in trophoblasts. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2004) 24:10661–9. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.24.10661-10669.2004
- Thirkill TL, Cao T, Stout M, Blankenship TN, Barakat A, Douglas GC. MUC1 is involved in trophoblast transendothelial migration. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2007) 1773:1007–14. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2007.04.006
- Shyu MK, Lin MC, Liu CH, Fu YR, Shih JC, Lee CN, et al. MUC1 expression is increased during human placental development and suppresses trophoblast-like cell invasion *in vitro*. *Biol Reprod*. (2008) 79:233– 9. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.067629
- Suzuki Y, Sutoh M, Hatakeyama S, Mori K, Yamamoto H, Koie T, et al. MUC1 carrying core 2 O-glycans functions as a molecular shield against NK cell attack, promoting bladder tumor metastasis. *Int J Oncol.* (2012) 40:1831–8. doi: 10.3892/ij.2012.1411
- Jeschke U, Richter DU, Hammer A, Briese V, Friese K, Karsten U. Expression of the Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen and of its putative carrier protein mucin 1 in the human placenta and in trophoblast cells *in vitro*. *Histochem Cell Biol*. (2002) 117:219–26. doi: 10.1007/s00418-002-0383-5
- Kolundzic N, Bojic-Trbojevic Z, Kovacevic T, Stefanoska I, Kadoya T, Vicovac L. Galectin-1 is part of human trophoblast invasion machinery–a functional study *in vitro*. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e28514. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0028514
- Bojic-Trbojevic Z, Jovanovic Krivokuca M, Kolundzic N, Petronijevic M, Vrzic-Petronijevic S, Golubovic S, et al. Galectin-1 binds mucin in human trophoblast. *Histochem Cell Biol.* (2014) 142:541–53. doi: 10.1007/s00418-014-1229-7
- Tomiie M, Isaka S, Miyoshi E, Taniguchi N, Kimura T, Ogita K, et al. Elevated expression of N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase V in first trimester human placenta. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2005) 330:999– 1004. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.02.186
- 44. Jones CJ, Carter AM, Aplin JD, Enders AC. Glycosylation at the fetomaternal interface in hemomonochorial placentae from five widely separated species

of mammal: is there evidence for convergent evolution? *Cells Tissues Organs*. (2007) 185:269–84. doi: 10.1159/000102175

- Soncin F, Natale D, Parast MM. Signaling pathways in mouse and human trophoblast differentiation: a comparative review. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2015) 72:1291–302. doi: 10.1007/s00018-014-1794-x
- 46. Dela Justina V, Goncalves JS, De Freitas RA, Fonseca AD, Volpato GT, Tostes RC, et al. Increased O-linked N-acetylglucosamine modification of NF-KappaB and augmented cytokine production in the placentas from hyperglycemic rats. *Inflammation.* (2017) 40:1773–81. doi: 10.1007/s10753-017-0620-7
- Dela Justina V, Dos Passos Junior RR, Bressan AF, Tostes RC, Carneiro FS, Soares TS, et al. O-linked N-acetyl-glucosamine deposition in placental proteins varies according to maternal glycemic levels. *Life Sci.* (2018) 205:18– 25. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.05.013
- Cerliani JP, Blidner AG, Toscano MA, Croci DO, Rabinovich GA. Translating the "Sugar Code" into immune and vascular signaling programs. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2017) 42:255–73. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2016. 11.003
- 49. Freitag N, Tirado-Gonzalez I, Barrientos G, Herse F, Thijssen VL, Weedon-Fekjaer SM, et al. Interfering with Gal-1-mediated angiogenesis contributes to

the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:11451– 6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1303707110

- Di Lella S, Sundblad V, Cerliani JP, Guardia CM, Estrin DA, Vasta GR, et al. When galectins recognize glycans: from biochemistry to physiology and back again. *Biochemistry*. (2011) 50:7842–57. doi: 10.1021/bi201121m
- Mcmaster M, Zhou Y, Shorter S, Kapasi K, Geraghty D, Lim KH, et al. HLA-G isoforms produced by placental cytotrophoblasts and found in amniotic fluid are due to unusual glycosylation. *J Immunol.* (1998) 160:5922–8.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Borowski, Tirado-Gonzalez, Freitag, Garcia, Barrientos and Blois. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Decidualization Process Induces Maternal Monocytes to Tolerogenic IL-10-Producing Dendritic Cells (DC-10)

Soledad Gori¹, Elizabeth Soczewski¹, Laura Fernández¹, Esteban Grasso¹, Lucila Gallino¹, Fatima Merech¹, Ana Colado², Mercedes Borge², Claudia Pérez Leirós¹, Gabriela Salamone² and Rosanna Ramhorst^{1*}

¹ CONICET, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Instituto de Química Biológica de la Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales (IQUIBICEN), Buenos Aires, Argentina, ² Instituto de Medicina Experimental (IMEX)-CONICET, Academia Nacional de Medicina, Buenos Aires, Argentina

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Sarah Anne Robertson, The University of Adelaide, Australia Reviewed by: der

Lachlan M. Moldenhauer,

The University of Adelaide, Australia Marijke Faas, The University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

> *Correspondence: Rosanna Ramhorst rramhorst@gb.fcen.uba.ar

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 January 2020 Accepted: 15 June 2020 Published: 18 August 2020

Citation:

Gori S, Soczewski E, Fernández L, Grasso E, Gallino L, Merech F, Colado A, Borge M, Pérez Leirós C, Salamone G and Ramhorst R (2020) Decidualization Process Induces Maternal Monocytes to Tolerogenic IL-10-Producing Dendritic Cells (DC-10). Front. Immunol. 11:1571. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01571 Decidualization is a process that involves phenotypic and functional changes of endometrial stromal cells to sustain endometrial receptivity and the participation of immunoregulatory factors to maintain immune homeostasis. In this context, tolerogenic dendritic cells (DCs) can induce regulatory T cells, which are essential to manage the pro- to anti-inflammatory transition during embryo implantation. Recently, Myeloid Regulatory Cells (MRCs) were proposed as immunosuppressants and tolerance-inducer cells, including the DC-10 subset. This novel and distinctive subset has the ability to produce IL-10 and to induce type 1 regulatory T cells (Tr1) through an HLA-G pathway. Here we focus on the impact of the decidualization process in conditioning peripheral monocytes to MRCs and the DC-10 subset, and their ability to induce regulatory T cells. An in vitro model of decidualization with the human endometrial stromal cell line (HESC), decidualized by medroxyprogesterone and dibutyryl-cAMP was used. Monocytes isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells from healthy women were cultured with rhGM-CSF + rhIL-4 and then, the effect of conditioned media from decidualized (Dec-CM) and non-decidualized cells (Non-dec-CM) was tested on monocyte cultures. We found that Dec-CM inhibited the differentiation to the CD1a⁺CD14⁻ immature DC profile in a concentration-dependent manner. Dec-CM also significantly increased the frequency of CD83⁺CD86^{low} and HLA-DR⁺ cells in the monocyte-derived culture. These markers, associated with the increased production of IL-10, are consistent with a MRCs tolerogenic profile. Interestingly, Dec-CM treatment displayed a higher expression of the characteristic markers of the tolerogenic DC-10 subset, HLA-G and ILT2/CD85j; while this modulation was not observed in cultures treated with Non-dec-CM. Moreover, when monocyte cultures with Dec-CM were challenged with LPS, they sustained a higher IL-10 production and prevented the increase of CD83, CD86, IL-12p70, and TNF- α expression. Finally, the DC-10 subset

was able to induce a CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ regulatory T cells subset. These results suggest that the decidualization process might induce different subsets of MRCs, like DC-10, able to induce regulatory T cells as a novel CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ subset which might play an immunoregulatory role in embryo implantation.

Keywords: decidualization, DC-10, dendritic cells, immunomodulation, HLA-G, myeloid regulatory cells

INTRODUCTION

The maternal immune system was subjected to opposing selective pressures over millions of years of evolution: on the one hand it recognizes microbial pathogens and responds to eliminate them, whereas on the other hand, it accepts semi-allogeneic fetuses without ignoring its existence. Hence, the embryo has an "immunoprivileged status" that allows the establishment of early pregnancy by instructing immune tolerance induction in the maternal immune system. Therefore, the feto-maternal interface is characterized by dynamism: the microenvironment changes as pregnancy progresses accompanied by immunological phases with different profiles (1). The changes of the maternal immune profile are strictly controlled by complex regulatory mechanisms at decidualization, implantation, and placentation.

Particularly, the decidualization program involves phenotypic and functional changes of endometrial stromal cells and not only sustains the endometrial receptivity, but also allows the secretion of immunoregulatory factors which may condition maternal leukocytes to a regulatory profile (2). This process is unique and characteristic of endometrium and, in humans, it is activated independently of the presence of the blastocyst (2, 3). In this context, even though myeloid dendritic cells (DCs) are only 1-2% of decidual leukocytes, they initiate the adaptive immunity and, therefore, they are crucial for the establishment of immunological tolerance (1, 4). DCs in human decidua represent a complex population and their number fluctuates through different phases of the menstrual cycle and during pregnancy (5-8). Interestingly, in the last few years, Myeloid Regulatory Cells (MRCs) have been proposed as immunesuppressors and tolerance-inducers including the DC-10 (9, 10). This novel subset represents tolerogenic DCs (Tol-DCs) which notably spontaneously secrete large amounts of IL-10 and express different tolerogenic markers such as membrane-HLA-G and its receptors immunoglobulin-like transcript (ILT) 2, ILT-3, and ILT-4 (11). In fact, DC-10 are able to induce T cells anergy and type 1 regulatory T cells (Tr1) through the IL-10-dependent ILT4/HLA-G pathway in vitro (11). Remarkably, even though a single stimulation of allogeneic naïve T cells with DC-10 is sufficient to generate allo-specific Tr1 cells, the chronicity of allogeneic stimulation reinforces Tr1 induction (12). Previous reports indicate a higher percentage of DC-10 into the human decidua compared to peripheral blood during the first trimester of pregnancy; but, it is still unknown if these cells are recruited to the decidua or induced in situ (6). Tol-DCs also have the ability to induce regulatory T cells (Tregs, CD4⁺FOXP3⁺), a critical role in pregnancy that was proven using several in vivo and in vitro approaches in murine models as well as in humans (13–17). Recently, T cell subsets, which do not express FOXP3, with immunosuppressive ability based on the increase in HLA-G expression and IL-10 production were reported (8). The expression of HLA-G on T cells could be induced by DCs (6, 18, 19). The frequency of CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ cells in peripheral blood increases in healthy pregnant women, being even more pronounced within the decidua (6, 18); however, it is still unclear whether the decidualization program modulates their induction.

Since T cells and DCs are critical to sustain homeostasis in pregnancy, here we focused on the impact of the decidualization process in conditioning peripheral monocytes to MRCs and, particularly to the DC-10 subset. Finally, we investigated the ability of DC-10 to induce different regulatory T cell subsets.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents

Endotoxin-free reagents and plastic materials were used in all experiments. RPMI-1640, phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS), and penicillin/streptomycin were purchased from Gibco (Invitrogen, Argentina). Twenty-four-well flat bottom polystyrene plates were purchased from Jet-biofil (AP Biotech, Buenos Aires, Argentina) while 96-well U-bottom plates and half-area 96-well ELISA were obtained from Greiner Bio One (GBO, Buenos Aires, Argentina). Ficoll-Paque PLUS and Percoll were obtained from GE Healthcare Life Sciences (Embiotec, Buenos Aires, Argentina). Recombinant human IL-4 and recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) were obtained from Miltenyi Biotec (Lab Systems, Buenos Aires, Argentina). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from Escherichia coli was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Merck, Argentina).

Blood Samples

Buffy coats were obtained from fertile female volunteers, defined as women who had two or more previous normal pregnancies without any miscarriage in their clinical history, were non-smokers, and who were not under pharmacological treatment for at least 10 days before the day of sampling. The Investigation and Ethics Committees of 'Academia Nacional de Medicina' from CABA, Argentina have approved this study. All research was performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations, and written informed consent for the collection of samples and subsequent analyses was obtained from all blood donors recruited by "Fundación Hemocentro Buenos Aires," CABA, Argentina in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Human Endometrial Stromal Cell Line Culture

The human endometrial stromal cell (HESC) line was maintained in DMEM-F12 supplemented with 10% FBS, 50 U/ml penicillin, 50 μ g/ml streptomycin, and 2 mM glutamine (20, 21) (complete medium). This cell line was kindly provided by Dr. Gil Mor of Medical School, Yale University, United States.

Decidualization: HESC cells were cultured in 24-well plates until they reached 70% confluence with complete medium. Then, they were treated with medroxyprogesterone (MPA) $(10^{-7}M)$ and dibutyryl cAMP (db-cAMP) (2.5 × $10^{-3}M$) for 8 days (Dec), changing half of the culture media and renewing the stimuli every 48 h. The decidualization process was confirmed by the evaluation of decidual markers and cell viability, as previously described (22). Non-decidualized (Non-dec) cells were cultured simultaneously in similar conditions in absence of decidualization stimuli.

After 8 days of culture, Non-dec and Dec-HESC cells were washed three times and cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% of heat inactivated FBS, 50 U/ml penicillin, and 50 μ g/ml streptomycin (DC complete medium) for an additional 48 h and Conditioned Media (CM) were collected.

Dendritic Cells Differentiation

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated from buffy coats by Ficoll-Paque PLUS density gradient centrifugation (1.077 g/mL). Monocytes were isolated by centrifugation on a discontinuous Percoll gradient with modifications of a previously described method (23, 24). Briefly, PBMC were suspended in Ca2⁺, Mg2⁺-free Tyrode's solution supplemented with 0.2% EDTA and incubated for 45 min at 37°C. During this incubation, the osmolarity of the medium was gradually increased from 290 to 360 osmol/l by addition of NaCl. Two different Percoll fractions were layered in polypropylene tubes: 50% at the bottom followed by 40%. PBMC (40 \times 10⁶/ml) were layered at the top and they were centrifuged at 620 g for 50 min at 4°C. Monocytes were recovered at the interface, washed, and the purity and viability were checked by flow cytometry analysis and trypan blue exclusion, respectively. The purity and the viability accepted in all cases were >85% and >95%, respectively.

To obtain immature DC (Media-treated cells), monocytes $(1 \times 10^6/\text{ml})$ were cultured in DC complete medium with 30 ng/ml IL-4 and 30 ng/ml GM-CSF in 96-well U-bottom plates for at least 5 days. The expression of CD1a/CD14 was measured to confirm the differentiation to immature DC as previously described (25). In parallel, monocytes were also cultured in DC complete medium with IL-4 + GM-CSF in presence of HESC-CM (Non-dec-CM or Dec-CM). On the last day, cell supernatants were collected, and the phenotype was analyzed by flow cytometry. In some cases, on day 5,

the cells were treated with LPS 0.2 $\mu g/ml$ for 18 h if was required for the assays.

All experiments were performed independently using different donor monocytes (N is indicated in the legend of each figure).

Endocytosis Assay of FITC-OVA

At day 6 of differentiation, monocyte-derived cells were suspended at 2×10^6 cells/ml in fresh medium. FITC-Ovalbumin (FITC-OVA) was added at a final concentration of 100 µg/ml and cells were incubated for 25 min at 37°C. In parallel, a control was incubated on ice to determine unspecific binding. Cells were washed two times with ice-cold 2% FBS/PBS and fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde. The FITC-OVA uptake was then evaluated by flow cytometry as we have previously described (26).

Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction

Monocytes $(5 \times 10^4 \text{ cells/100 } \mu\text{l})$ were differentiated in presence or absence of 1:2 dilution HESC-CM for 6 days. The obtained monocyte-derived cells were then suspended in DC complete medium with 2.5×10^5 freshly isolated allogeneic lymphocytes (DC/lymphocyte ratio = 1/5) and cultured for 5 days more as we have previously described (25). The monocytes and lymphocytes used for mixed lymphocyte reaction (MLR) were isolated by centrifugation on a discontinuous Percoll gradient described above, reaching a purity >90 and >95%, respectively. At the last day of MLR, we evaluated the expression of different markers on T cells by flow cytometry and their cytokine production profile was evaluated in cell supernatants by ELISA.

Flow Cytometry

Cells were washed with PBS supplemented with 2% FBS/PBS and FITC-, APC- and PE-conjugated mAbs directed to CD1a, CD14, CD86, HLA-DR, CD83, CD4, CD25 (BD Biosciences), ILT-2/CD85j, and HLA-G (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, United States) or the corresponding isotype controls were added at saturating concentrations for 30 min at 4°C. Then, two additional washes were performed, and cells were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde. Stained cells were acquired using an FACS Calibur and FACSAria II cytometers and results were analyzed using FlowJo 7.6 Software.

Measurement of Cytokines by ELISA

Cytokines were evaluated in cell supernatants using commercial kits: IL-10, IL-12p70, TNF- α , and IFN- γ (BD Biosciences), according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, United States) was used to perform all statistical tests. Statistical significance was determined using the non-parametric Friedman test with Dunn's multiple comparisons post-test. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05 and exact *p*-values and comparisons were indicated in each graph.

RESULTS

Decidualized Cells Inhibit Monocyte Differentiation to CD1a⁺CD14⁻ Immature DC Profile in a Concentration-Dependent Manner

Considering that endometrial stromal cells change their secretome during the decidualization process, including the production of immunoregulators, we evaluated the influence of conditioned media (CM) of decidualized (Dec) and non-decidualized (Non-dec) HESC cells on immature DC differentiation. Monocytes were cultured to differentiate into immature DC with GM-CSF + IL-4 in absence (Media) or presence of different dilutions of Non-dec or Dec-CM for 5 days. As **Figure 1A** shows, Dec-CM inhibited monocyte differentiation to CD1a⁺CD14⁻ immature DC profile in a concentration-dependent manner. On the other hand, this effect was also accompanied by a persistence of CD1a⁻CD14⁺ cells (**Figure 1B**). **Figure 1C** shows representative dotplots of the

immunostaining of DC differentiated in the absence or presence of CM from endometrial cells before and after decidualization.

Altogether, the present results suggest that CM from endometrial cells, after decidualization, interfere with DC differentiation while it increases the frequency of CD1a⁻CD14⁺.

Decidualized Cells Induce a Myeloid Regulatory Cells-Profile on Monocyte-Derived Cultures

To characterize the phenotype of monocyte-derived cells acquired after the treatment with Dec-CM, we tested activation/maturation markers as HLA-DR, CD86, and CD83 expressions. We observed that monocyte-derived cells cultured with Dec-CM showed a higher expression of HLA-DR (**Figures 2A,B,D**) compared with culture medium. In fact, it also increased the expression of the maturation marker CD83 (**Figures 2C,E**). Surprisingly, Dec-CM increased the frequency of CD83⁺CD86^{low} while it diminished the frequency of the CD86^{high} population (**Figures 2C,E**). In line with its mature



immature DC in absence (Media) or presence of different dilutions of Non-dec or Dec-CM for 5 days. Then, the CD1a/CD14 expression was evaluated by flow cytometry. (**A**,**B**) Mean \pm SEM of positive cells from at least eight experiments are shown. Dotted lines represent the mean of positive cells of Media-treated culture. (**C**) Representative experiment of 1:2 dilution of CM is shown. The statistical test used is the Friedman test with Dunn's multiple comparisons post-test. *p*-values and comparisons were indicated in graph; *p*-values without lines indicate comparisons with dotted lines (Media).

phenotype, monocyte-derived cells differentiated with Dec-CM displayed significantly lower endocytic ability in an ovalbumin (OVA)-FITC uptake assay (**Figures 2F,G**).

When the cytokine secretion profile was evaluated, we observed that monocyte-derived cells differentiated in the presence of CM from HESC cells, either decidualized or not, secreted significantly higher levels of IL-10 compared to the culture medium, while IL-12 secretion was not modulated (**Figures 3A,B**). Notably, Dec-CM did not induce the production of TNF- α by monocyte-derived cells as Non-dec-CM did, highlighting the ability of Dec-CM to induce a different cytokine profile in these cultures (**Figure 3C**).

Altogether, the present results suggest that endometrial stromal cells, after decidualization, might induce an immunosuppressive regulatory phenotype on monocytes like the MRCs.

Decidualized Cells Prevent LPS-Induced Maturation of Monocyte-Derived Cells

Next, to confirm the maturation state and the activation of monocyte-derived cells differentiated in the presence of Dec-CM, we challenged them with LPS for 16 h and cytokine profile production and the activation/maturation marker's expression were assessed. As shown in Figure 3D, upon activation with LPS, Dec-CM cultures sustained higher IL-10 production while it prevented the increase of IL-12p70 and TNF-α secretion compared to culture medium-treated cells (Figures 3E,F). Moreover, in the presence of Dec-CM, significant increase of IL-10 and decrease of TNF- α expression in comparison with Non-dec-CM were observed, highlighting the effect of the decidualization treatment. On the other hand, the expression of activation/maturation markers in monocyte-derived cells, cultured or not, with HESC-CM and challenged with LPS was determined. Dec-CM treatment significantly prevented the increase in the frequency of HLA-DR^{high}, CD83⁺CD86⁺, and CD86^{high} subsets observed with LPS treatment (Figures 4A–E). Notably, a tendency to prevent the increase in the frequency of these subsets was also observed in Non-dec-CM cultures compared to the culture medium, reaching significance in the CD86^{high} subset (Figure 4E).

The present results indicate that, once decidualized, endometrial stromal cells might not only induce a phenotype like MRCs on monocyte-derived cells but also condition their functional status.

Decidualized Cells Favor a Higher Expression of the Characteristic Tolerogenic DC-10 Subset Markers on Myeloid Cells, HLA-G and ILT-2/CD85j

Based on the results shown above and considering that DC-10 spontaneously produce high amounts of IL-10 and increase tolerogenic markers, we next evaluated the ability of Dec-CM to induce tolerogenic markers on monocyte-derived cells. HLA-G expression was significantly increased in Dec-CM-treated cells compared to Non-dec-CM-treated cells. The increase of HLA-G expression was observed in both frequency and MFI parameters (**Figures 5A,B,D**). As expected, the expression of the HLA-G receptor, ILT-2/CD85j, was increased on monocyte-derived cells cultured in the presence of Dec-CM, compared to culture medium-treated cells (**Figures 5C,E**) suggesting that endometrial stromal cells might induce differentiation into the DC-10 subset compatible with a tolerogenic microenvironment only after decidualization. Interestingly, both DC-10-tolerogenic markers were not increased in those cultures treated with Non-dec-CM, highlighting the specificity of the decidualization process.

Decidualized Cells Condition Monocyte-Derived Cells to an Immunosuppressive and Tolerogenic Profile After Allogeneic Stimulation: CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ T Cells Induction

As described above, the DC-10 subset induced regulatory T cells with suppressor function through the IL-10-dependent HLA-G pathway. Taking into account the higher expression of HLA-G and ILT-2 markers in Dec-CM cultures, we evaluated the ability of these conditioned monocyte-derived cells to induce a tolerogenic and suppressor response after allogeneic stimulation in the mixed lymphocyte reaction (MLR). Hence, monocytederived cells that had been differentiated in the presence or absence of HESC-CM for 6 days were cultured with allogeneic lymphocytes for 5 days more. On the last day of MLR, we evaluated the expression of different markers on T cells by flow cytometry and their cytokine production profile by ELISA. An anti-inflammatory microenvironment characterized by higher IL-10 and lower IFN-y production was observed in cultures treated with either HESC-CM, compared to medium cultures (Figures 6A,B). These results suggest the induction of suppressor and regulatory profiles on T cells in both MLR cultures, although the IL-10:IFN-y ratio was significantly higher only in Dec-CM cultures (Figure 6C). In parallel, we evaluated the expression of the activation marker CD25, on allogeneic lymphocytes in these MLR cultures. We observed a significant decrease in the frequency of CD4⁺CD25⁺ cells in Dec-CMcultures (Figures 7A,B), suggesting that monocyte-derived cells differentiated with CM of decidualized cells inhibited allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells activation. Finally, a significant increase in the frequency of CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ cells was observed in Dec-CMcultures compared with Non-dec-CM-cultures, indicating a specific effect of decidualization (Figures 7C,D).

The present results suggest that HESC cells condition the monocyte-derived cells to an immunosuppressive profile accompanied by a decrease in the frequency of alloactivated T cells. Particularly Dec-CM-treated cells displayed a higher IL-10:IFN- γ ratio production and an increase in the CD4⁺HLAG⁺ T cells subset.

DISCUSSION

For many years, it was assumed that decidualized cells had a structural, passive role during embryo implantation, only associated with morphological changes of stromal cells.



FIGURE 2 | Decidualized cells induce an MRC-profile on monocyte-derived cultures with higher frequency of CD83⁺CD86^{low} and HLA-DR^{high} cells. Monocytes were cultured to differentiate to immature DC in absence (Media) or presence of 1:2 dilution of Non-dec or Dec-CM for 5 days. (A–E) After differentiation, the expression of HLA-DR, CD86, and CD83 was measured by flow cytometry. Representative experiments are shown in panels (A–C) and the mean ± SEM of positive cells or MFI from five to eight experiments is shown in panels (D,E). (F,G) On day 6, cells were washed and stimulated with OVA-FITC in fresh medium for 25 min at 37°C and the endocytic ability was evaluated by flow cytometry. Cells incubated with FITC-OVA in ice were used as negative control. The mean ± SEM of MFI from seven experiments is shown in panel (F) and the representative experiment is shown in panel (G). The statistical test used is the Friedman test with Dunn's multiple comparisons post-test. Exact *p*-values and comparisons are indicated in the graph.



comparisons post-test. Exact p-values and comparisons are indicated in the graph.

Nowadays, evidence indicates that the decidualization program conditions the endometrium for receptivity as well as for local leukocyte profiling (1, 27, 28). In fact, defects in decidualization could condition future pregnancies as observed in women with severe preeclampsia (29).

Here, we provide new experimental evidence on the decidualization program as a conditioning factor for the differentiation of maternal monocytes to a unique and special subset of Tol-DC, the DC-10, thus contributing to the establishment of tolerogenic and immune suppressor milieu by regulatory T cells induction. Our conclusions are based on several observations. First, Dec-CM inhibited monocyte differentiation to a classical CD1a⁺CD14⁻ immature DC profile in a concentration-dependent manner. Instead, CM induced a particular MRC-profile with a mature state and a higher IL-10 production on monocyte-derived cells. Moreover, Dec-CM prevented the increase of co-stimulatory molecules expression and pro-inflammatory cytokines production induced by LPS-stimulation. Finally, monocyte-derived cells differentiated in the presence of Dec-CM, expressed a higher level of

DC-10-tolerogenic markers, HLA-G and ILT-2/CD85j, resulting in an immune suppressor and tolerogenic response with a higher IL-10:IFN- γ ratio and an increased frequency of regulatory CD4⁺HLAG⁺ T cells.

Stromal cells are non-hematopoietic cells; however, they have the ability to mediate anti-inflammatory effects through targeting natural killer cells, monocyte/macrophages, DCs and inducing Tregs (30-32). The mechanisms involve cell contact and the production of soluble factors, including Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), TGF-B, IL-10, PGE2, and nitric oxide among other chemokines and cytokines (30-32). In this sense, the endometrium suffers regular cycles of menstruation, repair, proliferation, and differentiation under hormonal control. Endometrial leukocytes and derived-mediators play important roles not only in the decidualization and embryo implantation but also as local regulators in menstrual tissue breakdown and endometrial repair (33). It was reported that during the pre-decidualized phase the endometrium switches from a pro-inflammatory to an anti-inflammatory microenvironment (33). In this line, we observed that monocyte-derived cells



differentiated in presence of Non-dec-CM also acquired some features similar to those observed in Dec-CM cultures such as HLA-DR expression, IL-12 production, and $CD4^+CD25^+$ frequency with higher IL-10 and lower IFN- γ production after MLR. Therefore, Non-dec-CM might induce an anti-inflammatory profile on DC, though it is not as marked as the one induced by Dec-CM. Thus, we might infer that DC would begin

to acquire characteristics associated with an anti-inflammatory profile during the pre-decidualization phase, reaching a more robust tolerogenic profile during the decidualization process.

Here, we demonstrated that monocyte-derived cells differentiated in the presence of Dec-CM exhibit a particular CD83⁺CD86^{low} mature status with high expression of HLA-DR and spontaneous production of high amounts of IL-10.



FIGURE 5 | Decidualized cells favor a higher expression of the characteristic tolerogenic DC-10 subset markers on myeloid cells, HLA-G and ILT-2/CD85j. Monocytes were cultured to differentiate to immature DC in absence (Media) or presence of 1:2 dilution of Non-dec or Dec-CM for 5 days and the expression of HLA-G and ILT2/CD85j was evaluated by flow cytometry. Representative experiments are shown in panels (**A–C**) and the mean ± SEM of positive cells or MFI from six to ten experiments is shown in panels (**D,E**). The statistical test used is the Friedman test with Dunn's multiple comparisons post-test. Exact *p*-values and comparisons are indicated in the graph.



FIGURE 6 Decidualized cells condition monocyte-derived cells to an immunosuppressive profile after allogeneic stimulation. Monocyte-derived cells (5×10^4 cells/100 μ I) that had been differentiated in presence or absence of 1:2 dilution of Non-Dec or Dec-CM for 6 days were suspended in DC complete medium and co-cultured with allogeneic lymphocytes for 5 days more (DC/lymphocyte ratio = 1/5). On the last day of MLR, the IL-10 and IFN- γ secretion was evaluated by ELISA. Bars represent the mean \pm SEM of six experiments (**A**,**B**) and scatter dot-plots represent the mean \pm SEM of the IL-10:IFN- γ ratio production (**C**). The statistical test used is the Friedman test with Dunn's multiple comparisons post-test. Exact *p*-values and comparisons are indicated in the graph.

Accordingly, in the last few years, Gregori et al. characterized a subset of Tol-DC, the DC-10 subset, which can be differentiated *in vitro* from monocytes with GM-CSF + IL-4 and IL-10 (11). DC-10 are CD1a⁻CD14⁺ and display a mature myeloid

phenotype (CD83⁺CD86⁺ and HLA-DR^{high}) even in the absence of activation stimuli. Moreover, they secrete spontaneously high levels of IL-10 and express the tolerogenic markers HLA-G, ILT-2, ILT-3, and ILT-4. This phenotype turns them into



Exact *p*-values and comparisons are indicated in the graph.

potent inducers of Tr1 *in vitro* through the IL-10-dependent ILT-4/HLA-G pathway (11).

Although DC-10 share some similarities with other tolerogenic antigen-presenting cells, they represent a unique subset of Tol-DC that is phenotypically and functionally stable (34). Upon activation, DC-10 maintain their phenotype and their cytokine secretion profile with high IL-10 and low IL-12/TNF- α production. In accordance, here we showed that Dec-CM prevented the maturation of DC by LPS, inhibited IL-12 and TNF- α production, and increased even more the secretion of IL-10. The presence of DC-10 was recently reported in first trimester decidua and peripheral blood (6). However, it is still unclear if the increased frequency of DC-10 observed in the decidua is due to: (a) a higher recruitment from peripheral blood, (b) an increased conversion of resident decidual DCs into DC-10, or (c) if the decidual microenvironment promotes the de novo induction of DC-10 from monocytes recruited. Regarding the aforementioned frequency and based on the results presented

here, we propose that *the novo* induction of DC-10 could be occurring within human decidua and independently of the blastocyst presence.

The frequency of DCs in human endometrium reaches its highest level during the implantation window (35) and it is associated to their ability to release soluble factors that improve the endometrial receptivity (36, 37). In this context, previous work performed in mice provided strong evidence of the indispensability of DCs in decidua formation and implantation (38, 39). IL-10 promotes the expression of several tolerogenic molecules in human DCs and in other antigen-presenting cells, including IL-10 itself, hemo-oxygenase (HO-1), ILT-3, and ILT-4 as well as another important mediator of immune tolerance in pregnancy, the HLA-G. This atypical MHC class I molecule, is one of the ILT-2/ILT-4 ligands with potent immunosuppressive properties (40).

In accordance with these observations, in our *in vitro* model of immune-decidual interaction, we demonstrated that Dec-CM

was able to induce HLA-G and increased ILT-2 expression on monocyte-derived cells. Interestingly, these DC-10tolerogenic markers were not increased at all by Non-dec-CM treatment. It has been reported that the continuous ligation of ILT-2 on immature DC during differentiation maintains CD14 expression, inhibits the acquisition of CD1a expression and prevents the activation with LPS (41, 42). In fact, ligation through ILT-2 may preferentially induce and/or interact with Tregs that maintain T-cell unresponsiveness (42). Considering that the decidualization process increased IL-10 production by stromal cells (43), which induces the expression of IL-10, HLA-G and ILT-4 on DC-10 (11), and that HLA-G itself is able to up-regulate the expression of ILT-2 and ILT-4 (44), we suggest that Dec-CM induces a positive regulatory loop between IL-10 and these tolerogenic markers in monocytederived cultures.

In vitro experiments have demonstrated that DCs isolated from the decidua (45) are poor stimulators of allogeneic lymphocytes. Accordingly, here we showed for the first time that allogeneic lymphocytes co-cultured with monocytes-derived cells conditioned by Dec-CM treatment are hypo-responsive with significantly decreased CD25⁺ expression, particularly on the CD4⁺ subset. Indeed, a significantly higher IL-10/IFN-y ratio was observed in these cultures, suggesting the induction of a regulatory T-cell profile. In this sense, new subsets of regulatory T cells have emerged, defined by the expression of the HLA-G cell surface; CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ HLA-G⁺ T cells. They were identified in peripheral blood of healthy volunteers as small subsets but were able to suppress immune responses in vitro involving IL-10 and HLA-G as suppressive mechanisms (46-48). According to our results, high IL-10 and low IFN-y secretion mediated by CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ T cells was previously reported by other authors and, therefore, the ability of this small regulatory T cell subset to promotion of an anti-inflammatory or antiproliferative cytokine milieu has been suggested (46-48). Here, we showed that Dec-CM induced the differentiation of regulatory HLA-G⁺ T cells in monocytes-derived cell cultures while Non-dec CM was unable to induce this particular subset of regulatory CD4⁺ T cells, highlighting characteristic properties of the decidualization process. It was demonstrated that CD4⁺ T cells might acquire the HLA-G molecule from decidual DCs through the trogocytosis process (18). In fact, it was proposed that DC-10-derived extracellular vesicles also contain soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) and T cells can acquire HLA-G (49). Although we demonstrated the presence of CD4⁺HLA-G⁺ T cells on MLR cultures performed with total lymphocytes, we observed a low frequency of this subpopulation, suggesting that their physiological relevance would be based on suppressive capacity through the production of high levels of IL-10 and sHLA-G. However, more functional studies should be performed to address this issue.

Here we also observed an increase in the non-CD4⁺HLA⁻⁺ cells after the MLR cultures. In this sense, a higher frequency of CD8⁺HLA-G⁺ T cells cells in the peripheral blood of healthy pregnant compared to non-pregnant women, was recently reported (50). Taking into account that there are few studies on HLA-G⁺ T cell subsets in the context of pregnancy, and are even less focused on CD8⁺HLA-G⁺, it would be interesting to perform functional studies to characterize this unexplored regulatory subset (6, 18, 50).

Considering the present results, we suggest that decidual regulatory HLA-G⁺ T cells could be induced locally by DC-10 which were previously differentiated in the pre-implantation period by soluble factors released by decidualized cells. However, we cannot exclude that the HLA-G⁺ T cells could also be recruited toward the decidua from the periphery. Finally, even though we demonstrated that, through soluble factors, the decidualized cells induce DC-10 and condition the T cell profile toward a tolerogenic one by the induction of regulatory T cells, it still remains to be defined whether these mechanisms operate in the human decidua *in vivo* and how they cooperate in promoting and maintaining feto-maternal tolerance.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Investigation and Ethics Committee from "Academia Nacional de Medicina." The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GS, CP, and RR designed the study, supervised the experimental work, and wrote the manuscript. SG carried out all the experiments using dendritic cells. ES, LF, and EG performed the HESC cells treatments. SG, EG, LG, FM, and LF did the flow cytometry analysis, ELISA assays, and interpretation analysis. SG, AC, and MB did the purification of monocytes and lymphocytes used in this work. GS and RR supervised the whole study. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the National Agency of Sciences and Technology ANPCyT (PICT 2016-0464 to RR, 2017-1536 to CP, and 2017-2978 to SG), the University of Buenos Aires (UBACyT 20020130100040BA to CP and UBACyT 20020090200034 to RR), and by Fundación Roemmers to SG.

REFERENCES

- Mor G, Aldo P, Alvero AB. The unique immunological and microbial aspects of pregnancy. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:469–82. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.64
- Teklenburg G, Salker M, Heijnen C, Macklon NS, Brosens JJ. The molecular basis of recurrent pregnancy loss: impaired natural embryo selection. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2010) 16:886–95. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gaq079
- Brosens JJ, Parker MG, McIndoe A, Pijnenborg R, Brosens IA. A role for menstruation in preconditioning the uterus for successful pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2009) 200:615.e1-e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008. 11.037
- Guermonprezu J, Zitvogel L, Théry C, Amigorena S. Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2002) 20:621–67. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.100301.064828
- Yang F, Zheng Q, Jin L. Dynamic function and composition changes of immune cells during normal and pathological pregnancy at the maternalfetal interface. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1–15. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019. 02317
- Amodio G, Mugione A, Sanchez AM, Viganò P, Candiani M, Somigliana E, et al. HLA-G expressing DC-10 and CD4+ T cells accumulate in human decidua during pregnancy. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:406–11. doi: 10.1016/j. humimm.2012.11.031
- Schumacher A, Sharkey DJ, Robertson SA, Zenclussen AC. Immune cells at the fetomaternal interface: how the microenvironment modulates immune cells to foster fetal development. *J Immunol.* (2018) 201:325–34. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1800058
- Liu S, Diao L, Huang C, Li Y, Zeng Y, Kwak-kim JYH. The role of decidual immune cells on human pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2017) 124:44–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.10.045
- Barnie PA, Zhang P, Lv H, Wang D, Su X, Su Z, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells and myeloid regulatory cells in cancer and autoimmune disorders. *Exp Ther Med.* (2017) 13:378–88. doi: 10.3892/etm.2016.4018
- Amodio G, Cichy J, Conde P, Matteoli G, Moreau A, Ochando J, et al. Role of myeloid regulatory cells (MRCs) in maintaining tissue homeostasis and promoting tolerance in autoimmunity, inflammatory disease and transplantation. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2019) 68:661–72. doi: 10. 1007/s00262-018-2264-3
- Gregori S, Tomasoni D, Pacciani V, Scirpoli M, Battaglia M, Magnani CF, et al. Differentiation of type 1 T regulatory cells (Tr1) by tolerogenic DC-10 requires the IL-10-dependent ILT4 / HLA-G pathway. *Blood.* (2010) 116:935–45. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-234872
- Amodio G, Comi M, Tomasoni D, Gianolini ME, Rizzo R, Lemaoult J, et al. Hla-g expression levels influence the tolerogenic activity of human DC-10. *Haematologica*. (2015) 100:548–57. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.11 3803
- Hsu P, Santner-nanan B, Dahlstrom JE, Fadia M, Chandra A, Peek M, et al. Altered decidual DC-SIGN *i* antigen-presenting cells and impaired regulatory T-cell induction in preeclampsia. *AJPA*. (2012) 181:2149–60. doi: 10.1016/j. ajpath.2012.08.032
- Guerin LR, Prins JR, Robertson SA. Regulatory T-cells and immune tolerance in pregnancy: a new target for infertility treatment? *Hum Reprod Update*. (2009) 15:517–35. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmp004
- Ramhorst R, Fraccaroli L, Aldo P, Alvero AB, Cardenas I, Leirós CP, et al. Modulation and recruitment of inducible regulatory T cells by first trimester trophoblast cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2012) 67:17–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011.01056.x
- Teles A, Schumacher A, Kühnle M-C, Linzke N, Thuere C, Reichardt P, et al. Control of uterine microenvironment by foxp3(+) cells facilitates embryo implantation. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:158. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00158
- Ehrentraut S, Sauss K, Neumeister R, Luley L, Oettel A, Fettke F, et al. Human miscarriage is associated with dysregulations in peripheral bloodderived myeloid dendritic cell subsets. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02440
- Hsu P, Santner-Nanan B, Joung S, Peek MJ, Nanan R. Expansion of CD4(+) HLA-G(+) T Cell in human pregnancy is impaired in preeclampsia. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2014) 71:217–28. doi: 10.1111/aji. 12195

- Hsu P, Kay R, Nanan H. Innate and adaptive immune interactions at the fetal – maternal interface in healthy human pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00125
- Krikun G, Mor G, Alvero A, Guller S, Schatz F, Sapi E, et al. A novel immortalized human endometrial stromal cell line with normal progestational response. *Endocrinology*. (2004) 145:2291–6. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-1606
- Straszewski-Chavez SL, Abrahams VM, Alvero AB, Aldo PB, Ma Y, Guller S, et al. The isolation and characterization of a novel telomerase immortalized first trimester trophoblast cell line, Swan 71. *Placenta*. (2009) 30:939–48. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2009.08.007
- Grasso E, Gori S, Paparini D, Soczewski E, Fernandez L, Gallino L, et al. VIP induces the decidualization program and conditions the immunoregulation of the implantation process. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2017) 460:63–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2017.07.006
- Burzyn D, Jancic CC, Zittermann S, Keller Sarmiento MI, Fainboim L, Rosenstein RE, et al. Decrease in cAMP levels modulates adhesion to fibronectin and immunostimulatory ability of human dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2002) 72:93–100.
- Nahmod KA, Vermeulen ME, Raiden S, Salamone G, Gamberale R, Fernandez-Calotti P, et al. Control of dendritic cell differentiation by angiotensin II. FASEB J Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol. (2003) 17:491–3. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0755fje
- Gori S, Vermeulen M, Remes-Lenicov F, Jancic C, Scordo W, Ceballos A, et al. Acetylcholine polarizes dendritic cells toward a Th2-promoting profile. *Allergy*. (2017) 72:221–31. doi: 10.1111/all.12926
- Salamone G, Fraccaroli L, Gori S, Grasso E, Paparini D, Geffner J, et al. Trophoblast cells induce a tolerogenic profile in dendritic cells. *Hum Reprod.* (2012) 27:2598–606. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des208
- Boomsma CM, Kavelaars A, Eijkemans MJC, Lentjes EG, Fauser BCJM, Heijnen CJ, et al. Endometrial secretion analysis identifies a cytokine profile predictive of pregnancy in IVF. *Hum Reprod.* (2009) 24:1427–35. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/dep011
- Challis JR, Lockwood CJ, Myatt L, Norman JE, Strauss JF III, Petraglia F. Inflammation and pregnancy. *Reprod Sci.* (2009) 16:206–15. doi: 10.1177/ 1933719108329095
- Garrido-Gomez T, Dominguez F, Quiñonero A, Diaz-Gimeno P, Kapidzic M, Gormley M, et al. Defective decidualization during and after severe preeclampsia reveals a possible maternal contribution to the etiology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E8468—-E8477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1706546114
- Croxatto D, Vacca P, Canegallo F, Conte R, Venturini PL, Moretta L, et al. Stromal cells from human decidua exert a strong inhibitory effect on NK cell function and dendritic cell differentiation. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e89006. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089006
- Spaggiari GM, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Moretta L. MSCs inhibit monocytederived DC maturation and function by selectively interfering with the generation of immature DCs: central role of MSC-derived prostaglandin E2. *Blood.* (2009) 113:6576–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-203943
- Erkers T, Nava S, Yosef J, Ringdén O, Kaipe H. Decidual stromal cells promote regulatory T cells and suppress alloreactivity in a cell contact-dependent manner. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2013) 22:2596–605. doi: 10.1089/scd.2013.0079
- Berbic M, Ng CHM, Fraser IS. Inflammation and endometrial bleeding. Climacteric. (2014) 17:47–53. doi: 10.3109/13697137.2014.963964
- Amodio G, Gregori S. Human tolerogenic DC-10: perspectives for clinical applications. *Transplant Res.* (2012) 1:1. doi: 10.1186/2047-14 40-1-14
- 35. Kammerer U, Rieger L, Honig A. Characterization of human dendritic cells at the materno-fetal interface. In: Mor G editor. *Immunology of Pregnancy. Medical Intelligence Unit*. New York, NY: Springer (2005).
- Gnainsky Y, Granot I, Aldo P, Barash A, Or Y, Mor G, et al. Biopsy-induced inflammatory conditions improve endometrial receptivity: the mechanism of action. *Reproduction*. (2015) 149:75–85. doi: 10.1530/REP-14-0395
- Gnainsky Y, Granot I, Aldo PB, Barash A, Or Y, Schechtman E, et al. Local injury of the endometrium induces an inflammatory response that promotes successful implantation. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 94:2030–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2010.02.022
- Blois SM, Alba Soto CD, Tometten M, Klapp BF, Margni RA, Arck PC. Lineage, maturity, and phenotype of uterine murine dendritic cells throughout
gestation indicate a protective role in maintaining pregnancy. *Biol Reprod.* (2004) 70:1018–23. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.022640

- Plaks V, Birnberg T, Berkutzki T, Sela S, BenYashar A, Kalchenko V, et al. Uterine DCs are crucial for decidua formation during embryo implantation in mice. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:3954–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI36682
- Comi M, Amodio G, Gregori S. Interleukin-10-producing DC-10 is a unique tool to promote tolerance via antigen-specific T regulatory type 1 cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1–8. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00682
- Tenca C, Merlo A, Merck E, Bates EEM, Saverino D, Simone R, et al. CD85j (leukocyte Ig-like receptor-1/Ig-like transcript 2) inhibits human osteoclast-associated receptor-mediated activation of human dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:6757–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11. 6757
- Young NT, Waller ECP, Patel R, Roghanian A, Austyn JM, Trowsdale J. The inhibitory receptor LILRB1 modulates the differentiation and regulatory potential of human dendritic cells. *Blood.* (2008) 111:3090–6. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2007-05-089771
- Viganò P, Somigliana E, Mangioni S, Vignali M, Vignali M, Di Blasio AM. Expression of interleukin-10 and its receptor is up-regulated in early pregnant versus cycling human endometrium. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2002) 87:5730– 6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020435
- LeMaoult J, Zafaranloo K, Le Banff C, Carosella ED. HLA-G up-regulates ILT2, ILT3, ILT4, and KIR2DL4 in antigen presenting cells, NK cells, and T cells. FASEB J. (2005) 19:662–4. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-1617fje
- Kämmerer U, Schoppet M, McLellan AD, Kapp M, Huppertz HI, Kämpgen E, et al. Human decidua contains potent immunostimulatory CD83(+) dendritic cells. *Am J Pathol.* (2000) 157:159–69. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64527-0
- 46. Feger U, Tolosa E, Huang YH, Waschbisch A, Biedermann T, Melms A, et al. HLA-G expression defines a novel regulatory T-cell subset present in

human peripheral blood and sites of inflammation. *Blood*. (2007) 110:568–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-11-057125

- Huang Y, Zozulya AL, Weidenfeller C, Schwab N, Wiendl HT. cell suppression by naturally occurring HLA-G-expressing regulatory CD4 + T cells is IL-10dependent and reversible. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2009) 86:273–81. doi: 10.1189/jlb. 1008649
- Pankratz S, Bittner S, Herrmann AM, Schuhmann MK, Ruck T, Meuth SG, et al. Human CD4+ HLA-G+ regulatory T cells are potent suppressors of graftversus-host disease in vivo. *FASEB J.* (2014) 28:3435–45. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-251074
- Amodio G, Gregori S. The discovery of HLA-G-bearing extracellular vesicles: New perspectives in HLA-G biology. *Ann Transl Med.* (2017) 5:8–10. doi: 10.21037/atm.2017.01.46
- Zare M, Namavar Jahromi B, Gharesi-Fard B. Analysis of the frequencies and functions of CD4+CD25+CD127low/neg, CD4+HLA-G+, and CD8+HLA-G+ regulatory T cells in pre-eclampsia. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 133:43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2019.06.002

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Gori, Soczewski, Fernández, Grasso, Gallino, Merech, Colado, Borge, Pérez Leirós, Salamone and Ramhorst. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Visualizing Dynamic Changes at the Maternal-Fetal Interface Throughout Human Pregnancy by Mass Cytometry

Anita van der Zwan¹, Vincent van Unen^{1,2}, Guillaume Beyrend¹, Sandra Laban¹, Carin van der Keur¹, Hanneke J. M. Kapsenberg¹, Thomas Höllt^{3,4}, Susana M. Chuva de Sousa Lopes⁵, Marie-Louise P. van der Hoorn⁶, Frits Koning¹, Frans H. J. Claas¹, Michael Eikmans^{1*†} and Sebastiaan Heidt^{1†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sarah Anne Robertson, The University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Nardhy Gomez-Lopez, Wayne State University, United States Aleksandar K. Stanic, University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States

*Correspondence:

Michael Eikmans m.eikmans@lumc.nl

[†]These authors share last authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 12 June 2020 Accepted: 02 September 2020 Published: 26 October 2020

Citation:

van der Zwan A, van Unen V, Beyrend G, Laban S, van der Keur C, Kapsenberg HJM, Höllt T, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, van der Hoorn M-LP, Koning F, Claas FHJ, Eikmans M and Heidt S (2020) Visualizing Dynamic Changes at the Maternal-Fetal Interface Throughout Human Pregnancy by Mass Cytometry. Front. Immunol. 11:571300. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.571300

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

¹ Department of Immunology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ² Institute for Immunity, Transplantation and Infection, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, United States, ³ Leiden Computational Biology Center, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁴ Computer Graphics and Visualization Group, Delft University of Technology, Delft, Netherlands, ⁵ Department of Anatomy and Embryology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁶ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

During healthy pregnancy, a balanced microenvironment at the maternal-fetal interface with coordinated interaction between various immune cells is necessary to maintain immunological tolerance. While specific decidual immune cell subsets have been investigated, a system-wide unbiased approach is lacking. Here, mass cytometry was applied for data-driven, in-depth immune profiling of the total leukocyte population isolated from first, second, and third trimester decidua, as well as maternal peripheral blood at time of delivery. The maternal-fetal interface showed a unique composition of immune cells, different from peripheral blood, with significant differences between early and term pregnancy samples. Profiling revealed substantial heterogeneity in the decidual lymphoid and myeloid cell lineages that shape gestational-specific immune networks and putative differentiation trajectories over time during gestation. Uncovering the overall complexity at the maternal-fetal interface throughout pregnancy resulted in a human atlas that may serve as a foundation upon which comprehension of the immune microenvironment and alterations thereof in pregnancy complications can be built.

Keywords: immune profiling, human atlas, pregnancy, placenta, decidua, peripheral blood

INTRODUCTION

Preserving immunological tolerance toward the semi-allogeneic fetus during pregnancy while providing protection against environmental pathogens relies on intricately regulated local and systemic immune adaptations. Direct contact between the mother and the fetus exists at the decidua basalis, located at the implantation site, and at the decidua parietalis that is part of the membranes which line the uterine cavity and surround the fetus. Fetal extravillous trophoblasts (EVT) migrate into the maternal decidua early during pregnancy (1), and express HLA-C, -G, -E, and -F but lack expression of the classical HLA-A and -B antigens, rendering them in part invisible to natural killer (NK) cells and the large majority of maternal allogeneic CD8+ T cells (2–4).

In concert, alterations in both the maternal innate and adaptive immune compartment occur, where NK and innate lymphoid cells (ILC) prevail in early pregnancy, while T cell proportions increase over the course of gestation (5, 6). Antigen-presenting cell (APC) numbers remain relatively constant throughout pregnancy while B cells have been described as a sparse population (5–8).

The fetus can be immunologically recognized as maternal NK cells may bind to fetal HLA-C and HLA-G, and fetal-specific CD8+ and CD4+ T cells have been observed in maternal peripheral blood and decidua (9–12). As such, aberrant regulation of the maternal immune system has been suggested to play a role in pregnancy complications, such as pre-eclampsia (13, 14), recurrent miscarriages (15, 16), preterm birth (17–19), and fetal growth restrictions (20).

A better understanding of the immune system at the maternal-fetal interface during a healthy pregnancy may drive the systematic investigation of major pregnancy complications. Most work in the field of reproductive immunology has focused on individual subsets of decidual immune cells while a comprehensive, system-wide approach that visualizes all decidual immune cell lineages at different time points during pregnancy is lacking. High-dimensional single-cell technologies such as mass cytometry (21) allow an in-depth and unbiased datadriven analysis of the composition of the immune system at the maternal-fetal interface. In the current study, we applied two mass cytometry antibody panels, one to detect heterogeneity within all major immune cell lineages while the other with a focus on T cell-specific markers, to determine the composition of the maternal immune compartment in first, second, and third (term) trimester decidual samples as well as maternal PBMC (mPBMC) at the time of delivery. Our results provide an immune atlas of the maternal-fetal interface in healthy pregnancy, which may serve as a foundation for improved understanding of pregnancy complications.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Human Decidual and Blood Samples

De-identified 1st and 2nd trimester human decidual material (1st trimester, gestational age of 6-13 weeks, n = 12; 2nd trimester, 14–18 weeks, n = 6) was obtained from women undergoing elective pregnancy termination. The gestational age was determined by ultrasonography and the tissue obtained by vacuum aspiration. Paired 3rd trimester (term) decidua basalis, decidua parietalis, and heparinized mPBMC were obtained from healthy women after uncomplicated pregnancy (gestational age >38 weeks, n = 9) delivered by elective cesarean section or uncomplicated spontaneous vaginal delivery at Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC). Non-pregnant PBMC control samples were obtained from healthy females (n = 4). The clinical characteristics of the subjects are shown in Table 1. All samples were obtained after informed consent and the study was carried out in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Medical Ethics Committee of the LUMC (protocols P08.087 and P11.196), and in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Isolation of Lymphocytes From Decidual and PBMC Samples

Decidual leukocytes were isolated as previously described, with some adjustments (22). For isolation of 1st and 2nd trimester decidual leukocytes, villous and decidual tissues from elective pregnancy terminations were macroscopically identified and separated. Decidua basalis and parietalis from term pregnancy were macroscopically dissected by scraping the basalis membrane from the placenta and by removing the amnion and delicately scraping the decidua parietalis from the chorion. Decidual tissues were washed with PBS, minced, and resuspended in Accutase cell detachment solution (prewarmed to 37°C; Gibco Life technologies). Subsequently, tissues were transferred to a C tube, homogenized on a gentleMACS dissociator (Miltenvi Biotec Ltd.) and incubated for 60 min in a water bath (37°C, gently shaking), at 30 min spinning the C tubes once more. After digestion, released cell suspensions were filtered through 250 and 70 µm sieves (Sigma-Aldrich; Miltenyi Biotec Ltd.) and washed with RPMI 1640 (Life technologies). Next, the cell suspensions were dissolved in 20 ml of 1.023 g/ml Percoll (GE Healthcare) and layered on a Percoll gradient (10 ml 1.080 g/ml; 15 ml 1.053 g/ml) for density gradient centrifugation (25 min, 2000 rpm). Leukocytes were isolated from the 1.080-1.053 g/ml and the 1.053-1.023 g/ml interface, washed twice with RPMI, and left overnight at 4°C. Peripheral blood leukocytes were isolated from freshly drawn heparin anticoagulated blood using Ficoll (GE Healthcare) density gradient centrifugation (20 min, 2000 rpm) and left overnight at 4°C. The next day, cell suspensions were incubated with Benzonase Nuclease (Sigma-Aldrich; 20U/mL) for 5 min, washed, counted, and stained with antibodies for either mass cytometry or flow cytometry. To account for cell processing variation, the effects of enzymatic digestion and gentleMACS dissociation on cell surface protein markers in peripheral blood and decidual cell suspensions has extensively been validated in our laboratory and by others (23).

Mass Cytometry Antibody Staining and Data Acquisition

Antibodies used for mass cytometry are listed in Supplementary Tables 1, 2. Primary metal-conjugated antibodies were purchased from Fluidigm or purified antibodies were conjugated with metal reporters by using a MaxPar X8 Antibody Labeling kit (Fluidigm) according to manufacturer's instructions. After conjugation, antibodies were diluted to 200 μ l in antibody stabilization buffer (Candor Biosciences), supplemented with 0.05% sodium azide. Both antibody panels have previously been validated (24, 25), and in this study tested on both peripheral blood and decidual samples. Antibody staining and data acquisition were carried out as previously described (26, 27). In short, cells from decidual and peripheral blood samples were incubated with 1 mL of 1:500 diluted 500 µM Cell-ID Intercalator-103 Rh (Fluidigm) for 15 min at room temperature (RT), washed, and incubated with human Fc blocking antibody (Biolegend) for 10 min at RT. Cell suspensions were thereafter stained with a mix of metal-conjugated antibodies for 45 min at RT. After washing, cells were incubated with 125 nM Cell-ID Intercalator-Ir (Fluidigm) in MaxPar Fix and

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics¹.

	1st trimester	2nd trimester	3rd trimester	NP PBMC
Demographics				
Maternal age (years; mean \pm SD)	Unknown	Unknown	32.8 ± 4.3	30.5 ± 3.1
Body mass index (BMI; mean \pm SD)	Unknown	Unknown	25.4 ± 3.9	22.1 ± 0.4
Gravity (median, IQR) ²	Unknown	Unknown	2 (1, 2)	0
Parity (% nulliparous)	Unknown	Unknown	46	100
Pregnancy parameters				
Gestational age (weeks; mean \pm SD)	9.2 ± 2.1	15.5 ± 1.2	39.1 ± 0.8	NA
Placenta weight (kg; mean \pm SD)	NA	NA	564.5 ± 87.3	NA
Mode of delivery	Elective abortion	Elective abortion	Spontaneous + C-section	NA
Sex of child (%)	M 53.8%/ F 46.2%	M 9.1%/ F 90.9%	M 53.8%/ F 46.2%	NA
Experiment inclusions				
General CyTOF panel	<i>n</i> = 12	<i>n</i> = 6	<i>n</i> = 9	<i>n</i> = 4
T cell CyTOF panel	<i>n</i> = 11	<i>n</i> = 5	<i>n</i> = 8	<i>n</i> = 4
FACS panel	n = 3	n = 4	n = 4	NA

¹All pregnancies were considered healthy as determined by demographics, pregnancy parameters, attending gynecologists/research nurses, and the absence of membrane discoloration and infarctions in the placenta. ² IQR, interquartile range.

Perm buffer (Fluidigm) and left overnight at 4°C. Prior to data acquisition, cell pellets were diluted in distilled water containing 1:10 diluted EQ Four Element Calibration Beads (Fluidigm), and cells were acquired by a Helios mass cytometer (Fluidigm). After acquisition, data was normalized using the EQ beads with passport P13H2302 reference. To account for technical variation, a PBMC reference sample from a healthy donor was included for both the general and the T cell panel at ten intervals during 20 staining batches and 18 CyTOF acquisition runs over a time period of 7 months.

Mass Cytometry Data Analysis

For each data file, live single CD45+ immune cells were selected by gating in Cytobank (**Supplementary Figure S1**A). The gating strategy utilized the parameters residual, event length, width, and center to gate out debris and doublets. In addition, dead cells and normalization beads were excluded. Next, the files were subjected to sample-tagging, hyperbolic-arcsinh-transformation with cofactor 5 and dimensionality reduction in Cytosplore (28). Pair-wise Jensen-Shannon (JS) divergences were calculated for the individual samples within each tissue group, analyzed in a collective t-SNE, where low JS distances were indicative of high similarities between the samples within a group.

All data were pooled per panel and a five-level HSNE analysis was performed with default parameters (perplexity 30; iterations 1,000), where the major immune cell lineages were identified by automatic clustering (**Figure 1B** and **Supplementary Figures S1D, S2C**). No influence of the mode of delivery on clustering of term decidual samples was observed in our analyses and a previous report by Tilburgs et al. (29) similarly confirmed no influence of mode of delivery and other clinical variables on decidual cell types in term pregnancy. All HSNE, t-SNE, and Gaussian mean-shift clustering-derived cell clusters were generated in Cytosplore. A cluster is defined as a population of at least 100 cells with the same phenotype. Exported FCS files for all identified individual clusters were subjected to the CytoFast

workflow in R (30). Hierarchical clustering of the heatmaps was created with Euclidean correction and average linkage, and the median intensity values of markers were visualized. The number of cells in each immune cluster were determined for each sample and cluster frequencies and sample frequencies were calculated. Sample frequencies were visualized in boxplots and sample t-SNE plots. Violin plots, PCA plots and correlation network analysis were generated in R. Diffusion maps were generated in R using the "destiny" package (31). Within the CD4+ T cell compartment, CD4+ T_N cells together with the CD4+ T_{RORA} cluster and Treg-like T cell clusters branched off completely and were omitted from the final CD4+ T cell diffusion map. Within the CD8+ T cell compartment, CD27- CD69-, CD27+CD69-T_N, and CD27^{INT}CD69^{INT}CD127+CCR6+ clusters branched off completely and were omitted from the final diffusion map. For the global test, incorporated within the Cytofast workflow, the absolute correlation distance with average linkage for hierarchical clustering was used. The branches colored in black show the significant multiplicity-corrected *p*-values.

Flow Cytometry

Antibodies for flow cytometric analysis are listed in **Supplementary Table 3**. For surface staining, cells were stained for 30 min at 4°C in PBS 1% FCS. For intracellular staining, cells were fixed and permeabilized using the FOXP3 staining buffer kit (eBioscience). Acquisition and analysis were performed on an LSR-II (BD Biosciences) using FACS Diva software. In addition, HSNE and t-SNE analysis of flow cytometric data was performed using Cytosplore. Co-expression of FOXP3, HELIOS, CTLA-4, CD39, ICOS, and TIGIT was confirmed by manual gating and HSNE analysis.

Statistical Analyses

Results are shown as median with interquartile range and the boxplots depict the 10–90 percentile. To determine



FIGURE 1 Identification of major immune cell lineages at the maternal-fetal interface. (A) Experimental setup. First (6–13 weeks of gestation), second (14–18 weeks) and third trimester (term; >38 weeks; basalis and parietalis) decidual samples along with maternal peripheral blood mononuclear cells (mPBMC) and non-pregnant PBMC (NP PBMC) were analyzed. (B) First-level HSNE visualization of the major immune cell lineages derived from decidua and peripheral blood. Colors top left indicate tissue type (1st trimester n = 12; 2nd trimester n = 6; term basalis and parietalis n = 9; mPBMC n = 9; NP PBMC n = 4); colors bottom left indicate major immune cell types (CD8M, CD8 memory T cells; CD8N, CD8 naïve T cells; CD4M, CD4 memory T cells; CD4N, CD4 naïve T cells; ILC, innate lymphoid cells); colors for plots on the right indicate the arcSinh5-transformed expression values of the specified markers where every dot represents a landmark. Memory and naïve clusters were distinguished based on CD45RO and CD45RA expression. (C) t-SNE visualization of the separation between decidual and peripheral blood samples (as percentage of CD45+ cells). Every dot represents a single sample. (D) Major immune cell lineages (as percentage of CD45+ cells) throughout gestation and within mPBMC and NP PBMC. Boxplots depict the 10–90 percentile and the Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons was applied. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001;

Panel	# of Decidual samples	CD4+ T cells	CD8+ T cells	B cells	Myeloid cells	ILC/NK cells	TCRγδ cells
General panel	36	1,136,799	1,082,234	72,414	2,390,451	3,841,125	114,875
T cell panel	32	818,800	707,147	73,579	2,087,932	3,556,369	96,640
Trimester	Total # of samples	General panel	T cell panel	Overlap (#, %)			
1st Basalis	14	12	11	9; 64%			
2nd Basalis	7	6	5	4; 57%			
3rd Basalis	9	9	8	8; 89%			
3rd Parietalis	9	9	8	8; 89%			
mPBMC	9	9	8	8; 89%			
NP PBMC	4	4	4	4; 100%			

TABLE 2 | Total number of cells and samples analyzed.

differences among more than two unpaired groups, a nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparison post-test was applied where significance was assessed by controlling for false discovery at 5% (FDR). *P*-values < 0.05were considered to denote statistically significant differences. Statistical analyses were performed in GraphPad Prism version 8.0 and R version 3.5.1.

RESULTS

The Maternal-Fetal Interface Harbors a Unique Immune Cell Composition

We analyzed first, second, and third trimester decidual samples along with mPBMC taken at the time of delivery and PBMC of non-pregnant age-matched women (NP PBMC) as a control (Table 1). A general mass cytometry panel comprising 39 antibodies (Supplementary Table 1) was used to provide a broad coverage of the myeloid and lymphoid immune compartments. For in-depth profiling of the T cell compartment, a second panel comprising 37 antibodies (Supplementary Table 2) was applied. After data acquisition (Table 2), live, single CD45+ cells were selected for downstream analysis (Supplementary Figure S1A and Figure 1A). Conventional cell populations were verified by manual gating and have previously been validated (27). To allow systematic comparison of samples, the data obtained with the general panel (49 samples; 19×10^6 CD45+ cells) and the data obtained with the T cell panel (44 samples; 17×10^6 CD45+ cells) were pooled separately and analyzed with hierarchical stochastic neighbor embedding (HSNE) and t-distributed stochastic neighbour embedding (t-SNE) in Cytosplore (28, 32). Comparison of the absolute numbers and percentages of CD45+ cells and correlations thereof showed a similar pattern in the general and T cell panel (Supplementary Figures S1B,C).

At several timepoints during the acquisition timeline a PBMC reference sample was included, which corroborated reproducible staining and acquisition among different sets of experiments (**Supplementary Figures S2A,B**). Clustering of technical PBMC reference samples together with the experimental decidual samples (for each panel separately) using Cytosplore revealed that reference samples clustered tightly together and that variation between decidual samples was much greater than

between reference samples (**Supplementary Figures S3, S4**). This demonstrated that only a limited amount of variation is explained by staining inconsistencies between batches.

At the overview level, the HSNE landmarks depicted the global data heterogeneity and marker expression profiles in both panels and identified the major immune cell subsets of myeloid cells, ILC, CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells (including the TCR $\gamma\delta$ lineage), and B cells (**Figure 1B** and **Supplementary Figure S1D**). Subsequently, t-SNE analysis based on cell frequencies separated the samples of 1st and 2nd trimester from samples of term basalis and parietalis, and peripheral blood, indicative of distinct immune profiles (**Figure 1C** and **Supplementary Figure S1E**). Cell frequencies of the major immune cell lineages confirmed ILC as being the predominant cell type in 1st trimester, decreasing toward the end of pregnancy, and contrasting the dynamics of T cells. This analysis also validated that the number of myeloid cells remains relatively constant throughout gestation, while B cells are hardly present (**Figure 1D** and **Supplementary Figure S1F**) (6).

Early Pregnancy Reveals a Heterogeneous Group of Myeloid Cells With High HLA-DR Expression

Next, for each antibody panel, the data from all decidual samples were pooled and HSNE analysis was performed on every lineage individually. Within the myeloid cell lineage (Supplementary Figure S2C), the second hierarchical level revealed six large subpopulations that could be discriminated based on differential expression of CD14, CD11c, CD11b, HLA-DR, CD16, and CD15 (Supplementary Figures S2D,E). Subsequently, Gaussian mean-shift clustering was applied and quantified with Cytofast (30), revealing 16 phenotypically distinct myeloid cell clusters (Figure 2A). Here, HSNE overview plots showed the individual markers that contributed to the separation into distinct clusters (Figure 2B). Next, we determined which myeloid cell clusters were differentially present in 1st and 2nd trimester, term basalis, and term parietalis samples to uncover dynamics throughout pregnancy (Figure 2C). Only cell clusters with significant differences (false discovery rate (FDR) <5%) between the groups are shown.

Notably, early pregnancy (1st and 2nd trimester) was characterized by the presence of a heterogeneous group of myeloid cells with high HLA-DR expression. CD163+HLA-DR+ cells, also expressing intermediate levels of CD56 and



 $M\varphi$, macrophage. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001.

CD7 (cluster "Other CD56+CD163+"), were observed in the 1st and 2nd trimester (**Figure 2C**), and may represent myeloidlike NK cell progenitors or a distinct monocyte/dendritic cell population. Furthermore, cell clusters of decidual mononuclear phagocytes (dMP), namely dMP1, dMP2, dMP5, and dMP6, expressing various combinations of CD14, CD11b, CD11c, CCR6, CD38, and CD69 were more prominent in 1st and 2nd trimester decidua compared to term decidua. The immuneregulatory CD163+ M2 macrophage (M φ) subtype was present in early pregnancy and term decidua parietalis, but hardly in term decidua basalis. In addition, CD11c^{high}CD14-CD16- Mo-DC were predominantly abundant in 1st trimester. Moreover, CCR6+CD45RA+CD38- dMP cell clusters with low HLA-DR expression (dMP3 and dMP4) were dominantly present in term decidua basalis while the largest population of CD15+CD16+ granulocytes was found in both term decidua basalis and parietalis (**Figure 2C**). Finally, a clear separation between early and late pregnancy samples in unsupervised principal component analysis (PCA; **Figure 2D**) was driven by an abundance of granulocytes in late pregnancy and supported by a previously unrecognized diverse composition of myeloid cells in early pregnancy. Together, these results reveal substantial changes in the composition of the myeloid compartment during gestation.

Dynamic Changes in the Composition of the ILC Compartment During Pregnancy

A similar analysis of the ILC compartment (CD3-CD7+) confirmed its well-described cellular composition in decidua (33-36). The general panel classified 14 clusters with high expression of CD56 and lack of CD16 (Supplementary Figure S5A). Early pregnancy was characterized by activated CD161+CD122+NKp46+CD69+ NK cells (NK2, NK3, NK5, NK7, NK8, NK13), tissue-resident CD69+CD103+ cell clusters (NK4, NK5, K7) and ILC3 (Supplementary Figures S5A,B), coupled to the expression of CD39 and TIM-3 (Supplementary Figures S5C-E) (37). Toward the end of pregnancy, NK cells displayed a less activated phenotype with lower expression of CD161, CD122, NKp46, and CD103, and higher expression of CD45RA and CD16 (mostly in term basalis; Supplementary Figure S5B). Tissue-resident-like ILC were not only observed in 1st trimester (dIC6; decidual ILC Cluster), but also in small numbers in term samples (dIC1) along with the expression of TIGIT (Supplementary Figures S5C,D). In addition, expression of the co-inhibitory receptors TIM-3 and CD39 was observed in both early and term parietalis samples. NK2, NK3, and NK5 clusters resembled a phenotype similar to the intermediate innate subset described in fetal intestine that can differentiate into ILC3 and NK cells (25).

In summary, high proportions of activated ILC are present early in pregnancy alternated by dissimilar, smaller proportions of ILC cell clusters in term pregnancy, where the largest separation was observed between 1st trimester and term basalis (**Supplementary Figure S5F**).

The Decidua Harbors NKT-Like TCRy δ T Cells

Substantial phenotypic diversity was observed within decidual TCRy δ cells where seven cell clusters were identified within the general panel (Supplementary Figures S6A,B). The most prominent cell clusters were CD161+KLRG1+ TCR $\gamma\delta_{EM}$. present throughout gestation, and CD69+ TCR $\gamma \delta_{EMRA}$ that were dominant in term basalis. Remarkably, NKT-like populations of TCRγδ cells expressing CD56 and CD11c were also observed. T_{EMRA} , with high expression of CD45RA, and T_{EM} cell clusters persisted in early pregnancy while cells co-expressing CD45RA and CD45RO and positive for CD27, CD5, and CD69 increased in term parietalis (Supplementary Figures S6A,C). Even though differences throughout gestation were existent, close clustering between the three different trimesters was observed in a PCA (Supplementary Figure S6D). In summary, these results display heterogeneity and the presence of NKT-like populations within the TCRγδ compartment.

CD4+ T Cell Characterization Reveals Unexplored Diversity Within Memory and Regulatory Phenotypes

In the CD4+ T cell lineage 17 cell clusters were identified: one naïve (N; CD45RA+CCR7+), two terminally differentiated (TEMRA; CD45RA+CCR7-), one central-memory (CM; CD45RO+CCR7+), seven effector-memory (EM;

CD45RO+CCR7–), one CD45RA+RO+ and five memory regulatory-like T cell (Treg-like; CD25+CD127–) clusters (**Figures 3A,B**). Early in pregnancy, natural-killer-like CD4+ T cells (NKT-like) exist that express CD56, CD11c, CD161, CD122, NKp46, and CD38 (**Supplementary Figure S7A** and **Figure 3C**). Expression of CD127 and CCR6 occurred toward the end of pregnancy (T2_{*EM*}), consistent with the early pregnancyassociated T4_{*EM*} cluster that lacked expression of these markers. At term, CD4+CD7-CD161+ T_{*EM*} cells expressing CD27 and CCR6 (T2_{*EM*}) were observed in term basalis, whereas CD4+CD7+CD161- T_{*EM*} cells expressing CD38 and ICOS, and lacking CCR6 (T7_{*EM*}) were predominantly present in term parietalis (**Figure 3C**). Furthermore, CD4+ T_{*EM*} cells showed co-expression of PD-1 and ICOS, at lower levels than the Treg-like population, and lack of TIGIT and CD39.

Considerable heterogeneity within the Treg-like compartment was uncovered, where CD25+CD127- cell clusters expressed high levels of co-inhibitory (PD-1, CD39, TIGIT) and stimulatory (ICOS, CD38, CD28, CD27) receptors, including co-expression thereof (Figures 3A,B). When investigating the Treg-like compartment in more detail, previously unrecognized heterogeneity was observed with respect to the expression of the Treg-associated markers TIM-3, CCR8, and CCR4 (Supplementary Figure S7B) (38-40). Tr1 cells, identified by co-expression of LAG-3 and CD49b (41), were absent in decidual CD4+ T cells (Supplementary Figure S7B), but were observed in mPBMC (data not shown). Quantification of the presence of these CD25+ cell clusters in the gestational age groups revealed that T4_{*REG*} (HLA-DR-CD69-PD-1-) and T3_{REG} (CCR4+CD38+) were more frequent in early pregnancy and lower in term basalis, whereas the largest Treg-like population, T2_{REG} (ICOS+PD-1+TIGIT+CD39+), was significantly increased in term parietalis (Figure 3C). Furthermore, T5_{*REG*} (CCR6+ICOS+TIGIT+PD-1-CD39-) was significantly increased in term decidua basalis and parietalis, while virtually absent in early pregnancy. By aligning cells from these five Treg-like clusters along a two-dimensional diffusion map (31), putative differentiation and/or plasticity trajectories were observed between cell clusters $T2_{REG}$, $T3_{REG}$, T4_{REG}, and T5_{REG}. T1_{REG}, the smallest Treg-like cluster, was distinct owing to the lack of CD7 and CD27 expression (Supplementary Figure S7C).

То further evaluate the Treg-like phenotypes, intracellular expression of FOXP3, HELIOS, and CTLA-4 in CD4+CD25+CD127- and CD127+ T cells was assessed by flow cytometry in decidual samples (Supplementary Table 3). Co-expression of FOXP3, HELIOS, CTLA-4, CD39, ICOS, and TIGIT was observed in HSNE analysis of flow cytometry data, confirming a valid regulatory T cell phenotype (Figure 3D). In addition, differential coexpression of these markers was observed in several cell clusters, where not all CD4+CD25+CD39+ICOS+ cells expressed FOXP3 and/or HELIOS. This indicates that the Treg-like CD25+CD127- populations detected by mass cytometry represent a heterogeneous group of Treg and Treg-like cells at the maternal-fetal interface (Figure 3D). Flow cytometry data revealed an increase in CD4+CD25+CD127+ T cells, known



FIGURE 3 In-depth characterization of the heterogeneity within the CD4+ T cell compartment. (A) Heatmap showing the marker expression values for the 17 identified CD4+ T cell clusters within the T cell panel (32 samples; 818,800 cells). Cluster IDs and cluster frequencies are displayed at the bottom of the heatmap. (B) First-level HSNE embedding of the expression values of the indicated markers. (C) Boxplots of sample frequencies, divided per trimester, of the clusters plotted as a fraction of total CD4+ T cells. The Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons was performed. (D) HSNE embedding of the expression values of the indicated markers, measured by flow cytometry and gated within CD3+CD4+ T cells. CD4+CD25+CD127- clusters are circled in orange; CD4+CD25+CD127+ clusters are circled in blue. 1st (n = 3), 2nd (n = 4) and term decidua (n = 4). (E) Boxplots depicting the CD25+CD127- (upper panel) and CD25+CD127+ (lower panel) populations as percentage of CD4+ T cells. (F) PCA of the sample frequencies (as percentage of total CD4+ T cells) where the gestational age groups are depicted along the first two components. The centroid of each group is indicated in gray. * $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.005$.



to be activated effector CD4+ T cells (42), and regulatory-like CD4+CD25+CD127- T cells toward the end of pregnancy, with this increase being most apparent in term parietalis (**Figure 3E** and **Supplementary Figure S7D**). Overall, the data uncovered distinct memory and regulatory-like CD4+ T cell populations at different locations throughout pregnancy, where clear separation is revealed between early and term pregnancy, as well as between term basalis and parietalis (**Figure 3F**).

Next, diffusion mapping was used to distinguish prospective relationships among the different types of memory CD4+ T cell clusters. Two-dimensional diffusion plots revealed a split into two branches with T4_{*EM*}, lacking CD127 expression, at the center of the split (**Figure 4A**). Gradients of protein expression between cells were observed rather than discrete cell clusters (**Figure 4B**). The branch that expanded along diffusion component 2 (DC2) consisted of CD7+CD161+ and CD161- T_{*EM*} cells that were CD127+ and CD27+. T_{*CM*} was projected at the end of this trajectory branch. The second branch along DC1 consisted of the CD7-CD161+ clusters that showed CD127 expression,

including one cluster $(T3_{EM})$ that lacked CD27 expression. The two EMRA clusters separated out from the EM clusters based on their expression of CD45RA and lack of CD27 expression. These results suggest putative differentiation states between the identified EM CD4+ T cell clusters throughout pregnancy.

Decidual CD8+ T Cells Co-express Inhibitory and Stimulatory Receptors

We next investigated the heterogeneity within the CD8+ T cell compartment where 20 CD8+ T cell clusters were characterized, namely one naïve, seven TEMRA, five EM, and seven clusters co-expressing CD45RA and CD45RO, a phenotype that is associated with proliferation (**Figures 5A,B**). Four of these clusters revealed significant differences between the decidual samples (**Figure 5C**). The tissue-resident memory (TRM) CD8+ T cell cluster $T4_{RORA}$ (CD69+CD103+CD38+CD161+PD-1+CD39+) was more frequent in early pregnancy, while $T5_{EMRA}$ (CD69^{high}) and $T6_{RORA}$ (CD127+CCR6+CD38+CD69+) were more abundant





FIGURE 5 In-depth characterization of the heterogeneity within the CD8+ T cell compartment. (A) Heatmap showing the marker expression values for the 20 identified CD8+ T cell clusters within the T cell panel (32 samples; 707,147 cells). Cluster IDs and cluster frequencies are displayed at the bottom of the heatmap. (B) First-level HSNE embedding of the expression values of the indicated markers. (C) Boxplots of sample frequencies, divided per trimester, of the clusters plotted as a fraction of total CD8+ T cells. The Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons was performed. (D) PCA of the sample frequencies (as percentage of total CD8+ T cells) where the gestational age groups are depicted along the first two components. The centroid of each group is indicated in gray. (E) Visualization of T_{EMRA}, T_{RORA}, and T_{EM} CD8+ T cell clusters in a diffusion map along two components. Each color in the left panel represents a cluster of cells. In the right panel, cells within the 1st trimester, 2nd trimester and term decidua basalis and parietalis are portrayed. (F) ArcSinh5-transformed expression values of the specified markers in the diffusion map. *P \leq 0.05; **P \leq 0.005.

in term samples. Also, $T4_{EMRA}$ (CD127+CCR6+) was increased in term basalis. In addition, a trend for a higher presence of NKT1-like cells in the 1st trimester, a gradual increase in NKT3like and $T5_{RORA}$ cells from 1st trimester to term, and higher numbers of $T2_{RORA}$ in 1st trimester and term basalis were observed (**Figure 5C** and **Supplementary Figure S8A**). High levels of CD27 were observed in several effector and effectormemory cell clusters (e.g., $T5_{EMRA}$, $T5_{RORA}$, $T6_{RORA}$).

Where our recent work demonstrated a mixed gene expression signature of activation and dysfunction in bulk memory decidual CD8+ T cells (43), mass cytometry at the single-cell level revealed the expression of inhibitory and stimulatory receptors to be intertwined (Figure 5A). This co-expression of inhibitory (CD39, PD-1, TIGIT) and stimulatory (ICOS, CD69, CD27) receptors was verified by flow cytometry and mainly observed in term basalis and parietalis (Supplementary Figure S8B). Interestingly, the T_{EMRA} and T_{CM} clusters within the CD8+ T cell compartment contrasted the frequencies of these populations within the CD4+ T cell compartment with a higher percentage of T_{EMRA} and lower percentage of T_{CM} within the CD8+ T cells (Supplementary Figure S8C). In general, the differences in marker expression in the CD8+ T cell compartment were more subtle when compared to the CD4+ T cells. Consequently, the PCA showed a less clear separation between early and late pregnancy with term parietalis being more similar to 1st and 2nd trimester samples than term basalis (Figure 5D).

In a two-dimensional diffusion plot analysis, two branches were observed with the CD38- clusters ($T5_{EMRA}$, $T5_{RORA}$) at the center of the split. Here, the CD38+CD69+ T_{EMRA} and T_{EM} clusters expanded along DC1, while the TRM cells and CD127+CCR6+ T_{EM} cells expanded along DC2 (**Figures 5E,F**). Furthermore, along DC2 cell clusters $T5_{EMRA}$, $T5_{RORA}$, and $T6_{RORA}$ with lower expression of CD45RO and PD-1 and high expression of CD69, were absent in early pregnancy and appeared in term pregnancy, as observed in **Figure 5C** (**Figure 5E**; dashed circle). These potential differentiation trajectories suggest a phenotypic continuum and thereby possible plasticity between specific CD8+ T cell clusters.

In summary, these data show that a group of CD8+ T cells displays co-expression of inhibitory and stimulatory receptors at the protein level, and suggest that in this group several differentiation trajectories coupled to distinct functions throughout gestation may be at play. Whereas CD8+ NKT cells are present in early and late pregnancy, there are hardly any CM CD8+ T cells.

B Cells Are Mainly Present Early in Pregnancy

Although the number of B cells was low, nine CD20+ B cell clusters with variable expression of CD38, CD27, and IgM were identified within the general panel (**Supplementary Figure S9A**). Interestingly, most B cells were detected in the 1st trimester (**Supplementary Figure S9B**). CD20 was also included in the T cell panel (as exclusion marker) and showed to be useful in detecting CD39 expression on several B cell clusters (**Supplementary Figure S9C**).

Correlation Analysis Reveals Gestational-Specific Immune Networks

To conflate the 77 identified immune cell clusters within the general panel and visualize relationships between them, a correlation network analysis was performed using the sample frequencies. This analysis demonstrated that 73% of clusters were strongly correlated with each other (Spearman rank > 0.7; Figure 6A). Subsequently, multivariate associations between individual and groups of clusters were detected by applying a multinomial logistic regression model with the global test (Figure 6B) (30, 44). Four networks were revealed in which colored nodes highlight the significance of individual cell clusters in one of the four gestational age groups. Cell clusters in network 1 consisted of myeloid cells, CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, and B cells, and did not reveal significant gestational specificity. Network 2 revealed a correlation between NKT-like, B cell, and NK cell clusters (including tissue-resident-like phenotypes), most of which were significantly abundant in the 1st trimester. This may reflect unappreciated interactions between NK cells and NKT-like cells early in pregnancy. Network 3 is characterized by clusters predominantly present in term basalis and included a correlation between innate immune cells such as NK cell clusters, dMP3 and granulocytes, and adaptive immune cells including T_N , T_{EM} and Treg-like CD4+ clusters, CD8+ T_{RORA} cells, and TCR $\gamma \delta_{EMRA}$ cells. Interestingly, a different network of clusters was observed in term parietalis (network 4), where CD4+ and CD8+ T_N cells, CD4+CD127+CD161- T_{CM} cells, CD4+ Treglike clusters, CD8+ T_{EM} and NKT-like cells, and TCRy δ cells were correlated. These results underline that distinct immune cell interactions in basalis versus parietalis contribute to the microenvironment in term pregnancy. Thus, three of the four networks correlated with either gestational age or tissue location.

DISCUSSION

To better understand the maternal immune landscape during healthy pregnancy, we performed mass cytometry analysis of immune cells isolated from decidua throughout the three trimesters of pregnancy and compared this to term mPBMC. This provided an unbiased, data-driven overview of all decidual immune cell populations throughout pregnancy. Previously described decidual immune cell subsets (5, 33, 45, 46) and the kinetics of the major immune cell lineages during gestation (5, 6, 47) were validated in the current study. Moreover, we observed unprecedented immune cell heterogeneity in the decidua.

By implementing replicate PBMC control samples along with the experimental decidual samples, we demonstrated that the identified decidual immune cell clusters described here displayed much greater phenotypic diversity than what could be explained by staining inconsistencies and that batch effects are therefore minimal. It should be noted that 11 (tissue-specific) out of 52 unique markers of both antibody panels combined displayed no or hardly any expression in the internal control PBMC reference samples and could, therefore, not be assessed for staining consistency during batch analysis.



FIGURE 6 Relationships between identified cell clusters from all major immune cell lineages. (A) Correlation network plot showing Spearman coefficients higher than 0.7 for relationships between the decidual immune cell clusters from the general panel. Every circle depicts an immune cell cluster, with colors corresponding to statistically significant contributions of clusters to 1st trimester, term decidua basalis or parietalis, as calculated by the global test (44). Higher correlation corresponds to greater proximity of cell clusters. (B) Multivariate associations between cell clusters detected by a multinomial logistic regression model with the global test. The top panel shows hierarchical clustering of absolute correlation distances, where the branches in black indicate significant multiplicity-corrected *p*-values. The bottom panel shows the corresponding *p*-values of immune cell clusters associated with 1st trimester (green), 2nd trimester (yellow), term decidua basalis (light blue), and parietalis (dark blue).

Distinct clusters of dMP were detected in early pregnancy, suggestive of an essential role for antigen presentation and thereby interaction with other immune cells at the initiation of pregnancy. Furthermore, the presence of different dMP cell clusters in term basalis and parietalis may reflect distinct local antigen presentation and function. Proportions of the dMP cells decrease over gestation accompanied by an influx of granulocytes at time of parturition, in line with the observed increase in the numbers of circulating neutrophils during pregnancy (48). ILC that play an important role in early pregnancy by facilitating spiral artery remodeling and trophoblast invasion, may in small proportions preserve their function (e.g., play a role in the clearance of infections) in term pregnancy where they display a less activated phenotype with the expression of inhibitory and tissue-residency receptors.

Most studies on decidual Treg have thus far focused on CD4+FOXP3+ T cells (16, 49, 50). Our present mass and flow cytometry data confirmed the presence of other, recently described, FOXP3low/- decidual Treg subtypes (51). Furthermore, we observed additional heterogeneity, with coexpression of inhibitory and stimulatory receptors and clusters lacking expression of FOXP3 and/or HELIOS, revealing a mixed population of Treg and Treg-like cells. It supports the hypothesis that both natural (nTreg) and induced Treg (iTreg) play a role, where bright expression of CD25 is not a prerequisite for Treg function. A decrease in FOXP3 and HELIOS expression toward term suggests a decline of nTreg and increase of iTreg throughout gestation (51). These Treg populations are induced, among others, by EVT and decidual M φ (51), and may therefore have distinct cellular targets, which likely include the formerly unexplored heterogeneous group of memory CD4+ T cells. Evidence exists that 1st trimester decidual CD4+ T cells have transcriptional profiles compatible with antigen-induced activation and proliferation (52). Moreover, decidual CD4+ T cells isolated from term decidua showed fetal antigen-specific responses that were enhanced upon depletion of CD25+CD127-Treg (12). Presence of paternal antigen-specific Treg in the decidua has been suggested (29), and clonal expansion of both decidual Treg (53) and memory CD4+ T cells by locally presented antigens is suggested by preliminary data from our laboratory showing a restricted CDR3 length distribution of the TCRV^β repertoire in term decidual CD4+ T cells compared to peripheral CD4+ T cells (data not shown). The observed increase in activated CD4+ T cells may be counteracted by an increase in Treg in term parietalis to secure success of pregnancy. Evidently, functional assays are necessary to further explore the co-existence of effector memory CD4+ T cells with nTreg and iTreg, especially in the context of complicated pregnancies (54). Treg may also be essential in the regulation of distinct CD4+ and CD8+ NKTlike clusters in early pregnancy, as suggested by the increased percentages of NKT cells observed in women with unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortions (55).

Recent research on fetal-specificity (12), virus-specificity (56), and cross-reactivity of decidual CD8+ T cells with HLA-C (57), complemented by the herein described co-expression of inhibitory and stimulatory receptors, emphasizes the dual role of CD8+ T cells in both tolerance and immunity. Co-expression of CD45RO/RA in several clusters hints at local proliferative potential, and interactions with APC and Treg may be essential to control CD8+ T cells at the maternal-fetal interface. Furthermore, recently addressed contributions of TCR $\gamma\delta$ T cells to transplantation outcomes and their role in HIV controllers (58, 59) advocate for an unexplored functional role of TCR $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets in early and term pregnancy, which requires further exploration. B cell clusters expressing CD39, a marker involved in the activation of B cells to suppress T cells (60), might resemble regulatory B cells. Alterations in B cell function in early pregnancy has been suggested to play a role in recurrent miscarriages, where a higher incidence of anti-HLA-C antibodies was observed in women with recurrent miscarriage (61).

Diffusion mapping revealed putative differentiation trajectories of effector, memory, and regulatory T cells throughout gestation, emphasizing the dynamic state and conceivable plasticity of decidual T cells in response to environmental cues. It should be kept in mind, however, that the cell phenotype trajectories may partly be influenced by recruitment of immune cells into the tissue as gestation progresses. In both the CD4+ and CD8+ compartment an increase in activated effector T cell phenotypes toward the end of pregnancy suggests an inflammatory state required for parturition. Subsequently, combining all identified immune cell clusters in a correlation network analysis demonstrated that the local immune landscape as a whole, and not isolated cell subsets, develops as an integrated system throughout gestation. Co-expression of inhibitory and stimulatory receptors in this system is prominent and needs to be finely balanced to ensure a successful pregnancy. The prominent connection between myeloid cells and T cells (network 1) at any time point during pregnancy reflects their bi-directional interactions both in a contact-dependent manner and through cytokine excretion. The connection between NKT-like cells and NK cells specifically in the first trimester (network 2) needs further exploration. Differences in immune cell networks and their prospective functions observed between term basalis (network 3) and parietalis (network 4) suggest possible distinct antigen availability and presentation at these two placental locations. More regulatory phenotypes were observed in the parietalis with increased percentages of Treg, M2 M ϕ , and TRM CD8+ T cells. This observation may be in line with findings of a single cell analysis of separate placental compartments (62), showing that the basal plate (including the basalis) contains more activated T cells and less resting T cells compared to the chorioamniotic membranes (including the parietalis). The abundant density of lymphatic vessels in the region adjacent to the chorionic membrane, which is attached to the parietalis, suggests that antigen presentation and activation need to be carefully controlled at this site (63). Term basalis consistently showed cell clusters with higher expression of CCR6, a receptor involved in chemotaxis. The influx of immune cells might therefore be more common in term basalis.

This study has its limitations. First, in human pregnancy studies the unavailability of uncomplicated decidual samples between 24 and 37 weeks of gestation results in a gap in

our knowledge and understanding of the complete second trimester. Second, mass cytometry identifies phenotypic diversity based on preselected markers and provides little insight into the functionality of identified cell clusters. Here, we investigated the T cells in depth, but additional myeloid and B cell-specific markers are necessary to explore the complexity within these lineages. Although the rationale for defining a cluster is the presence of at least 100 cells with the same phenotype, further research needs to be performed to confirm if the identified subclusters represent true, functionally distinct, subpopulations. It is plausible that some of the phenotypically distinct cell clusters are differentiation stages between cell populations, as suggested by our diffusion mapping data. Therefore, the results from the current study should be considered as a basis for subsequent investigations. Future studies constituting a validation cohort with additional healthy decidual samples and including samples from complicated pregnancies will provide comprehensive insight into generalizable differences between healthy and complicated pregnancy. Although decidual and peripheral blood immune cells clustered completely separate in t-SNE analyses, trafficking of cells between these two entities almost certainly occurs (64, 65). In pregnancy complications both systems should be studied in parallel as the occurrence of certain cell subsets in the blood, possibly precursors, may predict what takes place locally in the decidua and thereby serve as biomarkers to predict complications.

In the field of reproductive immunology, a shift toward systems biology with a focus on interactions between cell types and away from studying isolated cell populations is required. This ecosystem where not only maternal immune cells but also EVT, decidual stromal cells, endothelial cells, and micro-organisms are coordinated with each other needs to be explored in more depth, and in relation to pregnancy complications presenting a more heterogeneous microenvironment than expected. In this context, single-cell RNA sequencing has revealed potential cell-cell interactions at the maternal-fetal interface (37). Future studies will benefit from combining mass cytometry data and RNA sequencing to cross-validate transcriptional activity and protein levels of singular cells, and from incorporating imaging CyTOF to define the cellular anatomical locations. Furthermore, the generation of trophoblast organoids as a model for maternal-fetal interactions (66), development of a placenta-on-a-chip (67), and interconnectivity analysis of multiple biological systems such as metabolomics and transcriptomics (37, 68) will further enhance our understanding of the placenta and the cellular interactions within this ecosystem.

Taken together, mass cytometry enabled us to visualize the complex and dynamic network of decidual immune cell populations at the maternal-fetal interface, where during uncomplicated pregnancy coordinated interaction is vital for a successful outcome. The immune atlas as presented here may serve as a foundation for further identification and functional analyses of immune subsets in healthy versus complicated pregnancies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Mass cytometry data are available via Flow Repository (https://flowrepository.org/id/FR-FCM-Z3YF).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Ethics Committee of the Leiden University Medical Center. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AZ, VU, FC, and SH designed the research and with help of FK wrote the manuscript. AZ performed the experiments with help of SL, CK, and HK. AZ performed the data analyses with help of VU, GB, SL, and TH. Conceptual input was provided by VU, GB, ME, and FK. Clinical samples were provided by M-LH and SC. All authors contributed to finalizing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Reference Center for Histocompatibility Testing, Netherlands.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to the Center for Contraception, Abortion and Sexuality (CASA) in Leiden and The Hague, and Gynaikon in Rotterdam for their efforts in collecting and providing the decidual material. We thank all participating women; M. Nieveen, M. Bialecka, K. Lodder, and T. van Herwaarden for dissection of decidual tissues. B. van der Goes and M. Tendeloo-Klarenbeek for collection of term placentas. J. Suwandi for assisting in setting up the T cell panel. T. Abdelaal, L. Na, and J. Melsen for assisting with data analysis. G. Haasnoot for help with statistics.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.571300/full#supplementary-material

FIGURE S1 | Identification of major immune cell lineages at the maternal-fetal interface using the T cell panel. (A) Gating strategy to select single, live CD45+ cells for downstream analysis. (B) Comparison of the absolute numbers and percentages of CD45+ cells measured by the general and the T cell panel. (C) Correlation plots of CD45+ cells measured by the general and T cell panel within the three trimesters, maternal peripheral blood mononuclear cells (mPBMC) and non-pregnant control samples (NP PBMC). (D) First-level HSNE visualization of

the major immune cell lineages derived from decidua and peripheral blood. Colors top left indicate tissue type (1st trimester n = 11; 2nd trimester n = 5; term basalis and parietalis n = 8; mPBMC n = 8; NP PBMC n = 4); colors bottom left indicate major immune cell types (CD8M, CD8 memory T cells; CD8N, CD8 naïve T cells; CD4M, CD4 memory T cells; CD4N, CD4 naïve T cells); colors for plots on the right indicate the arcSinh5-transformed expression values of the specified markers where every dot represents a landmark. Memory and naïve clusters were distinguished based on CD45R0 and CD45RA expression. (E) t-SNE visualization of the separation between decidual and peripheral blood samples (as percentage of CD45+ cells); every dot represents a single sample. (F) Major immune cell lineages (as percentage of CD45+ cells) throughout gestation and within mPBMC and NP PBMC. Boxplots depict the 10–90 percentile and the Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons was applied. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001.

FIGURE S2 | t-SNE visualization of PBMC reference samples and partitioning of the myeloid cell compartment into subpopulations. Cell frequencies (as percentage of CD45+ cells) are plotted where every dot represents a single sample within the general panel (A) and within the T cell panel (B). The gray arrow indicates the PBMC reference control samples clustering together. (C) HSNE overview (first) level embedding of all decidual samples with identification of the major immune cell lineages based on lineage marker expression. (D) Second-level HSNE embedding of the myeloid cells subdivided into six major subpopulations.
(E) Second-level HSNE arcSinh5-transformed expression values of the specified markers where every dot represents a landmark.

FIGURE S3 | Analysis of staining fluctuations between batches for the general CyTOF antibody panel. Nine replicate control samples from the same blood donor stained with the general CyTOF panel measured throughout the 7-month study period. (A) A t-SNE embedding showing the collective CD45+ cells (14.5 \times 10⁴ cells) from nine replicate control samples and 20 experimental decidual samples. Colored dots represent single cells from replicate samples and gray represents experimental samples. (B) Same t-SNE embedding as in panel A, colored for each replicate sample. (C) A t-SNE plot showing 25 cluster partitions in different colors. (D) Composition of the cell clusters in the individual samples (n = 29) represented in horizontal bars where the size of the colored segments represents the proportion of cells as a percentage of total CD45. (E) Heat map showing the median ArcSinh5-transformed marker expression values of the clusters identified in C and hierarchical clustering thereof. (F) Graph depicting the standard deviation in cell cluster frequencies between the technical replicate control samples (black circles) and the experimental decidual samples (red triangles). Noticeable is differential abundance of cluster 21 and 22 within CD4+ T cells, due to minor fluctuations in the expression of CD127, CD27, and CCR7.

FIGURE S4 | Analysis of staining fluctuations between batches for the T cell CyTOF antibody panel. Ten replicate control samples from the same blood donor stained with the T cell CyTOF panel measured throughout the 7-month study period. (A) A t-SNE embedding showing the collective CD45+ cells (11.5 \times 10⁴ cells) from 10 replicate control samples and 13 experimental decidual samples. Colored dots represent single cells from replicate samples and gray represents experimental samples. (B) Same t-SNE embedding as in panel A, colored for each replicate sample. (C) A t-SNE plot showing 20 cluster partitions in different colors. (D) Composition of the cell clusters in the individual samples (n = 23) represented in horizontal bars where the size of the colored segments represents the proportion of cells as a percentage of total CD45. (E) Heat map showing the median ArcSinh5-transformed marker expression values of the clusters identified in C and hierarchical clustering thereof. (F) Graph depicting the standard deviation in cell cluster frequencies between the technical replicate control samples (black circles) and the experimental decidual samples (red triangles). Noticeable is differential abundance of cluster 18 and 19 within CD4+ T cells, due to minor fluctuations in the expression of CD127, CD38, and CCR7.

REFERENCES

 Velicky P, Knofler M, Pollheimer J. Function and control of human invasive trophoblast subtypes: intrinsic vs. maternal control. *Cell Adh Migr*. (2016) 10:154–62. doi: 10.1080/19336918.2015.1089376 **FIGURE S5** | Characterization of the innate lymphoid compartment. (A) Heatmap showing the marker expression values for the 14 identified NK and ILC clusters. Cluster IDs and cluster frequencies are displayed at the bottom of the heatmap. (B) Violin plots depicting expression values of indicated markers (arcSinh5-transformed) in the four tissue groups. (C) Heatmap showing the marker expression values for ILC clusters (CD3-CD7+) within the T cell panel. Only clusters expressing the co-inhibitory receptors CD39, TIM-3, TIGIT are depicted here. (D) Boxplots of sample frequencies, divided per trimester, of the clusters plotted as a fraction of total ILC. The Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons was performed. (E) Cluster frequencies (as percentage of total ILC) where the gestational age groups are depicted along the first two components. The centroid of each group is indicated in gray. * $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.005$.

FIGURE S6 | Characterization of TCRy δ T cells. (A) Heatmap showing the marker expression values for the seven identified TCRy δ cell clusters within the general panel (36 samples; 114,875 cells). Cluster IDs and cluster frequencies are displayed at the bottom of the heatmap. (B) First-level HSNE embedding of the expression values of the indicated markers. (C) Boxplots of sample frequencies, divided per trimester, of the clusters plotted as a fraction of total TCRy δ cells. The Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's test for multiple comparisons was performed. (D) PCA of the sample frequencies (as percentage of total TCRy δ cells) where the gestational age groups are depicted along the first two components. The centroid of each group is indicated in gray. * $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.005$.

FIGURE S7 | In-depth characterization of the CD4+ Treg-like compartment where CD25+CD127- and CD25+CD127+ CD4+ T cells increase throughout gestation. (A) CD4+ NKT-like cell cluster identified within the general panel. (B) In-depth analysis of the regulatory-like CD4+ T cell (Treg-like) compartment, where the heatmap shows the marker expression values for the additional identified CD4+ Treg-like cell clusters within the T cell panel. Cluster IDs and cluster frequencies are displayed at the bottom of the heatmap. (C) Visualization of the five CD4+ Treg-like clusters, shown in Figure 3A, in a diffusion map along two components. Each color in the left panel represents a cluster of cells. In the right top panel, cells within the 1st trimester, 2nd trimester, and term decidua basalis and parietalis are portrayed. The bottom panel shows expression values of the specified markers in the diffusion map. (D) t-SNE embedding of the arcSinh-transformed expression values of CD127 and CD25 as observed in the three trimesters, measured by flow cytometry and gated within CD3+CD4+ T cells. CD4+CD25+CD127- clusters are circled in blue.

FIGURE S8 | Characterization of the CD8+ T cell compartment, including CD8+ NKT-like cells. (A) Heatmap showing the marker expression values of CD8+ NKT-like cell clusters identified within the general panel. (B) Fourth-level HSNE arcSinh5-transformed expression values of the specified markers, measured by flow cytometry and gated within CD3+CD8+ T cells. Colors in the left plot indicate tissue type (1st n = 3; 2nd n = 4; term basalis and parietalis n = 4). (C) Pie charts depicting the contribution of major subpopulations to the CD4+ and CD8+ T cell compartments.

FIGURE S9 | Characterization of B cells. (A) Heatmap showing the marker expression values for the nine identified B cell clusters within the general panel (36 samples; 72,414 cells). (B) Percentage of CD20+ B cells in each trimester. (C) ArcSinh5-transformed expression values of the specified markers. * $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.005$.

TABLE S1 | General CyTOF antibody panel¹.

TABLE S2 | T cell-specific CyTOF antibody panel¹.

TABLE S3 | Flow cytometry antibody panel¹.

- Kovats S, Main EK, Librach C, Stubblebine M, Fisher SJ, DeMars R. A class I antigen, HLA-G, expressed in human trophoblasts. *Science*. (1990) 248:220–3. doi: 10.1126/science.2326636
- 3. King A, Allan DS, Bowen M, Powis SJ, Joseph S, Verma S, et al. HLA-E is expressed on trophoblast and interacts with CD94/NKG2 receptors on

decidual NK cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2000) 30:1623–31. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200006)30:6<1623::aid-immu1623>3.0.co;2-m

- King A, Burrows TD, Hiby SE, Bowen JM, Joseph S, Verma S, et al. Surface expression of HLA-C antigen by human extravillous trophoblast. *Placenta*. (2000) 21:376–87. doi: 10.1053/plac.1999.0496
- Bartmann C, Segerer SE, Rieger L, Kapp M, Sutterlin M, Kammerer U. Quantification of the predominant immune cell populations in decidua throughout human pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2014) 71:109–19. doi: 10.1111/aji.12185
- Gomez-Lopez N, Guilbert LJ, Olson DM. Invasion of the leukocytes into the fetal-maternal interface during pregnancy. J Leukoc Biol. (2010) 88:625–33. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1209796
- Liu S, Diao L, Huang C, Li Y, Zeng Y, Kwak-Kim JYH. The role of decidual immune cells on human pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2017) 124:44–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.10.045
- vensson-Arvelund JS, Ernerudh J. The role of macrophages in promoting and maintaining homeostasis at the fetal-maternal interface. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2015) 74:100–9. doi: 10.1111/aji.12357
- Sharkey AM, Gardner L, Hiby S, Farrell L, Apps R, Masters L, et al. Killer Ig-like receptor expression in uterine NK cells is biased toward recognition of HLA-C and alters with gestational age. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:39–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.1.39
- Lissauer D, Piper K, Goodyear O, Kilby MD, Moss PA. Fetal-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T cell responses develop during normal human pregnancy and exhibit broad functional capacity. *J. Immunol.* (2012) 189:1072–80. doi: 10. 4049/jimmunol.1200544
- Tilburgs T, Strominger JL. CD8+ effector T cells at the fetal-maternal interface, balancing fetal tolerance and antiviral immunity. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2013) 69:395–407. doi: 10.1111/aji.12094
- Powell RM, Lissauer D, Tamblyn J, Beggs A, Cox P, Moss P, et al. Decidual T cells exhibit a highly differentiated phenotype and demonstrate potential fetal specificity and a strong transcriptional response to IFN. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3406–17. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700114
- Steinborn A, Haensch GM, Mahnke K, Schmitt E, Toermer A, Meuer S, et al. Distinct subsets of regulatory T cells during pregnancy: is the imbalance of these subsets involved in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia? *Clin Immunol.* (2008) 129:401–12. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2008. 07.032
- Rieger L, Segerer S, Bernar T, Kapp M, Majic M, Morr AK, et al. Specific subsets of immune cells in human decidua differ between normal pregnancy and preeclampsia-a prospective observational study. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2009) 7:132. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-7-132
- Bansal AS. Joining the immunological dots in recurrent miscarriage. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2010) 64:307–15.
- Inada K, Shima T, Nakashima A, Aoki K, Ito M, Saito S. Characterization of regulatory T cells in decidua of miscarriage cases with abnormal or normal fetal chromosomal content. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2013) 97:104–11. doi: 10. 1016/j.jri.2012.12.001
- Gomez-Lopez N, StLouis D, Lehr MA, Sanchez-Rodriguez EN, Arenas-Hernandez M. Immune cells in term and preterm labor. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2014) 11:571–81. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.46
- Gaudilliere B, Ganio EA, Tingle M, Lancero HL, Fragiadakis GK, Baca QJ, et al. Implementing mass cytometry at the bedside to study the immunological basis of human diseases: distinctive immune features in patients with a history of term or preterm birth. *Cytometry A*. (2015) 87:817–29. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a. 22720
- Arenas-Hernandez M, Romero R, Xu Y, Panaitescu B, Garcia-Flores V, Miller D, et al. Effector and activated T cells induce preterm labor and birth that is prevented by treatment with progesterone. *J Immunol.* (2019) 202:2585–608. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801350
- Nagashima T, Li Q, Clementi C, Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Matzuk MM. BMPR2 is required for postimplantation uterine function and pregnancy maintenance. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:2539–50. doi: 10.1172/jci 65710
- Bandura DR, Baranov VI, Ornatsky OI, Antonov A, Kinach R, Lou X, et al. Mass cytometry: technique for real time single cell multitarget immunoassay based on inductively coupled plasma time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem.* (2009) 81:6813–22. doi: 10.1021/ac901049w

- 22. Tilburgs T, Crespo AC, van der Zwan A, Rybalov B, Raj T, Stranger B, et al. Human HLA-G+ extravillous trophoblasts: immune-activating cells that interact with decidual leukocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:7219–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1507977112
- 23. Xu Y, Plazyo O, Romero R, Hassan SS, Gomez-Lopez N. Isolation of leukocytes from the human maternal-fetal interface. *J Vis Exp.* (2015) 99:e52863.
- 24. Laban S, Suwandi JS, van Unen V, Pool J, Wesselius J, Hollt T, et al. Heterogeneity of circulating CD8 T-cells specific to islet, neo-antigen and virus in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *PLoS One*. (2018) 13:e0200818. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0200818
- Li N, van Unen V, Hollt T, Thompson A, van Bergen J, Pezzotti N, et al. Mass cytometry reveals innate lymphoid cell differentiation pathways in the human fetal intestine. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:1383–96. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171934
- Bendall SC, Simonds EF, Qiu P, Amir AD, Krutzik PO, Finck R, et al. Singlecell mass cytometry of differential immune and drug responses across a human hematopoietic continuum. *Science*. (2011) 332:687–96.
- van Unen V, Li N, Molendijk I, Temurhan M, Hollt T, van der Meulen-de Jong AE, et al. Mass cytometry of the human mucosal immune system identifies tissue- and disease-associated immune subsets. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:1227–39. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.04.014
- Hollt T, Pezzotti N, Van Unen V, Koning F, Eisemann E, Lelieveldt B, et al. Cytosplore: interactive immune cell phenotyping for large single-cell datasets. *Comput Graph Forum*. (2016) 35:10.
- Tilburgs T, Scherjon SA, van der Mast BJ, Haasnoot GW, Versteeg VDV-MM, Roelen DL, et al. Fetal-maternal HLA-C mismatch is associated with decidual T cell activation and induction of functional T regulatory cells. J Reprod Immunol. (2009) 82:148–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2009.05.003
- Beyrend G, Stam K, Hollt T, Ossendorp F, Arens R. Cytofast: a workflow for visual and quantitative analysis of flow and mass cytometry data to discover immune signatures and correlations. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J.* (2018) 16:435–42. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2018.10.004
- Haghverdi L, Buettner F, Theis FJ. Diffusion maps for high-dimensional singlecell analysis of differentiation data. *Bioinformatics*. (2015) 31:2989–98. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv325
- 32. van Unen V, Hollt T, Pezzotti N, Li N, Reinders MJT, Eisemann E, et al. Visual analysis of mass cytometry data by hierarchical stochastic neighbour embedding reveals rare cell types. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1740.
- Vacca P, Chiossone L, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Heterogeneity of NK cells and other innate lymphoid cells in human and murine decidua. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:170. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00170
- Huhn O, Ivarsson MA, Gardner L, Hollinshead M, Stinchcombe JC, Chen P, et al. Distinctive phenotypes and functions of innate lymphoid cells in human decidua during early pregnancy. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:381.
- Xu Y, Romero R, Miller D, Silva P, Panaitescu B, Theis KR, et al. Innate lymphoid cells at the human maternal-fetal interface in spontaneous preterm labor. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2018) 79:e12820. doi: 10.1111/aji.12820
- Vacca P, Montaldo E, Croxatto D, Loiacono F, Canegallo F, Venturini PL, et al. Identification of diverse innate lymphoid cells in human decidua. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2015) 8:254–64. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.63
- Vento-Tormo R, Efremova M, Botting RA, Turco MY, Vento-Tormo M, Meyer KB, et al. Single-cell reconstruction of the early maternal-fetal interface in humans. *Nature*. (2018) 563:347–53.
- Moorman JP, Wang JM, Zhang Y, Ji XJ, Ma CJ, Wu XY, et al. Tim-3 pathway controls regulatory and effector T cell balance during hepatitis C virus infection. J Immunol. (2012) 189:755–66. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200162
- Barsheshet Y, Wildbaum G, Levy E, Vitenshtein A, Akinseye C, Griggs J, et al. CCR8(+)FOXp3(+) Treg cells as master drivers of immune regulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:6086–91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1621280114
- Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bendriss-Vermare N, Bachelot T, Goddard-Leon S, Arfi V, et al. Regulatory T cells recruited through CCL22/CCR4 are selectively activated in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding primary breast tumors and lead to an adverse clinical outcome. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:2000–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-2360
- Gagliani N, Magnani CF, Huber S, Gianolini ME, Pala M, Licona-Limon P, et al. Coexpression of CD49b and LAG-3 identifies human and mouse T regulatory type 1 cells. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:739–46. doi: 10.1038/nm.3179
- 42. Saunders JA, Estes KA, Kosloski LM, Allen HE, Dempsey KM, Torres-Russotto DR, et al. CD4+ regulatory and effector/memory T cell subsets profile

motor dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. (2012) 7:927–38. doi: 10.1007/s11481-012-9402-z

- 43. van der Zwan A, Bi K, Norwitz ER, Crespo AC, Claas FHJ, Strominger JL, et al. Mixed signature of activation and dysfunction allows human decidual CD8(+) T cells to provide both tolerance and immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:385–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1713957115
- Chaturvedi N, de Menezes RX, Goeman JJ. A global x global test for testing associations between two large sets of variables. *Biom J.* (2017) 59:145–58. doi: 10.1002/bimj.201500106
- Vazquez J, Chavarria M, Li Y, Lopez GE, Stanic AK. Computational flow cytometry analysis reveals a unique immune signature of the human maternalfetal interface. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2018) 79:e12774. doi: 10.1111/aji. 12774
- Slutsky R, Romero R, Xu Y, Galaz J, Miller D, Done B, et al. Exhausted and senescent T cells at the maternal-fetal interface in preterm and term labor. J Immunol Res. (2019) 2019:3128010.
- Haller H, Radillo O, Rukavina D, Tedesco F, Candussi G, Petrovic O, et al. An immunohistochemical study of leucocytes in human endometrium, first and third trimester basal decidua. *J Reprod Immunol.* (1993) 23:41–9. doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(93)90025-d
- Aghaeepour N, Ganio EA, McIlwain D, Tsai AS, Tingle M, Van Gassen S, et al. An immune clock of human pregnancy. *Sci Immunol.* (2017) 2:eaan2946.
- Mjosberg J, Berg G, Jenmalm MC, Ernerudh J. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells and T helper 1, T helper 2, and T helper 17 cells in human early pregnancy decidua. *Biol Reprod.* (2010) 82:698–705. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.109. 081208
- Kisielewicz A, Schaier M, Schmitt E, Hug F, Haensch GM, Meuer S, et al. subset of HLA-DR+-regulatory T cells is involved in the induction of preterm labor during pregnancy and in the induction of organ rejection after transplantation. *Clin Immunol.* (2010) 137:209–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2010.07.008
- Salvany-Celades M, van der Zwan A, Benner M, Setrajcic-Dragos V, Bougleux Gomes HA, Iyer V, et al. Three types of functional regulatory T cells control T cell responses at the human maternal-fetal interface. *Cell Rep.* (2019) 27:2537–47.e5.
- Zeng W, Liu Z, Liu X, Zhang S, Khanniche A, Zheng Y, et al. Distinct transcriptional and alternative splicing signatures of decidual CD4(+) T cells in early human pregnancy. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:682. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2017.00682
- Tsuda S, Zhang X, Hamana H, Shima T, Ushijima A, Tsuda K, et al. Clonally expanded decidual effector regulatory T cells increase in late gestation of normal pregnancy, but not in Preeclampsia, in humans. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1934. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01934
- Tsuda S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Saito S. New paradigm in the role of regulatory T cells during pregnancy. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:573. doi: 10. 3389/fimmu.2019.00573
- Yuan J, Li J, Huang SY, Sun X. Characterization of the subsets of human NKTlike cells and the expression of Th1/Th2 cytokines in patients with unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2015) 110:81–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2015.05.001
- van Egmond A, van der Keur C, Swings GM, Scherjon SA, Claas FH. The possible role of virus-specific CD8(+) memory T cells in decidual tissue. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 113:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2015. 09.073
- van der Zwan A, van der Meer-Prins EMW, van Miert P, van den Heuvel H, Anholts JDH, Roelen DL, et al. Cross-reactivity of virus-specific CD8+ T cells

against allogeneic HLA-C: possible implications for pregnancy outcome. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2880. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02880

- McCallion O, Hester J, Issa F. Deciphering the contribution of gammadelta T cells to outcomes in transplantation. *Transplantation*. (2018) 102:1983–93. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000002335
- Chevalier MF, Bhatnagar N, Didier C, Lopez-Gonzalez M, Pavie J, Bollens D, et al. gammadelta T-cell subsets in HIV controllers: potential role of Tgammadelta17 cells in the regulation of chronic immune activation. *AIDS*. (2019) 33:1283–92. doi: 10.1097/qad.00000000002196
- Saze Z, Schuler PJ, Hong CS, Cheng D, Jackson EK, Whiteside TL. Adenosine production by human B cells and B cell-mediated suppression of activated T cells. *Blood.* (2013) 122:9–18. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-482406
- Meuleman T, van Beelen E, Kaaja RJ, van Lith JM, Claas FH, Bloemenkamp KW. HLA-C antibodies in women with recurrent miscarriage suggests that antibody mediated rejection is one of the mechanisms leading to recurrent miscarriage. J Reprod Immunol. (2016) 116:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.03. 003
- Pique-Regi R, Romero R, Tarca AL, Sendler ED, Xu Y, Garcia-Flores V, et al. Single cell transcriptional signatures of the human placenta in term and preterm parturition. *eLife*. (2019) 8:e52004.
- Genbacev O, Vicovac L, Larocque N. The role of chorionic cytotrophoblasts in the smooth chorion fusion with parietal decidua. *Placenta*. (2015) 36:716–22. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.05.002
- 64. Carlino C, Stabile H, Morrone S, Bulla R, Soriani A, Agostinis C, et al. Recruitment of circulating NK cells through decidual tissues: a possible mechanism controlling NK cell accumulation in the uterus during early pregnancy. *Blood.* (2008) 111:3108–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-08-105965
- Du MR, Wang SC, Li DJ. The integrative roles of chemokines at the maternalfetal interface in early pregnancy. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2014) 11:438–48. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.68
- Turco MY, Gardner L, Kay RG, Hamilton RS, Prater M, Hollinshead MS, et al. Trophoblast organoids as a model for maternal-fetal interactions during human placentation. *Nature*. (2018) 564:263–7. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0753-3
- Lee JS, Romero R, Han YM, Kim HC, Kim CJ, Hong JS, et al. Placentaon-a-chip: a novel platform to study the biology of the human placenta. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. (2016) 29:1046–54. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2015. 1038518
- Ghaemi MS, DiGiulio DB, Contrepois K, Callahan B, Ngo TTM, Lee-McMullen B, et al. Multiomics modeling of the immunome, transcriptome, microbiome, proteome and metabolome adaptations during human pregnancy. *Bioinformatics*. (2019) 35:95–103.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 van der Zwan, van Unen, Beyrend, Laban, van der Keur, Kapsenberg, Höllt, Chuva de Sousa Lopes, van der Hoorn, Koning, Claas, Eikmans and Heidt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Molecules and Prostaglandins Related to Embryo Tolerance

Gabriel Mayoral Andrade¹, Gabriela Vásquez Martínez², Laura Pérez-Campos Mayoral¹, María Teresa Hernández-Huerta³, Edgar Zenteno⁴, Eduardo Pérez-Campos Mayoral¹, Margarito Martínez Cruz², Ruth Martínez Cruz¹, Carlos Alberto Matias-Cervantes³, Noemi Meraz Cruz⁵, Carlos Romero Díaz¹, Eli Cruz-Parada² and Eduardo Pérez-Campos^{2*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marie-Pierre Piccinni, University of Florence, Italy

Reviewed by:

Gerard Chaouat, INSERM U976 Immunologie, Dermatologie, Oncologie, France Matthew Cook, Australian National University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Eduardo Pérez-Campos perezcampos@prodigy.net.mx

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 April 2020 Accepted: 19 October 2020 Published: 19 November 2020

Citation:

Mayoral Andrade G, Vásquez Martínez G, Pérez-Campos Mayoral L, Hernández-Huerta MT, Zenteno E, Pérez-Campos Mayoral E, Martínez Cruz M, Martínez Cruz R, Matias-Cervantes CA, Meraz Cruz N, Romeo Díaz C, Cruz-Parada E and Pérez-Campos E (2020) Molecules and Prostaglandins Related to Embryo Tolerance. Front. Immunol. 11:555414. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.555414 ¹ Research Centre Medicine National Autonomous University of Mexico-Benito Juárez Autonomous University of Oaxaca (UNAM-UABJO), Faculty of Medicine, Benito Juárez Autonomous University of Oaxaca, Oaxaca, Mexico, ² Biochemistry and Immunology Unit, National Technological of Mexico/ITOaxaca, Oaxaca, Mexico, ³ CONACyT—Faculty of Medicine, Benito Juárez Autonomous University of Oaxaca, Oaxaca, Mexico, ⁴ Department of Biochemistry, School of Medicine, UNAM, Mexico City, México, ⁵ School of Medicine, Branch at National Institute of Genomic Medicine, Mexico City, Mexico

It is generally understood that the entry of semen into the female reproductive tract provokes molecular and cellular changes facilitating conception and pregnancy. We show a broader picture of the participation of prostaglandins in the fertilization, implantation and maintenance of the embryo. A large number of cells and molecules are related to signaling networks, which regulate tolerance to implantation and maintenance of the embryo and fetus. In this work, many of those cells and molecules are analyzed. We focus on platelets, polymorphonuclear leukocytes, and group 2 innate lymphoid cells involved in embryo tolerance in order to have a wider view of how prostaglandins participate. The combination of platelets and neutrophil extracellular traps (Nets), uterine innate lymphoid cells (uILC), Treg cells, NK cells, and sex hormones have an important function in immunological tolerance. In both animals and humans, the functions of these cells can be regulated by prostaglandins and soluble factors in seminal plasma to achieve an immunological balance, which maintains fetal-maternal tolerance. Prostaglandins, such as PGI2 and PGE2, play an important role in the suppression of the previously mentioned cells. PGI2 inhibits platelet aggregation, in addition to IL-5 and IL-13 expression in ILC2, and PGE2 inhibits some neutrophil functions, such as chemotaxis and migration processes, leukotriene B4 (LTB4) biosynthesis, ROS production, and the formation of extracellular traps, which could help prevent trophoblast injury and fetal loss. The implications are related to fertility in female when seminal fluid is deposited in the vagina or uterus.

Keywords: prostaglandins, PGE2, platelets, polymorphonuclear leukocyte, group 2 innate lymphoid cells, embryo tolerance

INTRODUCTION

Prostaglandins (PGs) belong to a subclass of eicosanoids known as prostanoids, these are comprised of C20 atoms, including a cyclopentane ring. PGs are hormone-like chemical messengers which act as autacoids (1) through prostanoid receptors (G protein-coupled receptors) and their variants or isoforms such as E_{1-4} , DP₁₋₂, FP, TP, and IP (1, 2). The main precursor of eicosanoids is arachidonic acid (AA), this is released by the action of phospholipases A2 (PLA2) and C (PLC) (3), AA is then converted into different metabolites through the COX, LOX, and CYP450 pathways (4). The importance of prostaglandins becomes evident when ovulation and fertilization are affected, e.g., as cyclooxygenase (COX) is inhibited by aspirin or indomethacin (5).

PGs have a significant role in maternal immune tolerance and the conception process. We consider prostaglandins in seminal fluid as key in modulating responses in different types of cells participating in fetal-maternal tolerance.

The balance of the immune response in maintaining fetalmaternal tolerance is due to a complex network of soluble molecules and cells, such as macrophages, and dendric, decidual, and NK cells. In **Table 1**, cells and biological processes are summarized. Moreover, many molecules are released by these cells and have a fundamental role in the tolerance process. **Table 2** summarizes the most important of these.

The molecules are released through macro-, micro-, and nanovesicles, including exosomes from placenta cells, syncytiotrophoblasts, denudated syncytiotrophoblasts, and extravillous trophoblasts. All are part of the complex intercommunication between the foetus and the mother. These vesicles transport immunomodulatory proteins such as Fas ligand, TRAIL, CD274, CD276, HLA-G5, Syncytin-1, hCG, glycodelin, galectin-1 (107), which may maintain fetal-maternal tolerance, and may even be related to recurrent early miscarriage (108).

The accumulated evidence indicates that when sexual intercourse occurs and seminal fluid is deposited in the female reproductive tract, the prostaglandins in the seminal fluid, i.e., PGE2, PGE1, PGE3, and PGF2 (109), initiate a signaling cascade toward the woman's innate immune cells. The cells mentioned in **Table 1**, such as platelets, polymorphonuclear leukocytes, and Group 2 innate lymphoid cells participate in the physiological mechanisms in embryo tolerance and implantation, allowing successful fertilization.

PREIMPLANTATION, IMPLANTATION, AND DECIDUALIZATION

Implantation begins by apposition and adhesion of the embryo to the luminal epithelium of the endometrium. Following its invasion toward the stromal bed, the union of the embryo to the luminal epithelium transforms the underlying stromal fibroblasts into secretory cells of the epithelioid type, or decidualization (110). Through different molecules such as IL-1 β , steroid hormones, insulin-like growth-factor-binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) and prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase-2 (PTGS-2), the decidualized cells regulate this stage with the invasion of embryos, and the formation of the placenta (110).

Prostaglandins participate in each stage of the interaction of the embryo with the endometrium, for example in preimplantation, implantation (apposition, adhesion/attachment, invasion/ penetration) and decidualization; as well as affecting many other cells and molecules. PGs have a complex role in each of these stages, e.g., the essential role of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) in the oocyte is to enhance the cumulus expansion in ovulation for sperm penetration, to regulate extracellular matrices disassembly (111), and also, importantly, to participate during transport and embryo implantation (112).

PROSTAGLANDIN SIGNALING BY SEMINAL FLUID AND FERTILIZATION

Preceding evidence shows that sperm induces immunosuppression against hapten-modified self and alloantigens, including cytotoxic Tcell in mice responses (113). Also, seminal plasma contains high concentrations of prostaglandins, key molecules in the regulation of sexual intercourse signaling (114). The female immune response tolerates seminal plasma and supplies cytokines and prostaglandins, which are synthesized in the male accessory glands. In addition, it causes molecular and cellular changes in the endometrium. This facilitates the development and implantation of the embryo when prostaglandins, cytokines and hormones bind to receptors in target cells in the cervix and uterus (115).

The prostaglandins present in seminal fluid have a role in immune modulation. They regulate the pathways that may exacerbate inflammation in the female reproductive tract during physiological processes such as ovulation, implantation, and parturition (116), e.g., ejaculation or the spermatozoa induce an inflammatory response in the endometrium in the preimplantation period after mating, in which IL-1 (alpha and beta), and TNF-alpha participate (117).

Seminal plasma derived from the male accessory sex glands performs a fundamental function in fertilization in animals. The components of seminal plasma participate in the transport and survival of viable sperm and the elimination of non-viable sperm from the uterus (118). In the quail species, the cloacal gland produces prostaglandin F2 α (PGF2 α), which contributes to successful fertilization and acts as a natural mechanism for the protection of sperm from rejection or death by the female reproductive tract (119). Seminal fluid factors exert significant effects on the female reproductive tract, as shown by Shahnazi et al. (120). Also, in the uterine tissues of mice that were paired with mice without seminal vesicles, implantation rates, enzyme cytosolic PGE synthase (cPGES), microsomal PGE synthase (mPGES) and receptors EP2 and EP4 involved in the signaling pathway of PGE2, were all significantly low (120). In addition, 19-hydroxy PGE and 19-hydroxy PGF are regulators of sperm motility, and its effects may be mediated by the content of ATP in sperm (121). Prostaglandins such as PGE-1 are potent stimulators of adenylate cyclase in various

TABLE 1 | Cells related to maternal-fetal tolerance and implantation.

	Cells	Biological process	Molecules related	Prostaglandins related	Authors
Dendritic cells	ILT4 ⁺ Dendritic cells (DCs)	Induction of Foxp3 ⁺ Treg cells. DCs suppress T-cell activity, induce T helper cell anergy and inhibit the differentiation of cytotoxic T cells.	IL-10		Liu et al. (6)
	Tolerogenic dendritic cells (tol-DCs)	Present the antigen to Th0 cells, which become activated, proliferate and differentiate into peripherally derived Tregs (pTregs).		PGE2–EP4 receptor signaling inhibits IL-12 and promotes IL-23 production. PGE2 regulates IL-10 production.	Flórez-Grau et al. (7) Robertson et al. (8)
Macrophages	M1 macrophages	Skew T cell responses to a TH1 mediated immune response.	IL-12, IL-23, ROS	PGE2 is essential to corpus luteum formation by stimulating macrophages to induce appiogenesis through EP2/EP4	Brown et al. (9) Liu et al. (10)
	M2 macrophages	Promote TH2 or antibody mediated immune responses.	IL-10, TGF-β	PGD2, PGF2α, and PGE2 contribute to differentiation toward M2-like macrophages	Brown et al. (9) Magatti et al. (11)
NK cells	Uterine NK cells (uNK)	Respond to fetal MHC class I molecules. Stimulate fetal	IFN- γ , growth-promoting factors		Sojka et al. (12) Fu
	Endometrial NK cells (eNK)	growth. Regulate decidual blood vessel remodeling. Inactive cells (before IL-15 activation) that are present in the endometrium before conception and pregnancy.	IP-10 or IFN-γ		et al. (13) Yang et al. (14) Manaster et al. (15)
	Decidual NK cells (dNK) (CD56 ^{bright} CD16 ⁻)	Widen maternal blood vessels and promote fetal growth. Interact with resident myeloid cells and participate in the induction of regulatory T cells	IL-24, Angiopoietin 1 and 2 (Ang 1, Ang 2), vascular endothelial growth factor C (VEGF- C), TGF-β1, SDF-1, pleiotrophin, osteoglycin, IL-8, protein-10.	Suppression of their activity has been observed in humans and mice by PGE2.	Yang et al. (14) Yu et al. (16)
Decidual cells	Decidual stromal cells (DSCs)	Differentiation and development of dNK during decidualization. Induce the downregulation of activating NK receptors and inhibit NK cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and IFN-γ production.	IL-24, TGF-β	The DSC-induced inhibition is primarily mediate by PGE2.	Yang et al. (14) Sojka et al. (12) Vacca et al. (17) Crovatto et al. (18)
	Decidual ILC3 (NCR ⁺ NCR ⁻)	Establish physical and functional interactions with neutrophils and produce factors for pregnancy induction/maintenance and promotion of the early inflammatory phase	IL-8, IL-22, GM-CSF, TNF, IL-17		Vacca et al. (17)
	Decidual Tregs	Express CD25, CTLA4, and PD-L1, which are hallmark mediators of Treg suppression. Downregulate DC costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 needed for T effector (Teff) activation.	IL-10, TGF-β		Robertson et al. (8)
	Decidual T cells	Proliferate in response to fetal tissue. Elevated expression of proteins associated with the response to interferon signaling.	IL-4, IL-10, IFN-γ, leukaemia inhibitory factor and colony-stimulating factor 1 (M- CSF).		Ernerudh et al. (19) Powell et al. (20)
	Decidual myeloid cells	Induce Treg, dNK and dCD14 ⁺ cells resulting in the production	TGF- β , indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO).		Vacca et al. (17)
	Decidual CD4+EM cells	Increase expression of the immune inhibitory checkpoint receptors PD-1, Tim-3, cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTI A-4), and lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3).	IFN-7, IL-4		Kieffer et al. (21)
	Decidual CD8⁺EM cells (CD45RA⁻CCR7⁻)	The interaction with trophoblasts induces the upregulation of Tim-3 and PD-1. Trophoblasts may induce tolerance in CD8 ⁺ EM cells in the decidua. Reduced expression of perforin and granzyme B.	IFN-γ, IL-4	PGE2 is an important modulator of CD8 membrane expression in human lymphocytes.	Kieffer et al. (21) Tilburgs et al. (22) Ouellette et al. (23)
T Cells	Tregs (CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ FOXP3 ⁺)	Inhibit the activation and function of Th1 and Th17 cells and control inflammation. Control IL-15 release from DCs and suppress uNK cytolytic activity.	TGF-β, IL-10, Heme oxygenases-1(HO-1)	PGE2 promotes the development of regulatory T cells.	Robertson et al. (8) Erkers et al. (24)

(Continued)

Molecules Related to Embryo Tolerance

	Cells	Biological process	Molecules related	Prostaglandins related	Authors
	T helper 3 cells (Th3 cells)	Induce the mucosal environment that is intrinsically rich in TGF-	VIP, TGF-ß		Ernerudh et al. (19)
		b, IL-10, and IL-4. Vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) modulates			Grasso et al. (25)
		to toward a tolerogenic profile.			
	Th17 cells	Express higher levels of T cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-	L-10		Ahmadi et al. (26)
		domain-containing molecule-3 (Tim-3) and programme death-1			Wang et al. (27)
		(PD-1) inducing inflammation. Regulating trophoblast function.			
dometrial	Endometrial stromal cells	In humans, the so-called "decidualization window" transforms IL	L-15	PGE2 can stimulate IL-15	Dunn et al. (28)
d umbilical	(ESCs)	endometrial stromal cells into larger round decidual cells. This		expression and release by ESCs	De Clercq et al. (29
s		phenomenon is largely dependent on hemodynamic forces,			Gnecco et al. (30)
		progesterone, and prostacyclin.			
	Human Umbilical Vein	Possess immune-regulating properties and are one of the first Tr	TGF-ß		Oettel et al. (31)
	Endothelial Cells	fetal cells to make contact with foreign maternal immune cells.			
	(HUVECs)	Also, increase the Treg cell population.			

cellular systems (122). An increase in adenylate cyclase activity and subsequent entry into cAMP levels may also be involved. PGs stimulate the fertilization capacity of human sperm by facilitating the transport of calcium through their plasma membrane (123).

The amplification of effects by microparticles from epididymal fluid (epididymosomes) and prostasomes could lead to the activation of many genes and the expression of related molecules, as reported in humans and mice, some species of cows, pigs and sheep (123, 124). More specifically, signaling may affect the enzymes of the cyclooxygenase pathway and other molecules related to the metabolism of arachidonic acid, e.g., Cytochrome P450 in blastocyst implantation (125), and prostaglandin D2 in the maintenance of pregnancy through Th1/Th2 and T-cytotoxic (Tc) 2 cells balance (126, 127).

The change induced by seminal plasma in a porcine uterus makes conception and pregnancy possible (128), it also reduces embryonic mortality in pigs and other livestock (129). In addition, seminal plasma possesses potent immunosuppressive activity caused by immune-deviating soluble factors, inducing tolerance, with molecules, such as Transforming growth factor- β (TGFB) and prostaglandin E (PGE).

EFFECTS OF PROSTAGLANDINS AND RELATED MOLECULES ON INNATE IMMUNITY AND FEMALE REPRODUCTIVE TRACT CELLS

Cells of the innate immune response are modulated by prostaglandins (130), among them, are the following:

- 1. M1 macrophages (Mø1) which produce proinflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL-6, IL-12, IL-23, and IL-1 β), M2 macrophages(Mø2) which produce IL-10 and TGF β (transforming growth factor β) and have anti-inflammatory and immune down-regulating properties. Both are regulated by prostaglandins in pregnancy (9) (**Table 1**).
- 2. Dendritic cells (DCs) have several subclasses, e.g., CD103⁺, myeloid, plasmacytoid, the latter are related to the production of high IFN α levels. In infertile patients with endometriosis, CD4⁺, CD25⁺, and CD103⁺ dendritic cells are increased in peritoneal fluid (131), dendritic cells CD103⁺ have a relevant role in implantation (132); in addition, CD103⁺ dendritic cells are regulated by prostaglandin D2 in different disorders (133).
- 3. Endothelial cells have innate and immune tolerogenic function (134). In patients with preeclampsia (PE), in the presence of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), these cells increase levels of prostacyclin (135). In the pathogenesis of PE, VEGF (VEGF-A) participates in the proliferation, migration and angiogenesis of endothelial cells, and works through the receptors VEGFR-1 (or Flt-1) and VEGFR-2. In PE this increases the release of FMS-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) and blocks free VEGF to protect the fetus from toxicity (136).
- 4. Neutrophils (PMN) are regulated by cytokines and prostaglandins (137). The aspirin (ASA) is used for prevention of preeclampsia in high-risk patients (138, 139). ASA triggers

FABLE 1 | Continued

TABLE 2 | Principal soluble molecules acting in implantation (apposition/adhesion/invasion) to maintain fetal-maternal tolerance.

Effects	Soluble molecule	Biological process	Steroid hormones and related molecules	Author
Attachment and implantation	Oestrogen	Regulation of oestrogen receptors β /IL-24 (ER β /IL-24) signal pathways. Induces the recruitment of macrophages and DCs.	Promotes the conversion of peripheral Tregs in secondary lymphoid organs. Prolongs the survivals of H-Y skin grafts by the expansion of Tregs, suppression of CD3(+) CD8(+) effector T-cells and immune shifts toward Th2 cvtokines.	Padmanabhan et al. (32) Vrtačnik et al. (33) Lin et al. (34)
	17β-oestradiol (E2)	Promotes uterine blood flow, myometrial growth stimulates breast growth and later promotes cervical softening and expression of myometrial receptors. Expansion and activation of monocytic-myeloid-derived suppressor cells (M-MDSCs) through signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-3.	E2-treated MDSCs have a stronger capability in suppressing T cell responses. 17 β -oestradiol, FSH, oxytocin, and arachidonic acid (AA) induce receptors and enzymes through the synthetic pathway for PGE2.	Rahimipour et al. (35) Pan et al. (36) Falchi and Scaramuzzi, (37)
	Progesterone (P4)	Stimulates the activity of some specific enzyme matrix metalloproteinases and adhesion molecules. Inhibits antibody production and suppresses T-cell activation and cytotoxicity and modifies the activity of natural killer cells; influences B cells and induces secretion of protective asymmetric antibodies.	Progesterone-induced blocking factor (PIBF) mediates the immunomodulatory effects of progesterone. Consumption of IL-4 increases and the number of cells undergoing apoptosis. Increases secretion of IL-10, IL-27, causes increased secretion of IL-13 and decreased secretion of IL-23 by the monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Upregulates macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) and downregulates granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM- CSF). Progesterone and prostaglandin E have synergistic inhibition effects on T coll mitogeneois	Rahimipour et al. (35) Kyurkchiev et al. (38) Svensson et al. (39) Fujisaki et al. (40)
	Chorionic gonadotropin (CG)	hCG is comprised of 4 molecules, one produced by villous syncytiotrophoblastic cells, another hyperglycosylated hCG produced by cytotrophoblast cells, the free beta subunit, and hCG produced by anterior pituitary gonadotropic cells. Stimulates P4 production by the corpus luteum, facilitating trophoblast invasion, and promoting applications	It is a pleiotropic molecule that mediates implantation. Upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity of dendritic cells. hCG may have a biological role in the regulation of PG (PGE and 6- keto-PGF1) synthesis in trophoblasts. In particular, the hyperglycosylated form stimulates implantation through the invasion of cytotrophoblast cells.	Cole, 2020. (41). Szmidt et al. (42) Bansal et al. (43) Schumacher et al. (44) North et al. (45)
	Neuropeptide kisspeptin (KP)	Kisspeptins participate in reproduction. Regulates trophoblast cell invasion alongside tumor necrosis factor α .	KP is a regulator of Goodologi (GRRH) secretion and stimulates LH secretion and LH pulse frequency. KP-10 moderates trophoblast invasion and regulating implantation.	Mumtaz et al. (46) Francis et al. (47) Skorupskaite et al. (48) Pinilla et al. (49)
	Platelet-Activating Factor (PAF)	Platelet-activating factor is an acetylated Glycerophospholipid, releasing histamine from platelets, which increase vascular permeability.	PAF is related to processes of ovulation, implantation and parturition, and is regulated by ovarian steroid hormones. PAF is associated with sperm motility, acrosome reaction, and fertilization.	Harper, 1989. (50) Tieman, 2008. (51) Roudebush, 2001. (52)
Cytokine mediators of implantation and decidualization	IL-6	IL-6 is a cytokine with functions in immunity, metabolism and tissue regeneration. It is produced in the endometrial epithelium and stromal cells during implantation.	Variation in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, CSF-1, macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1), granulocyte- macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin 1-alpha, interleukin 1-beta, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF alpha) has been reported in the uterus immediately after mating in mice. Changes in the bioavailability of IL-6 are important for pregnancy. The increase of IL6 is related to unexplained infertility, recurrent miscarriage, preeclampsia and preterm delivery and inhibition of the generation of CD4 + regulatory T cells in pregnancy tolerance. Local IL-6 insufficiency could also contribute to recurrent spontaneous abortion. IL6 activate cathepsin S (CTSS) in dendritic cells, in decidualized endometrial stromal cells, this process is regulated by cystatins CST7 and CST3.	De et al. (53) Ochoa-Bernal et al. (54) Cork et al. (55) Prins et al. (56) Baston-Buest et al. (57)

(Continued)

Molecules Related to Embryo Tolerance

TABLE 2 | Continued ____

Effects	Soluble molecule	Biological process	Steroid hormones and related molecules	Author
	Leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF)	It is a member of the interleukin-6 family of cytokines. Upregulation of poFUT1, promotes trophoblast cell migration, invasion and differentiation at the fetal-maternal interface through activating the Janus kinase/signal transducers and fetal transcription (JAK/STAT) and a <i>mitogen-activated protein kinase</i> (MAPK) signaling pathway.	Urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR) is upregulated by LIF, also it is mediated by phosphoinositide-3-kinase–protein kinase B/Akt (PI3K/AKT) signaling pathway. LIF participates in placentation by up-regulating PGE2 production and PGE2 receptor expression.	Szmidt et al. (42) Liu et al. (58) Zheng et al. (59) Horita et al. (60)
	IL-1	Acts on blastocysts, syncytiotrophoblasts and endometrial glands.	Stimulates endometrial secretion of endometrial leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF), prostaglandin E2, and integrin β 3 subunit expression.	Viganò et al. (61) Hambartsoumian, 1998. (62) Fouladi-Nashta et al. (63)
	IL-11	IL-11 regulates endometrial epithelial cell increasing adhesion to fibronectin and collagen IV, similar to IL-6.	IL-11 decreases TNFα in a dose-dependent way in epithelial and stromal cells, in endometria, through gp130. IL-11 production is maximal during decidualization, its production depends on steroid hormones, relaxin and PGE2.	Cork et al. (55) Marwood et al. (64) von Rango et al. (65)
	IL-15	Promotes the differentiation of the local eNK cells toward dNK cells.	Decidual NK cells secrete cytokines and angiogenic factors to placental vascular remodeling and differentiation. IFN-γ, IP-10, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), Placenta growth factor (PIGF). Suppression of IL-15-activated NK cell is mediated by PGE (2).	Manaster et al. (15) Kopcow and Karumanchi, 2007. (66) Joshi et al. (67)
	IL-24	Regulates the function of eNK and pNK through the Janus kinase (JAK)/STAT3 pathway.	Contributes in differentiation to CD56 ^{bright} CD16 ⁻ dNK with low cytotoxic activity, high immunomodulation and angiogenic activity by inhibiting CD16, Granzyme B and perforin, IFN-γ, upregulating KIR2DL1, KIR3DL, TGF-β, IL-10, and IL-8.	Yang et al. (14)
	Cytokine-like protein 1 (Cytl1)	Regulation of embryo implantation. It is an ovarian hormone- dependent protein expressed in the endometrium that stimulates the secretion of LIF and heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF). Induces endometrial cell proliferation.	Releases LIF, HB-EGF, and IL-1, in decidualization.	Ai et al. (68) Wang et al. (69) Moghani-Ghoroghi et al. (70)
Implantation and decidualization	Cellular Adhesion Molecules (CAMs)	Adhesion molecules include integrins, cadherins, selectins, and the immunoglobulin superfamily.	Numerous integrins interact with the trophoblast, especially the $\alpha V\beta 3$, with its ligand osteopontin. HOXA 10 and IL-1 regulated $\beta 3$ subunit expression in the receptive endometrium. The absence of L-selectin and its Meca-79 ligand is associated with recurrent implantation failure (RIF), also, a significant reduction of HOXA-10 and E-cadherin in recurrent implantation failure (RIF) and recurrent miscarriage (RM). ICAM-1, VCAM-1, NCAM, CD44, and CD49d provide interaction between the embryo and maternal cells.	Achache and Revel, 2006. (71) Foulk et al. (72) Yang et al. (73) Lu et al. (74)
	Melatonin	Melatonin is an indolearnine acting as an antioxidant, free radical scavenger, and it promotes embryo development in different species	A positive feedback loop among p53, p38, and p21 inhibiting mucin 1 and activating LIF is realized by melatonin signaling, which improves adhesion proteins, present at the membrane level on endometrial cells and the blastocyst, in the pre-implantation stage. Melatonin is associated with the inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis	Carlomagno et al. (75) Voiculescu et al. (76) Gimeno et al. (77)
	Calcitonin (CT)	It is a peptide hormone which regulates calcium homeostasis	Promotes endometrial receptivity and embryo implantation.	Xiong et al. (78) Xiong et al. (79)
	Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-BB)	Decidualized endometrial stromal cells migrate upon exposure to PDGF-BB.	Involvement of ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt signaling in endometrial stromal cell chemotaxis. Both epidermal growth factor (EGF) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) participate in implantation in the first days of gestation.	Schwenke et al. (80) Jaber and Kan, 1998. (81)

Mayoral Andrade et al.

Molecules Related to Embryo Tolerance

TABLE 2 | Continued

Effects	Soluble molecule	Biological process	Steroid hormones and related molecules	Author
	Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-AA)	Secreted by the trophoblast cell line AC-1M88 and by first trimester villous explants. Trigger endometrial stromal cell chemotaxis.	Participates in attracting decidualized endometrial stromal cells to the implantation site. Modulates early post-implantation.	Schwenke et al. (80) Haimovici and Anderson, 1993. (82)
	Tissue inhibitor of MMP (TIMP)	Endogenous inhibitor of MMP activity in tissues.	Inhibits trophoblast invasion. Decidual cell production. TIMP-2 attenuates the proteolysis of IGFBP-1 by MMP-3.	Liu et al. (58) Coppock et al. (83)
	Heparin-binding	HB-EGF has a function in implantation, decidualization and	Endometrial stromal cells with HB-EGF increase the level of the	Schwenke et al. (80)
	epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF)	placenta development. Promotes differentiation of trophoblast cells to the invasive phenotype. Stimulates the migration of decidualized endometrial stromal cells.	tetraspanin CD82, a metastasis suppressor found in decidual cells at the implantation site. A decreased level of HB-EGF is related to pregnancy complications.	González et al. (84) Ozbilgin et al. (85)
	Lipoxins	These are derived from arachidonic acid, an ω -6 fatty acid. They exert their anti-inflammatory	Lipoxins, calcitonin, leukaemia inhibitory factor, and homeobox A10 are essential in implantation.	Xiong et al. (79) Macdonald et al. (86)
		G protein-coupled lipoxin receptors.	during early pregnancy and it has anti-inflammatory activity in human endometrium and decidua tissue.	
	Complement components and their receptors (C1q, gC1q, α4β1 integrin)	It is produced at the fetal-maternal interface by macrophages, decidual endothelial cells and invading trophoblasts.	Synthesis of C1q by decidual endothelial cells is crucial for the replacement by endovascular trophoblasts. Surfactant proteins SP-A and SP-D play a role in implantation, trophoblast invasion and placental development.	Agostinis et al. (87) Madhukran et al. (88)
	Protein O- fructosyltransferase 1 (poFUT1)	Favors trophoblast cell migration and invasion at the fetal- maternal interface.	Increases Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases 1 and 2 (TIMP-1, TIMP-2) expression further inhibited MMP-2 activity. Activates MAPK and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways.	Liu et al. (58) Liu et al. (89)
	Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-2) -2	Implicated in the remodeling of the extracellular matrix (ECM) during the trophoblast invasion process.	Synthesis and degradation of the extracellular matrix under physiological and pathological conditions. It is capable of degrading collagen. During the implantation process, matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)/insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) activity is stimulated by leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and colony-stimulating factor (CSF).	Liu et al. (58) Ortega et al. (90) Herrler et al. (91)
	Gonadotropin- releasing hormone type II (GnRH-II)	Promotes cell motility of human decidual endometrial stromal cells through the GnRH-IR by phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and JNK in decidual endometrial stromal cells.	Increased expression and proteolytic activity of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 (MMP-2, MMP-9) is due to GnRH-II	Wu et al. (92)
Immune tolerance	agunist Human leukocyte antigen G (HLA-G)	Promotes proliferation and cytokine production by uNK cells.	Secretion of growth-promoting factors essential for fetal development by uNK cells. Levels of sHLA-G \geq 2 U/ml in embryos which were selected for transfer after IVF based on culture media gave a 65% pregnancy rate compared with low levels of sHLA-G. The HLA-G -725 promoter polymorphism has a high risk for recurrent miscariage	Sojka et al. (12) Roussev and Coulam, (93)
	Soluble MHC class I (sMHC-I)	sMHC-I induces apoptosis by stimulating expression of CD95- L and regulates the Fas/FasL system.	sHLAs downregulates T-cell responses.	Bakela and Athanassakis, (94) Zavazava and Krönke,
	Soluble MHC class II (sMHC-II)	It has important immunoregulatory properties, stimulates proliferation of CD25– CD4+, CD25+ CD8+ and CD25+ CD4 + cell, as well as inhibits CD25– CD8+ cells.	sMHC-II decreases IL-2, increases IL-10, and inhibits phosphorylation of ZAP-70, particularly LAT proteins in the pathways of TCR signaling in CD4+ cells.	Bakela and Athanassakis, 2018. (95) Athanassakis and Vassiliadis, 2003. (96)

.

TABLE 2 Contir	penu		
Effects	Soluble molecule	Biological process	Steroid hormones and related molecules
	Pregnancy specific beta-1-glycoprotein 9 (PSG9)	Binds to the 250-residue latency-associated peptide (LAP) and activates the latent form of TGF- $\beta 1.$	Induces the secretion of TGF-B1 from macrophages. Induces the differentiation of FoxP3+ regulatory T-cells from naive T-cells. PSG participates in immune tolerance in pregnancy by suppressing the CD16/56 expression by NK-cells and enhancing the CD16/56 expression by NKT-cells.
	Alpha-fetoprotein (AFP)	It is released by trophoblasts during pregnancy. Acts as a fetal transport protein. Influences fetal-maternal immunologic relationships during the first trimester and helps to protect the foetus against attacks by the maternal immune system.	Suppresses the production of TNFα and IL-1β. Controls the product of HLA-G and the la antigen, it stimulates the growth of trophoblasts containing paternal H2 antigens. Inhibits macrophage expression of la antigens. AFP is capable of driving B cells into apoptosis to avoid maternal B cells in order to reach the foetus.
	Indoleamine-2,3- dioxygenase (IDO)	IDO is involved in tolerance	IDO activity promotes tolerance due to the conversion of mature dendritic cells (DCs) into tolerogenic antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that suppress effector T cells (Teff) and promote regulatory T cells (Tregs). Factors which are expressed by Human amniotic membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hAM-MSCs) including hepatocyte growth
			זמנוסר (אטר), וטר-b, prostagiandווו בצ (אטבצ), מוט וווטטופמווווופ צ,ט

Zamorina and Raev, 2015.

686

Jones et al. (97)

Author

Schumacher et al. (44)

G

⁻ettke et al. (101) Lafuste et al. (99)

-u et al. (100)

Vellor et al. (103)

(104)

Mellor et al. (102)

Hakam et al. (105)

PIF promotes immunological tolerance due to increasing the expression

dioxygenase (IDO) have immunomodulatory effects.

Zare et al. (106)

secretion of Th1/Th2 cytokines.

endogenous steroid and promotes the

-E, and -F

ý

of HLA-G,

It is a fifteen amino acid linear peptide secreted by embryos two-cell, four-cell and six-cell stages in mice, in humans and

oovines, respectively

Preimplantation Factor (PIF)

slightly. It also potentiates the effect of the

transcellular biosynthesis of eicosanoids by acetylation of PGHS-2. Eicosanoids correspond to 15R-epimers of lipoxins (ATL) and are potent inhibitors of leukotriene B4-mediated neutrophils (140). Considering that preeclampsia is associated with increased proinflammatory, antiangiogenic and PMNendothelial cell adhesion, Gil-Villa et al. (141) shows that PMN adhesion in patients with preeclampsia is reduced by Aspirintriggered lipoxin (ATL) when aspirin is used.

5. Natural killer and innate lymphoid cells (ILC). According to the cytokine profile and transcription factor, ILCs are divided into two groups, cytotoxic and "helper"-ILC (17). The cytotoxic ILC group is represented by Natural Killer (NK). The "helper"-ILC in humans has three subclasses, ILC1 with two subsets, producing IFNy; ILC2 produces IL-5, IL-13, and IL-4; and ILC3 releases IL-17 and IL-22. The NK cells in a decidua (dNK) microenvironment are around 50% to 70% of the total of lymphoid cells in decidual tissue. They have CD56^{bright} CD16⁻ KIR⁺ CD9^{+,} and activate the NK receptor phenotype, participate with cytokines, which mediate new vessel formation, aid in the renovation of existing tissues and placentation through the release of VEGF, stromal-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) and IFN-y-inducing protein 10 (9). In stromal tissue, the decidual stromal cells (DSCs) participate in the induction of maternal tolerance, physically concur and have a regulatory mechanism in dNK, and CD14⁺ myelomonocytic cells, and induce regulatory Treg. Also, DSCs inhibit dendritic cells through prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase (IDO), this inhibition favors the maintenance of the pregnancy (18).

In the normal eutopic endometrium, the Mø2 together with the Tregs predominate, providing an anti-inflammatory environment for the implantation of the embryo, while in endometriosis, they can cause infertility. The Mø1 provide a pro-inflammatory environment which affects embryo implantation, the dendritic cells (DC) do not increase in endometrial tissue, also the Treg is dysregulated. Therefore, DC does not eliminate the cellular debris which could migrate to the peritoneal cavity and grow in ectopic sites, developing as endometriosis. On the other hand, Treg and NK have abnormal behavior, the first favors a pro-inflammatory state and the second is less cytotoxic which impacts embryo implantation (142). COX2 and PGE2 are related to the pathogenesis of endometriosis. A high level of COX-2 due to various factors such as estrogens, hypoxia and environmental pollutants could suppress apoptosis and increase cell proliferation through PGE2 and its receptors EP2, and EP4 in endometriosis (143). In addition, experimental studies with intralesional injections of ASA, in rabbits with peritoneal endometriosis, eliminate endometriotic lesions (144).

PROSTAGLANDINS IN IMPLANTATION AND MAINTENANCE OF GESTATION

The generation of prostaglandins and expression of receptors in a mouse uterus has demonstrated their importance during implantation and decidualization (145). In mice, PGE2 levels increase from the 2-cell embryo stage to the blastocyst,

demonstrating the importance of PGE2 in early development (112). PGE2 also plays a significant role in peri-implantation in a mouse uterus through the expression of EP2 and EP4 receptors, which increase cAMP levels during the implantation and decidualization processes. EP4 induces the activation of VEGF (growth factor vascular endothelial), increasing vascular permeability of the endometrium (146), implantation and decidualization, together with PGF2 (132).

Inadequate production of prostaglandins in mice, and possibly in humans, may explain some cases of infertility (147). Low concentrations of PGE2, PGF and PGI2 cause failure in ovulation, fertilization, implantation, and decidualization (133). In mice, prostacyclin (PGI2) is the primary prostaglandin at the implantation site. It participates in implantation and decidualization through the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR- δ) and the RXR α signaling pathway in the uterus (148).

As an example, PGF2 α is used in fertilization procedures, in addition to GnRH, to pre-synchronize ovulation before applying for a resynchronization program in cows in dairy herds with acceptable pregnancy outcomes (149).

PROSTAGLANDINS IN MATERNAL IMMUNE TOLERANCE

When intercourse occurs, endothelial cells release IL-8, IL-1, INF- α , and TNF- α to recruit immune cells (150). Neutrophils are mobilized in the oviduct in female mammals in response to the presence of sperm (151). This process may also induce a state of unresponsiveness by the presence of anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, and TGF- β (152) **Figure 1**.

In order to prevent a compromised systemic maternal immune response, local immune regulation in the fetalmaternal interface is very important. This is achieved by several mechanisms. One of these is local immunoregulation at the fetal-maternal interface, e.g., Human amniotic membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hAM-MSCs) release factors such as indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO), TGF- β , prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), and others inducing immunomodulatory effects (153).

PGs release or regulate different kinds of cells, such as Tolerogenic dendritic cells (tol-DCs), Mø1 and Mø2 macrophages, Decidual NK cells (dNK) (CD56^{bright}CD16⁻), Decidual stromal cells (DSCs), Endometrial stromal cells, Tregs (CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3⁺), and Decidual CD8⁺EM cells (CD45RA⁻CCR7⁻) (**Table 1**).

Prostaglandin E (PGE), specifically, induces T-helper type 3 (Th3) and T-regulatory 1 cells (Tr1), as shown by Lewis' rat and mouse test (154, 155). PGE2 secretion by human deciduous cells in the first trimester of pregnancy blocks the activation of maternal leukocytes in the decidua and inhibits IL-2 production and its receptor (156).

Other cells assisting in the decidualization of endometrial stromal cells (ESCs) and pregnancy maintenance are decidual natural killer (dNK) cells (157) and CD14⁺ cells for Treg induction and immunosuppression (158). Also, Treg and Breg

may contribute to the regulation of type 1 and 2-like T helper anti-fetal immune mechanisms during human pregnancy (159) (**Table 1**).

PLATELETS

It is evident that platelets may be important in tolerance mechanisms. Platelet activity is inhibited post-coitus, and this inhibition depends on prostaglandins (160). Seminal fluid has factors that favor clot formation, similar to peripheral blood, such as Factor VIII: Ag, FVIII: C and Von Willebrand factor (vWF), in addition to other factors (161). vWF (162), fibronectin (163), and vitronectin (164) are proteins that favor platelet adhesion (165). This implies that inhibition of platelet aggregation by PGI2 could be a compensatory mechanism for pro-adhesive molecules.

Using a mouse model, Etulain et al. (166) found that platelets act through P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1), and directly affect neutrophil extracellular traps (NETosis). Platelet P-selectin is crucial for neutrophil recruitment (167). Furthermore, NETs cause the recruitment and activation of platelets and induce procoagulant activity due to the expression of histones H3 and H4, toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 platelets. NETs present a surface for the activation of coagulation factor XII (168) in order to promote thrombosis as a mechanism of rejection (169).

Platelets cause a decrease in the formation of extracellular traps when preincubated with PGI2, followed by stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), arachidonic acid, and a synthetic diacylated lipopeptide (Pam3SCK4). This highlights the physiological role of PGI2 in platelet modulation (170). Prostaglandins may also inhibit the function of neutrophils by increasing levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) (171).

The interaction of PMN-platelets releases products of arachidonic acid serving as precursors of neutrophil eicosanoids (172). In polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN), PGE2 modulates their response through the expression of EP2 and EP4 receptors (173).

In addition, other mechanisms of maternal immune tolerance are mediated by placental trophoblast derived microvesicles (MVs) and maternal thrombocyte-derived MVs. These bind to circulating peripheral T lymphocytes through P-selectin (CD62P)–PSGL-1 (CD162) interaction induces STAT3 phosphorylation in T cells (174).

The above mentioned may explain why platelet aggregation is inhibited post-intercourse and has a possible reduction in the formation of NETs to protect the embryo. It is possible that the release of extracellular traps may contribute to trophoblast lesions.

Many other cells mentioned above participate through high complexity fetal-maternal interface interaction to induce a tolerance stage, which protects the embryo (175).

POLYMORPHONUCLEAR CELLS

In mammalian species, PMNs are implicated in endometrial remodeling as being receptive to oocyte implantation. Human neutrophils exposed to progesterone and estriol hormones



reurrophil extracellular traps; IDU, indoleamine-2,3-oloxygenase; DUs, mature dendritic cells; APUs, tolerogenic antigen presenting cells; Ireg, regulatory T cells; Tef effector T cells; GATA-3, GATA-3 transcription factor; EP2, prostaglandin E2 receptor 2; EP4, prostaglandin E2 receptor 4; ILC2, group 2 innate lymphoid cells; Breg, regulatory B cells; HCG, human chorionic gonadotropin; LXA4, Lipoxin A4.

promote the establishment of maternal tolerance through the induction of CD4+ T cells (176).

In humans, during coitus, sperm is deposited into the female reproductive tract (FRT). Neutrophils are then recruited for the elimination of excess sperm through phagocytosis (177).

However, bovine seminal plasma is shown to reduce the ability of PMNs to phagocytize bull sperm. Furthermore, equine seminal plasma is reported to contain factors that reduce the binding of neutrophils to sperm, avoiding the formation of NETs (178). In humans, when granulocytes are exposed to the seminal plasma, the respiratory burst is inhibited (179). These mechanisms allow more of the healthy motile sperm to reach the oviduct, which makes it clear that seminal plasma contains factors that modulate the response of PMN.

In addition, PGE2 can exert anti-inflammatory action on neutrophils and other innate immune cells such as macrophages, natural killer cells, dendritic cells, and monocytes (180, 181). Also, it inhibits the production of IFN- α in plasmacytoid dendritic cells and the production of IL-12 in myeloid dendritic cells.

Finally, polymorphonuclear leukocytes contribute to preterm labor by activating prostaglandin production from human fetal membranes (182).

GROUP 2 INNATE LYMPHOID CELLS

Specific ILC2s (Group 2 innate lymphoid cells) and uterine innate lymphoid cells (uILCs, uILC1, uILC2, and uILC3) (183) in the uterus are regulated by PGD2, PGE2, PGI2, and sex hormones, in particular, oestrogen (151, 184). Together, these may play a role in the balance between immunity and tolerance at the beginning of placenta formation and could be related to pregnancy loss, as shown in mice (185). Some studies show that ILC2 is the most abundant subset in the human fetal-maternal interface during premature and full-term pregnancies, in which its presence is regulated by sex hormones (e.g., oestrogen) (186). PGI2 decreases the proliferation of ILC2 and significantly inhibits the expression of IL-5 and IL-13 induced by IL-33 (187).

The production of PGE2 could also suppress the function of neutrophils and uILCs, a particular cell, similar to ILC2, through its EP2 and EP4 receptors in both healthy humans and mouse models (188, 189). PGE2 inhibits the expression of GATA-3, as well as the production of type 2 cytokines (IL-5 and IL-13) (144). These effects are mediated by the action of the EP2 and EP4 prostanoid receptors, which are specifically expressed in ILC2 (151, 190).

In addition, Group 11LCs, uNK cells, and uILC3s significantly increase in abortion in mice. They also have a lower proportion of uILC2s (183).

DISCUSSION

Of the hundreds of molecules released with cells in the preimplantation, implantation, and decidualization processes; prostaglandins are integrated into each of these stages by seminal fluid, even until parturition. In particular, some of these molecules are found to be related to infertility and abortions, such as PGE2, PGF, and PGI2, which, in turn, are related to ovulation, fertilization, implantation, and decidualization (133). Increased levels of IL6 are also related to unexplained infertility, recurrent miscarriage, and pre-eclampsia among other disorders (9), e.g., in humans, cases of placental insufficiency, manifesting as intrauterine fetal growth restriction, are observed where the level of melatonin, a molecule with pleiotropic effects that regulates inflammatory processes (191), is decreased (192). Melatonin inhibits prostaglandin synthesis and is a potent inducer of uterine contractility (54, 193), in addition, there is evidence that in fish, melatonin is produced in the granulosa cells and is a critical factor for ovulation (194). Likewise, in women, it increases progesterone and regulates the corpus luteum (195). Also in a recent clinical trial, melatonin is shown to improve intrafollicular oxidative balance and gives a slight increase in the rate of human live births (196). Another example is Polish landrace gilts treated with pregnant mare serum gonadotropin (PMSG) and human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) (PMSG/hCG-induced). Treatment with exogenous progesterone increases pregnancy success through the expression of genes responsible for vascular function and PGE2 synthesis (197). Therefore, the administration of inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis, e.g., PGE2, must be carefully considered due to the multiple mechanisms of female fertility in which they participate (111).

Also, the mechanism of control over the rate of gene transcription or transcriptional regulation is altered in genes involved in chronic endometritis and the inflammatory response (IL-11, CCL4), growth factors (IGFBP1), and apoptotic proteins (BCL2, BAX, CASP8) in infertile patients (198).

Another mechanism of transcriptional regulation is that of Uterine Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (UVEGF), in which PGE2 regulates vascular development through receptors EP2 and EP4.

REFERENCES

- Seo MJ, Oh DK. Prostaglandin synthases: Molecular characterization and involvement in prostaglandin biosynthesis. *Prog Lipid Res* (2017) 66:50–68. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2017.04.003
- Smyth EM, Grosser T, Wang M, Yu Y, FitzGerald GA. Prostanoids in health and disease. J Lipid Res (2009) 50:S423–8. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R800094-JLR200
- 3. Hanna VS, Hafez EAA. Synopsis of arachidonic acid metabolism: A review. J Adv Res (2018) 11:23–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jare.2018.03.005
- Wang T, Fu X, Chen Q, Patra JK, Wang D, Wang Z, et al. Arachidonic Acid Metabolism and Kidney Inflammation. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(15):3683. doi: 10.3390/ijms20153683

CONCLUSIONS

To maintain fetal-maternal tolerance in the process of implantation (apposition/adhesion/invasion), a whole network of cells and molecules regulate different factors and responses according to the stage of pregnancy. Among the most highly studied cells and molecules are tolerogenic dendritic cells (tol-DCs), M1 and M2 macrophages, Decidual NK cells (dNK) (CD56brightCD16⁻), Decidual stromal cells (DSCs), Endometrial stromal cells, Tregs (CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FOXP3⁺) and Decidual CD8⁺ EM cells (CD45RA⁻ CCR7⁻), progesterone, oestrogen, Leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF), Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), and melatonin. Within this complex network, prostaglandins, specifically, PGD2, PGF2 α , and PGE2, are important modulators and regulators in maintaining maternal-fetal tolerance, as we deduced. Nevertheless, other cells such as platelets, uILCs, and polymorphonuclear leukocyte/Nets require more research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: EP-C and GM. Writing—original draft preparation: GM, GV, LP-C, MH-H, EC-P. Manuscript revision: GM, LP-C, MH-H, EZ, EP-CM, MM, RM, CM-C, NM, CR, EC-P, and EP-C. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by from National Technological of Mexico/ITOaxaca (project 5302.19-P) and Benito Juárez Autonomous University of Oaxaca (UABJO-CA-056). This work was supported by the Clinical Pathology Laboratory "Dr Eduardo Perez Ortega" in Oaxaca, Mexico.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Charlotte Grundy for her support throughout the work, and also UABJO and National Institute of Technology in Mexico, (TecNM) project 5302.19-P, for financial support.

- Sugimoto Y, Inazumi T, Tsuchiya S. Roles of prostaglandin receptors in female reproduction. J Biochem (2015) 157(2):73–80. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvu081
- Liu S, Wei H, Li Y, Huang C, Lian R, Xu J, et al. Downregulation of ILT4+ dendritic cells in recurrent miscarriage and recurrent implantation failure. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2018) 80(4):e12998. doi: 10.1111/aji.12998
- Flórez-Grau G, Cabezón R, Borgman KJE, España C, Lozano JJ, Garcia-Parajo MF, et al. Up-regulation of EP 2 and EP 3 receptors in human tolerogenic dendritic cells boosts the immunosuppressive activity of PGE 2. *J Leukocyte Biol* (2017) 102(3):881–95. doi: 10.1189/jlb.2A1216-526R
- Robertson SA, Care AS, Moldenhauer LM. Regulatory T cells in embryo implantation and the immune response to pregnancy. *J Clin Invest* (2018) 128(10):4224–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI122182

- Brown MB, von Chamier M, Allam AB, Reyes L. M1/M2 macrophage polarity in normal and complicated pregnancy. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:606. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00606
- Liu M, Gong Y, Wei JY, Xie D, Wang J, Yu YH, et al. [Media of rat macrophage NR8383 cells with prostaglandins E2-induced VEGF overexpression promotes migration and tube formation of human umbilical vein endothelial cells]. Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao (2016) 36(7):936–40.
- Magatti M, Vertua E, De Munari S, Caro M, Caruso M, Silini A, et al. Human amnion favours tissue repair by inducing the M1-to-M2 switch andenhancing M2 macrophage features. J Tissue Eng Regener Med (2017) 11(10):2895–911. doi: 10.1002/term.2193
- Sojka DK, Yang L, Yokoyama WM. Uterine natural killer cells: To protect and to nurture. *Birth Defects Res* (2018) 110(20):1531–8. doi: 10.1002/bdr2.1419
- Fu B, Zhou Y, Ni X, Tong X, Xu X, Dong Z, et al. Natural killer cells promote fetal development through the secretion of growth-promoting factors. *Immunity* (2017) 47(6):1100–13. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.11.018
- Yang HL, Zhou WJ, Lu H, Lei ST, Ha SY, Lai ZZ, et al. Decidual stromal cells promote the differentiation of CD56bright CD16- NK cells by secreting IL-24 in early pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2019) 81(6):e13110. doi: 10.1111/aji.13110
- Manaster I, Mizrahi S, Goldman-Wohl D, Sela HY, Stern-Ginossar N, Lankry D, et al. Endometrial NK Cells Are Special Immature Cells That Await Pregnancy. J Immunol (2008) 181(3):1869–76. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.181.3.1869
- Yu Z, Croy BA, King GJ. Lysis of Porcine Trophoblast Cells by Endometrial Natural Killer-Like Effector Cells in Vitro does not Require Interleukin-21. *Biol Reprod* (1994) 51(6):1279–84. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod51.6
- Vacca P, Vitale C, Munari E, Cassatella MA, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Human Innate Lymphoid Cells: Their Functional and Cellular Interactions in Decidua. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1897:1897. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01897
- Croxatto D, Vacca P, Canegallo F, Conte R, Venturini PL, Moretta L, et al. Stromal cells from human decidua exert a strong inhibitory effect on NK cell function and dendritic cell differentiation. *PloS One* (2014) 9(2):e89006. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089006
- Ernerudh J, Berg G, Mjösberg J. Regulatory T helper cells in pregnancy and their roles in systemic versus local immune tolerance. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2011) 66(1):31–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011.01049.x
- Powell RM, Lissauer D, Tamblyn J, Beggs A, Cox P, Moss P, et al. Decidual T Cells Exhibit a Highly Differentiated Phenotype and Demonstrate Potential Fetal Specificity and a Strong Transcriptional Response to IFN. *J Immunol* (2017) 199(10):3406–17. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700114
- Kieffer TEC, Laskewitz A, Scherjon SA, Faas MM, Prins JR. Memory T Cells in Pregnancy. Front Immunol (2019) 10:625. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019. 00625
- Tilburgs T, Schonkeren D, Eikmans M, Nagtzaam NM, Datema G, Swings GM, et al. Decidual Tissue Contains Differentiated CD8+ Effector-Memory T Cells with Unique Properties. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(7):4470–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903597
- 23. Ouellette MJ, St-Jacques S, Lambert RD. CD8 membrane expression is down-regulated by transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta 1, TGF-beta 2, and prostaglandin E2. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (1999) 41(3):183–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1999.tb00531.x
- Erkers T, Nava S, Yosef J, Ringdén O, Kaipe H. Decidual stromal cells promote regulatory T cells and suppress alloreactivity in a cell contact-dependent manner. *Stem Cells Dev* (2013) 22(19):2596–605. doi: 10.1089/scd.2013.0079
- Grasso E, Paparini D, Agüero M, Mor G, Pérez Leirós C, Ramhorst R. VIP contribution to the decidualization program: regulatory T cell recruitment. *J Endocrinol* (2014) 221(1):121–31. doi: 10.1530/JOE-13-0565
- 26. Ahmadi M, Abdolmohamadi-Vahid S, Ghaebi M, Dolati S, Abbaspour-Aghdam S, Danaii S, et al. Sirolimus as a new drug to treat RIF patients with elevated Th17/Treg ratio: A double-blind, phase II randomized clinical trial. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2019) 74:105730. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105730
- 27. Wang S, Qian J, Sun F, Li M, Ye J, Li M, et al. Bidirectional regulation between 1st trimester HTR8/SVneo trophoblast cells and in vitro differentiated Th17/Treg cells suggest a fetal-maternal regulatory loop in human pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol (N Y NY 1989) (2019) 81(5): e13106. doi: 10.1111/aji.13106

- Dunn CL, Critchley HO, Kelly RW. IL-15 regulation in human endometrial stromal cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87(4):1898–901. doi: 10.1210/ jcem.87.4.8539
- 29. De Clercq K, Hennes A, Vriens J. Isolation of Mouse Endometrial Epithelial and Stromal Cells for In Vitro Decidualization. *J Visualized Experiments: JoVE* (2017) 121):55168. doi: 10.3791/55168
- Gnecco JS, Ding T, Smith C, Lu J, Bruner-Tran KL, Osteen KG. Hemodynamic forces enhance decidualization via endothelial-derived prostaglandin E2 and prostacyclin in a microfluidic model of the human endometrium. *Hum Reprod* (Oxford England) (2019) 34(4):702–14. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez003
- Oettel A, Lorenz M, Stangl V, Costa SD, Zenclussen AC, Schumacher A. Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells foster conversion of CD4+CD25-Foxp3- T cells into CD4+Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cells via Transforming Growth Factor-β. Sci Rep (2016) 6:23278. doi: 10.1038/srep23278
- Padmanabhan RA, Laloraya M. Estrogen-Initiated Protein Interactomes During Embryo Implantation. Am J Reprod Immunol (N Y NY 1989) (2016) 75(3):256–62. doi: 10.1111/aji.12455
- Vrtačnik P, Ostanek B, Mencej-Bedrač S, Marc J. The many faces of estrogen signaling. Biochem Med (Zagreb) (2014) 24(3):329–42. doi: 10.11613/ BM.2014.035
- 34. Lin XG, Zhou Q, Wang L, Gao Y, Zhang WN, Luo ZL, et al. Pregnancy estrogen drives the changes of T-lymphocyte subsets and cytokines and prolongs the survival of H-Y skin graft in murine model. *Chin Med J* (2010) 123(18):2593–9. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.2010.18.019
- 35. Rahimipour M, Salehnia M, Jafarabadi M. Morphological, Ultrastructural, and Molecular Aspects of In Vitro Mouse Embryo Implantation on Human Endometrial Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in The Presence of Steroid Hormones as An Implantation Model. *Cell J* (2018) 20(3):369–76. doi: 10.22074/cellj.2018.5221
- 36. Pan T, Zhong L, Wu S, Cao Y, Yang Q, Cai Z, et al. 17β-Oestradiol enhances the expansion and activation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells via signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-3 signalling in human pregnancy. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2016) 185(1):86–97. doi: 10.1111/cei.12790
- 37. Falchi L, Scaramuzzi RJ. An in vitro investigation of the actions of reproductive hormones on the cervix of the ewe in the follicular stage: the effects of 17 β -estradiol, oxytocin, FSH, and arachidonic acid on the cervical pathway for the synthesis of prostaglandin E2. *Theriogenology* (2015) 83 (6):1007–14. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2014.12.003
- Kyurkchiev D, Ivanova-Todorova E, Kyurkchiev SD. New target cells of the immunomodulatory effects of progesterone. *Reprod Biomed Online* (2010) 21(3):304–11. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2010.04.014
- Svensson J, Jenmalm MC, Matussek A, Geffers R, Berg G, Ernerudh J. Macrophages at the fetal-maternal interface express markers of alternative activation and are induced by M-CSF and IL-10. J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950) (2011) 187(7):3671–82. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100130
- Fujisaki S, Kawano K, Haruyama Y, Mori N. Synergistic effect of progesterone on prostaglandin E modulation of the mitogenic response of human peripheral lymphocytes. *J Reprod Immunol* (1985) 7(1):15–26. doi: 10.1016/0165-0378(85)90018-x
- Cole LA. Biological functions of hCG and hCG-related molecules. Reprod Biol Endocrinol RBE (2010) 8:102. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-8-102
- Szmidt M, Sysa P, Bartłomiej JB, Niemiec T. Gonadotropina kosmówkowa jako kluczowy czynnik regulujacy implantacje zarodka [Chorionic gonadotropin as the key factor for embryo implantation]. *Ginekol Polska* (2008) 79(10):692–6.
- Bansal AS, Bora SA, Saso S, Smith JR, Johnson MR, Thum MY. Mechanism of human chorionic gonadotrophin-mediated immunomodulation in pregnancy. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2012) 8(8):747–53. doi: 10.1586/eci.12.77
- Schumacher A, Costa SD, Zenclussen AC. Endocrine factors modulating immune responses in pregnancy. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:196. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00196
- North RA, Whitehead R, Larkins RG. Stimulation by human chorionic gonadotropin of prostaglandin synthesis by early human placental tissue. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1991) 73(1):60–70. doi: 10.1210/jcem-73-1-60
- Mumtaz A, Khalid A, Jamil Z, Fatima SS, Arif S, Rehman R. Kisspeptin: A Potential Factor for Unexplained Infertility and Impaired Embryo Implantation. *Int J Fertility Steril* (2017) 11(2):99–104. doi: 10.22074/ijfs.2017.4957

- Francis VA, Abera AB, Matjila M, Millar RP, Katz AA. Kisspeptin regulation of genes involved in cell invasion and angiogenesis in first trimester human trophoblast cells. *PloS One* (2014) 9(6):e99680. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099680
- Skorupskaite K, George JT, Anderson RA. The kisspeptin-GnRH pathway in human reproductive health and disease. *Hum Reprod Update* (2014) 20 (4):485–500. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmu009
- Pinilla L, Aguilar E, Dieguez C, Millar RP, Tena-Sempere M. Kisspeptins and reproduction: physiological roles and regulatory mechanisms. *Physiol Rev* (2012) 92(3):1235–316. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00037.2010
- Harper MJ. Platelet-activating factor: a paracrine factor in preimplantation stages of reproduction? *Biol Reproduct* (1989) 40(5):907–13. doi: 10.1095/ biolreprod40.5.907
- Tiemann U. The role of platelet-activating factor in the mammalian female reproductive tract. *Reprod Domest Anim Zuchthygiene* (2008) 43(6):647–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2007.00959.x
- 52. Roudebush WE. Role of platelet-activating factor in reproduction: sperm function. *Asian J Androl* (2001) 3(2):81–5.
- De M, Sanford TR, Wood GW. Expression of interleukin 1, interleukin 6 and tumour necrosis factor alpha in mouse uterus during the peri-implantation period of pregnancy. *J Reprod Fertility* (1993) 97(1):83–9. doi: 10.1530/ jrf.0.0970083
- Ochoa-Bernal MA, Fazleabas AT. Physiologic Events of Embryo Implantation and Decidualization in Human and Non-Human Primates. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(6):1973. doi: 10.3390/ijms21061973
- 55. Cork BA, Tuckerman EM, Li TC, Laird SM. Expression of interleukin (IL)-11 receptor by the human endometrium in vivo and effects of IL-11, IL-6 and LIF on the production of MMP and cytokines by human endometrial cells in vitro. *Mol Hum Reproduct* (2002) 8(9):841–8. doi: 10.1093/molehr/8.9.841
- Prins JR, Gomez-Lopez N, Robertson SA. Interleukin-6 in pregnancy and gestational disorders. J Reprod Immunol (2012) 95(1-2):1–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.jri.2012.05.004
- 57. Baston-Buest DM, Schanz A, Buest S, Fischer JC, Kruessel JS, Hess AP. The embryo's cystatin C and F expression functions as a protective mechanism against the maternal proteinase cathepsin S in mice. *Reprod (Cambridge England)* (2010) 139(4):741–8. doi: 10.1530/REP-09-0381
- Liu S, Wang J, Qin HM, Yan XM, Yang XS, Liu C, et al. LIF upregulates poFUT1 expression and promotes trophoblast cell migration and invasion at the fetal-maternal interface. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5(8):e1396. doi: 10.1038/ cddis.2014.335
- 59. Zheng Q, Dai K, Cui X, Yu M, Yang X, Yan B, et al. Leukemia inhibitory factor promote trophoblast invasion via urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in preeclampsia. *Biomed Pharmacother Biomed Parmacother* (2016) 80:102–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2016.03.005
- Horita H, Kuroda E, Hachisuga T, Kashimura M, Yamashita U. Induction of prostaglandin E2 production by leukemia inhibitory factor promotes migration of first trimester extravillous trophoblast cell line, HTR-8/SVneo. *Hum Reprod* (Oxford England) (2007) 22(7):1801–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem125
- Viganò P, Mangioni S, Pompei F, Chiodo I. Maternal-conceptus cross talk-a review. Placenta (2003) 24(B):S56–61. doi: 10.1016/s0143-4004(03)00137-1
- 62. Hambartsoumian E. Endometrial leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) as a possible cause of unexplained infertility and multiple failures of implantation. Am J Reprod Immunol (N Y NY 1989) (1998) 39(2):137–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1998.tb00345.x
- 63. Fouladi-Nashta AA, Mohamet L, Heath JK, Kimber SJ. Interleukin 1 signaling is regulated by leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and is aberrant in Lif-/- mouse uterus. *Biol Reproduct* (2008) 79(1):142–53. doi: 10.1095/ biolreprod.107.065219
- Marwood M, Visser K, Salamonsen LA, Dimitriadis E. Interleukin-11 and leukemia inhibitory factor regulate the adhesion of endometrial epithelial cells: implications in fertility regulation. *Endocrinology* (2009) 150(6):2915– 23. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-1538
- 65. von Rango U, Alfer J, Kertschanska S, Kemp B, Müller-Newen G, Heinrich PC, et al. Interleukin-11 expression: its significance in eutopic and ectopic human implantation. *Mol Hum Reproduct* (2004) 10(11):783–92. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah107
- Kopcow HD, Karumanchi SA. Angiogenic factors and natural killer (NK) cells in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol (2007) 76(1-2):23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.03.018

- Joshi PC, Zhou X, Cuchens M, Jones Q. Prostaglandin E2 suppressed IL-15mediated human NK cell function through down-regulation of common gamma-chain. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2001) 166(2):885–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.885
- Ai Z, Jing W, Fang L. Cytokine-Like Protein 1(Cytl1): A Potential Molecular Mediator in Embryo Implantation. *PloS One* (2016) 11(1):e0147424. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147424
- Wang H, Shi G, Li M, Fan H, Ma H, Sheng L. Correlation of IL-1 and HB-EGF with endometrial receptivity. *Exp Ther Med* (2018) 16(6):5130–6. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.6840
- Moghani-Ghoroghi F, Moshkdanian G, Sehat M, Nematollahi-Mahani SN, Ragerdi-Kashani I, Pasbakhsh P. Melatonin Pretreated Blastocysts along with Calcitonin Administration Improved Implantation by Upregulation of Heparin Binding-Epidermal Growth Factor Expression in Murine Endometrium. *Cell J* (2018) 19(4):599–606. doi: 10.22074/cellj.2018.4737
- Achache H, Revel A. Endometrial receptivity markers, the journey to successful embryo implantation. *Hum Reprod Update* (2006) 12(6):731– 46. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dml004
- 72. Foulk RA, Zdravkovic T, Genbacev O, Prakobphol A. Expression of L-selectin ligand MECA-79 as a predictive marker of human uterine receptivity. J Assisted Reprod Genet (2007) 24(7):316–21. doi: 10.1007/s10815-007-9151-8
- 73. Yang Y, Chen X, Saravelos SH, Liu Y, Huang J, Zhang J, et al. HOXA-10 and E-cadherin expression in the endometrium of women with recurrent implantation failure and recurrent miscarriage. *Fertility Steril* (2017) 107 (1):136–143.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.09.016
- Lu DP, Tian L, O'Neill C, King NJ. Regulation of cellular adhesion molecule expression in murine oocytes, peri-implantation and post-implantation embryos. *Cell Res* (2002) 12(5-6):373–83. doi: 10.1038/sj.cr.7290139
- Carlomagno G, Minini M, Tilotta M, Unfer V. From Implantation to Birth: Insight into Molecular Melatonin Functions. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19(9):2802. doi: 10.3390/ijms19092802
- Voiculescu SE, Zygouropoulos N, Zahiu CD, Zagrean AM. Role of melatonin in embryo fetal development. J Med Life (2014) 7(4):488–92.
- Gimeno MF, Landa A, Sterin-Speziale N, Cardinali DP, Gimeno AL. Melatonin blocks in vitro generation of prostaglandin by the uterus and hypothalamus. *Eur J Pharmacol* (1980) 62(4):309–17. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999 (80)90098-9
- 78. Xiong T, Zhao Y, Hu D, Meng J, Wang R, Yang X, et al. Administration of calcitonin promotes blastocyst implantation in mice by up-regulating integrin β3 expression in endometrial epithelial cells. *Hum Reprod* (Oxford England) (2012) 27(12):3540–51. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des330
- Xiong J, Zeng P, Ye D. Lipoxins: a novel regulator in embryo implantation. TheScientificWorldJournal (2011) 11:235–41. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2011.15
- Schwenke M, Knöfler M, Velicky P, Weimar CH, Kruse M, Samalecos A, et al. Control of human endometrial stromal cell motility by PDGF-BB, HB-EGF and trophoblast-secreted factors. *PloS One* (2013) 8(1):e54336. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054336
- Jaber L, Kan FW. Non-identical distribution pattern of epidermal growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor in the mouse uterus during the oestrous cycle and early pregnancy. *Histochem J* (1998) 30(10):711–22. doi: 10.1023/a:1003441904274
- Haimovici F, Anderson DJ. Cytokines and growth factors in implantation. *Microscopy Res Tech* (1993) 25(3):201–7. doi: 10.1002/jemt.1070250303
- Coppock HA, White A, Aplin JD, Westwood M. Matrix metalloprotease-3 and -9 proteolyze insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1. *Biol Reproduct* (2004) 71(2):438–43. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.023101
- 84. Gonzalez M, Neufeld J, Reimann K, Wittmann S, Samalecos A, Wolf A. Expansion of human trophoblastic spheroids is promoted by decidualized endometrial stromal cells and enhanced by heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor and interleukin-1 β. *Mol Hum Reproduct* (2011) 17(7):421–33. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gar015
- Ozbilgin K, Karaca F, Turan A, Köse C, Vatansever S, Ozcakir T. The higher heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF) in missed abortion. *Taiwanese J Obstetr Gynecol* (2015) 54(1):13–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tjog.2013.08.011
- Macdonald LJ, Boddy SC, Denison FC, Sales KJ, Jabbour HN. A role for lipoxin A₄ as an anti-inflammatory mediator in the human endometrium. *Reprod (Cambridge England)* (2011) 142(2):345–52. doi: 10.1530/REP-11-0021

- Agostinis C, Tedesco F, Bulla R. Alternative functions of the complement protein C1q at embryo implantation site. J Reprod Immunol (2017) 119:74– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.09.001
- Madhukaran SP, Kishore U, Jamil K, Choolani M, Lu J. Decidual expression and localization of human surfactant protein SP-A and SP-D, and complement protein C1q. *Mol Immunol* (2015) 66(2):197-207. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2015.03.001
- Liu C, Liang X, Wang J, Zheng Q, Zhao Y, Khan MN, et al. Protein Ofucosyltransferase 1 promotes trophoblast cell proliferation through activation of MAPK and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways. *Biomed Pharmacother Biomed Parmacother* (2017) 88:95–101. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopha.2017.01.026
- Ortega MA, Asúnsolo Á, Álvarez-Rocha MJ, Romero B, De León-Luis J, Álvarez-Mon M, et al. Remodelling of collagen fibres in the placentas of women with venous insufficiency during pregnancy. *Histol Histopathol* (2018) 33(6):567–76. doi: 10.14670/HH-11-948
- Herrler A, von Rango U, Beier HM, Wu HM, Huang HY, Lee CL, et al. Embryo-maternal signalling: how the embryo starts talking to its mother to accomplish implantation. *Reprod Biomed Online* (2003) 6(2):244–56. doi: 10.1016/s1472-6483(10)61717-8
- 92. Wu HM, Huang HY, Lee CL, Soong YK, Leung PC, Wang HS. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone type II (GnRH-II) agonist regulates the motility of human decidual endometrial stromal cells: possible effect on embryo implantation and pregnancy. *Biol Reproduct* (2015) 92(4):98. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.114.127324
- Roussev RG, Coulam CB. HLA-G and its role in implantation (review). J Assisted Reprod Genet (2007) 24(7):288–95. doi: 10.1007/s10815-007-9148-3
- Bakela K, Athanassakis I. Soluble major histocompatibility complex molecules in immune regulation: highlighting class II antigens. *Immunology* (2018) 153(3):315-24. doi: 10.1111/imm.12868
- Zavazava N, Krönke M. Soluble HLA class I molecules induce apoptosis in alloreactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nat Med* (1996) 2(9):1005–10. doi: 10.1038/nm0996-1005
- 96. Athanassakis I, Vassiliadis S. Interplay between T helper type 1 and type 2 cytokines and soluble major histocompatibility complex molecules: a paradigm in pregnancy. *Immunology* (2002) 107(3):281–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2002.01518.x
- Jones K, Ballesteros A, Mentink-Kane M, Warren J, Rattila S, Malech H, et al. PSG9 Stimulates Increase in FoxP3+ Regulatory T-Cells through the TGFβ1 Pathway. *PloS One* (2016) 11(7):e0158050. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0158050
- Zamorina SA, Raev MB. [The study of human pregnancy specific β1glycoprotein immunomodulating effects]. *Fiziol Cheloveka* (2015) 41 (1):117–23. doi: 10.1134/S0362119715010144
- 99. Lafuste P, Robert B, Mondon F, Danan JL, Rossi B, Duc-Goiran P, et al. Alpha-fetoprotein gene expression in early and full-term human trophoblast. *Placenta* (2002) 23(8-9):600–12. doi: 10.1053/plac.2002.0816
- 100. Lu CY, Changelian PS, Unanue ER. Alpha-fetoprotein inhibits macrophage expression of Ia antigens. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (1984) 132 (4):1722–7.
- 101. Fettke F, Schumacher A, Canellada A, Toledo N, Bekeredjian-Ding I, Bondt A, et al. Maternal and Fetal Mechanisms of B Cell Regulation during Pregnancy: Human Chorionic Gonadotropin Stimulates B Cells to Produce IL-10 While Alpha-Fetoprotein Drives Them into Apoptosis. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:495:495. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00495
- 102. Mellor AL, Lemos H, Huang L. Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase and Tolerance: Where Are We Now? Front Immunol (2017) 8:1360. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01360
- 103. Mellor AL, Chandler P, Lee GK, Johnson T, Keskin DB, Lee J, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, immunosuppression and pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol (2002) 57(1-2):143-50. doi: 10.1016/s0165-0378(02) 00040-2
- 104. Kang JW, Koo HC, Hwang SY, Kang SK, Ra JC, Lee MH, et al. Immunomodulatory effects of human amniotic membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Veterinary Sci (2012) 13(1):23–31. doi: 10.4142/ jvs.2012.13.1.23
- 105. Hakam MS, Miranda-Sayago JM, Hayrabedyan S, Todorova K, Spencer PS, Jabeen A, et al. Preimplantation Factor (PIF) Promotes HLA-G, -E, -F, -C

Expression in JEG-3 Choriocarcinoma Cells and Endogenous Progesterone Activity. *Cell Physiol Biochem: Int J Exp Cell Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* (2017) 43(6):2277–96. doi: 10.1159/000484378

- 106. Zare F, Seifati SM, Dehghan-Manshadi M, Fesahat F. Preimplantation Factor (PIF): a peptide with various functions. *JBRA Assisted Reproduct* (2020) 24 (2):214–8. doi: 10.5935/1518-0557.20190082
- 107. Tong M, Chamley LW. Placental extracellular vesicles and feto-maternal communication. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* (2015) 5(3):a023028. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a023028
- Garrido-Gimenez C, Alijotas-Reig J. Recurrent miscarriage: causes, evaluation and management. *Postgrad Med J* (2015) 91(1073):151-62. doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2014-132672
- Samuelsson B. Isolation and identification of prostaglandins from human seminal plasma. 18. Prostaglandins and related factors. J Biol Chem (1963) 238:3229–34.
- 110. Nimbkar-Joshi S, Katkam RR, Kakar R, Singh P, Chaudhari UK, Manjramkar DD, et al. Proliferation and decidualization of endometrial stromal cells during embryo-attachment stage in bonnet monkeys (Macaca radiata). *Cell Tissue Res* (2015) 361(2):605–17. doi: 10.1007/s00441-015-2117-8
- 111. Niringiyumukiza JD, Cai H, Xiang W. Prostaglandin E2 involvement in mammalian female fertility: ovulation, fertilization, embryo development and early implantation. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2018) 16(1):43. doi: 10.1186/s12958-018-0359-5
- 112. Tan HN, Liu Y, Diao HL, Yang ZM. Cyclooxygenases and prostaglandin E synthases in preimplantation mouse embryos. *Zygote (Cambridge England)* (2005) 13(2):103–8. doi: 10.1017/s0967199405003187
- 113. Shearer GM, Hurtenbach U. Is sperm immunosuppressive in male homosexuals and vasectomized men? *Immunol Today* (1982) 3(6):153–4. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(82)90103-7
- 114. Marcus AJ, Safier LB, Broekman MJ, Ullman HL, Islam N, Sorrell TC, et al. Production of metabolic products of arachidonic acid during cell-cell interactions. J Allergy Clin Immunol (1984) 74(3 Pt 2):338–42. doi: 10.1016/0091-6749(84)90126-x
- 115. Schjenken JE, Robertson SA. Seminal fluid and immune adaptation for pregnancy-comparative biology in mammalian species. *Reprod Domest Anim Zuchthygiene* (2014) 49(3):27–36. doi: 10.1111/rda.12383
- 116. Adefuye AO, Adeola HA, Sales KJ, Katz AA. Seminal Fluid-Mediated Inflammation in Physiology and Pathology of the Female Reproductive Tract. J Immunol Res (2016) 2016:9707252. doi: 10.1155/2016/9707252
- 117. McMaster MT, Newton RC, Dey SK, Andrews GK. Activation and distribution of inflammatory cells in the mouse uterus during the preimplantation period. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md: 1950)* (1992) 148 (6):1699–705.
- 118. Troedsson MH, Desvousges A, Alghamdi AS, Dahms B, Dow CA, Hayna J, et al. Components in seminal plasma regulating sperm transport and elimination. *Anim Reprod Sci* (2005) 89(1-4):171–86. doi: 10.1016/ j.anireprosci.2005.07.005
- 119. Sasanami T, Izumi S, Sakurai N, Hirata T, Mizushima S, Matsuzaki M, et al. A unique mechanism of successful fertilization in a domestic bird. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:7700. doi: 10.1038/srep07700
- 120. Shahnazi M, Nouri M, Mohaddes G, Latifi Z, Fattahi A, Mohammadi M. Prostaglandin E Pathway in Uterine Tissue During Window of Preimplantation in Female Mice Mated With Intact and Seminal Vesicle-Excised Male. *Reprod Sci (Thousand Oaks Calif)* (2018) 25(4):550–8. doi: 10.1177/1933719117718272
- 121. Gottlieb C, Svanborg K, Eneroth P, Bygdeman M. Effect of prostaglandins on human sperm function in vitro and seminal adenosine triphosphate content. *Fertility Steril* (1988) 49(2):322–7. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(16)59723-4
- Aitken RJ, Kelly RW. Analysis of the direct effects of prostaglandins on human sperm function. J Reprod Fertility (1985) 73(1):139–46. doi: 10.1530/ jrf.0.0730139
- 123. Machtinger R, Laurent LC, Baccarelli AA. Extracellular vesicles: roles in gamete maturation, fertilization and embryo implantation. *Hum Reprod Update* (2016) 22(2):182–93. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv055
- 124. Franz C, Böing AN, Hau CM, Montag M, Strowitzki T, Nieuwland R, et al. Procoagulant tissue factor-exposing vesicles in human seminal fluid. *J Reprod Immunol* (2013) 98(1-2):45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2013.02.002

- 125. Han BC, Xia HF, Sun J, Yang Y, Peng JP. Retinoic acid-metabolizing enzyme cytochrome P450 26a1 (cyp26a1) is essential for implantation: functional study of its role in early pregnancy. J Cell Physiol (2010) 223(2):471–9. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22056
- 126. Saito S, Tsuda H, Michimata T. Prostaglandin D2 and reproduction. Am J Reprod Immunol (N Y NY: 1989) (2002) 47(5):295–302. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2002.01113.x
- 127. Michimata T, Tsuda H, Sakai M, Fujimura M, Nagata K, Nakamura M, et al. Accumulation of CRTH2-positive T-helper 2 and T-cytotoxic 2 cells at implantation sites of human decidua in a prostaglandin D(2)-mediated manner. *Mol Hum Reproduct* (2002) 8(2):181–7. doi: 10.1093/molehr/ 8.2.181
- 128. Kaczmarek MM, Krawczynski K, Filant J. Seminal plasma affects prostaglandin synthesis and angiogenesis in the porcine uterus. *Biol Reproduct* (2013) 88(3):72. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.112.103564
- 129. Robertson SA. Seminal fluid signaling in the female reproductive tract: lessons from rodents and pigs. J Anim Sci (2007) 85(13):E36-44. doi: 10.2527/jas.2006-578
- Striz I, Brabcova E, Kolesar L, Sekerkova A. Cytokine networking of innate immunity cells: a potential target of therapy. *Clin Sci (London England: 1979)* (2014) 126(9):593–612. doi: 10.1042/CS20130497
- 131. Tariverdian N, Siedentopf F, Rücke M, Blois SM, Klapp BF, Kentenich H, et al. Intraperitoneal immune cell status in infertile women with and without endometriosis. J Reprod Immunol (2009) 80(1-2):80–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.jri.2008.12.005
- 132. Yasuda I, Shima T, Moriya T, Ikebuchi R, Kusumoto Y, Ushijima A, et al. Dynamic Changes in the Phenotype of Dendritic Cells in the Uterus and Uterine Draining Lymph Nodes After Coitus. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:557720. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.557720
- Tumala B, Phelps KR, Zhang S, Bhattacharya S, Shornick LP. Prostaglandin D2 Levels Regulate CD103+ Conventional Dendritic Cell Activation in Neonates During Respiratory Viral Infection. *Viral Immunol* (2018) 31 (10):658–67. doi: 10.1089/vim.2018.0090
- 134. Shao Y, Saredy J, Yang WY, Sun Y, Lu Y, Saaoud F, et al. Vascular Endothelial Cells and Innate Immunity. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis Vasc Biol* (2020) 40(6):e138–52. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.314330
- 135. Brockelsby JC, Anthony FW, Johnson IR, Baker PN. The effects of vascular endothelial growth factor on endothelial cells: a potential role in preeclampsia. Am J Obstetr Gynecol (2000) 182(1 Pt 1):176–83. doi: 10.1016/ s0002-9378(00)70510-2
- 136. Jena MK, Sharma NR, Petitt M, Maulik D, Nayak NR. Pathogenesis of Preeclampsia and Therapeutic Approaches Targeting the Placenta. *Biomolecules* (2020) 10(6):953. doi: 10.3390/biom10060953
- Kelly RW. Inflammatory mediators and parturition. *Rev Reproduct* (1996) 1 (2):89–96. doi: 10.1530/ror.0.0010089
- Phipps E, Prasanna D, Brima W, Jim B. Preeclampsia: Updates in Pathogenesis, Definitions, and Guidelines. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol: CJASN* (2016) 11(6):1102–13. doi: 10.2215/CJN.12081115
- Atallah A, Lecarpentier E, Goffinet F, Doret-Dion M, Gaucherand P, Tsatsaris V. Aspirin for Prevention of Preeclampsia. *Drugs* (2017) 77 (17):1819–31. doi: 10.1007/s40265-017-0823-0
- 140. Clària J, Serhan CN. Aspirin triggers previously undescribed bioactive eicosanoids by human endothelial cell-leukocyte interactions. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci U States A (1995) 92(21):9475–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.21.9475
- 141. Gil-Villa AM, Norling LV, Serhan CN, Cordero D, Rojas M, Cadavid A. Aspirin triggered-lipoxin A4 reduces the adhesion of human polymorphonuclear neutrophils to endothelial cells initiated by preeclamptic plasma. *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes Essential Fatty Acids* (2012) 87(4-5):127-34. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2012.08.003
- 142. Vallvé-Juanico J, Houshdaran S, Giudice LC. The endometrial immune environment of women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25(5):564–91. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz018
- 143. Lai ZZ, Yang HL, Ha SY, Chang KK, Mei J, Zhou WJ, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 in Endometriosis. *Int J Biol Sci* (2019) 15(13):2783–97. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.35128
- 144. Saad-Hossne R, Barretto AB, Siqueira JM, Denadai R. Evaluation of peritoneal endometriosis treatment using intralesional acetylsalicylic acid injection in rabbits. Acta Cirurgica Brasileira (2016) 31(4):227–34. doi: 10.1590/S0102-865020160040000002

- 145. Yang ZM, Das SK, Wang J, Sugimoto Y, Ichikawa A, Dey SK. Potential sites of prostaglandin actions in the periimplantation mouse uterus: differential expression and regulation of prostaglandin receptor genes. *Biol Reproduct* (1997) 56(2):368–79. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod56.2.368
- 146. Lim H, Dey SK. Prostaglandin E2 receptor subtype EP2 gene expression in the mouse uterus coincides with differentiation of the luminal epithelium for implantation. *Endocrinology* (1997) 138(11):4599–606. doi: 10.1210/ endo.138.11.5528
- 147. Lim H, Paria BC, Das SK, Dinchuk JE, Langenbach R, Trzaskos JM, et al. Multiple female reproductive failures in cyclooxygenase 2-deficient mice. *Cell* (1997) 91(2):197–208. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80402-X
- 148. Lim H, Gupta RA, Ma WG, Paria BC, Moller DE, Morrow JD, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostacyclin mediates embryo implantation in the mouse via PPARdelta. *Genes Dev* (1999) 13(12):1561–74. doi: 10.1101/ gad.13.12.1561
- 149. Mendonça LGD, Rocha LS, Voelz BE, Lima GT, Scanavez ALA, Stevenson JS. Presynchronization strategy using prostaglandin F2α, gonadotropinreleasing hormone, and detection of estrus to improve fertility in a resynchronization program for dairy cows. *Theriogenology* (2019) 124:39– 47. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2018.09.027
- 150. Mai J, Virtue A, Shen J, Wang H, Yang XF. An evolving new paradigm: endothelial cells-conditional innate immune cells. J Hematol Oncol (2013) 6:61. doi: 10.1186/1756-8722-6-61
- Samuchiwal SK, Boyce JA. Role of lipid mediators and control of lymphocyte responses in type 2 immunopathology. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141 (4):1182–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.02.006
- 152. Marie C, Pitton C, Fitting C, Cavaillon JM. Regulation by anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, TGFbeta) of interleukin-8 production by LPSand/or TNFalpha-activated human polymorphonuclear cells. *Mediators Inflamm* (1996) 5(5):334–40. doi: 10.1155/S0962935196000488
- Agard M, Asakrah S, Morici LA. PGE(2) suppression of innate immunity during mucosal bacterial infection. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2013) 3:45. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00045
- 154. Robertson SA, Sharkey DJ. The role of semen in induction of maternal immune tolerance to pregnancy. *Semin Immunol* (2001) 13(4):243–54. doi: 10.1006/smim.2000.0320
- 155. Weiner HL. Oral tolerance: immune mechanisms and the generation of Th3type TGF-beta-secreting regulatory cells. *Microbes Infect* (2001) 3(11):947– 54. doi: 10.1016/s1286-4579(01)01456-3
- 156. Parhar RS, Yagel S, Lala PK. PGE2-mediated immunosuppression by first trimester human decidual cells blocks activation of maternal leukocytes in the decidua with potential anti-trophoblast activity. *Cell Immunol* (1989) 120 (1):61–74. doi: 10.1016/0008-8749(89)90174-3
- 157. Zhang Y, Wang Y, Wang XH, Zhou WJ, Jin LP, Li MQ. Crosstalk between human endometrial stromal cells and decidual NK cells promotes decidualization in vitro by upregulating IL–25. *Mol Med Rep* (2018) 17 (2):2869–78. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.8267
- 158. Vacca P, Cantoni C, Vitale M, Prato C, Canegallo F, Fenoglio D, et al. Crosstalk between decidual NK and CD14+ myelomonocytic cells results in induction of Tregs and immunosuppression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U States A* (2010) 107(26):11918–23. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1001749107
- 159. Mjösberg J, Berg G, Ernerudh J, Ekerfelt C. CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in human pregnancy: development of a Treg-MLC-ELISPOT suppression assay and indications of paternal specific Tregs. *Immunology* (2007) 120 (4):456–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02529.x
- 160. Mayoral-Andrade G, Pérez-Campos-Mayoral L, Majluf-Cruz A, Perez-Campos Mayoral E, Perez Campos Mayoral C, Rocha-Núñez A, et al. Reduced platelet aggregation in women after intercourse: a possible role for the cyclooxygenase pathway. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2017) 44 (8):847–53. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681
- 161. Lwaleed BA, Greenfield R, Royle E, Birch B, Cooper AJ, Seminal Factor VIII. and von Willebrand Factor: a possible role of the conventional clotting system in human semen? *Int J Androl* (2005) 28(1):31–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2605.2004.00508.x
- 162. Tomokiyo K, Kamikubo Y, Hanada T, Araki T, Nakatomi Y, Ogata Y, et al. Von Willebrand factor accelerates platelet adhesion and thrombus formation on a collagen surface in platelet-reduced blood under flow conditions. *Blood* (2005) 105(3):1078–84. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-05-1827

- Bastida E, Escolar G, Ordinas A, Sixma JJ. Fibronectin is required for platelet adhesion and for thrombus formation on subendothelium and collagen surfaces. *Blood* (1987) 70(5):1437–42. doi: 10.1182/blood.V70.5.1437.bloodjournal7051437
- 164. Asch E, Podack E. Vitronectin binds to activated human platelets and plays a role in platelet aggregation. J Clin Investigat (1990) 85(5):1372–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI114581
- 165. Xu LC, Bauer JW, Siedlecki CA. Proteins, platelets, and blood coagulation at biomaterial interfaces. *Colloids Surf B Biointerf* (2014) 124:49–68. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2014.09.040
- 166. Etulain J, Martinod K, Wong SL, Cifuni SM, Schattner M. Wagner DD. Pselectin promotes neutrophil extracellular trap formation in mice. *Blood* (2015) 126(2):242–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-624023
- 167. Singbartl K, Forlow SB, Ley K. Platelet, but not endothelial, P-selectin is critical for neutrophil-mediated acute postischemic renal failure. FASEB J Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol (2001) 15(13):2337–44. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0199com
- 168. Stavrou EX, Fang C, Bane KL, Long AT, Naudin C, Kucukal E, et al. and uPAR upregulate neutrophil functions to influence wound healing. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(3):944–59. doi: 10.1172/JCI92880
- 169. Gaertner F, Massberg S. Blood coagulation in immunothrombosis-At the frontline of intravascular immunity. *Semin Immunol* (2016) 28(6):561–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2016.10.010
- 170. Carestia A, Kaufman T, Rivadeneyra L, Landoni VI, Pozner RG, Negrotto S, et al. Mediators and molecular pathways involved in the regulation of neutrophil extracellular trap formation mediated by activated platelets. *J Leukocyte Biol* (2016) 99(1):153–62. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0415-161R
- 171. Zurier RB, Weissmann G, Hoffstein S, Kammerman S, Tai HH. Mechanisms of lysosomal enzyme release from human leukocytes. II. Effects of cAMP and cGMP, autonomic agonists, and agents which affect microtubule function. *J Clin Invest* (1974) 53(1):297–309. doi: 10.1172/JCI107550
- 172. Marcus AJ, Broekman MJ, Safier LB, Ullman HL, Islam N, Serhan CN, et al. Production of arachidonic acid lipoxygenase products during plateletneutrophil interactions. *Clin Physiol Biochem* (1984) 2(2-3):78–83.
- 173. Turcotte C, Zarini S, Jean S, Martin C, Murphy RC, Marsolais D, et al. The endocannabinoid metabolite prostaglandin E 2 (PGE 2)-glycerol inhibits human neutrophil functions: Involvement of its hydrolysis into PGE 2 and EP receptors. *J Immunol* (2017) 198(8):3255–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601767
- 174. Pap E, Pállinger E, Falus A, Kiss AA, Kittel A, Kovács P, et al. T lymphocytes are targets for platelet- and trophoblast-derived microvesicles during pregnancy. *Placenta* (2008) 29(9):826–32. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2008.06.006
- 175. Vazquez J, Chavarria M, Li Y, Lopez GE, Stanic AK. Computational flow cytometry analysis reveals a unique immune signature of the human maternal-fetal interface. *Am J Reprod Immunol (N Y NY 1989)* (2018) 79 (1):10.1111/aji.12774. doi: 10.1111/aji.12774
- 176. Nadkarni S, Smith J, Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Ledwozyw A, Kishore M, Haas R, et al. Neutrophils induce proangiogenic T cells with a regulatory phenotype in pregnancy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(52):E8415–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1611944114
- 177. Hahn S, Giaglis S, Hoesli I, Hasler P. Neutrophil NETs in reproduction: from infertility to preeclampsia and the possibility of fetal loss. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:362:362. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00362
- Alghamdi AS, Lovaas BJ, Bird SL, Lamb GC, Rendahl AK, Taube PC, et al. Species-specific interaction of seminal plasma on sperm-neutrophil binding. *Anim Reprod Sci* (2009) 114(4):331–44. doi: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2008.10.015
- 179. Selva KJ, Juno JA, Worley MJ, Chung AW, Tachedjian G, Kent SJ, et al. Effect of seminal plasma on functions of monocytes and granulocytes. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (2019) 35(6):553–6. doi: 10.1089/AID.2018.0219
- Ricciotti E, Fitzgerald GA. Prostaglandins and inflammation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2011) 31(5):986–1000. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.207449
- 181. Agard M, Asakrah S, Morici LA. PGE2 suppression of innate immunity during mucosal bacterial infection. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2013) 3:45. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00045
- Bry K, Hallman M. Prostaglandins, inflammation, and preterm labor. J Perinatol (1989) 9(1):60-5.
- 183. Pang XL, Yin TL, Yan WJ, Li J, He F, Yang J. Molecular detection of uterine innate lymphoid cells in the immunological mouse model of pregnancy loss. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2019) 68:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.12.046

- 184. Bartemes K, Chen CC, Iijima K, Drake L, Kita H. IL-33-Responsive group 2 innate lymphoid cells are regulated by female sex hormones in the uterus. *J Immunol* (2018) 200(1):229–36. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1602085
- 185. Mori M, Bogdan A, Balassa T, Csabai T, Szekeres-Bartho J. The decidua-the maternal bed embracing the embryo-maintains the pregnancy. *Semin Immunopathology* (2016) 38(6):635–49. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0574-0
- 186. Xu Y, Romero R, Miller D, Silva P, Panaitescu B, Theis KR, et al. Innate lymphoid cells at the human maternal-fetal interface in spontaneous preterm labor. Am J Reprod Immunol (2018) 79(6):e12820. doi: 10.1111/aji.12820
- 187. Tilley SL, Coffman TM, Koller BH. Mixed messages: modulation of inflammation and immune responses by prostaglandins and tromboxanes. *J Clinc Invest* (2001) 108(1):15–23. doi: 10.1172/JCI200113416
- 188. Shishikura K, Horiuchi T, Sakata N, Trinh DA, Shirakawa R, Kimura T, et al. Prostaglandin E 2 inhibits neutrophil extracellular trap formation through production of cyclic AMP. Br J Pharmacol (2016) 173(2):319–31. doi: 10.1111/bph.13373
- 189. Maric J, Ravindran A, Mazzurana L, Björklund ÅK, Van Acker A, Rao A, et al. Prostaglandin E2 suppresses human group 2 innate lymphoid cell function. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141(5):1761–73.e6. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2017.09.050
- 190. Maazi H, Akbari O. Type two innate lymphoid cells: the Janus cells in health and disease. *Immunol Rev* (2017) 278(1):192–206. doi: 10.1111/imr.12554
- 191. Carrascal L, Nunez-Abades P, Ayala A, Cano M. Role of Melatonin in the Inflammatory Process and its Therapeutic Potential. *Curr Pharm Design* (2018) 24(14):1563–88. doi: 10.2174/1381612824666180426112832
- 192. Berbets A, Koval H, Barbe A, Albota O, Yuzko O. Melatonin decreases and cytokines increase in women with placental insufficiency. J Maternal-fetal Neonatal Med: Off J Eur Assoc Perinatal Med Fed Asia Oceania Perinatal Soc Int Soc Perinatal Obstetricians (2019), 1:1–6. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2019.1608432
- 193. Sandyk R, Anastasiadis PG, Anninos PA, Tsagas N. The pineal gland and spontaneous abortions: implications for therapy with melatonin and magnetic field. *Int J Neurosci* (1992) 62(3-4):243-50. doi: 10.3109/ 00207459108999775
- 194. Ogiwara K, Takahashi T. A Dual Role for Melatonin in Medaka Ovulation: Ensuring Prostaglandin Synthesis and Actin Cytoskeleton Rearrangement in Follicular Cells. *Biol Reprod* (2016) 94(3):64. doi: 10.1095/ biolreprod.115.133827
- 195. Scarinci E, Tropea A, Notaristefano G, Arena V, Alesiani O, Fabozzi SM, et al. "Hormone of darkness" and human reproductive process: direct regulatory role of melatonin in human corpus luteum. J Endocrinol Investigat (2019) 42(10):1191–7. doi: 10.1007/s40618-019-01036-3
- 196. Espino J, Macedo M, Lozano G, Ortiz Á, Rodríguez C, Rodríguez AB, et al. Impact of Melatonin Supplementation in Women with Unexplained Infertility Undergoing Fertility Treatment. *Antioxid (Basel Switzerland)* (2019) 8(9):338. doi: 10.3390/antiox8090338
- 197. Szymanska M, Blitek A. Endometrial and conceptus response to exogenous progesterone treatment in early pregnant gilts following hormonally-induced estrus. Anim Reprod Sci (2016) 174:56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2016.09.005
- 198. Di Pietro C, Cicinelli E, Guglielmino MR, Ragusa M, Farina M, Palumbo MA, et al. Altered transcriptional regulation of cytokines, growth factors, and apoptotic proteins in the endometrium of infertile women with chronic endometritis. *Am J Reprod Immunol (N Y NY 1989)* (2013) 69(5):509–17. doi: 10.1111/aji.12076

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Mayoral Andrade, Vásquez Martínez, Pérez-Campos Mayoral, Hernández-Huerta, Zenteno, Pérez-Campos Mayoral, Martínez Cruz, Martínez Cruz, Matias-Cervantes, Meraz Cruz, Romero Díaz, Cruz-Parada and Pérez-Campos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

